# A C U T E P A N C R E A T I T I S

New frontiers in diagnosis and treatment

HJALMAR VAN SANTVOORT

#### Acute Pancreatitis: New frontiers in diagnosis and treatment

Thesis, Utrecht University, The Netherlands

COPYRIGHT	© by H.C. van Santvoort, 2010
ISBN/EAN	9789461080882
PRINTED BY	Gildeprint Drukkerijen B.V., Enschede
LAY OUT	Wilma van Wijnen, Amsterdam
COVER	The Panther, 1896, artist unknown

THE RESEARCH DESCRIBED IN THIS THESIS WAS FINANCIALLY SUPPORTED BY A grant from ZonMw, the Dutch Organization for Health Research and Development (945-06-910) and a grant from SenterNovem, the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs (TSGE3109)

PRINTING OF THIS THESIS WAS FINANCIALLY SUPPORTED BY

De Alvleeskliervereniging, Winclove Bio Industries B.V., J.E. Jurriaanse Stichting, Chirurgisch Fonds Heelkunde UMC Utrecht, Hoogland Medical B.V., Tramedico B.V., Solvay Pharmaceuticals, Nutricia Nederland B.V., Pro-Motion Medical B.V., Baxter B.V., Olympus Nederland B.V., Novartis Oncology, Bard Benelux, Norgine B.V.

# A C U T E P A N C R E A T I T I S

New frontiers in diagnosis and treatment

Nieuwe ontwikkelingen in diagnose en behandeling (met een samenvatting in het Nederlands)

P R O E F S C H R I F T ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Universiteit Utrecht op gezag van de rector magnificus, prof.dr. J.C. Stoof, ingevolge het besluit van het college voor promoties in het openbaar te verdedigen op vrijdag 8 oktober 2010 des middags te 2.30 uur door HJALMAR CHRISTIAAN VAN SANTVOORT geboren op 12 oktober 1979 te Tegelen

Р R O M O T O R E N : Prof.dr. H.G. Gooszen Prof.dr. L.M.A. Akkermans

СО-РКОМОТОКЕN: Dr. M.A. Boermeester Dr. K.J. van Erpecum

Aan mijn ouders

# CONTENTS

#### II CHAPTER I

GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS

# PART I Defining acute pancreatitis and its complications

# 27 CHAPTER 2

Describing computed tomography findings in acute necrotising pancreatitis with the Atlanta Classification: an interobserver agreement agreement study – a summary – Pancreas 2006

# 33 CHAPTER 3

The Atlanta Classification of acute pancreatitis revisited: a review of the literature British Journal of Surgery 2008

# 65 CHAPTER 4

Describing peripancreatic collections in severe acute pancreatitis using morphological terms: an international interobserver agreement study Pancreatology 2008

# PART II PREVENTING INFECTIONS IN ACUTE PANCREATITIS

# 83 CHAPTER 5

Timing and impact of infections in acute pancreatitis – a summary – British Journal of Surgery 2009

# 89 CHAPTER 6

Enteral nutrition and the risk of mortality and infectious complications in patients with severe acute pancreatitis: a meta-analysis of randomised trials – a summary – Archives of Surgery 2008

# 95 CHAPTER 7

Probiotics in surgery: surgical research review Surgery 2007

# 109 CHAPTER 8

Probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial Lancet 2008

# 135 CHAPTER 9

Intestinal barrier dysfunction in a randomised trial of a specific probiotic composition in acute pancreatitis – a summary – Annals of Surgery 2009

# PART III EARLY ENDOSCOPIC INTERVENTION FOR BILIARY PANCREATITIS

# 143 CHAPTER IO

Prediction of common bile duct stones early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis Endoscopy (in press)

# 159 CHAPTER II

Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography versus conservative management in acute biliary pancreatitis without cholangitis: a meta-analysis of randomised trials Annals of Surgery 2008

### 177 CHAPTER 12

Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis: a prospective multicentre study Annals of Surgery 2009

# PART IV INTERVENTION FOR NECROTISING PANCREATITIS

# 201 CHAPTER 13

Percutaneous catheter drainage as primary treatment for necrotising pancreatitis: a systematic review of the literature – a summary – British Journal of Surgery (in press) 209 CHAPTER 14

Video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement in infected necrotising pancreatitis: a technical report HPB 2007

# 219 CHAPTER 15

Feasibility of minimally invasive approaches in patients with infected necrotising pancreatitis – a summary – British Journal of Surgery 2007

# 227 CHAPTER 16

Case-matched comparison of the retroperitoneal approach with laparotomy for necrotising pancreatitis – a summary – World Journal of Surgery 2007

# 233 CHAPTER 17

A step-up approach or open necrosectomy in necrotising pancreatitis The New England Journal of Medicine 2010

# 261 CHAPTER 18

Clinical course and treatment of necrotising pancreatitis: a prospective multicentre study of 639 patients Submitted

# PART V Obtaining medical ethical approval for a dutch multicentre study

# 287 CHAPTER 19

Obtaining medical ethical approval for a multicentre, randomised study: a prospective evaluation of a ponderous process Adapted from Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde 2008

# 301 CHAPTER 20

Summary and general discussion

- **321** DUTCH SUMMARY (NEDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING)
- 341 REVIEW COMMITTEE
- 344 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS (DANKWOORD)
- 358 CURRICULUM VITAE

# C H A P T E R 1

General introduction and outline of this thesis Acute pancreatitis was first described by the Dutchman Nicolaes Tulp in 1652.<sup>1</sup> Three and a half centuries later, this disease continues to challenge clinicians and researchers alike. Many feel uncomfortable treating this complex and heterogeneous illness, which is potentially deadly and demands great endurance of both patient and doctor. While over the last 25 years 'evidence based medicine' has evolved to a robust framework for clinical decision making,<sup>2-6</sup> some important advances have been made in the clinical field of acute pancreatitis.<sup>7-14</sup> However, only a few prospective (multicentre) studies have been performed and many clinical questions are yet unanswered. The outlook for patients with acute pancreatitis remains grim and new frontiers have to be explored.

This thesis presents 6 years of clinical research undertaken by the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group to improve the diagnosis and treatment of acute pancreatitis.



De anatomische les van dr. Nicolaes Tulp door Rembrandt van Rijn (1632)

# BACKGROUND OF ACUTE PANCREATITIS

Acute pancreatitis is one of the most common gastroenterological diseases. The incidence in Europe and the United States ranges from 20 to over 70 per 100.000 population,<sup>15-17</sup> and has increased over the last decade.<sup>18</sup> In an average Dutch hospital, over 30 patients with acute pancreatitis are admitted each year.<sup>19</sup>

Most cases of acute pancreatitis are caused by gallstones, gallsludge or alcohol

abuse.<sup>20</sup> More uncommon causes include a variety of drugs, endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), hypertriglyceridemia, and many other known and unknown factors.<sup>21</sup> Although much is uncertain about the pathophysiology of acute pancreatitis, we know that the various etiological stimuli trigger premature activation of trypsin in pancreatic acinar cells.<sup>22,23</sup> Trypsin then activates pancreatic digestive enzymes causing autodigestion of the gland and the surrounding tissue.<sup>21,23</sup> Local pancreatic inflammation can quickly progress into a systemic inflammation by the release of pro-inflammatory mediators.<sup>24,26</sup>

Patients with acute pancreatitis present with characteristic severe pain *in epigastrio*, which is often accompanied by nausea and vomiting.<sup>27</sup> Most patients have a mild and uncomplicated further clinical course. The abdominal pain usually disappears within several days and oral intake can quickly be resumed. In 10-20% of patients, the disease has a severe clinical course with prolonged hospital stay and a conside-rable risk of complications and death.<sup>10,27,28</sup> In the first days of admission, scoring systems such as the Imrie score<sup>29</sup> and the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE II) score,<sup>30</sup> and biochemical parameters such as C-reactive protein (CRP),<sup>31</sup> are used for prediction of the clinical course and to stratify patients as 'predicted mild acute pancreatitis' or 'predicted severe acute pancreatitis' in clinical studies.

The clinical course of severe acute pancreatitis can be divided into an 'early phase' and a 'late phase'. In the early phase (i.e., the first 1-2 weeks), necrosis of the pancreatic parenchyma and peripancreatic tissue can develop within a few days.<sup>7,32</sup> At the same time, a systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) occurs, which often precedes multiple organ failure.<sup>24-26</sup> It is thought that multiple organ failure in the early phase is responsible for around half of the deaths in acute pancreatitis.<sup>33</sup> In the 'late phase' (i.e., after 1-2 weeks), systemic inflammation often recedes. Prognosis in this phase is dictated more by local complications than by systemic complications.<sup>10,32</sup> The most dreadful local complication is secondary infection of pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis.<sup>7</sup> Infected necrosis occurs in around a third of patients with necrotising pancreatitis.<sup>28</sup> Without intervention to remove the infected necrosis, almost every patient will eventually develop sepsis with multiple organ failure, and will eventually die. Even when intervention is performed, mortality of infected necrosis remains around 30%.<sup>28</sup>

#### TABLE I.I. The 19 main study questions that are addressed in this thesis

#### CHAPTER STUDY QUESTIONS

- 2 What is the interobserver agreement among radiologists for the Atlanta Classification to describe computed tomography findings in acute pancreatitis?
- **3** Are the definitions of the Atlanta Classification consistently used and interpreted in the literature?
- 4 What is the interobserver agreement among radiologists and clinicians from different parts of the world for a newly designed set of morphological criteria to describe computed tomography findings in acute pancreatitis?
- 5 What is the time of onset and clinical impact of infections in acute pancreatitis?
- 6 Does enteral nutrition, as compared to parenteral nutrition, reduce the risk of infections and death in predicted severe acute pancreatitis?
- **7** What are the proposed mechanisms of action of probiotics and current evidence from randomised studies, with focus on prevention of infections in surgical and critically ill patients?
- 8 What is the role of probiotic prophylaxis in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis?
- 9 What is the association between the clincial course of acute pancreatitis and increased intestinal permeability, enterocyte damage, and bacterial translocation, and how are these processes influenced by probiotics?
- **10** What is the value of commonly used radiological and biochemical predictors for choledocholithiasis early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis?
- **11, 12** Does early ERCP, as compared to conservative treatment, improve clinical outcome in acute biliary pancreatitis?
  - 13 What is the role of percutaneous drainage in necrotising pancreatitis?
  - 14 How do you perform VARD in necrotising pancreatitis?
  - 15 What is the feasibility of minimally invasive techniques in necrotising pancreatitis?
  - **16** Is VARD, as compared to open necrosectomy, associated with a better clinical outcome in necrotising pancreatitis?
  - 17 Does a minimally invasive step-up approach, as compared to primary open necrosectomy, reduce major complications and death, as well as long term complications, health care utilisation, and total costs in patients with necrotising pancreatitis?
  - **18** What is the recent outcome of patients from the entire clinical spectrum of necrotising pancreatitis who undergo either conservative treatment or intervention?
  - 19 How is the application procedure for medical ethical approval for a nationwide multicentre study in the Netherlands functioning, in terms of adherence to the national guideline, duration of the review process, and time and materials invested?

ERCP stands for endoscopic cholangiopancreaticography VARD stands for video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement

In this thesis, four main topics regarding diagnosis and treatment of acute pancreatitis have been addressed:

- 1 Defining acute pancreatitis and its local complications
- 2 Preventing infections in acute pancreatitis
- 3 Early endoscopic intervention for biliary pancreatitis
- 4 Intervention for necrotising pancreatitis

The main study questions are summarized in TABLE I.I. The background of the four topics is discussed in the following sections.

# PART I: DEFINING ACUTE PANCREATITIS AND ITS COMPLICATIONS

In 1992, an international consensus conference was held in Atlanta, Georgia, which resulted in a clinically based classification to define acute pancreatitis and its complications (TABLE 1.2).<sup>10</sup> Although the 'Atlanta Classification' has been universally accepted, it is now apparent that the classification suffers from considerable short-comings.<sup>28,34,35</sup> One of the main problems is that the definitions for local complications such as 'acute pseudocyst' and 'pancreatic abscess' are confusing. Although exact radiological criteria for these local complications were not provided, the Atlanta definitions are widely used to describe peripancreatic collections on computed tomography (CT) in daily practice. An evaluation of the use of the Atlanta Classification in clinical practice had never been performed. In CHAPTER 2 we summarise a study among Dutch radiologists to asses the interobserver agreement of categorising peripancreatic collections on CT using the Atlanta Classification.

Aside from the clear need for correct terminology and standardised definitions in daily practice, the same language should also be spoken in clinical research in order to adequately compare inter-institutional data. The use of the Atlanta Classification in the literature had never been evaluated. CHAPTER 3 presents a literature review to assess whether the Atlanta Classification is accepted in the literature, and to evaluate the extent of variation in interpretation of the definitions.

It has been suggested that objective, descriptive terms to categorize CT-findings should be incorporated in a new classification, as an alternative to the subjective definitions of the Atlanta classification.<sup>36</sup> CHAPTER 4 describes an interobserver

	DEFINITION
Acute pancreatitis	An acute inflammatory process of the pancreas with variable involvement of other regional tissues or remote organ systems. Associated with raised pancreatic enzyme levels in blood or urine.
Severity	
Mild acute pancreatitis	Associated with minimal organ dysfunction and an uneventful recovery; lacks the features of severe acute pancreatitis. Usually normal enhancement of pancreatic parenchyma on contrast-enhanced computed tomography.
Severe acute pancreatitis	Associated with organ failure and/or local complications such as necrosis, abscess or pseudocyst
Predicted severe acute pancreatitis	Ranson score ≥3 or APACHE II score ≥8
Organ failure and systemic complication	S
Shock	Systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg
Pulmonary insufficiency	Pa 0 <sub>2</sub> ≤60 mmHg
Renal failure	Creatinine ≥177 µmol/l or ≤2 mg/dl after rehydration
Gastrointestinal bleeding	500 ml in 24 h
Disseminated intravascular coagulation	Platelets ≤100.000/mm³, fibrinogen <1.0 g/l and fibrin-split products > 80 µg/l
Severe metabolic disturbances	Calcium ≥1.87 mmol/l or ≥7.5 mg/dl
Local complications	
Acute fluid collections	Occur early in the course of acute pancreatitis, are located in or near the pancreas and always lack a wall of granulation of fibrous tissue. In about half of patients, spontaneous regression occurs. In the other half, an acute fluid collection develops into a pancreatic abscess or pseudocyst
Pancreatic necrosis	Diffuse or focal area(s) of non-viable pancreatic parenchyma, typically associated with peripancreatic fat necrosis. Non-enhanced pancreatic parenchyma >3 cm or involving more than 30% of the area of the pancreas.
Pancreatic abscess	Circumscribed, intra-abdominal collection of pus, usually in proximity to the pancreas, containing little or no pancreatic necrosis, which arises as a consequence of acute pancreatitis or pancreatic trauma. Often 4 weeks or more after onset. Pancreatic abscess and infected pancreatic necrosis differ in cli- nical expression and extent of associated necrosis.

TABLE 1.2. Summary of the 1992 Atlanta Classification on acute pancreatitis  $^{10}\,$ 

agreement study in which an international group of surgeons and radiologists formulated a new set of descriptive, morphological terms that were tested between surgeons, gastroenterologists, and radiologists from different parts of the world.

# PART II: PREVENTING INFECTIONS IN ACUTE PANCREATITIS

It is estimated that around 80% of patients that die from acute pancreatitis have concomitant infectious complications.<sup>37</sup> Prophylactic antibiotics have not been proven effective in reducing infections in acute pancreatitis.<sup>13,38</sup> Alternative preventive strategies are therefore highly needed.

The most important infectious complication is infection of pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis.<sup>7</sup> Although the incidence of infected necrosis has been widely studied, the time of onset and clinical impact of other infections, such as pneumonia and bacteraemia, are uncertain. CHAPTER **5** is a summary of an observational, multicentre, cohort study that investigated the timing of infections and their association with death in acute pancreatitis.

One of the first steps in the pathophysiological process held responsible for infections in acute pancreatitis is bacterial translocation: the phenomenon that bacteria cross the gastrointestinal mucosal barrier and invade the systemic compartment.<sup>39,40</sup> Bacterial translocation is caused by a complex interaction of events including smallbowel bacterial overgrowth,<sup>41</sup> mucosal barrier failure,<sup>42,44</sup> and pro-inflammatory immune responses.<sup>25,26</sup> Strategies to prevent infections should ideally have their effect on all these events. A strategy that meets these criteria may be the administration of enteral nutrition.<sup>45,46</sup> In CHAPTER **6** we summarize a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials comparing enteral nutrition with parenteral nutrition in terms of the risk of infections and death in patients with acute pancreatitis.

Another strategy that has been proposed to prevent infections in acute pancreatitis is prophylactic administration of probiotics.<sup>47,48</sup> Probiotics are non-pathogenic bacteria that, on delivery to the host's intestinal tract, may exert health-promoting effects.<sup>49</sup> CHAPTER **7** presents an overview of the proposed mechanisms of action of probiotics in preventing infections and the results from 14 randomised trials in surgical and critically ill patients. In CHAPTER **8** we describe the PRObiotics in PAncreatitis TRIA1 (PROPATRIA): a randomised, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial on probiotic prophylaxis in 296 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis. CHAPTER 9 is a summary of a study in which we assessed intestinal barrier function in 141 out of 296 patients who were randomised in PROPATRIA. We evaluated the relationship between infectious complications and 1. enterocyte damage, 2. increased intestinal permeability, and 3. bacterial translocation. We also investigated the effect of probiotics on these processes.

# PART III: EARLY ENDOSCOPIC INTERVENTION FOR ACUTE BILIARY PANCREATITIS

Gallstones and gallsludge are responsible for around 25 to 70% of cases of acute pancreatitis in the Western world.<sup>17,18,20</sup> It is thought that intermittent or persistent obstruction of stones and sludge in the common bile duct (CBD) and ampulla of Vater cause pancreatic outflow obstruction, which leads to pancreatic damage and inflammation.<sup>50</sup> Early intervention to relieve biliary obstruction in acute biliary pancreatitis therefore seems plausible. This may mitigate pancreatic inflammation and thereby improve clinical outcome. Early ERCP to remove CBD stones with subsequent sphincterotomy has been proposed as such an intervention.<sup>8</sup> It is known, however, that the majority of CBD stones and sludge pass spontaneously into the duodenum in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.<sup>50,51</sup> Moreover, ERCP is an invasive procedure with a risk of complications.<sup>52</sup> Therefore, one would ideally perform ERCP only in patients with a high chance of CBD stones. We therefore need parameters that accurately predict CBD stones in acute biliary pancreatitis. In CHAPTER 10 we present the first study evaluating commonly used biochemical and radiological predictors for CBD stones, early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis. CHAPTER 11 describes a systematic review and meta-analysis of 3 randomised tri-

als comparing ERCP with conservative treatment in terms of complications and death in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis. After this meta-analysis, the role of early ERCP still remained controversial. This was mainly caused by the fact that the pooled data comprised only few patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis: i.e. the patients most at risk for complications. Moreover, it remained unclear whether the effect of early ERCP differed between patients with and without cholestasis. Therefore, we performed the study presented in CHAPTER 12:

a prospective, observational, multicentre cohort study comparing early ERCP with conservative treatment in terms of mortality and death in patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis. Patients with and without cholestasis were assessed separately.

# PART IV: INTERVENTION FOR NECROTISING PANCREATITIS

The historical treatment of infected necrosis is primary open necrosectomy by laparotomy.<sup>9</sup> This procedure is aimed at completely removing the infected focus. Open necrosectomy is an invasive procedure with a high risk of complications (34 to 95%) and death (11 to 39%).<sup>12,53-57</sup> As an alternative, minimally invasive radiological, endoscopic, and surgical techniques are gaining popularity.<sup>11,14,58,59</sup> These minimally invasive techniques can be applied in a so called 'step-up approach'. In contrast to primary open necrosectomy, the step-up approach is aimed at control of the infected focus rather than complete removal of the infected necrosis. We hypothesized that infected necrosis can be successfully treated as an 'abscess'. This means that the necrosis can be left in situ and only drainage of pus under tension is sufficient. Surgical intervention to remove infected necrosis may not always be necessary. Additionally, the minimally invasive step-up approach may reduce the risk of complications and death by inducing less surgical stress (i.e., a pro-inflammatory response) in these already critically ill patients.<sup>56</sup>

As the first step of the step-up approach, percutaneous catheter drainage (PCD) of the peripancreatic collection with infected necrosis is performed.<sup>11</sup> CHAPTER **13** is summary of a systematic review on PCD in necrotising pancreatitis.

If PCD does not lead to clinical improvement, the next step of the step-up approach is drain-guided minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy. CHAPTER 14 describes the rationale and technical details of 'video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement' (VARD).

For PCD, VARD, and other minimally invasive techniques to be possible, a catheter drain has to be placed in the peripancreatic collection. It was unknown in which proportion of patients this is technically feasible. CHAPTER 15 summarizes an interobserver agreement study among Dutch radiologists to evaluate the feasibility of minimally invasive techniques in necrotising pancreatitis. A head-to-head comparison of minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy and open necrosectomy for complications and death had never been performed. In CHAPTER 16 we summarize a retrospective, case-matched, cohort study comparing VARD with open necrosectomy in 30 patients with suspected infected necrotising pancreatitis.

Using the data from the preparative studies mentioned above, we designed a prospective study to compare treatment strategies. CHAPTER 17 presents the PAncreatitis, maximal Necrosectomy versus minimally invasive sTEp up appRoach (PAN-TER)-trial: a randomised, controlled multicentre trial to determine the optimal surgical strategy in infected necrotising pancreatitis in terms of clinical outcomes, health care resource utilisation, and costs.

The literature on outcome of necrotising pancreatitis comprises mainly of relatively small, retrospective studies from single expert centres, covering long time periods and presenting only the subgroup of patients undergoing necrosectomy. CHAP-TER 18 presents a prospective, observational, multicentre cohort study describing outcome of conservative treatment and intervention in 639 patients with necrotising pancreatitis who were screened for eligibility in the PROPATRIA and PANTER studies. The main objective was to present a solid and up to date reference for future studies on mortality in the various subgroups of necrotising pancreatitis.

# PART V: OBTAINING MEDICAL ETHICAL APPROVAL FOR A DUTCH MULTICENTRE STUDY

In the final part of this thesis, a topic other than acute pancreatitis is discussed. Before a multicentre study can be initiated, approval has to be obtained from the medical ethics committee of all participating hospitals. Dutch researchers often experience this as an inefficient and tedious process. We hypothesized that the guidelines of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO)<sup>60</sup> on approval for multicentre studies are not always followed by the Dutch medical ethics committees. CHAPTER **19** describes a prospective study in which we systematically evaluated the application procedure for medical ethical approval for the PANTER trial in the 19 participating centres.

### REFERENCES

- Tulp N. Observationum Medicarum, Editio Nova et Aucta. 2nd ed. Amsterdam, The Netherlands 1652; 345.
- Evidence-based medicine. A new approach to teaching the practice of medicine. JAMA 1992; 268:2420-2425.
- 3 Starr M, Chalmers I, Clarke M, Oxman AD. The origins, evolution, and future of The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 2009; 25:182-195.
- McCulloch P, Altman DG, Campbell WB, et al. No surgical innovation without evaluation: the IDEAL recommendations. Lancet 2009; 374:1105-1112.
- Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. BMJ 2010; 340:c332.
- Montori VM, Guyatt GH. Progress in evidence-based medicine. JAMA 2008; 300:1814-1816.
- Beger HG, Bittner R, Block S, Buchler M.
   Bacterial contamination of pancreatic necrosis. A prospective clinical study.
   Gastroenterology 1986; 91:433-438.
- 8 Neoptolemos JP, Carr-Locke DL, London NJ, Bailey IA, James D, Fossard DP. Controlled trial of urgent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy versus conservative treatment for acute pancreatitis due to gallstones. Lancet 1988; 2:979-983.

- 9 Beger HG, Buchler M, Bittner R, Block S, Nevalainen T, Roscher R. Necrosectomy and postoperative local lavage in necrotizing pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1988; 75:207-212.
- Bradley EL, III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.
- Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous
   CT-guided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-975.
- 12 Buchler MW, Gloor B, Muller CA, Friess H, Seiler CA, Uhl W. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis: treatment strategy according to the status of infection. Ann Surg 2000; 232:619-626.
- 13 Isenmann R, Runzi M, Kron M, et al. Prophylactic antibiotic treatment in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis: A placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. Gastroenterology 2004; 126:997-1004.
- Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW.
   Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience.
   Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-180.
- 15 Nordback IH, Auvinen OA. Long-term results after pancreas resection for acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1985; 72:687-689.

- 16 Tinto A, Lloyd DA, Kang JY, et al. Acute and chronic pancreatitis—diseases on the rise: a study of hospital admissions in England 1989/90-1999/2000. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2002; 16:2097-2105.
- 17 Frey CF, Zhou H, Harvey DJ, White RH. The incidence and case-fatality rates of acute biliary, alcoholic, and idiopathic pancreatitis in California, 1994-2001. Pancreas 2006; 33:336-344.
- 18 Yadav D, Lowenfels AB. Trends in the epidemiology of the first attack of acute pancreatitis: a systematic review. Pancreas 2006; 33:323-330.
- 19 Www.Prismant.nl Landelijke Medische Registratie. 2004.
- 20 Gullo L, Migliori M, Olah A, et al. Acute pancreatitis in five European countries: etiology and mortality. Pancreas 2002; 24:223-227.
- 21 Pandol SJ, Saluja AK, Imrie CW, Banks PA.
   Acute pancreatitis: bench to the bedside.
   Gastroenterology 2007; 133:1056.
- 22 Whitcomb DC. Acute pancreatitis: molecular biology update. J Gastrointest Surg 2003; 7:940-942.
- 23 Mayerle J, Weiss FU, Halangk W, Lerch MM. Molecular, biocehmical, and metabolic abnormalities of acute pancreatitis. In: Beger H, Warshaw AL, Buchler MW, Kozarek R, Lerch MM, Neoptolemos JP, Hiratori K, Whitcomb DC eds. The Pancreas: an integrated textbook of basic science, medicine and surgery. 2nd ed. Massachusetts, USA, Blackwell Publishing 2008; 214-225.

- 24 Norman J. The role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1998; 175:76-83.
- 25 Mayer J, Rau B, Gansauge F, Beger HG. Inflammatory mediators in human acute pancreatitis: clinical and pathophysiological implications. Gut 2000; 47:546-552.
- 26 Granger J, Remick D. Acute pancreatitis: models, markers, and mediators. Shock 2005; 24 Suppl 1:45-51.
- 27 Forsmark CE, Baillie J. AGA Institute Technical Review on Acute Pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-2044.
- 28 Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 29 Blamey SL, Imrie CW, O'Neill J, Gilmour WH, Carter DC. Prognostic factors in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1984; 25:1340-1346.
- 30 Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP, Zimmerman JE. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 1985; 13:818-829.
- 31 Werner J, Hartwig W, Uhl W, Muller C, Buchler MW. Useful markers for predicting severity and monitoring progression of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003; 3:115-127.
- 32 Werner J, Feuerbach S, Uhl W, Buchler MW. Management of acute pancreatitis: from surgery to interventional intensive care. Gut 2005; 54:426-436.

- 33 Johnson CD, Abu-Hilal M. Persistent organ failure during the first week as a marker of fatal outcome in acute pancreatitis. Gut 2004; 53:1340-1344.
- 34 Vege SS, Gardner TB, Chari ST, et al. Low mortality and high morbidity in severe acute pancreatitis without organ failure: a case for revising the atlanta classification to include "moderately severe acute pancreatitis". Am J Gastroenterol 2009; 104:710-715.
- 35 Petrov MS, Windsor JA. Classification of the severity of acute pancreatitis: how many categories make sense? Am J Gastroenterol 2010; 105:74-76.
- Bradley EL, III. Confusion in the imaging ranks: time for a change?
   Pancreas 2006; 33:321-322.
- Beger HG, Rau B, Mayer J, Pralle U. Natural course of acute pancreatitis.
   World J Surg 1997; 21:130-135.
- 38 Dellinger EP, Tellado JM, Soto NE, et al. Early antibiotic treatment for severe acute necrotizing pancreatitis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Study. Ann Surg 2007; 245:674-683.
- 39 Deitch EA. The role of intestinal barrier failure and bacterial translocation in the development of systemic infection and multiple organ failure. Arch Surg 1990; 125:403-404.

- 40 Guarner F, Malagelada JR. Gut flora in health and disease. Lancet 2003; 361:512-519.
- 41 Van Felius ID, Akkermans LM, Bosscha K, et al. Interdigestive small bowel motility and duodenal bacterial overgrowth in experimental acute pancreatitis. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2003; 15:267-276.
- 42 Ammori BJ, Leeder PC, King RF, et al. Early increase in intestinal permeability in patients with severe acute pancreatitis: correlation with endotoxemia, organ failure, and mortality. J Gastrointest Surg 1999; 3:252-262.
- 43 Fink MP. Intestinal epithelial hyperpermeability: update on the pathogenesis of gut mucosal barrier dysfunction in critical illness. Curr Opin Crit Care 2003; 9:143-151.
- 44 Rahman SH, Ammori BJ, Holmfield J, Larvin M, McMahon MJ. Intestinal hypoperfusion contributes to gut barrier failure in severe acute pancreatitis.
   J Gastrointest Surg 2003; 7:26-35.
- 45 Kotani J, Usami M, Nomura H, et al. Enteral nutrition prevents bacterial translocation but does not improve survival during acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg 1999; 134:287-292.
- 46 McClave SA, Ritchie CS. Artificial nutrition in pancreatic disease: what lessons have we learned from the literature? Clin Nutr 2000; 19:1-6.
- 47 Olah A, Belagyi T, Issekutz A, Gamal ME, Bengmark S. Randomized clinical trial of specific lactobacillus and fibre supplement to early enteral nutrition in patients with acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2002; 89:1103-1107.

- 48 Olah A, Belagyi T, Poto L, Romics L, Jr., Bengmark S. Synbiotic control of inflammation and infection in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective, randomized, double blind study. Hepatogastroenterology 2007; 54:590-594.
- 49 Tenover FC, Hughes JM. WHO Scientific Working Group on monitoring and management of bacterial resistance to antimicrobial agents. Emerg Infect Dis 1995; 1:37.
- 50 Mayerle J, Saluja AK, Lerch MM. Clinical course and treatment principles of biliary acute pancreatitis. In: Beger H, Warshaw AL, Buchler MW, Kozarek R, Lerch MM, Neoptolemos JP, Hiratori K, Whitcomb DC eds. The Pancreas: an integrated textbook of basic science, medicine and surgery. 2nd ed. Massachusetts, USA, Blackwell Publishing 2008; 231-241.
- 51 Acosta JM, Ledesma CL. Gallstone migration as a cause of acute pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1974; 290:484-487.
- 52 Freeman ML, Nelson DB, Sherman S, et al.
   Complications of endoscopic biliary sphincterotomy.
   N Engl J Med 1996; 335:909-918.
- 53 Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19year, single-center series. Surgery 2005; 138:28-39.

- 54 Rodriguez JR, Razo AO, Targarona J, et al. Debridement and closed packing for sterile or infected necrotizing pancreatitis: insights into indications and outcomes in 167 patients. Ann Surg 2008; 247:294-299.
- Ashley SW, Perez A, Pierce EA, et al.
   Necrotizing pancreatitis: contemporary analysis of 99 consecutive cases.
   Ann Surg 2001; 234:572-579.
- 56 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 137:499-505.
- 57 Howard TJ, Patel JB, Zyromski N, et al.
   Declining morbidity and mortality rates in the surgical management of pancreatic necrosis.
   J Gastrointest Surg 2007; 11:43-49.
- 58 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Ali A, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. Laparoscopic assisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:677-682.
- 59 Papachristou GI, Takahashi N, Chahal P, Sarr MG, Baron TH. Peroral endoscopic drainage/debridement of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Ann Surg 2007; 245:943-951.
- 60 Website of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO): http://www.ccmoonline.nl/hipe/uploads/downloads/RETeng.pdf.

# PART

Defining acute pancreatitis and its complications Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>2</sup> Maarten S van Leeuwen,<sup>3</sup> Johan S Laméris,<sup>4</sup> Eric J van der Jagt,<sup>5</sup> Simon P Strijk,<sup>6</sup> Erik Buskens,<sup>7</sup> Patrick C Freeny,<sup>8</sup> and Hein G Gooszen<sup>1</sup>, for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

# AFFILIATIONS

Depts. of <sup>1</sup>Surgery, <sup>3</sup>Radiology and <sup>7</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Depts. of <sup>2</sup>Radiology, St. Antonius Hospital Nieuwegein, Academic Medical Center Amsterdam, <sup>5</sup>University Hospital Groningen, <sup>6</sup>Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, The Netherlands, <sup>8</sup>Dept. of Radiology, University of Washington Medical Center, USA.

# РАРТЕ С Н А Р Т Е 2

Describing computed tomography findings in acute necrotising pancreatitis with the Atlanta Classification: an interobserver agreement study

– a summary –

Published in: Pancreas 2006

# INTRODUCTION

Treatment of acute necrotising pancreatitis (ANP) is a challenge, and consultation with or referral to specialised institutions is advised on several occasions.<sup>1-3</sup> Therefore, adequate communication regarding both the severity and complications of ANP is of utmost importance. In 1992, an international symposium on acute pancreatitis was held in Atlanta to resolve lingering disputes regarding the definitions of various complications in acute pancreatitis. This resulted in the Atlanta Classification, which is a clinically based classification system that defines the severity and complications of acute pancreatitis.<sup>4</sup> The Atlanta Classification is frequently used to describe (peri-)pancreatic collections on computed tomography (CT). The aim of this study was to assess the interobserver agreement of categorizing peripancreatic collections on computed tomography (CT) using the Atlanta Classification.

# METHODS

Preoperative contrast-enhanced CTs from 70 consecutive patients (49 men; median age, 59 years; range, 29-79 years) operated for ANP (2000-2003) in 11 hospitals of the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group were reviewed. Five abdominal radiologists from 5 different hospitals independently categorized the peripancreatic collections according to the Atlanta Classification: 'acute fluid collection', 'pseudocyst', 'pancreatic abscess', or 'pancreatic necrosis' (TABLE 2.1.). The option 'mixture' and 'no collection' was also an option to choose. Radiologists were only aware of the timing of the CT and the clinical condition of the patient. The interobserver agreement was calculated using  $\kappa$ -statistics. A  $\kappa$  level of less than 0.00 represents no agreement; 0.00-0.20, slight; 0.21-0.40, fair; 0.41-0.60, moderate; 0.61-0.80, substantial; 0.81-1.00, almost perfect agreement.<sup>5</sup> Mean  $\kappa$  with SD was calculated for all 10 radiologist pairs within the 5 radiologists.

# RESULTS

Among the 5 abdominal radiologists, there was slight interobserver agreement for categorizing collections according to the Atlanta Classification ( $\kappa$  0.144; SD, 0.095; see TABLE 2.1.). In 3 (4%) of 70 cases, the radiologists chose the same definition (mixture, n=2; pancreatic necrosis, n=1). In 3 (4%) of 70 cases, the same Atlanta definition was chosen. In 13 (19%) of 70 cases, 4 radiologists agreed, and in 42 (60%) of

		01	1				
HPB radiologist	Ac. fluid collection n (%)	Pancreatic abscess n (%)	Pseudocyst n (%)	Pancreatic necrosis n (%)	Mixture n (%)	No collection n (%)	Total n (%)
1	10 (14)	22 (31)	0 (0)	4 (6)	32 (46)	2 (3)	70 (100)
2	1 (1)	1 (1)	0 (0)	14 (20)	53 (76)	1 (1)	70 (100)
3	8 (11)	4 (6)	0 (0)	7 (10)	51 (73)	0 (0)	70 (100)
4	14 (20)	16 (23)	2 (3)	24 (34)	14 (20)	0 (0)	70 (100)
5	15 (21)	21 (30)	20 (29)	6 (9)	3 (4)	5 (7)	70 (100)
Mean	10 (14)	13 (18)	4 (6)	11 (16)	31 (44)	2 (2)	70 (100)

 

 TABLE 2.1. Atlanta Classification used for defining (peri-)pancreatic collections in 70 necrotising pancreatitis patients.



FIGURE 2.1. The use of the Atlanta Classification on CT in necrotising pancreatitis. Computed tomography scan 12 days after onset of disease. The definitions chosen for this collection were 'pseudo-cyst' (n=1), 'pancreatic abscess' (n=1), 'pancreatic necrosis' (n=1), and 'mixture' (n=2).

70 cases, 3 radiologists agreed on the definition. In 21 cases (30%), 1 or more of the radiologists classified a collection as 'pancreatic abscess', whereas 1 or more radiologist used another Atlanta definition. See FIGURE 2.1 for an example.

# DISCUSSION

Surgeons and gastroenterologists tend to rely heavily on the radiologist's CT report of a patient with ANP to decide upon further treatment. The impact of a report descri-

bing a 'pseudocyst' is completely different from that of 'infected pancreatic necrosis' or a 'pancreatic abscess.'<sup>1-3</sup> Different complications require different treatment strategies, ranging from conservative management to invasive percutaneous or surgical intervention. Interobserver variability in characterization of peripancreatic collections will potentially mislead the clinician in his choice for the appropriate therapy. Interobserver agreement studies have never been reported for the Atlanta Classification, so the present study cannot be compared with previous studies. In conclusion, the interobserver agreement of the Atlanta Classification for categorizing peripancreatic collections in acute pancreatitis on CT is poor. The Atlanta Classification should not be used to describe complications of acute pancreatitis on CT. Radiological reports should be descriptive and mention the presence or absence of pancreatic necrosis, fluid collections, encapsulation, and/or air. A new descriptive radiological classification system for acute pancreatitis should be designed.

#### REFERENCES

- Toouli J, Brooke-Smith M, Bassi C, et al. Guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2002; (suppl 1):15-39.
- 2 Uhl W, Warshaw A, Imrie C, et al.
   IAP guidelines for the surgical management of acute pancreatitis.
   Pancreatology 2002; 2:565-573.
- 3 Working Party of the British Society of Gastroenterology; Association of Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland; Pancreatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland; Association of Upper GI Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland. UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut. 2005; 54(suppl 3):iii1-iii9.

4 Bradley EL III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the

- International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg. 1993; 128:586-590.
- 5 Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics. 1977; 33:159-174.

Thomas L Bollen, <sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort, <sup>2</sup> Marc G Besselink, <sup>2</sup> Maarten S van Leeuwen, <sup>3</sup> Karen D Horvath, <sup>4</sup> Patrick C Freeny, <sup>5</sup> and Hein G Gooszen, <sup>2</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

# AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Radiology, St Antonius Hospital Nieuwegein, Depts. of <sup>2</sup>Surgery and <sup>3</sup>Radiology, University Medical Centre Utrecht, the Netherlands, and Depts. of <sup>4</sup>Surgery and <sup>5</sup>Radiology, University of Washington Medical Center, Seattle, USA.

# PARTER CHAPTER J

The Atlanta Classification of acute pancreatitis revisited: a review of the literature

Published in: British Journal of Surgery 2008

#### ABSTRACT

#### BACKGROUND

In a complex disease such as acute pancreatitis, correct terminology and clear definitions are important. The clinically based Atlanta Classification was formulated in 1992, but in recent years it has been increasingly criticized. No formal evaluation of the use of the Atlanta definitions in the literature has ever been performed.

## METHODS

A Medline literature search sought studies published after 1993. Guidelines, review articles and their cross-references were reviewed to assess whether the Atlanta or alternative definitions were used.

# RESULTS

A total of 447 articles was assessed, including 12 guidelines and 82 reviews. Alternative definitions of predicted severity of acute pancreatitis, actual severity and organ failure were used in more than half of the studies. There was a large variation in the interpretation of the Atlanta definitions of local complications, especially relating to the content of peripancreatic collections.

# CONCLUSION

The Atlanta definitions for acute pancreatitis are often used inappropriately, and alternative definitions are frequently applied. Such lack of consensus illustrates the need for a revision of the Atlanta Classification.

# INTRODUCTION

Over the past five decades, several classification systems on pancreatitis have emerged from interdisciplinary symposia.<sup>14</sup> The most recent international meeting on this topic, the 1992 Atlanta symposium, produced a clinically based classification system.<sup>4,5</sup> Definitions of acute pancreatitis, its severity, organ failure and the local complications 'acute fluid collection', 'pancreatic necrosis', 'pseudocyst' and 'pancreatic abscess' were proposed. The Atlanta Classification attempted to introduce uniformity in the assessment of clinical severity and the various complications of the disease. This is the only widely accepted classification system used by clinicians and radiologists.

With increasing knowledge of the pathophysiology of pancreatitis and the development of new means of intervention, several authors have pointed out shortcomings in the Atlanta Classification.<sup>6-13</sup> A recent review demonstrated that terminology abandoned by the Atlanta symposium, for instance 'phlegmon' and 'infected pseudocyst', is still used frequently in the literature, and that various new terms, such as 'organized pancreatic necrosis' and 'necroma', have been introduced since 1993.<sup>14</sup> A critical evaluation of the use of the Atlanta Classification in the literature has never been performed. The present review assesses whether the definitions of the Atlanta Classification are accepted in the literature and evaluates the extent of variation in interpretation of these definitions.

# METHODS

A Medline search of literature published between 1993 and 2006 was performed using the following terms: 'acute pancreatitis and review' and 'acute pancreatitis and guidelines'. From the identified guidelines and reviews, cross-references were retrieved. The search included all types of publication (reviews, guidelines, original studies, case reports and editorials), but excluded those not in English and animal experimental studies. One author (T.L.B.) performed the selection and reviewed all full-text papers to assess whether the original Atlanta definitions (TABLE 1.2, page 16) or other definitions were used for the following five components of the Atlanta Classification: diagnosis (cut-off levels of pancreatic enzymes lipase and amylase); predicted severity (predictive scoring systems, cut-off levels of scoring systems); actual severity (distinction between mild and severe pancreatitis, distinction

	Total no. of studies n=447	High (>5.0) n=89	Intermediate (1.5-4.9) n=273	Low (<1.5) n=85
Meta-analyses	3	2	1	0
Randomised controlled trials	34	13	18	3
Prospective series	144	28	99	17
Retrospective series	147	23	95	29
Reviews	82	10	44	28
Guidelines	12	5	5	2
Editorials	5	2	3	0
Others	20	6	8	6

TABLE	9 T	Characteristics	of retrieved	articles	(1993 - 2006)	specified r	oer impac	t factor
IADLL	3.1.1.	Unaracteristics	or retrieved	articics	1333-2000	specificu p	Jui mipau	t factor

between predicted and actual severity); organ failure (determinants of individual failing organ systems, cut-off levels of determinants, distinction between single organ failure and multiple organ failure); local complications (pancreatic necrosis and peripancreatic necrosis, infection of necrosis, morphological aspects and distinction of different types of collection). If different definitions for the components were identified, this was double checked by one of two other authors (H.C.v.S., M.G.B.). All disagreements were resolved by discussion among the authors. In addition, study results leading to new insights that might have influenced the interpretation of the Atlanta Classification were recorded and are discussed. As a large number of references were retrieved, for each component of the Atlanta Classification that was assessed only the three most recent articles are cited here; the remaining references are published in APPENDIX I (available as supplementary material online at www.bjs.co.uk).

# RESULTS

A total of 447 articles was reviewed, including 12 guidelines and 82 reviews. These articles reported on studies that were not specifically designed to evaluate the Atlanta Classification; they merely mentioned Atlanta definitions (for example a randomised trial comparing two treatment strategies with the outcome 'pseudocyst'). Therefore, an assessment of methodological quality was deemed inappropriate. TABLE 3.I gives an overview of the papers according to type of article and impact factor of the journals in which they were published. The most important discrepancies for the five components of the Atlanta Classification and discrepancies in the 12 guidelines are discussed in order.

# DIAGNOSIS

The Atlanta Classification provides no cut-off value for pancreatic enzyme levels. In 116 Studies, the diagnosis of acute pancreatitis was defined as a characteristic clinical history of abdominal pain and an increased level of pancreatic enzymes to three or more times the upper limit of normal. However, 31 studies used different thresholds, ranging from two or more<sup>15-17</sup> to more than four<sup>18-20</sup> and more than five<sup>21-23</sup> times the upper limit of normal.

## PREDICTED SEVERITY

A total of 283 articles provided criteria for predicting severity in acute pancreatitis. Some 86 reports used the severity scoring systems proposed by the Atlanta symposium.<sup>16,17,23</sup> However, 197 studies used a different cut-off level for defining severity, or used different or additional scoring systems, such as computed tomography (CT) severity index, Imrie (Glasgow) score, Simplified Acute Physiology score, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment or severity predictors (such as C-reactive protein).<sup>15,24,25</sup> Cut-off values for severity stratification differed considerably between reports. For the CT severity index, the most established radiological scoring system developed by Balthazar and colleagues<sup>26</sup> in 1990, the cut-off value to differentiate between mild and severe disease ranged from three or more to eight or more points.<sup>27-29</sup> In 32 studies, threshold values for Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) II score (other than eight or more) varied from five or more to 11 or more, whereas the time for calculating the score varied from day of admission to 24 and 48 h after admission.<sup>30-32</sup> Eleven studies used different threshold values for the Ranson criteria (other than three or more), ranging from more than three to more than five.32-34

Since the Atlanta symposium in 1992, many studies have identified new predictors of severity and these have been incorporated in several guidelines. Such predictors

include age (over 55<sup>6</sup>, over 70<sup>35</sup> or over 80<sup>36</sup> years), obesity (body mass index over 30 kg/m2),<sup>11,24,37</sup> pleural effusion (left or bilateral) on chest radiograph,<sup>38-40</sup> raised haema-tocrit level<sup>6,41,42</sup> and C-reactive protein level greater than 150 mg/dl after 48 h.<sup>43-45</sup>

# ACTUAL SEVERITY

Of 297 articles providing definitions for severe acute pancreatitis, 195 defined severe disease according to the Atlanta Classification, although 61 merely stated that the Atlanta criteria were used without specification.<sup>46-48</sup> The remaining 102 articles used definitions of severe disease other than those of the Atlanta Classification. These definitions were based on admission to an intensive care unit, length of intensive care unit or hospital stay, complications requiring medical or operative intervention, mortality or various other, additional or non-specified criteria1.<sup>7,49,50</sup> The authors of 45 articles used the absence and presence of pancreatic necrosis broadly synonymously with mild and severe acute pancreatitis respectively.<sup>47,51,52</sup> Some reports, however, pointed out that patients with the morphological diagnosis of interstitial pancreatitis may develop clinically severe disease.<sup>44,53,54</sup>

The relationship between the development of organ failure and pancreatic necrosis (the most important determinants of severe acute pancreatitis) is contentious. Several reports noted that only 51-55% of patients with pancreatic necrosis manifested organ failure.<sup>55-57</sup> In the study by Lankisch and colleagues,<sup>53</sup> 15% of patients with acute oedematous pancreatitis developed organ failure. In a recent study, organ failure was the main risk factor for mortality, regardless of the presence or absence of pancreatic necrosis<sup>23</sup>. Conversely, other studies showed a good correlation between organ failure and the extent of pancreatic necrosis.<sup>16,58,59</sup>

Finally, in 38 articles, the differentiation between 'predicted severe' acute pancreatitis (Ranson, Imrie or APACHE II score) and 'actual severe' disease (systemic or local complications) was not apparent from the published data.<sup>17,28,60</sup> The difference is important, because in recent studies less than 50% of patients with predicted severe disease eventually turned out to have actual severe disease according to the Atlanta criteria.<sup>25,46</sup> This lack of distinction may account for the variation in incidence of severe acute pancreatitis among institutions.
#### ORGAN FAILURE

Criteria for organ failure were found in 149 articles. In 35 reports the exact Atlanta definitions for organ failure were specifically stated and used.<sup>23,61,62</sup> Seven articles restricted organ failure to two of the four Atlanta determinants for organ failure: respiratory and renal insufficiency.<sup>63-65</sup> However, 107 articles used additional criteria for organ failure and systemic complications, such as leucocytosis, temperature, coagulopathy, nervous system failure, hepatic failure, systemic inflammatory response syndrome or sepsis, or used altered thresholds or adjustments for the Atlanta definitions of organ failure.<sup>52,66,67</sup> The remaining articles gave no definition of organ failure, or simply noted that the Atlanta criteria were used, without specification.

In recent years, multiple organ failure has been acknowledged as a major determinant of mortality. However, no uniform definition for multiple organ failure exists: 20 reports defined it as failure of two or more organ systems,<sup>31,46,49</sup> and eight as failure of three or more organ systems,<sup>23,68,69</sup> although most studies did not define multiple organ failure. The dynamic process of organ dysfunction is increasingly recognized, and several authors differentiated. between transient and persistent organ failure.<sup>70-72</sup> In addition, several studies showed that early and progressive organ failure was associated with high mortality, but most patients with transient organ failure had an uncomplicated course.<sup>72-74</sup> The recent UK guidelines on acute pancreatitis state that organ failure in the first week resolving within 48 h should not be considered an indicator of severe disease.<sup>43</sup>

Since 1993, several new organ failure grading systems have been developed (Goris score, Marshall or multiple organ dysfunction score, Bernard score, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment and logistic organ dysfunction syndrome score) that take into account the number of organ systems involved and the degree of dysfunction of each individual organ. Some systems also include the need for inotropic or vasopressor agents, mechanical ventilation and dialysis that the Atlanta symposium did not account for. Several studies have shown that dynamic scoring systems (such as the delta APACHE II score) or scoring systems that account for the physiological response to treatment (such as the delta organ failure score or cumulative Marshall score) are better predictors of outcome than static scoring systems.<sup>31,32,71</sup>

#### LOCAL COMPLICATIONS

In a recent interobserver agreement study on the Atlanta definitions regarding the various local complications, interobserver agreement was poor: five radiologists agreed on the respective Atlanta definition in only three of 70 collections depicted by contrast-enhanced CT (CECT).<sup>8</sup>

# Acute fluid collection

In 64 articles, a definition was given for an 'acute fluid collection'. The following terms were used to describe acute fluid collections: '(peri)pancreatic fluid collections',<sup>75-77</sup> 'peripancreatic effusions',<sup>78</sup> 'extrapancreatic fluid collections',<sup>61,79,80</sup> 'immature pseudocyst'<sup>81,82</sup> and 'exudates'.<sup>54</sup> (Peri)pancreatic fluid collection was also used as an overall descriptive term for all types of collection related to acute pancreatitis.<sup>83-85</sup>

In most reports, the differentiation between acute fluid collection and pseudocyst was made after 4 weeks from onset of disease (as proposed by the Atlanta Classification). In eight reports, however, a different time period was used as a criterion for this distinction, varying from 3 weeks<sup>75,86,87</sup> to 6<sup>88,89</sup> and even 8<sup>90</sup> weeks. Moreover, they did not adequately describe whether acute fluid collections consisted of fluid alone or whether they may have contained necrotic debris.<sup>85,91,92</sup>

Authors of 17 articles regarded the occurrence of an acute fluid collection to be a local complication and so a sign of 'severe disease'.<sup>46,62,93</sup> However, most others did not include acute fluid collection either in the definition of local complication or in that of severe disease.

# Pancreatic necrosis

Of 152 articles that gave a specific definition for 'pancreatic necrosis' or 'necrotising pancreatitis' (FIGURE 3.1), 47 used the Atlanta criterion of more than 30% parenchymal necrosis to define necrotising pancreatitis.<sup>28,61,94</sup> However, 85 defined necrotising pancreatitis as any evidence of pancreatic parenchymal necrosis (including less than 30% parenchymal necrosis).<sup>47,95,96</sup> A third definition of necrotising pancreatitis, reported in 20 papers, was the appearance of pancreatic necrosis or extrapancreatic necrosis, or both, on CECT (and a serum C-reactive protein value of more than 150 mg/dl).<sup>52,86,97</sup>



FIGURE 3.1. (A, B) Contrast-enhanced CT of a patient with acute pancreatitis 22 days after onset of symptoms. There is normal enhancement of the body and tail of the pancreas, surrounded by a large heterogeneous and encapsulated fluid collection with gas bubbles suggestive for secondary infection. Some would call this 'necrotising pancreatitis', but because there is no evidence for pancreatic parenchymal necrosis (but only 'peripancreatic necrosis'), others would call this 'interstitial pancreatitis'. A large amount of fat necrosis was debrided during operation. (C) Six months after operation, a follow-up CT reveals a normal enhancing pancreatic parenchyma.

In the Atlanta Classification, the definition of pancreatic necrosis requires pancreatic parenchymal nonenhancement on CECT.<sup>4</sup> However, some clinicians questioned whether non-enhancement on CECT meant irreversible damage and necrosis.<sup>86,98,99</sup> For instance, Traverso and Kozarek<sup>86</sup> defined pancreatic necrosis as devitalised tissue found at operation. This was supported by Takeda and colleagues,<sup>100-102</sup> who noted that pancreatic parenchymal perfusion was maintained during intraarterial angiography, while CECT showed pancreatic nonenhancement. In contrast, several studies demonstrated a good correlation between parenchymal non-enhancement on CECT and the presence of pancreatic necrosis (confirmed at operation).<sup>103-105</sup>

Data on the accuracy of CECT in diagnosing extrapancreatic or peripancreatic fat necrosis are conflicting. Although eight groups claimed that fat necrosis could not be determined reliably by CECT, <sup>92,106,107</sup> several studies demonstrated a good correlation between extrapancreatic findings on CECT and the presence of fat necrosis at operation or autopsy.<sup>104,108,109</sup>

The Atlanta Classification includes both infected and sterile necrosis within the definition of 'pancreatic necrosis'.<sup>4</sup> Several groups claimed that pancreatic parenchymal necrosis without infection is not amajor morbidity risk.<sup>110-112</sup> This was supported by studies showing an uncomplicated course in the presence of necrosis without infection.<sup>23,55,56</sup> Beger and colleagues<sup>81,113</sup> were the first to emphasize that necrosis is a potential nidus for secondary infection occurring in 40-70% of patients. Recent studies confirmed this, demonstrating infected necrosis as the primary cause of late mortality.<sup>58,114,115</sup> However, definitions of 'infected necrosis' were also conflicting. Some authors regarded the presence of parenchymal necrosis as a prerequisite for the diagnosis of infected necrosis,<sup>116-118</sup> but others defined infected necrosis as infection that could occur in parenchymal necrosis or peripancreatic fat necrosis (in other words, in the absence of parenchymal necrosis), or both.<sup>67,76,119</sup>

#### Pseudocyst

A specific definition for the term 'pseudocyst' was provided in 87 articles, and all were similar to that of the Atlanta Classification. Some controversies, however, remain. Thirty-eight articles included collections containing both fluid and necrotic debris under the heading of pseudocyst (FIGURE 2).<sup>120-122</sup> Yet Baron<sup>123</sup> and others<sup>85,124</sup> have stated that pseudocysts should be devoid of solid necrotic debris. Evidence has



FIGURE 3.2. Contrast-enhanced CT of a patient with acute pancreatitis 30 days after onset of symptoms. The fluid collection seems to be homogenous and encapsulated and could be interpreted as a 'pseudocyst' according to the Atlanta classification. During operation, however, the collection turned out to contain large amounts of necrotic debris which was not recognized on CT.

shown that therapeutic strategy and outcome differed between collections containing fluid alone and those containing necrosis and fluid.<sup>84,125,126</sup> Bradley<sup>127</sup> considered that mischaracterization of (peri)pancreatic fluid collections as pseudocyst by CECT was an extremely common error in contemporary diagnostic radiology. This mischaracterization has two potentially dangerous consequences: first, by instrumentation of a sterile collection containing both fluid and necrosis, infection may be introduced6,<sup>120,128</sup>; second, a delay in appropriate intervention may occur.<sup>33,120,129</sup>

The incidence, natural history and options for management differed between acute and chronic pseudocysts. Several authors emphasized that the results of treatment of pancreatic fluid collections in the literature were difficult to interpret, because often no distinction was made between pseudocysts and acute fluid collections, or between pseudocysts that complicated acute and chronic pancreatitis.<sup>122,128,130</sup> Thirty-one original articles on the treatment of pseudocysts were reviewed but only five dealt exclusively with pseudocysts after an episode of acute pancreatitis.<sup>89,120,131</sup> The remaining 26 articles reported results of the treatment of pseudocysts complicating acute and chronic pancreatitis.<sup>121,132,133</sup>



FIGURE 3.3. Contrast-enhanced CT of a patient with AP 36 days after onset of symptoms. The body and tail of the pancreas are largely non-enhancing. Adjacent to the pancreatic bed is a large collection with predominately fluid like attenuation. Because of the gas bubbles some would call this a 'pancreatic abscess' whereas others would name this 'infected pancreatic necrosis'.

# Pancreatic abscess

Some 68 articles provided a definition of 'pancreatic abscess', which was generally in line with the original Atlanta definition. Nine original articles after 1993 were identified that reported on the treatment of 'pancreatic abscesses', and the Atlanta definition (collection of pus and virtually no necrotic debris, more than 4 weeks after onset) was strictly applied in three of these.<sup>134-136</sup> The others included collections that contained, in addition to pus, solid necrotic debris<sup>137-139</sup> or that were treated within 4 weeks of onset of disease<sup>140</sup> or after surgery.<sup>141,142</sup>

The diagnosis of pancreatic abscess on CECT is also controversial. In ten articles, the 'air bubble' phenomenon was considered 'diagnostic of a pancreatic abscess'.<sup>93,143,144</sup> In 31, however, gas bubbles in a heterogeneous collection on CT were regarded as highly indicative of infected pancreatic necrosis (FIGURE 3.3).<sup>61,67,145</sup> Varying hypotheses exist on the aetiology of pancreatic abscess. Some authors considered 'postacute pseudocysts' and pancreatic abscesses as late consequences of necrotising pancreatitis.<sup>146-148</sup> In contrast, others maintained that pancreatic abscesses occurred exclusively in interstitial pancreatitis with a normal enhancing pancreas on CECT.<sup>117,149,150</sup>

Apart from 'infection of a pseudocyst', several authors hypothesized that pancreatic abscesses evolved from progressive liquefaction of necrotic pancreatic and peripancreatic tissues, in time resulting in complete liquefaction.<sup>76,123,151</sup> According to the Atlanta Classification, most pancreatic abscesses arise at least 4 weeks after onset of symptoms<sup>4</sup>, although others diagnose 'pancreatic abscesses' after 1,<sup>50,152</sup> 2<sup>153,154</sup> or 3<sup>86,146,147</sup> weeks. Interestingly, when performing operative necrosectomy several months after the onset of severe acute pancreatitis, Morgan and colleagues10, Howard and Wagner<sup>155</sup> and others<sup>156</sup> observed different degrees of liquefaction of necrotic tissue. Several authors acknowledged this evolving process, and they postulated that a collection may represent a transitional entity from (infected) pancreatic necrosis to an (infected) pseudocyst or pancreatic abscess, as they encountered both pus and necrotic debris in these (infected) collections.<sup>7,12,139</sup>

#### GUIDELINES

The greatest discrepancies in the 12 guidelines<sup>6,35,36,43,148,157-165</sup> on acute pancreatitis related to the definitions of organ failure and those of predicted severe disease. These are summarized in TABLE 3.2.

#### DISCUSSION

The present review has demonstrated that the Atlanta definitions of severity and local complications of acute pancreatitis are being used inconsistently, and that several components of the classification have received considerable criticism. By providing definitions, the result of consensus by over 40 experts based on the data available in 1992, the Atlanta symposium improved themanagement of acute pancreatitis and clinical research relating to the condition.

However, the past 20 years have seen not only new insights in pathophysiology and therapeutic strategies but also improved imaging techniques. Clearly, the time has come to revise the classification of acute pancreatitis. The various predictive scoring systems have not improved substantially since the Atlanta symposium. They are only moderately accurate in predicting severe disease in an individual patient. As McKay and Imrie<sup>166</sup> have noted, predictive systems were developed initially to allocate patients within clinical trials and not to assess severity in an individual. Defining severity based on the presence or absence of organ failure also has its limitations. It

# TABLE 3.2. Overview of definitions for organ failure and predicted severe acute pancreatitis in guidelines for acute pancreatitis published after 1993

Guideline	Definitions for organ failure	Definitions for predicted severe acute pancreatitis
ACG 1997 <sup>157</sup>	Refers to Atlanta Classification 1992	Ranson score ≥3 after 48 h
		APACHE II score >8 after 48 h
UK 1998 <sup>158</sup>	Refers to Atlanta Classification 1992	Ranson/Glasgow ≥3
		CRP > 210 mg/l (first 4 days) or >120 mg/l at 1 week
		APACHE II score ≥9 (severe acute pancreatitis) or
		≥6 (includes all severe cases, but PPV of 50%)
SSAT 1998 <sup>159</sup>	Not addressed	Not stated
Santorini 1999 <sup>160</sup>	Not addressed	BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>
		Pleural effusion
		APACHE II score ≥6 (at 24 h)
		APACHE (obesity) score ≥6
		CRP >150 ma/l
French 2000 <sup>36</sup>	Renal failure: creatinine >170 umol/l	At admission
	Shock systolic BP<90 mmHa despite	Ane >80 years
	fluid replacement	BMI >30 kg/m2
		Chronic renal failure
	Pa 0260 mmHoon room air	Pre-existing severe illnesses
	Glasgow Coma Score <13	At 24-48 b
	Platelets <80 a/l	Presence of organ failure by using simple
		moscures of use of scering system (e.g. SOEA)
		Dancon /Imrio score >2
		CECT (T covority index >4 (48.72 b)
		CECI: CI Severity index $\geq 4$ (48-72 II)
		CRP > 150  Img/I
		Note: The non-specific scores (APACHE II, SAP II, etc)
wcc 200235	CIDC	At admission
WCG 2002	SIKS	
		Age >70 years
	AKUS	
		BMI >30 Kg/III-
	creatinine >0.5 mg/di (44 µmoi/l)	
	or 50% above baseline or reduction in	CECT: >30% non-enhancement of the pancreas
	calculated creatinine clearance >50%	APACHE II score ≥8
	or need for dialysis	Presence of organ failure
	Hypotension: mean arterial	At 24-48 h
	pressure <60 mmHg	Clinical assessment
	DIC	Glasgow score (no cut-off value provided)
	Acute adrenal insufficiency	CRP >150 mg/l
	Acute hepatitis	Presence of organ failure
	Metabolic encephalopathy	
	Ileus	
IAP 2002 <sup>161</sup>	Not addressed	Not stated: surgical guideline
JSAEM 2002 <sup>162</sup>	Not addressed	Clinical signs
		CRP (48 h: no cut-off value provided)
		BMI (no value provided)
		CECT: necrosis
		Scoring system, like JMHW, APACHE II at 24 h or
		Ranson/Glasgow at 24-48 h: no cut-off values
		provided
		Japanese score ≥2

Nathens 2004 <sup>148</sup>	Refers to the guidelines for intensive care unit admission, published in 1999 <sup>163</sup>	Elderly (age not specified) BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> Patients requiring ongoing volume resuscitation CECT: >30% non-enhancement of the pancreas Clinical assessment Note: Disease-specific scoring systems or severity scores are useful adjuncts to identify patients at high risk of a complication, but should not replace serial clinical assessments. In addition, there is a recommendation against the use of markers such as CRP or procalcitonin to guide clinical decision making or predict clinical course of acute pancreatitis or to triage patients
UK 2005 <sup>43</sup>	Refers to Atlanta Classification 1992	At admission Clinical assessment BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> Pleural effusion APACHE score >8 At 24-48 h Clinical assessment Glasgow score ≥3 APACHE II score >8 Persistent organ failure for 48 h (especially if multiple and progressive) CRP >150 mg/l Note: Organ failure present within 1 week, which resolves within 48 h, should not be considered an indicator of a severe attack of acute pancreatitis
ACG 2006 <sup>6</sup>	Refers to Atlanta Classification 1992 Note: Criteria of organ failure will change in the future: gastrointestinal bleeding will undoubtedly be deleted	At admission Age >55 years BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> Presence of organ failure Pleural effusion/infiltrates 24-48 h APACHE II score ≥8 Serum haematocrit ≥44% Note: Ranson signs are no longer advocated, due to a comprehensive evaluation of 110 studies that concluded that Ranson signs provided very poor predictive power of severity of acute pancreatitis
JSAEM 2006 <sup>164,165</sup>	Pulmonary insufficiency: dyspnoea Shock Central nervous system disorders Bleeding tendency Negative base excess failure: rise of blood urea nitrogen level and creatinine level	Japanese score ≥2

ACG, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology; APACHE, Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation; UK, Working Party of the British Society of Gastroenterology, Association of Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland, Pancreatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland, and Association of Upper GI Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland; CRP, C-reactive protein; PPV, positive predictive value; SSAT, Society for Surgery of the Alimentary Tract; Santorini, Santorini Consensus Conference; BMI, body mass index; French, French Consensus Conference on Acute Pancreatitis; BP, blood pressure; PaO2, arterial partial pressure of oxygen; SOFA, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment; CECT, contrast-enhanced computed tomography; SAP, Simplified Acute Physiology; WCG, World Congress of Gastroenterology; SIRS, systemic inflammatory response syndrome; ARDS, adult respiratory distress syndrome; DIC, disseminated intravascular coagulation; IAP, International Association of Pancreatology; JSAEM, Japanese Society of Emergency Abdominal Medicine; JMHW, Japanese Ministry of Health andWelfare; Nathens, Consensus Statement regarding the management of the critically ill patient with severe acute pancreatitis. is increasingly recognized that persistent organ failure (for more than 48 h) is the most important determinant of morbidity and mortality, which are predominantly related to the number of organ systems failing, the degree of dysfunction of the organs involved and the duration of organ failure.

The definition of necrotising pancreatitis is controversial because it incorporates both sterile and infected necrosis, and covers both pancreatic parenchymal necrosis and peripancreatic fat necrosis. Interpretations of pseudocyst and pancreatic abscess vary widely because necrotic debris within these collections is often not accounted for. This might be explained by the incapacity of CECT to detect necrotic debris in collections predominantly containing fluid, and its incapacity to discriminate between sterile and infected collections.<sup>7,10,12,92,167</sup> Although magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and (endoscopic) ultrasonography may be of additional value in classifying these collections,<sup>10,168,169</sup> their applicability in severely ill patients has been questioned.<sup>92,170</sup>

Although the Atlanta Classification incorporates a pathological and morphological description of different local complications, it does not provide exact radiological criteria for each. The recently demonstrated poor interobserver agreement on the Atlanta Classification of local complications<sup>8</sup> highlights the need for new descriptive morphological terms to describe CECT findings. The existing radiological grading system, the CT severity index, is a numerical scoring system that combines quantification of extrapancreatic changes with the extent of pancreatic necrosis.<sup>26</sup> Although the CT severity index has clear prognostic value with regard to morbidity and mortality,<sup>26,171-174</sup> it does not characterise the local complications of acute pancreatitis.

Much of the persisting controversy over the natural course of (peri)pancreatic collections is due to a lack of prospective data from large patient series. The authors of this review, therefore, advocate a collaborative international study to clarify pathophysiology, natural course and optimal management of (peri)pancreatic collections. The present review has aimed to give an overview of the controversies regarding the Atlanta Classification in the literature. There are virtually no studies addressing the validation of the definitions proposed by the Atlanta Classification. Consequently, hardly any original data on this topic are available to analyse. This review, therefore, has merely categorized applications and interpretations of the Atlanta definitions. Correct terminology and standardized definitions are important for adequate communication in clinical practice and for comparing interinstitutional data for clinical research. The continuing failure to use standardized definitions for predicted and actual severe acute pancreatitis, organ failure and the local complications, and the heterogeneity of inclusion criteria of patients in clinical trials, have hampered the progress of evidence-based recommendations. This review has identified many studies that have improved insight into the natural course of the disease. These new insights should be used to design a new classification.

The authors propose the following recommendations for revision of the classification of acute pancreatitis. First, the diagnosis should incorporate two of the following three items: upper abdominal pain, amylase and/or lipase levels at least three times the upper limit of normal (as this cutoff is used most frequently in the literature), and CT or MRI findings compatible with acute pancreatitis. Second, persistent organ failure (for at least 48 h) should have an important role in defining severity of acute pancreatitis. Third, it should be decided which predictive scoring system(s), including cut-off value, should be used to define predicted severe acute pancreatitis, based on a systematic review of the available data. Fourth, future studies should always make a clear distinction between predicted severe and actual severe disease, with a posteriori validation of the disease severity. Fifth, a systematic review should demonstrate which organ failure scoring system should be used, and definitions for organ failure should take into account the number of organ systems failing, the duration (less or more than 48 h) of organ failure, and the need for specific therapy (such as inotropic or vasopressor agents, mechanical ventilation and dialysis). Sixth, peripancreatic fat necrosis without pancreatic parenchymal necrosis should be regarded either as a separate entity or as necrotising pancreatitis. Seventh, infected necrosis should be regarded as a separate entity. Eighth, a term should be appointed for encapsulated collections containing both fluid and necrotic debris. Ninth, in order to diagnose a collection that contains fluid only (such as pseudocyst), MRI or (endoscopic) ultrasonography should be performed first to exclude necrotic debris in the collection. Tenth, a new set of descriptive morphological terms should be designed to describe local complications on CT. Such a new classification system should be evaluated in high-quality interobserver and prospective clinical studies. Adjustments should be made every few years, based on new data. Most importantly, clinicians and radiologists worldwide should comply with the new classification in clinical practice and research. Progress in the field of acute pancreatitis is hampered greatly when various author groups use their own idiosyncratic definitions. When journal referees are requested to peer-review manuscripts, they should pay special attention to the correct use of definitions as defined by a new classification.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Michael G. Sarr and Louis M. A. Akkermans for their support and critical review of a previous version of the manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Sarles H. Proposal adopted unanimously by the participants of the Symposium, Marseille 1963. Bibl Gastroenterol 1965; 7:7-8.
- 2 Sarner M, Cotton PB. Classification of pancreatitis. Gut 1984; 25:756-759.
- 3 Singer MV, Gyr K, Sarles H. Revised classification of pancreatitis. Report of the Second International Symposium on the Classification of Pancreatitis in Marseille, France, March 28-30, 1984. Gastroenterology 1985; 89:683-685.
- 4 Bradley EL III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.
- Bradley EL III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis.
   Ann Chir 1993; 47:537-541.
- Banks PA, Freeman ML, the Practice
   Parameters Committee of the American
   College of Gastroenterology (2006).
   Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 7 Baron TH, Morgan DE, Vickers SM, Lazenby AJ. Organized pancreatic necrosis: endoscopic, radiologic, and pathologic features of a distinct clinical entity. Pancreas 1999; 19:105-108.

- 8 Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Bollen TL, van Leeuwen MS, Lameris JS, van der Jagt EJ, et al. Describing computed tomography findings in acute necrotizing pancreatitis with the Atlanta Classification: an interobserver agreement study. Pancreas 2006; 33:331-335.
- 9 Dervenis C, Bassi C. Evidence-based assessment of severity and management of acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2000; 87:257-258.
- 10 Morgan DE, Baron TH, Smith JK, Robbin ML, Kenney PJ. Pancreatic fluid collections prior to intervention: evaluation with MR imaging compared with CT and US. Radiology 1997; 203:773-778.
- 11 Papachristou GI, Papachristou DJ, Avula H, Slivka A, Whitcomb DC. Obesity increases the severity of acute pancreatitis: performance of APACHE-0 score and correlation with the inflammatory response. Pancreatology 2006; 6:279-285.
- 12 Petrakis I, Vrachassotakis N, Kogerakis N, Koutsoumpas V, Chalkiadakis G. Subacute pancreatic necrosis. Panminerva Med 2000; 42:279-286.
- 13 Vege SS, Chari ST. Organ failure as an indicator of severity of acute pancreatitis: time to revisit the Atlanta Classification. Gastroenterology 2005; 128:1133-1135.
- 14 Bollen TL, Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Gooszen HG, Van Leeuwen MS. Towards an update of the Atlanta Classification on acute pancreatitis: review of new and abandoned terms. Pancreas 2007; 35:107-113.

- 15 Acosta JM, Katkhouda N, Debian KA, Groshen SG, Tsao-Wei DD, Berne TV. Early ductal decompression versus conservative management for gallstone pancreatitis with ampullary obstruction: a prospective randomized clinical trial. Ann Surg 2006; 243:33-40.
- Garg PK, Madan K, Pande GK, Khanna S, Sathyanarayan G, Bohidar NP, et al.
   Association of extent and infection of pancreatic necrosis with organ failure and death in acute necrotizing pancreatitis.
   Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 3:159-166.
- Hofner P, Balog A, Gyulai Z, Farkas G, Rakonczay Z, Takacs T, et al. Polymorphism in the IL-8 gene, but not in the TLR4 gene, increases the severity of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2006; 6:542-548.
- 18 McKay CJ, Curran F, Sharples C, Baxter JN, Imrie CW. Prospective placebo-controlled randomized trial of lexipafant in predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1997; 84:239-1243.
- Mery CM, Rubio V, Duarte-Rojo A, Suazo-Barahona J, Pelaez-Luna M, Milke P, et al. Android fat distribution as predictor of severity in acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2002; 2:543-549.
- 20 Murray B, Carter R, Imrie C, Evans S, O'Suilleabhain C. Diclofenac reduces the incidence of acute pancreatitis after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Gastroenterology 2003; 124:1786-1791.

- 21 Masci E, Cavallini G, Mariani A, Frulloni L, Testoni PA, Curioni S, et al. Comparison of two dosing regimens of gabexate in the prophylaxis of post-ERCP pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2003; 982182-2186.
- 22 Rahman SH, Ibrahim K, Larvin M, Kingsnorth A, McMahon MJ. Association of antioxidant enzyme gene polymorphisms and glutathione status with severe acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2004; 126:1312-1322.
- 23 Remes-Troche JM, Uscanga LF, Pelaez-Luna M, Duarte-Rojo A, Gonzalez-Balboa P, Teliz MA, et al. When should we be concerned about pancreatic necrosis? Analysis from a single institution in Mexico City. World J Surg 2006; 30:2227-2233.
- Martinez J, Johnson CD, Sanchez-Paya J, de Madaria E, Robles-Diaz G, Perez-Mateo M.
   Obesity is a definitive risk factor of severity and mortality in acute pancreatitis: an updated metaanalysis. Pancreatology 2006; 6: 206-209.
- Stimac D, Fisic E, Milic S, Bilic-Zulle L, Peric R. Prognostic values of IL-6, IL-8, and IL-10 in acute pancreatitis.
   J Clin Gastroenterol 2006; 40:209-212.
- 26 Balthazar EJ, Robinson DL, Megibow AJ, Ranson JH. Acute pancreatitis: value of CT in establishing prognosis. Radiology 1990; 174:331-336.
- 27 Ju S, Chen F, Liu S, Zheng K, Teng G. Value of CT and clinical criteria in assessment of patients with acute pancreatitis. Eur J Radiol 2006; 57:102-107.

- 28 Kumar A, Singh N, Prakash S, Saraya A, Joshi YK. Early enteral nutrition in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective randomized controlled trial comparing nasojejunal and nasogastric routes. J Clin Gastroenterol 2006; 40:431-434.
- 29 Leung TK, Lee CM, Lin SY, Chen HC, Wang HJ, Shen LK, et al. Balthazar computed tomography severity index is superior to Ranson criteria and APACHE II scoring system in predicting acute pancreatitis outcome. World J Gastroenterol 2005; 11:6049-6052.
- Modrau IS, Floyd AK, Thorlacius-Ussing O.
   The clinical value of procalcitonin in early assessment of acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2005; 100:1593-1597.
- 31 Mofidi R, Duff MD, Wigmore SJ, Madhavan KK, Garden OJ, Parks RW. Association between early systemic inflammatory response, severity of multiorgan dysfunction and death in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2006; 93:738-744.
- 32 Taylor SL, Morgan DL, Denson KD, Lane MM, Pennington LR. A comparison of the Ranson, Glasgow, and APACHE II scoring systems to a multiple organ system score in predicting patient outcome in pancreatitis. Am J Surg 2005; 189:219-222.
- 33 Nealon WH, Bawduniak J,Walser EM. Appropriate timing of cholecystectomy in patients who present with moderate to severe gallstone-associated acute pancreatitis with peripancreatic fluid collections. Ann Surg 2004; 239:741-749.
- 34 Runzi M, NiebelW, Goebell H, Gerken G, Layer P Severe acute pancreatitis: nonsurgical treatment of infected necroses. Pancreas 2005; 30:195-199.

- 35 Toouli J, Brooke-Smith M, Bassi C, Carr-Locke D, Telford J, Freeny P, et al. Guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 17(Suppl):S15-S39.
- French Consensus Conference on Acute Pancreatitis: Conclusions and Recommendations.
   Paris, France, 25-26 January 2001.
   Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2001; 13(Suppl 4):S1-S13.
- 37 Martinez J, Sanchez-Paya J, Palazon JM, Aparicio JR, Pico A, Perez-Mateo M.
  Obesity: a prognostic factor of severity in acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 1999; 19:15-20.
- 38 Heller SJ, Noordhoek E, Tenner SM, Ramagopal V, Abramowitz M, Hughes M, et al. Pleural effusion as a predictor of severity in acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 1997; 15:222-225.
- 39 Talamini G, Bassi C, Falconi M, Sartori N, Frulloni L, Di FV, et al. Risk of death from acute pancreatitis. Role of early, simple 'routine' data. Int J Pancreatol 1996; 19:15-24.
- 40 Talamini G, Uomo G, Pezzilli R, Rabitti PG, Billi P, Bassi C, et al. Serum creatinine and chest radiographs in the early assessment of acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1999; 177:7-14.
- Brown A, Orav J, Banks PA.
   Hemoconcentration is an early marker for organ failure and necrotizing pancreatitis. Pancreas 2000; 20:367-372.
- 42 Brown A, Baillargeon JD, Hughes MD, Banks PA. Can fluid resuscitation prevent pancreatic necrosis in severe acute pancreatitis? Pancreatology 2002; 2:104-107.

- 43 UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 2005; 54 Suppl 3:iii1-iii9.
- 44 Robert JH, Frossard JL, Mermillod B, Soravia C, Mensi N, Roth M, et al. Early prediction of acute pancreatitis: prospective study comparing computed tomography scans, Ranson, Glascow, Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II scores, and various serum markers. World J Surg 2002; 26:612-619.
- 45 Yadav D, Agarwal N, Pitchumoni CS.
   A critical evaluation of laboratory tests in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97:1309-1318.
- Eckerwall GE, Axelsson JB, Andersson RG.
   Early nasogastric feeding in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: A clinical, randomized study. Ann Surg 2006; 244:959-965.
- 47 Manes G, Uomo I, Menchise A, Rabitti PG, Ferrara EC, Uomo G. Timing of antibiotic prophylaxis in acute pancreatitis: a controlled randomized study with meropenem. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:1348-1353.
- 48 Nagpal K, Minocha VR, Agrawal V, Kapur S. Evaluation of intestinal mucosal permeability function in patients with acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 2006; 192:24-28.
- 49 Andersson B, Olin H, Eckerwall G, Andersson R. Severe Acute Pancreatitis - Outcome following a Primarily Non-Surgical Regime. Pancreatology 2006; 6:536-541.

- 50 Ishikawa K, Idoguchi K, Tanaka H, Tohma Y, Ukai I, Watanabe H, et al. Classification of acute pancreatitis based on retroperitoneal extension: application of the concept of interfascial planes. Eur J Radiol 2006; 60:445-452.
- 51 Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19-year, single-center series. Surgery 2005; 138:28-39.
- 52 Rau BM, Bothe A, Kron M, Beger HG. Role of early multisystem organ failure as major risk factor for pancreatic infections and death in severe acute pancreatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 4:1053-1061.
- 53 Lankisch PG, Pflichthofer D, Lehnick D. No strict correlation between necrosis a nd organ failure in acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 2000; 20:319-322.
- 54 Wiesner W, Studler U, Kocher T, Degen L, Buitrago-Tellez CH, Steinbrich W. Colonic involvement in non-necrotizing acute pancreatitis: correlation of CT findings with the clinical course of affected patients. Eur Radiol 2003; 13:897-902.
- 55 Ashley SW, Perez A, Pierce EA, Brooks DC, Moore FD, Jr., Whang EE, et al. Necrotizing pancreatitis: contemporary analysis of 99 consecutive cases. Ann Surg 2001; 234:572-579.
- 56 Company L, Saez J, Martinez J, Aparicio JR, Laveda R, Grino P, et al. Factors predicting mortality in severe acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003; 3:144-148.

- 57 Tenner S. Initial management of acute pancreatitis: critical issues during the first 72 hours.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2004; 99:2489-2494.
- 58 Gloor B, Muller CA, Worni M, Martignoni ME, Uhl W, Buchler MW. Late mortality in patients with severe acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2001; 88:975-979.
- 59 Gotzinger P, Sautner T, Kriwanek S, Beckerhinn P, Barlan M, Armbruster C, et al. Surgical treatment for severe acute pancreatitis: extent and surgical control of necrosis determine outcome. World J Surg 2002; 26:474-478.
- 60 Eatock FC, Chong P, Menezes N, Murray L, McKay CJ, Carter CR, et al. A randomized study of early nasogastric versus nasojejunal feeding in severe acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2005; 100:432-439.
- Berzin TM, Mortele KJ, Banks PA.
   The management of suspected pancreatic sepsis.
   Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2006; 35:393-407.
- 62 De WB, Vanmierlo B, Van NY, Delvaux G. Impact of body overweight and class I, II and III obesity on the outcome of acute biliary pancreatitis. Pancreas 2006; 32:343-345.
- 63 Halonen KI, Leppaniemi AK, Lundin JE, Puolakkainen PA, Kemppainen EA, Haapiainen RK. Predicting fatal outcome in the early phase of severe acute pancreatitis by using novel prognostic models. Pancreatology 2003; 3:309-315.

- 64 Kylanpaa-Back ML, Takala A, Kemppainen EA, Puolakkainen PA, Leppaniemi AK, Karonen SL, et al. Procalcitonin, soluble interleukin-2 receptor, and soluble E-selectin in predicting the severity of acute pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 2001; 29:63-69.
- 65 Mentula P, Kylanpaa ML, Kemppainen E, Jansson SE, Sarna S, Puolakkainen P, et al. Early prediction of organ failure by combined markers in patients with acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2005; 92:68-75.
- 66 Maeda K, Hirota M, Ichihara A, Ohmuraya M, Hashimoto D, Sugita H, et al. Applicability of disseminated intravascular coagulation parameters in the assessment of the severity of acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 2006; 32:87-92.
- 67 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Nieuwenhuijs VB, Boermeester MA, Bollen TL, Buskens E, et al. Minimally invasive 'stepup approach' versus maximal necrosectomy in patients with acute necrotising pancreatitis (PANTER trial): design and rationale of a randomised controlled multicenter trial [ISRCTN38327949]. BMC Surg 2006; 6:6.
- 68 Dauphine C, Kovar J, Stabile BE, Haukoos JS, de VC. Identification of admission values predictive of complicated acute alcoholic pancreatitis. Arch Surg 2004; 139:978-982.
- 69 Rau B, Baumgart K, Kruger CM, Schilling M, Beger HG. CC-chemokine activation in acute pancreatitis: enhanced release of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in patients with local and systemic complications. Intensive Care Med 2003; 29:622-629.

- PART I
  - 70 Buter A, Imrie CW, Carter CR, Evans S, McKay CJ. Dynamic nature of early organ dysfunction determines outcome in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2002; 89:298-302.
  - 71 Flint R, Windsor JA. Early physiological response to intensive care as a clinically relevant approach to predicting the outcome in severe acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg 2004; 139:438-443.
  - 72 Johnson CD, Abu-Hilal M. Persistent organ failure during the first week as a marker of fatal outcome in acute pancreatitis. Gut 2004; 53:1340-1344.
  - 73 Liu TH, Kwong KL, Tamm EP, Gill BS, Brown SD, Mercer DW. Acute pancreatitis in intensive care unit patients: value of clinical and radiologic prognosticators at predicting clinical course and outcome. Crit Care Med 2003; 31:1026-1030.
  - 74 Tao HQ, Zhang JX, Zou SC. Clinical characteristics and management of patients with early acute severe pancreatitis: experience from a medical center in China. World J Gastroenterol 2004; 10:919-921.
  - 75 Pitchumoni CS, Patel NM, Shah P. Factors influencing mortality in acute pancreatitis: can we alter them?
    J Clin Gastroenterol 2005; 39:798-814.
  - Werner J, Feuerbach S, Uhl W, Buchler MW.
     Management of acute pancreatitis: from surgery to interventional intensive care.
     Gut 2005; 54:426-436.

 Whitcomb DC. Clinical practice. Acute pancreatitis.
 N Engl J Med 2006; 354:2142-2150.

- 78 Ferrucci JT, III, Mueller PR. Interventional approach to pancreatic fluid collections. Radiol Clin North Am 2003; 41:1217-26,vii.
- 79 Arvanitakis M, Delhaye M, De M, V, Bali M, Winant C, Coppens E, et al. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in the assessment of acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2004; 126:715-723.
- 80 Scialpi M, Scaglione M, Angelelli G, Lupattelli L, Resta MC, Resta M, et al. Emergencies in the retroperitoneum: assessment of spread of disease by helical CT. Eur J Radiol 2004; 50:74-83.
- 81 Beger HG, Rau B, Isenmann R. Natural history of necrotizing pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003; 3:93-101.
- 82 Neff R. Pancreatic pseudocysts and fluid collections: percutaneous approaches.
   Surg Clin North Am 2001; 81:399-403, xii.
- 83 Gibbs CM, Baron TH. Outcome following endoscopic transmural drainage of pancreatic fluid collections in outpatients. J Clin Gastroenterol 2005; 39:634-637.
- 84 Hookey LC, Debroux S, Delhaye M, Arvanitakis M, Le MO, Deviere J. Endoscopic drainage of pancreatic-fluid collections in 116 patients: a comparison of etiologies, drainage techniques, and outcomes. Gastrointest Endosc 2006; 63:635-643.
- Monkemuller KE, Harewood GC, Curioso
   WH, Fry LC, Wilcox CM, Morgan DE, et al.
   Biochemical analysis of pancreatic fluid
   collections predicts bacterial infection.
   J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 20:1667-1673.

- 86 Traverso LW, Kozarek RA. Pancreatic necrosectomy: definitions and technique. J Gastrointest Surg 2005; 9:436-439.
- 87 Zhou ZG, Zheng YC, Shu Y, Hu WM, Tian BL, Li QS, et al. Laparoscopic management of severe acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 2003; 27:e46-e50.
- 88 Maringhini A, Uomo G, Patti R, Rabitti P, Termini A, Cavallera A, et al. Pseudocysts in acute nonalcoholic pancreatitis: incidence and natural history. Dig Dis Sci 1999; 44:1669-1673.
- 89 Soliani P, Franzini C, Ziegler S, Del RP, Dell'Abate P, Piccolo D, et al. Pancreatic pseudocysts following acute pancreatitis: risk factors influencing therapeutic outcomes. JOP 2004; 5:338-347.
- 90 De Waele J, Vogelaers D, Decruyenaere J, De Vos M, Colardyn F. Infectious complications of acute pancreatitis. Acta Clin Belg 2004; 59:90-96.
- 91 Casas JD, Diaz R, Valderas G, Mariscal A, Cuadras P. Prognostic value of CT in the early assessment of patients with acute pancreatitis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2004; 182:569-574.
- 92 Merkle EM, Gorich J. Imaging of acute pancreatitis. Eur Radiol 2002; 12:1979-1992.
- 93 Flint R, Windsor J, Bonham M. Trends in the management of severe acute pancreatitis: interventions and outcome. ANZ J Surg 2004; 74:335-342.

- 94 Gardner TB, Olenec CA, Chertoff JD, Mackenzie TA, Robertson DJ.
  Hemoconcentration and pancreatic necrosis: further defining the relationship.
  Pancreas 2006; 33:169-173.
- 95 Malangoni MA, Martin AS. Outcome of severe acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 2005; 189:273-277.
- 96 Papachristou GI, Papachristou DJ, Morinville VD, Slivka A, Whitcomb DC. Chronic alcohol consumption is a major risk factor for pancreatic necrosis in acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2605-2610.
- 97 Vege SS, Baron TH. Management of pancreatic necrosis in severe acute pancreatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 3:192-196.
- 98 Howard JM. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Hypoperfusion may not be synonymous with gangrene. Int J Pancreatol 1997; 22:233-234.
- 99 Traverso LW, Kozarek RA. Interventional management of peripancreatic fluid collections. Surg Clin North Am 1999; 79:745-7ix.
- 100 Takeda K, Matsuno S, Sunamura M, Kakugawa Y. Continuous regional arterial infusion of protease inhibitor and antibiotics in acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1996; 171:394-398.
- 101 Takeda K, Matsuno S, Ogawa M, Watanabe S, Atomi Y. Continuous regional arterial infusion (CRAI) therapy reduces the mortality rate of acute necrotizing pancreatitis: results of a cooperative survey in Japan. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2001; 8:216-220.

- 102 Takeda K, Yamauchi J, Shibuya K, Sunamura M, Mikami Y, Matsuno S. Benefit of continuous regional arterial infusion of protease inhibitor and antibiotic in the management of acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2001; 1:668-673.
- 103 Johnson CD, Stephens DH, Sarr MG. CI of acute pancreatitis: correlation between lack of contrast enhancement and pancreatic necrosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1991; 156:93-95.
- 104 Larvin M, Chalmers AG, McMahon MJ. Dynamic contrast enhanced computed tomography: a precise technique for identifying and localising pancreatic necrosis. BMJ 1990; 300:1425-1428.
- 105 Runzi M, Raptopoulos V, Saluja AK, Kaiser AM, Nishino H, Gerdes D, et al. Evaluation of necrotizing pancreatitis in the opossum by dynamic contrast-enhanced computed tomography: correlation between radiographic and morphologic changes. J Am Coll Surg 1995; 180:673-682.
- 106 Balthazar EJ. Acute pancreatitis: assessment of severity with clinical and CT evaluation. Radiology 2002; 223:603-613.
- 107 Martin DR, Karabulut N, Yang M, McFadden DW. High signal peripancreatic fat on fatsuppressed spoiled gradient echo imaging in acute pancreatitis: preliminary evaluation of the prognostic significance. J Magn Reson Imaging 2003; 18:49-58.
- 108 Bradley EL, III. A fifteen year experience with open drainage for infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1993; 177:215-222.

- 109 Gambiez LP. Denimal FA. Porte HL. Saudemont A, Chambon JP, Quandalle PA. Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1998; 133:66-72.
- 110 Forsmark CE. The clinical problem of biliary acute necrotizing pancreatitis: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and diagnosis of biliary necrotizing pancreatitis. I Gastrointest Surg 2001; 5:235-239.
- 111 Gan I, May G, Raboud J, Tilley J, Enns R. Pancreatitis in HIV infection: predictors of severity. Am J Gastroenterol 2003; 98:1278-1283.
- 112 Papachristou GI, Whitcomb DC. Predictors of severity and necrosis in acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2004; 33:871-890.
- 113 Beger HG, Bittner R, Block S, Buchler M. Bacterial contamination of pancreatic necrosis. A prospective clinical study. Gastroenterology 1986; 91:433-438.
- 114 Hartwig W, Werner J, Muller CA, Uhl W, Buchler MW. Surgical management of severe pancreatitis including sterile necrosis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2002; 9:429-435.
- 115 Le MJ, Paye F, Sauvanet A, O'toole D, Hammel P, Marty J, et al. Incidence and reversibility of organ failure in the course of sterile or infected necrotizing pancreatitis. Arch Surg 2001; 136:1386-1390.

- 116 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous CT-guided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. AIR Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-975.
- 117 Memis A. Parildar M. Interventional
- radiological treatment in complications of pancreatitis. Eur J Radiol 2002; 43:219-228.
- 118 Mortele KJ, Banks PA, Silverman SG. Stateof-the-art imaging of acute pancreatitis. JBR -BTR 2003; 86:193-208.
- 119 Kingsnorth A, O'Reilly D. Acute pancreatitis. BMJ 2006; 332:1072-1076.
- 120 Nealon WH, Walser E. Surgical management of complications associated with percutaneous and/or endoscopic management of pseudocyst of the pancreas. Ann Surg 2005; 241:948-957.
- 121 Kruger M, Schneider AS, Manns MP, Meier PN. Endoscopic management of pancreatic pseudocysts or abscesses after an EUS-guided 1step procedure for initial access. Gastrointest Endosc 2006; 63:409-416.
- 122 Andren-Sandberg A, Ansorge C, Eiriksson K, Glomsaker T, Maleckas A. Treatment of pancreatic pseudocysts. Scand J Surg 2005; 94:165-175.
- 123 Baron TH. Endoscopic drainage of pancreatic fluid collections and pancreatic necrosis. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am 2003; 13:743-764.

- 124 Hawes RH. Endoscopic management of pseudocysts. Rev Gastroenterol Disord 2003; 3:135-141.
- 125 Baron TH, Harewood GC, Morgan DE, Yates MR. Outcome differences after endoscopic drainage of pancreatic necrosis, acute pancreatic pseudocysts, and chronic pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc 2002; 56:7-17.
- 126 Beckingham IJ, Krige JE, Bornman PC, Terblanche J. Long term outcome of endoscopic drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94:71-74.
- 127 Bradley EL, III. Atlanta redux. Pancreas 2003; 26:105-106.
- 128 Baillie J. Pancreatic pseudocysts (Part II). Gastrointest Endosc 2004; 60:105-113.
- 129 Oria A, Ocampo C, Zandalazini H, Chiappetta L, Moran C. Internal drainage of giant acute pseudocysts: the role of video-assisted pancreatic necrosectomy. Arch Surg 2000; 135:136-140.
- 130 Andren-Sandberg A, Dervenis C.
   Pancreatic pseudocysts in the 21st century. Part I: classification, pathophysiology, anatomic considerations and treatment.
   JOP 2004; 5:8-24.
- 131 Soliani P, Ziegler S, Franzini C, Dell'Abate P, Del RP, Di MF, et al. The size of pancreatic pseudocyst does not influence the outcome of invasive treatments. Dig Liver Dis 2004; 36:135-140.

- 132 Bhasin DK, Rana SS, Udawat HP, Thapa BR, Sinha SK, Nagi B. Management of multiple and large pancreatic pseudocysts by endoscopic transpapillary nasopancreatic drainage alone. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:1780-1786.
- 133 Kahaleh M, Shami VM, Conaway MR, Tokar J, Rockoff T, De La Rue SA, et al. Endoscopic ultrasound drainage of pancreatic pseudocyst: a prospective comparison with conventional endoscopic drainage. Endoscopy 2006; 38:355-359.
- 134 Seewald S, Groth S, Omar S, Imazu H, Seitz U, de Weerth A, et al. Aggressive endoscopic therapy for pancreatic necrosis and pancreatic abscess: a new safe and effective treatment algorithm (videos). Gastrointest Endosc 2005; 62:92-100.
- 135 Srikanth G, Sikora SS, Baijal SS, Ayyagiri A, Kumar A, Saxena R, et al. Pancreatic abscess:
  10 years experience.
  ANZ J Surg 2002; 72:881-886.
- 136 Venu RP, Brown RD, Marrero JA, Pastika BJ, Frakes JT. Endoscopic transpapillary drainage of pancreatic abscess: technique and results. Gastrointest Endosc 2000; 51:391-395.
- 137 Baril NB, Ralls PW, Wren SM, Selby RR, Radin R, Parekh D, et al. Does an infected peripancreatic fluid collection or abscess mandate operation? Ann Surg 2000; 231:361-367.
- 138 Haan JM, Scalea TM. Laparoscopic debridement of recurrent pancreatic abscesses in the hostile abdomen. Am Surg 2006; 72:511-514.

- 139 Park JJ, Kim SS, Koo YS, Choi DJ, Park HC, Kim JH, et al. Definitive treatment of pancreatic abscess by endoscopic transmural drainage. Gastrointest Endosc 2002; 55:256-262.
- 140 Howard TJ, Wiebke EA, Mogavero G, Kopecky K, Baer JC, Sherman S, et al. Classification and treatment of local septic complications in acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1995; 170:44-50.
- 141 Giovannini M, Pesenti C, Rolland AL, Moutardier V, Delpero JR. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts or pancreatic abscesses using a therapeutic echo endoscope. Endoscopy 2001; 33:473-477.
- 142 vanSonnenberg E, Wittich GR, Chon KS, D'Agostino HB, Casola G, Easter D, et al.
  Percutaneous radiologic drainage of pancreatic abscesses.
  AIR Am J Roentgenol 1997; 168:979-984.
- 143 Paspulati RM. Multidetector CT of the pancreas. Radiol Clin North Am 2005; 43:999-1020, viii.
- 144 Maher MM, Lucey BC, Gervais DA, Mueller PR. Acute pancreatitis: the role of imaging and interventional radiology. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2004; 27:208-225.
- 145 Charnley RM, Lochan R, Gray H, O'Sullivan CB, Scott J, Oppong KE. Endoscopic necrosectomy as primary therapy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis. Endoscopy 2006; 38:925-928.
- 146 Beger HG, Rau B, Mayer J, Pralle U. Natural course of acute pancreatitis. World J Surg 1997; 21:130-135.

147 Beger HG, Rau B, Isenmann R, Schwarz M, Gansauge F, Poch B. Antibiotic prophylaxis in severe acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2005; 5:10-19.

- 148 Nathens AB, Curtis JR, Beale RJ, Cook DJ, Moreno RP, Romand JA, et al. Management of the critically ill patient with severe acute pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 2004; 32:2524-2536.
- 149 Balthazar EJ, Freeny PC, vanSonnenberg E. Imaging and intervention in acute pancreatitis. Radiology 1994; 193:297-306.
- 150 Tsiotos GG, Sarr MG. Management of fluid collections and necrosis in acute pancreatitis. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 1999; 1139-144.
- 151 Balthazar EJ. Complications of acute pancreatitis: clinical and CT evaluation. Radiol Clin North Am 2002; 40:1211-1227.
- 152 Carmona-Sanchez R, Uscanga L, Bezaury-Rivas P, Robles-Diaz G, Suazo-Barahona J, Vargas-Vorackova F. Potential harmful effect of iodinated intravenous contrast medium on the clinical course of mild acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg 2000; 135:1280-1284.
- 153 Mithofer K, Mueller PR, Warshaw AL. Interventional and surgical treatment of pancreatic abscess. World J Surg 1997; 21:162-168.
- 154 Walser EM, Nealon WH, Marroquin S, Raza S, Hernandez JA, Vasek J. Sterile fluid collections in acute pancreatitis: catheter drainage versus simple aspiration. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2006; 29:102-107.

- 155 Howard JM, Wagner SM. Pancreatography after recovery from massive pancreatic necrosis. Ann Surg 1989; 209:31-35.
- 156 Cheung MT, Ho CN, Siu KW, Kwok PC. Percutaneous drainage and necrosectomy in the management of pancreatic necrosis. ANZ J Surg 2005; 75:204-207.
- 157 Banks PA. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 1997; 92:377-386.
- 158 British Society of Gastroenterology. United Kingdom guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 1998; 42(Suppl 2):S1-S13.
- 159 The Society for Surgery of the Alimentary Tract Patient Care Committee. Treatment of acute pancreatitis.J Gastrointest Surg 1998; 2:487-488.
- 160 Dervenis C, Johnson CD, Bassi C, Bradley E, Imrie CW, McMahon MJ, et al. Diagnosis, objective assessment of severity, and management of acute pancreatitis. Santorini consensus conference. Int J Pancreatol 1999; 25:195-210.
- 161 Uhl W, Warshaw A, Imrie C, Bassi C, McKay CJ, Lankisch PG, et al. IAP guidelines for the surgical management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2002; 2:565-573.
- 162 Mayumi T, Ura H, Arata S, Kitamura N, Kiriyama I, Shibuya K, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for acute pancreatitis: proposals.
  - J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2002; 9:413-422.

- Care Medicine, Society of Critical Care Medicine. Guidelines for intensive care unit admission, discharge, and triage. Crit Care Med 1999: 27:633-638.
- 164 Hirota M, Takada T, Kawarada Y, Hirata K, Mayumi T, Yoshida M, et al. JPN guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis: severity assessment of acute pancreatitis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2006; 13:33-41.
- 165 Sekimoto M, Takada T, Kawarada Y, Hirata K, Mayumi T, Yoshida M, et al. JPN guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis: epidemiology, etiology, natural history, and outcome predictors in acute pancreatitis. I Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2006; 13:10-24.
- 166 McKay CJ, Imrie CW. Staging of acute pancreatitis. Is it important? Surg Clin North Am 1999; 79:733-743.
- 167 Chalmers AG. The role of imaging in acute pancreatitis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1997; 9:106-116.
- 168 Brugge WR. Evaluation of pancreatic cystic lesions with EUS. Gastrointest Endosc 2004; 59:698-707.
- 169 Yusuf TE, Baron TH. Endoscopic transmural drainage of pancreatic pseudocysts: results of a national and an international survey of ASGE members. Gastrointest Endosc 2006; 63:223-227.
- 170 Robinson PJ, Sheridan MB. Pancreatitis: computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. Eur Radiol 2000; 10:401-408.

- 163 Task Force of the American College of Critical 171 Chatzicostas C, Roussomoustakaki M, Vardas E, Romanos J, Kouroumalis EA. Balthazar computed tomography severity index is superior to Ranson criteria and APACHE II and III scoring systems in predicting acute pancreatitis outcome. I Clin Gastroenterol 2003; 36:253-260.
  - 172 Mortele KJ, Wiesner W, Intriere L, Shankar S, Zou KH, Kalantari BN, et al. A modified CT severity index for evaluating acute pancreatitis: improved correlation with patient outcome. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2004; 183:1261-1265.
  - 173 Simchuk EJ, Traverso LW, Nukui Y, Kozarek RA. Computed tomography severity index is a predictor of outcomes for severe pancreatitis. Am J Surg 2000; 179:352-355.
  - 174 Vriens PW, van de Linde P, Slotema ET, Warmerdam PE, Breslau PJ. Computed tomography severity index is an early prognostic tool for acute pancreatitis. I AmColl Surg 2005; 201:497-502.

Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>2</sup> Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Peter A Banks,<sup>3</sup> Marja A Boermeester,<sup>4</sup> Casper H van Eijck,<sup>5</sup> Jonathan Evans,<sup>6</sup> Patrick C Freeny,<sup>7</sup> Lars Grenacher,<sup>8</sup> John J Hermans,<sup>9</sup> Karen D Horvath,<sup>10</sup> David M Hough,<sup>11</sup> Johan S Laméris,<sup>12</sup>

Maarten S van Leeuwen,<sup>13</sup> Koenraad J Mortele,<sup>14</sup> John P Neoptolemos,<sup>15</sup> Michael G Sarr,<sup>16</sup> Santhi Swaroop Vege,<sup>17</sup> Jens Werner,<sup>18</sup> and Hein G Gooszen<sup>1</sup>

#### AFFILIATIONS

Depts. of Surgery,<sup>1</sup> Radiology,<sup>13</sup> University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, the Netherlands, Dept. of Radiology,<sup>2</sup> St. Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, the Netherlands, Center for Pancreatic Disease, Division of Gastroenterology,<sup>3</sup> Division of Abdominal Imaging and Intervention,<sup>14</sup> Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, Depts. of Surgery,<sup>4</sup> Radiology,<sup>12</sup> Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, Depts. of Surgery,<sup>5</sup> Radiology,<sup>9</sup> Erasmus MC University Medical Center Rotterdam, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, Depts. of Surgery,<sup>15</sup> Radiology,<sup>6</sup> Royal Liverpool University Hospital, UK, Depts. of Surgery,<sup>10</sup> Radiology,<sup>7</sup> University of Washington Medical Center, Seattle, USA, Depts. of Surgery,<sup>18</sup> Diagnostic Radiology,<sup>8</sup> University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany,

Depts. of Surgery,<sup>16</sup> Gastroenterology,<sup>17</sup> Radiology,<sup>11</sup> Mayo Clinic, Rochester, USA.

# РАРТЕ С Н А Р Т Е 4

Describing peripancreatic collections in severe acute pancreatitis using morphological terms: an international interobserver agreement study

> Published in: Pancreatology 2008

#### ABSTRACT

#### BACKGROUND

The current terminology for describing peripancreatic collections in acute pancreatitis (AP) derived from the Atlanta Symposium (e.g., pseudocyst, pancreatic abscess) has shown a very poor interobserver agreement, creating the potential for patient mismanagement. A study was undertaken to determine the interobserver agreement for a new set of morphological terms to describe peripancreatic collections in AP.

METHODS An international, interobserver agreement study was performed: 7 gastrointestinal surgeons, 2 gastroenterologists, and 8 radiologists in 3 US and 5 European tertiary referral hospitals independently evaluated 55 computed tomography (CT) scans of patients with predicted severe AP. Percentage agreement (median, interquartile range [IQR]) for 9 clinically relevant morphological terms was calculated among all reviewers, and separately among radiologists and clinicians. Percentage agreement was defined as poor (<0.50), moderate (0.51-0.70), good (0.71-0.90), and excellent (0.91-1.00).

#### RESULTS

Overall agreement was good to excellent for the terms 'collection' (percentage agreement=1; IQR 0.68-1), 'relation with pancreas' (1; 0.68-1), 'content' (0.88; 0.87-1), 'shape' (1; 0.78-1), 'mass effect' (0.78; 0.62-1) 'loculated gas bubbles' (1; 1-1), and 'air-fluid levels' (1; 1-1). Overall agreement was moderate for 'extent of pancreatic nonenhancement' (0.60; 0.46-0.88) and 'encapsulation' (0.56; 0.48-0.69). Percentage agreement was greater among radiologists than clinicians for 'extent of pancreatic nonenhancement' (0.75 vs. 0.57, P=0.008), 'encapsulation' (0.67 vs. 0.46, P= 0.001), and 'content' (1 vs. 0.78, P=0.008).

# CONCLUSION

Interobserver agreement for the new set of morphological terms to describe peripancreatic collections in AP is good to excellent. Therefore, we recommend that current clinically based definitions for CT findings in AP (e.g., pancreatic abscess) should no longer be used.

#### INTRODUCTION

Severe acute pancreatitis is associated with a wide spectrum of pathological changes in the pancreatic and peripancreatic region. Changes can include pancreatic gland necrosis and/or various types of intra-abdominal collections containing fluid and peripancreatic fat necrosis.<sup>1</sup> Secondary infection of necrosis and these collections is often an indication for operative intervention and increases mortality to almost 30%.2 Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) is the imaging study used most widely to describe these pathological changes.<sup>2-5</sup> Clear communication and agreement on CT findings is crucial, because the choice of treatment (conservative management, percutaneous catheter drainage and necrosectomy by laparotomy or minimally invasive approach) hinges heavily on how surgeons, gastroenterologists and radiologists interpret CT findings. The decision for operative or radiological intervention is determined by the characteristics of the collections, such as the contents (fluid or solid) and microbial status (sterile or infected).<sup>2,3,5,6</sup> Miscommunication can put the patient at risk by initiating an inappropriate treatment algorithm.<sup>7</sup> The need for precise descriptions of the many different types of peripancreatic collections in acute pancreatitis was recognized in the early 1990s, resulting in the widely used Atlanta Classification.<sup>8</sup> While this work represented a very important contribution, over the ensuing 15 years, it has become apparent that the clinically based definitions suggested by this symposium, such as 'pseudocyst' and 'pancreatic abscess', lead to confusion in both daily practice and clinical research. This confusion frequently results in errors in diagnosis and management and misinterpretation of communications.<sup>2,9-14</sup> Critics state that the Atlanta definitions do not accurately represent collections containing both liquid and solid material (i.e., pancreatic parenchymal necrosis and peripancreatic fat necrosis)<sup>2,11-15</sup>, yet these types of collections comprise the vast majority of collections in severe acute pancreatitis. This concern was substantiated in a recent interobserver study on the use of the Atlanta definitions for describing peripancreatic collections on CT, which demonstrated very poor agreement between 5 expert radiologists.<sup>13</sup> Currently, an international working group is consulting the members of several international pancreatic associations to reach consensus on a revised classification of acute pancreatitis. It has been formally recognized that this classification should incorporate objective, morphological criteria for describing peripancreatic collections on CT.<sup>10,14</sup>

Extent of <u>PA</u> ncreatic <u>N</u> on enhancement								
	□ <30%							
	□ 30-50%	□ >50%						
Is there a <b><u>CO</u></b> llection? (= any fluid more than 'fat stranding')								
	🗆 yes							
If 'yes', please choose one <u>DE</u> scrip	ption per question:							
Relation with pancreas:	intrapancreatic only							
	intrapancreatic and adjacer	nt to pancreas						
	only adjacent to pancreas	(no parenchymal perfusion defect)						
Encapsulation:	complete							
	🗆 partial							
	🗆 none	none						
Content:	homogeneous							
	heterogeneous (includ. fat,	heterogeneous (includ. fat, hemorrhage, loculation and septae)						
Mass effect (= displacement of ad	djacent structures: vessels, organs	s etc.)						
	🗆 yes							
Shape:	□ round or oval	🗆 irregular						
Loculated gas bubbles:	🗆 yes	no no						
Air-fluid level:	🗆 yes							

FIGURE 4.1. Scoring sheet using the descriptive morphological terms for this study. (The descriptor headings form the acronym PANCODE: **Pa**ncreatic **N**onenhancement, **Co**llection **De**scripition).

Therefore, for the present study, a new set of descriptive, morphological terms were Formulated by an international group of surgeons and radiologists. The objective of this study was to test the interobserver agreement between clinicians (surgeons and gastroenterologists) and radiologists in different parts of the world in reading the same CTs of patients with severe acute pancreatitis using these new morphological descriptors. This study provides data for the ongoing international effort to revise the Atlanta Classification.<sup>14</sup>

#### METHODS

An international panel of pancreatic surgeons and radiologists designed a scoring sheet with a set of descriptive, morphological terms to classify peripancreatic collections on CT in severe acute pancreatitis (FIGURE 4.1). Definitions for the descriptive terms were not provided, because the aim was to test the interobserver agreement using only the objective, descriptive terminology.

#### STUDY POPULATION

In order to test the proposed descriptive, morphological terms, contrast-enhanced CTs from patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis were collected. One experienced radiologist (T.L.B.) reviewed all CTs of 248 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis that were included in a Dutch randomised controlled multicentre trial.<sup>16</sup> This study was approved by the independent ethics committees of all 15 participating hospitals and informed consent for participation was obtained from all patients. For each patient, a single radiologist determined the CT severity index (CTSI). The CTSI is an accepted prognostic score quantifying pancreatic and peripancreatic abnormalities.<sup>2,5,17</sup> The greater the score (range 0-10 points), the greater the risk of complications and death.<sup>17</sup> All CTs were high quality, contrastenhanced and obtained during the portal venous phase. From these 248 patients, 55 CTs were included to cover the entire clinical spectrum of acute pancreatitis, with emphasis on severe disease (i.e., with pancreatic and/or peripancreatic collections). In order to rule out selection bias, CT selection occurred according to the following predefined and reproducible criteria: the last CT before percutaneous drainage or discharge in the first 30 consecutive patients that did not have operative therapy (5 patients with a CTSI of 1-2, 5 patients with a CTSI of 3-4, 5 patients with a CTSI of 5-6, and 15 patients with a CTSI of 7-10), and the last preoperative CT of the first 25 consecutive patients that had operative therapy for infected necrosis (irrespective of CTSI). Median time [interquartile range (IQR)] between admission and CT was 18 (9-32) days. A total of 33/55 patients had infected necrosis as proven by bacterial culture (requiring operative therapy n=25, or only percutaneous drainage n=8). Mortality was 16% (9/55).

# PARTICIPATING CENTRES

The following 3 US and 5 European tertiary referral hospitals participated:

- O Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Mass., USA
- Mayo Clinic, Rochester, Minn., USA
- O University of Washington Medical Center, Seattle, Wash., USA
- University Medical Center Utrecht, The Netherlands
- $\odot$  Academical Medical Center, Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- $\odot$  Erasmus MC University Medical Center Rotterdam, The Netherlands
- University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany
- Royal Liverpool University Hospital, Liverpool, UK

Seven gastrointestinal surgeons, 2 gastroenterologists and 8 hepato-pancreato-biliary radiologists acted as blinded reviewers, 1 clinician and 1 radiologist in each centre. In 1 centre (Mayo Clinic), 2 clinicians participated. All reviewers are considered experts in acute pancreatitis. Four of the 17 reviewers (2 radiologists and 2 surgeons) participated in the generation of the scoring sheet. Conversely, 13 reviewers were naïve to the scoring sheet and did not receive any form of training prior to reviewing the CTs for this study.

# DATA COLLECTION

Two investigators visited each centre and had separate meetings with the clinicians and radiologists. In a single session, each reviewer evaluated individually the 55 digital CTs using DICOM viewer software (version 3.116, Acculite, San Francisco, Calif., USA) and completed the scoring sheet for each CT (FIGURE 4.1). The investigators briefly explained the scoring sheet and software to the reviewers but did not coach the reviewers during the review process in any way. The reviewers were blinded to the clinical background and timing of the CT. In the case of multiple collections, the reviewer was asked to describe the most prominent collection. Data from the scoring sheets were entered into a database by 1 investigator and 1 independent data manager, separately. Discrepancies were solved by a third investigator using the original scoring sheets.

# DATA ANALYSIS

For each item on the scoring sheet, the distribution (i.e., 20 and 80%) of options (i.e., 'yes' and 'no') within the 55 CTs was assessed for each of the reviewers individually. The median distribution of options (IQR) is shown for radiologists and clinicians separately as well as for all reviewers. Subsequently, the percentage agreement for each scored item was determined. The percentage agreement was defined as the number of reviewer combinations (e.g., reviewer 1 vs. reviewer 2, reviewer 1 vs. reviewer 3) in agreement (i.e., choosing the same option, e.g. collection: 'yes') divided by the total number of possible reviewer combinations (n=153).<sup>18</sup> The percentage agreement was calculated for each of the 55 CTs individually; the median of the percentage agreement (IQR) is shown for clinicians and radiologists separately and for all reviewers. A percentage agreement of 0.91-1.00 was defined as excellent agreement, 0.71-0.90 as good agreement, 0.51-0.70 as moderate agreement and <0.50 as poor agreement. When the percentage agreement was <0.71, an exploratory analysis was performed to assess whether combinations of options resulted in greater agreement. The percentage agreement was compared between clinicians and radiologists using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. P>0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

The distribution of the scored options within the 55 CTs is shown in TABLE 4.1. According to the reviewers, the vast majority of CTs showed pancreatic nonenhancement (84%) with collections (median 96%) that were intrapancreatic and adjacent (78%) to the pancreas. In most of the CTs, the reviewers concluded that the collections were encapsulated (either partially or completely; 88%), heterogeneous (95%), with mass effect (80%) and were irregularly shaped (89%). Loculated gas bubbles were scored in 24% of CTs, while an air-fluid level was deemed present only in 5%

TABLE	4.1. Distribution	of the optic	ns of the s	scored descr	riptive terms	within	55 CT	scans	of
	patients with	n predicted se	vere acute p	pancreatitis	(not interobs	erver ag	reemen	t)	

Term	Radiologists	Clinicians	All	
Extent of pancreatic nonenhancement				
0%	25 (16-29)	12 (7-20)	16 (13-27)	
<30	15 (14-19)	23 (15-25)	18 (14-24)	
30-50	14 (12-15)	16 (9-20)	15 (11-20)	
>50	46 (42-51)	49 (49-53)	49 (44-53)	
Presence of collection				
yes	96 (95-99)	95 (91-96)	96 (95-98)	
NO	4 (1-5)	5 (4-9)	4 (2-5)	
If presence of collection 'yes'				
Relation with pancreas				
intrapancreatic only	2 (2-2)	2 (2-2)	2 (2-2)	
intrapancreatic and adjacent	75 (70-80)	82 (76-89)	78 (73-84)	
only adjacent to pancreas	18 (10-24)	13 (4-15)	15 (13-20)	
separate	0 (0-0)	0 (0-2)	0 (0-0)	
Encapsulation				
complete	11 (9-20)	15 (5-31)	11 (7-24)	
partial	47 (40-52)	38 (33-51)	44 (35-51)	
none	35 (26-40)	35 (27-42)	35 (27-42)	
Content				
homogeneous	2 (1-4)	2 (0-7)	2 (0-5)	
heterogeneous	95 (92-95)	93 (84-96)	95 (89-96)	
Mass effect (on adjacent organs/ structures)				
yes	83 (76-91)	75 (58-84)	80 (69-87)	
NO	13 (4-17)	18 (13-29)	16 (9-29)	
Shape				
round/ oval	9 (5-10)	4 (2-11)	9 (2-11)	
irregular	89 (85-91)	89 (84-96)	89 (84-93)	
Loculated gas bubbles				
yes	24 (23-24)	22 (22-25)	24 (22-24)	
NO	72 (71-76)	73 (71-75)	73 (71-75)	
Air-fluid level				
yes	8 (5-12)	4 (2-5)	5 (4-7)	
NO	87 (83-93)	91 (91-93)	91 (84-93)	

Values are median (IQR) percentages within the 55 CT studies. Percentages may not sum up to 100, because values are medians, and data are missing when the option 'no collection' was chosen.

Term	Rad	Radiologists		Clinicians		All	
Extent of pancreatic							
nonenhancement	0.75	(0.46-1)	0.57	(0.44-0.78)	0.60	(0.46-0.88)	0.008
Presence of a collection	1	(1-1)	1	(1-1)	1	(1-1)	0.15
Relation with pancreas	1	(0.75-1)	1	(0.62-1)	1	(0.68-1)	0.55
Encapsulation	0.67	(046-0.75)	0.46	(0.36-0.61)	0.56	(0.48-0.69)	0.001
Content	1	(1-1)	0.78	(0.78-1)	0.88	(0.87-1)	<0.0001
Mass effect	1	(0.71-1)	0.78	(0.50-1)	0.78	(0.62-1)	0.01
Shape	1	(0.75-1)	1	(0.78-1)	1	(0.78-1)	0.39
Loculated gas bubbles	1	(1-1)	1	(1-1)	1	(1-1)	0.24
Air-fluid level	1	(1-1)	1	(1-1)	1	(1-1)	0.06

 TABLE 4.2. Percentage agreement among 17 reviewers for scored descriptive terms within 55 CT scans of patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (interobserver agreement)

Values are median (IQR).

\*Wilcoxon signed rank test: radiologists vs. clinicians.

A percentage agreement of 0.91-1.00 is excellent agreement; 0.71-0.90 good agreement; 0.51-0.70, moderate agreement; and <0.50 poor agreement.

Similar outcomes (e.g., 1 [1-1]) may not lead to similar P value since the range represents IQR.



FIGURE 4.2. One of the 55 CT scans reviewed in this interobserver agreement study. The vast majority of reviewers described this CT as >50 pancreatic nonenhancement, with an intrapancreatic and adjacent collection which is encapsulated (either partially or completely), heterogeneous, with mass effect, an irregular shape, and without loculated gas bubbles or an air fluid level.

of CTs. One of the CTs that were reviewed is shown in FIGURE 4.2.

The percentage agreement for the descriptive terms is shown in TABLE 4.2. Agreement among clinicians was excellent for collection, relation, shape, loculated gas bubbles, and air-fluid level; it was good for content and mass effect, moderate for encapsulation and poor for pancreatic nonenhancement. Among radiologists, agreement was excellent for collection, relation, content, mass effect, shape, loculated gas bubbles, and air-fluid level; it was good for extent of pancreatic nonenhancement and moderate for encapsulation. Agreement among all reviewers taken together was good to excellent for all items, except for extent of pancreatic nonenhancement and encapsulation, which were only moderate. However, when in the exploratory analysis the extent of pancreatic nonenhancement option 1 (0%) and option 2 (<30%) were combined, the agreement (median percentage agreement; IQR) was good among all reviewers (0.88; 0.52-1), good among clinicians (0.78; 0.44-1) and excellent among radiologists (1; 0.75-1). When encapsulation option 1 (complete) and option 2 (partial) were combined, the percentage agreement was good among all reviewers (0.78; 0.65-0.88) and clinicians (0.71; 0.56-1), and excellent among radiologists (1.0; 0.69-1). For the extent of pancreatic nonenhancement, encapsulation, content, and mass effect, the percentage agreement was greater among radiologists than among clinicians (P<0.05; TABLE 4.2).

# DISCUSSION

This multidisciplinary, international interobserver study showed good to excellent interobserver agreement when peripancreatic collections in severe acute pancreatitis were described using a new set of descriptive, morphological terms. This study was a follow-up to a similar interobserver study that showed very poor interobserver agreement for the widely used Atlanta Symposium terminology (e.g., 'pseudocyst', 'pancreatic necrosis', 'pancreatic abscess').<sup>13</sup> In the prior study, 5 experienced radiologists agreed on the Atlanta definition in only 3 of 70 contrast-enhanced CTs.<sup>13</sup> These inconsistent and incongruent interpretations in large part led to the current study, as well as the interest in developing a more accurate classification of acute pancreatitis.<sup>14</sup> The results of the present study demonstrate that, with the new set of terms, it was much easier to obtain objective agreement among all physicians, in contrast to the Atlanta definitions.
Exploratory analysis led to an even greater interobserver agreement. In this analysis, the combination of the first 2 options of encapsulation (complete and partial) and extent of pancreatic nonenhancement (0 and <30%) is acceptable, because the most important clinical differentiations are between (1) no encapsulation and some encapsulation, and (2) no or little nonenhancement (<30%) and substantial nonenhancement (>30%). Notably, in the Atlanta Symposium, pancreatic nonenhancement >30% was not even considered pancreatic necrosis.<sup>8</sup>

Interobserver agreement on several relevant terms was significantly greater among radiologists than surgeons and gastroenterologists. This finding was not unexpected given the noted expertise of radiologists in their field of practice. In contrast, the managing clinicians are best at correlating the radiological findings with the clinical condition in order to determine the appropriate treatment. The current data, therefore, highlight the need for a true, multidisciplinary team approach to severe acute pancreatitis, both in terms of clinical care and research publications.

Why is this study relevant? Accurate multidisciplinary communication regarding CT findings in severe acute pancreatitis is of considerable importance because decisions on treatment depend on adequate radiological interpretation of peripancreatic collections.<sup>1-7,19</sup> The descriptive terms used in this study each have clinical relevance regarding the type and timing of (operative) intervention. For example, the finding of pancreatic necrosis (extent of pancreatic nonenhancement) and collections with peripancreatic fat necrosis (presence of a collection, heterogeneous content, relation with pancreas) would both be treated initially without percutaneous drainage or operative intervention.<sup>1-3,5</sup> When and if secondary infection occurs (loculated gas bubbles), some form of intervention is generally indicated.<sup>1-3.4.19</sup> The content of the peripancreatic collection (homogeneous, air-fluid level) can indicate a collection with a fluid-predominant content, such that percutaneous drainage would be performed initially and, if percutaneous drainage is unsuccessful, followed by operative debridement.<sup>2,3,5,19</sup> The majority of peripancreatic collections, however, tend to resolve without any intervention at all. These include collections referred to by the Atlanta symposium as 'acute fluid collections', i.e. homogenous peripancreatic collections occurring early on in the disease that have not formed any capsule whatsoever and that do not contain gas bubbles or an air-fluid level.<sup>8</sup> Whenever intervention for collections with necrosis does seem necessary, delaying operative

intervention until demarcation (encapsulation) is documented allows easier and safer debridement,<sup>1,2,5,20</sup> possibly by endoscopic or minimally invasive operative techniques.<sup>21-24</sup> Sterile collections causing gastric or biliary obstruction (mass effect) are treated usually by percutaneous or endoscopic therapy.<sup>2,3,5,12,21</sup>

One might wonder whether the radiological diagnoses (i.e., the descriptive terms chosen by the reviewers) in this study really reflect the true morphological features of the peripancreatic collections, because the results of the radiological decisions were not correlated with clinical findings (e.g., operative findings). We explicitly chose not to do this because the aim of this study was merely to determine the interobserver agreement of the descriptive terms, instead of their clinical relevance. The tested terminology is commonly used in daily practice, and it is obvious that all those caring for patients with acute pancreatitis should 'speak the same language'. Although the clinical relevance of the described terms seems obvious, the exact magnitude of that relevance and, therefore, the impact on treatment decisions will need to be the subject of future large prospective studies. It should be noted, however, that the current terminology from the Atlanta Classification is also mostly based on expert opinion, rather than evidence from clinical studies, and is neither used reliably or accurately.<sup>10,13</sup>

A limitation of this study is that Cohen's kappa statistic could not be used because of the substantial imbalance in distributions for the majority of terms (e.g., presence of collection, yes vs. no: 96% vs. 4%; TABLE 4.1). In case of a substantial imbalance in the distribution, kappa values will be very low or even negative, while agreement may still, in fact, be good.<sup>25</sup> In such an event, the kappa statistic becomes meaningless.<sup>25</sup> To present only kappa values for the terms without imbalance was considered not possible because there is no generally accepted cut-off value for defining imbalance. Even though the percentage agreement is not a chance-adjusted measure, the interobserver agreement in the present study was good, given the high values of percentage agreement demonstrated.

Because the reviewers in the present study were from centres renowned for their experience in pancreatic disease, one might question how generalisable are the results to the general community of surgeons and radiologists. It should be noted, however, that the previous interobserver study using the Atlanta definitions between a similar group of expert radiologists showed very poor interobserver agreement,<sup>13</sup>

in contrast to the good to excellent agreement reported in the present study with the new descriptors. Four of the 17 reviewers in the present study were involved in designing the scoring sheet, and one might argue that this introduced bias. However, when these 4 reviewers were excluded from the current analysis the interobserver agreement did not change (data not shown). Our findings are most likely explained by the fact that the majority of the proposed morphological, descriptive terms are used already in daily clinical practice by both clinicians and radiologists and are considered intuitive and relatively easy to use. Nevertheless, despite the strength of the current study it is our intent to direct our next prospective study to further validation of the proposed descriptive, morphological terms and establishing how generalisable they are. In summary, the overall interobserver agreement using the proposed morphological terms when describing peripancreatic collections in severe acute pancreatitis, is good to excellent. This study provides another piece of important data in support of using more objective, descriptive, morphological terms to describe CT findings in acute pancreatitis rather than the subjective Atlanta Symposium terms (e.g., 'pseudocyst', 'pancreatic abscess').

### REFERENCES

- Werner J, Feuerbach S, Uhl W, Buchler MW. Management of acute pancreatitis: from surgery to interventional intensive care. Gut 2005; 54:426-436.
- Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 3 UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 2005; 54(suppl 3):iii1-iii9.
- Balthazar EJ, Freeny PC, van Sonnenberg E.
   Imaging and intervention in acute pancreatitis.
   Radiology 1994; 193:297-306.
- 5 Forsmark CE, Baillie J. AGA Institute Clinical Practice and Economics Committee, AGA Institute Governing Board: AGA Institute technical review on acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-2044.
- 6 Nathens AB, Curtis JR, Beale RJ, et al. Management of the critically ill patient with severe acute pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 2004: 32:2524-2536.
- 7 Nealon WH, Walser E. Surgical management of complications associated with percutaneous and/or endoscopic management of pseudocyst of the pancreas. Ann Surg 2005; 241:948-957.
- 8 Bradley EL III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.

- Bollen TL, Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, et al. Toward an update of the Atlanta Classification on acute pancreatitis: review of new and abandoned terms. Pancreas 2007; 35:107-113.
- 10 Bollen TL, van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, et al. The Atlanta Classification of acute pancreatitis revisited. Br J Surg 2008; 95:6-21.
- 11 Dervenis C, Bassi C. Evidence-based assessment of severity and management of acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2000; 87:257-258.
- 12 Baron TH, Harewood GC, Morgan DE, et al. Outcome differences after endoscopic drainage of pancreatic necrosis, acute pancreatic pseudocysts, and chronic pancreatic pseudocysts. Gastrointest Endosc 2002; 56:7-17.
- 13 Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Bollen TL, et al. Describing CT findings in acute necrotizing pancreatitis with the Atlanta Classification: an interobserver agreement study. Pancreas 2006; 33:331-335.
- 14 Bradley EL III: Confusion in the imaging ranks: time for a change? Pancreas 2006; 33:321-322.
- 15 Dervenis C, Johnson CD, Bassi C, et al. Diagnosis, objective assessment of severity, and management of acute pancreatitis. Santorini consensus conference.

Int J Pancreatol 1999; 25:195-210.

- 16 Besselink MG, Timmerman HM, Buskens E, et al. Probiotic prophylaxis in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (PROPATRIA): design and rationale of a doubleblind, placebocontrolled randomised multicenter trial [ISRCTN38327949]. BMC Surg 2004; 4:12.
- 17 Balthazar EJ, Robinson DL, Megibow AJ, et al. Acute pancreatitis: value of CT in establishing prognosis. Radiology 1990; 174:331-336.
- 18 Saps M, Di Lorenzo C. Interobserver and intraobserver reliability of the Rome II criteria in children. Am J Gastroenterol 2005; 100:2079-2082.
- 19 Treatment of acute pancreatitis. The Society for Surgery of the Alimentary Tract Patient Care Committee.
   J Gastrointest Surg 1998; 2:487-488.
- 20 Besselink MG, Verwer TJ, Schoenmaeckers Ej, et al. Timing of surgical intervention in necrotizing pancreatitis. Arch Surg 2007; 142:1194-1201.
- 21 Papachristou GI, Takahashi N, Chahal P, et al. Peroral endoscopic drainage/debridement of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Ann Surg 2007; 245:943-951.
- 22 Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW. Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience. Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-180.

- 23 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Wherry KL, et al. A technique for laparoscopic-assisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis and pancreatic abscess. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:1221-1225.
- 24 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bollen T, et al. Case-matched comparison of the retroperitoneal approach with laparotomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. World J Surg 2007; 31:1635-1642.
- 25 Feinstein AR, Cicchetti DV. High agreement but low kappa. I. The problems of two paradoxes. J Clin Epidemiol 1990; 43:543-549.

# PART

Interventions to prevent secondary infectious complications Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Marja A Boermeester,<sup>2</sup> Vincent B Nieuwenhuijs,<sup>3</sup> Harry van Goor,<sup>4</sup> Cornelis H Dejong,<sup>6</sup> Alexander F Schaapherder,<sup>5</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

## AFFILIATIONS

Depts. of Surgery, <sup>1</sup>University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, <sup>3</sup>University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, <sup>4</sup>Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen, and <sup>5</sup>Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, and <sup>6</sup>Dept. of Surgery and NUTRIM, University Hospital Maastricht, Maastricht, The Netherlands.

# РА РТЕ В С НА РТЕ В 1 5

Timing and impact of infections in acute pancreatitis

– a summary –

Published in: British Journal of Surgery 2009

### INTRODUCTION

Although several studies have addressed the timing of the onset of infected necrosis in acute pancreatitis,<sup>1,2</sup> data on bacteraemia and pneumonia are lacking. The aim of this study was to determine the time of onset of infectious complications in acute pancreatitis; to establish the association between infections (particularly bacteraemia and pneumonia) and death; and to determine the infection rate in patients who died.

### METHODS

This was a post hoc analysis of a prospective database of 731 patients with a primary episode of acute pancreatitis included in 15 hospitals of the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group in 2004-2007. Clinical data were available from a prospective database. All contrast enhanced computed tomography (CT) images were re-read by one experienced radiologist to assess the presence of (peri)pancreatic necrosis and determine the CT severity index.<sup>3</sup>

The presence and time of onset of bacteraemia, infected pancreatic necrosis, pneumonia (including ventilator acquired and that in non-ventilated patients) and persistent organ failure and death were recorded. Mortality rates in patients with mild and severe acute pancreatitis were calculated. The impact of infections was expressed in terms of the percentage of deceased patients with an infectious complication.

Multivariable analysis was used to determine the impact of the different types of infection on mortality. The associations between bacteraemia, risk of necrosis becoming infected and death were also examined.

### RESULTS

The clinical outcome of the 731 included patients is summarized in TABLE 5.1. The initial infection in 173 patients was diagnosed a median of 8 (interquartile range 3-20) days after admission (infected necrosis, median day 26; bacteraemia/pneumonia, median day 7). FIGURE 5.1. shows the time of diagnosis of the different types of infection.

Eighty % of 61 patients who died had an infection. The mortality rate was higher in patients with pneumonia (36% vs. 4.8%; P<0.001), bacteraemia (34.6% vs. 3.8%; P<0.001), infected necrosis (30% vs. 5.1%; P<0.001) and pancreatic necrosis (23.4%

Outcome	No. of patients <sup>a</sup>
Infectious complications (one or more)	173 (23.7)
Infected necrosis	98 (13.4)
Bacteraemia	107 (14.6)
Pneumonia	84 (11.5) <sup>c</sup>
Organ failure	129 (17.6)
Persistent organ failure	115 (15.7)
Multiple organ failure	94 (12.9)
Persistent multiple organ failure	78 (10.7)
Intensive care admission	168 (23.0)
Intensive care stay (days) <sup>b</sup>	11 (3-31)
Hospital stay (days) <sup>b</sup>	12 (7-25)
Severe acute pancreatitis <sup>d</sup>	203 (27.8)
Death	61 (8.3)

### TABLE 5.1. Outcome of 731 patients with a first episode of acute pancreatitis

a = with percentages in parentheses unless indicated otherwise

b = values are median (interquartile range)

c = including 49 instances of ventilator-acquired pneumonia

d = defined as organ failure and/or pancreatic necrosis

vs. 5.4%; P<0.001) when patients with each specific infection were compared with all other patients in the study.

In 154 patients with pancreatic necrosis, bacteraemia was associated with increased risk of infected necrosis (65% vs. 37.9%; P=0.002). In 98 patients with infected necrosis, bacteraemia was associated with higher mortality (40% vs. 16%; P=0.014), as was pneumonia 40% vs. 21%; P=0.047). In multivariable analysis, persistent organ failure (odds ratio [OR] 18.0), bacteraemia (OR 3.4) and age (OR 1.1) were associated with death.

### DISCUSSION

Half of all infections in patients with acute pancreatitis occurred within the first week of admission and bacteraemia was identified as an independent predictor of



FIGURE 5.1. Time of diagnosis of pneumonia, bacteraemia and infected necrosis in 173 patients during a first episode of acute pancreatitis. A patient with more than one separate infection may be depicted several times (for example bacteraemia in week 1 and infected necrosis in week 4), but only the initial infection is listed if there were multiple infections of the same type (such as bacteraemia in week 1 and in week 3).

death. Bacteraemia was also associated with an increased risk of pancreatic necrosis becoming infected.

The cultured pathogens point to the gut as the source of both bacteraemia and infection of necrosis. The statistical relationship between bacteraemia and infection of necrosis does not automatically imply that the route of infection of necrosis is haematogenous. Theoretically the gut bacteria could also have followed a transperitoneal or lymphatic route, and become cultured from blood and necrotic pancreatic tissue as a manifestation of systemic spread of the gut-derived bacteria.

As it is now clear that infections occur the first few days of acute pancreatitis, and that this has a significant impact on mortality, prophylactic strategies should focus on early intervention.

### REFERENCES

- Beger HG, Bittner R, Block S, Buchler M. Bacteria contamination of pancreatic necrosis. A prospective clinical study. Gastroenterology 1986; 91:433-438.
- Beger HG, Rau B, Mayer J, Pralle U. Natural course of acute pancreatitis.
   World J Surg 1997; 21:130-135.
- Balthazar EJ, Robinson DL, Megibow AJ, Ranson JH. Acute pancreatitis: value of CT in establishing prognosis. Radiology 1990; 174:331-336.

Maxim S Petrov,  $^1$  Hjalmar C van Santvoort,  $^1$  Marc GH Besselink,  $^1$  Geert JM van der Heijden,  $^2$ John A Windsor,  $^3$  and Hein G Gooszen  $^1$ 

## AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands, <sup>2</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands, <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

# РАРТЕ С Н А Р Т Е 6

Enteral nutrition and the risk of mortality and infectious complications in patients with severe acute pancreatitis: a meta-analysis of randomised trials

– a summary –

Published in: Archives of Surgery 2008

### INTRODUCTION

Animal and human studies suggest that a loss of the gut barrier function is instrumental in the the development of infectious complications during severe acute pancreatitis.<sup>1-3</sup> A protective role of enteral nutrition (EN), compared with parenteral nutritional (PN), in maintaining gut barrier function and reduction of bacterial translocation has been demonstrated in a rat model of acute pancreatitis.<sup>4</sup> These experimental findings, however, have not been convincingly supported by randomised controlled trials. The latest guidelines of the American College of Gastroenterology state that *'it is reasonable to conclude that enteral feeding is safer and less expensive than PN, but there is not yet convincing findings that there are major improvements in morbidity and mortality of acute pancreatitis.<sup>5</sup>* 

We performed a systematic review and meta-analysis to compare the effect of enteral versus parenteral nutrition in patients with severe acute pancreatitis for clinically relevant outcomes.

### METHODS

A literature search was performed in the MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Cochrane databases for articles published from January 1, 1966, until December 15, 2006. Full-text articles were included in this systematic review if the title and/or abstract of the article reported 1. an RCT study design; 2. a population of patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis 3. EN and PN interventions, and 4. at least 3 of the following outcome variables: total infectious complications, pancreatic infections, need for surgery, non-pancreatic infections, organ failure, and in-hospital mortality.

Information on study design, patient characteristics, and acute pancreatitis outcomes were independently extracted by two investigators using a standardized protocol. The methodological quality of the studies was assessed using the Jadad scoring system (0-5 points).<sup>6</sup>

Meta-analysis for all outcome variables was performed with a random-effects model as the most conservative. The presence of heterogeneity was assessed using the  $I^2$  measure, with an  $I^2$  value greater than 20 indicating marked heterogeneity.



FIGURE 6.1. Forest plot for total infectious complications. CI indicates confidence interval; EN, enteral nutrition; IV, inverse variance; PN, parenteral nutrition; and RR, risk ratio.



FIGURE 6.2. Forest plot for mortality. CI indicates confidence interval; EN, enteral nutrition; IV, inverse variance; PN, parenteral nutrition; and RR, risk ratio.

### RESULTS

From 253 publications screened, 5 randomised controlled trials in which 95 patients were randomly allocated to the EN group and 107 to the PN group, met the inclusion criteria.<sup>7-11</sup> All RCTs reached a Jadad quality score of 3. Outcome of the metaanalysis was as follows: EN reduced the risk of infectious complications (risk ratio [RR], 0.47; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.28-0.77; P=0.001;  $I^2$ =0.00), pancreatic infections (RR 0.48; 95% CI 0.26-0.91; P=0.02;  $I^2$ =0.00), need for surgical intervention (RR, 0.37; 95% CI, 0.21-0.65; P=.001;  $I^2$ =0.00) and mortality (RR 0.32; 95-% CI 0.11-0.98; P=0.03;  $I^2$ =6.43). The risk reduction for organ failure was not statistically significant (0.67; 0.30-1.52; P=0.34; 62.79). Forest plots for total infectious complications and mortality are shown in FIGURES 6.1. and 6.2.

### DISCUSSION

This meta-analysis shows that EN, compared with PN, has important beneficial effects in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis. However, our study has several potential weaknesses. Variation occurred among the included trials in criteria for predicted severe acute pancreatitis, time of start of feeding, and EN and PN feeding formulas. Variation also occurred among the trials in terms of the location of the feeding tube (i.e., nasogastric vs. nasojeujunal). At the same time, it is unlikely that the difference between nasogastric and nasojejunal feeding would confound the results because two recent trials showed no difference in the outcomes between these approaches.<sup>12,13</sup> By its relatively high weight, the trial from Russia added much information to the meta-analysis of infectious complications and mortality.<sup>9</sup> In contrast to other trials included, the statistical power of this particular study was adequate for these outcomes, whereas no heterogeneity was found among trials in terms of the risk of infectious complications.

Future trials should focus on different aspects of feeding methods, notably, the safety of nasogastric vs nasojejunal delivery of nutrients, the composition of enteral formulations, and the optimal timing for initiation of feeding.

In conclusion, this meta-analysis has demonstrated strong evidence of the benefits of EN over PN in patients with severe acute pancreatitis in terms of clinically relevant and statistically significant reductions in the risk of infectious complications and mortality.

### REFERENCES

- Gloor B, Müller CA, Worni M, Martignoni ME, Uhl W, Büchler MW. Late mortalityin patients with severe acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2001; 88:975-979.
- 2 Johnson CD, Abu-Hilal M. Persistent organ failure during the first week as a marker of fatal outcome in acute pancreatitis. Gut 2004; 53:1340-1344.
- 3 Swaroop VS, Chari ST, Clain JE. Severe acute pancreatitis. JAMA 2004; 291:2865-2868.
- 4 Kotani J, Usami M, Nomura H, et al. Enteral nutrition prevents bacterial translocation but does not improve survival during acute pancreatitis [published correction appears in Arch Surg 1999134:643]. Arch Surg 1999; 134:287-292.
- 5 Banks PA, Freeman ML; the Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- Jadad AR, Moore RA, Carroll D, et al.
   Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary?
   Control Clin Trials 1996; 17:1-12.
- 7 Louie BE, Noseworthy T, Hailey D, Gramlich LM, Jacobs P, Warnock GL. 2004 MacLean-Mueller prize enteral or parenteral nutrition for severe pancreatitis: a randomized controlled trial and health technology assessment. Can J Surg 2005; 8:298-306.

- 8 Eckerwall GE, Axelsson JB, Andersson RG. Early nasogastric feeding in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a clinical, randomized study. Ann Surg 2006; 244:959-965.
- 9 Petrov MS, Kukosh MV, Emelyanov NV. A randomized controlled trial of enteral versus parenteral feeding in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis shows a significant reduction in mortality and in infected pancreatic complications with total enteral nutrition. Dig Surg 2006; 23:336-344.
- 10 Kalfarentzos F, Kehagias J, Mead N, Kokkinis K, Gogos CA. Enteral nutrition is superior to parenteral nutrition in severe acute pancreatitis: results of a randomized prospective trial. Br J Surg 1997; 84:1665-1669.
- 11 Gupta R, Patel K, Calder PC, Yaqoob P, Primrose JN, Johnson CD. A randomised clinical trial to assess the effect of total enteral and total parenteral nutritional support on metabolic, inflammatory and oxidative markers in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (APACHE II > or =6). Pancreatology. 2003; 3:406-413.
- 12 Eatock FC, Chong P, Menezes N, et al. A randomized study of early nasogastric versus nasojejunal feeding in severe acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005; 100(2):432-439.
- 13 Kumar A, Singh N, Prakash S, Saraya A, Joshi YK. Early enteral nutrition in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective randomized controlled trial comparing nasojejunal and nasogastric routes. J Clin Gastroenterol 006; 40:431-434.

Hjalmar C van Santvoort, Marc G Besselink, Harro M Timmerman L Paul van Minnen, Louis M Akkermans, and Hein G Gooszen

### AFFILIATION

Gastrointestinal Research Unit, Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, The Netherlands.

# РА РТЕ С НА РТЕ 1 7

Surgical research review: probiotics in surgery

> Published in: Surgery 2007

### INTRODUCTION

Postoperative infectious complications, such as sepsis, are usually caused by the patient's own intestinal microbiota.<sup>1</sup> Despite widespread use of perioperative antibiotic prophylaxis, these infections remain a serious problem, causing substantial morbidity associated with high costs. Antibiotic resistance is now a major issue, threatening safety in many surgical wards throughout the world. Therefore, a new array of safe and effective strategies to prevent infection in surgical patients is warranted. With increasing evidence for the role of the patient's own intestinal microbiota in surgical infection, it seems logical that attention has shifted to prophylactic strategies that act where it matters most: the gut. Prophylactic treatment with probiotics might form such a strategy. Probiotics are non-pathogenic bacteria that, on delivery to the host's intestinal tract, can exert health-promoting effects. In the last decade, numerous papers in various fields of medicine have been published on the use of probiotics. It is apparent that this topic is no longer propagated only by a small number of 'believers.' Extensive research on probiotics ranging from basic science to large, well-designed, randomised, controlled trials (RCTs) is being performed currently worldwide. This review provides a brief overview of the proposed mechanism of action of probiotics and current evidence from RCTs, with focus on prevention of infection in surgical patients.

### MECHANISM OF ACTION

### HOST-BACTERIAL INTERACTIONS

It is only in recent years that we have begun to understand the complex and active interaction between the intestinal microbiota and the biology of the host in whom they reside.<sup>2,3</sup> While the microbial ecosystem in the intestine flourishes on the available nutrients, the host benefits from several key functions fulfilled by more than 1000 different species of bacteria that comprise the intestinal flora. These interactions include a wide range of physiological processes, such as regulation of motility and mucus secretion, prevention of colonization or overgrowth by pathogenic organisms, and regulation of local and systemic immunity. The continuous interaction between bacteria and their host takes place primarily at 3 levels: 1. the intestinal lumen, 2. the intestinal epithelium, and 3. the immune system.<sup>2,3</sup> The suggested levels of host-bacterial interaction are depicted in FIGURE 7.1.



FIGURE 7.1. The interaction between the intestinal micro organisms and their host is thought to take place at 3 levels. Level 1: in the intestinal lumen, the microbiota serve several important functions such as digestion of food components and prevention of colonization with pathogenic bacteria.
Level 2: the mucosal barrier formed by the epithelium lining the intestine serves to protect the sterile interior of the host from invading pathogens. Micro organisms are responsible for local gene regulation in the intestinal epithelium, thereby strengthening the mucosal barrier. The epithelium in turn provides an energy source for certain bacteria. The microbiota exert a local anti-inflammatory effect through cross-talk with local immune cells, preventing uncontrolled mucosal inflammation.
Level 3: the immune system is also influenced by the intestinal microbiota. Dendritic cells pry open tight junctions of the epithelium to sample luminal content and take up bacteria. This continuous cross-talk between microbiotia and the immune system leads to induction of B- and T-cells with potential systemic immune responses.

### BACTERIAL TRANSLOCATION

The pathophysiological mechanism held responsible for infectious complications in surgical and critically ill patients is bacterial translocation: the phenomenon that bacteria cross the gastrointestinal mucosal barrier and invade the systemic compartment.<sup>1</sup> We have reviewed comprehensively the role of bacterial translocation and its potential regulation by probiotics previously.<sup>4</sup>

In short, bacterial translocation is believed to depend on a disturbance at the three levels of hostbacterial interactions. These disturbances observed in experimental and clinical studies in critically ill patients and after major abdominal surgery include: 1. the intestinal lumen: impaired motility and bacterial overgrowth, 2. the intestinal epithelium; failure of the structural mucosal barrier leading to increased gut permeability, and: 3. the immune system; dysregulation of the pro- and anti-inflammatory balance of the immune system. Disturbances at these levels affect each other reciprocally, leading to a vicious circle resulting in bacterial translocation and infectious complications. In addition to disturbances of host-bacterial interactions, several other factors associated with critical illness and major abdominal surgery, such as intestinal ischaemia, immunosuppression, nutrient deprivation, and stress add further to the problem of bacterial translocation.

### ROLE OF PROBIOTICS

Many investigations have suggested that probiotics prevent bacterial translocation and subsequent infectious complications through a beneficial effect at all three levels of the host-microbial interaction. In the intestinal lumen, specific probiotic strains prevent bacterial overgrowth of potential pathogens by direct antimicrobial effects (such as lactic acid production) and competitive growth.<sup>5</sup> In a rat model of acute pancreatitis, a multispecies probiotic mixture decreased bacterial overgrowth, with subsequent reduction in bacterial translocation, morbidity, and mortality.<sup>6</sup> At the level of the intestinal epithelium, specific probiotic strains preserve or reinforce the mucosal gastrointestinal barrier function through several mechanisms: prevention of bacterial adherence to the epithelial lining by competitive exclusion, inhibition of pathogenic-induced alterations of epithelial permeability, and regulation of enterocyte gene expression involved in maintenance of the mucosal barrier.<sup>7,8</sup> Moreover, specific probiotics strains inhibit the local pro-inflammatory reactions in enterocytes after stimuli such as pathogenic bacterial adhesion or ischaemia/ reperfusion injury.<sup>7,8</sup> Besides the local immunomodulatory effect in the intestinal epithelium, probiotics are also thought to exert a regulatory effect on the systemic immune system through several different pathways. In vitro, selected probiotic strains can

induce production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin (IL) 10 by monocytes and lymphocytes.<sup>9</sup> In clinical studies, probiotics decreased the production of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 after abdominal surgery.<sup>10</sup> Moreover, through modulation of dendritic cells, probiotics can induce development of regulatory T cells, which play an important role in controlling inflammation.<sup>11</sup>

# CURRENT EVIDENCE FROM RANDOMISED

## CONTROLLED TRIALS

Several RCTs on probiotics in surgical patients have been published in recent years. A summary and the references to these trials are provided in TABLE 7.1. Various studies have aimed at decreasing infection by application of pre- and/or postoperative regimes of different species of probiotics. Several RCT have used so-called "prebiotics" in addition to probiotic strains. Prebiotics are non-digestible fiber supplements (mostly oligosaccharides) that are meant to act as "fuel" for probiotics are called 'synbiotics'.

From the 14 RCTs listed in TABLE 7.1., 9 studies showed a significant decrease of total infectious complications in the patients treated with probiotics, but 5 studies could not demonstrate such an effect.

Rayes, et al.<sup>12</sup> were the first to perform an RCT of probiotic-prophylaxis in surgical patients. Ninety patients undergoing 'major abdominal surgery' were randomised to **1**. standard regimen (enteral or parenteral feeding), **2**. synbiotics, or **3**. prebiotics and heat-killed probiotics. Groups 2 and 3 also received enteral feeding. Bacterial infections were decreased significantly in the groups that had synbiotics, although it did not seem to matter whether the probiotics were viable or non-viable (heat-killed). The same German group then conducted two other placebo-controlled trials in patients undergoing liver transplantation (n=95 and n=66) in which they compared two different type of symbiotic mixtures with enteral nutrition and selective bowel decontamination (antibiotics) or enteral nutrition and prebiotics only.<sup>13,14</sup> In both studies, the symbiotic mixture decreased significantly the postoperative infection rate, and also when compared with selective bowel decontamination. Most recently, the same authors completed a trial in patients undergoing pylorus preserving pancreatoduodenectomy (PPPD); 89 patients were randomised to receive **1**. synbiotics

TABLE 7.1. Sun	ımary of randomised	controlled trials on	probiotic prophylaxis in surgical patients		
1st author	Patients	Time of intake	Study arms	Route administrated	Results: total infections
Rayes N <sup>12</sup> (2002)	Major abdominal	4 days postop.	1) Probiotics + enteral feeding	Nasojejunal tube	Group 1: 10%
Not DB, PC	surgery, n=90		2) Heat killed probiotics + enteral feeding		Group 2: 10%
			3) Total parenteral nutrition + enteral feeding		Group 3: 30%
					P=0.01
Rayes N <sup>13</sup> (2002)	Liver transplantation,	7 days postop.	1) Synbiotics + enteral feeding	Nasojejunal tube	Group 1: 13%
Not DB, PC	n=105		2) Heat killed probiotics + prebiotics + enteral feeding		Group 2: 34%
	(n= 95 NITT)		3) Selective bowel decontamination (antibiotics)		Group 3: 48%
			+ enteral feeding		P=0.017
0lah <sup>16</sup> (2002)	Acute pancreatitis,	7 days post	1) Synbiotics + enteral feeding	Nasojejunal tube	Group 1: 5%
DB, PC	n=50	admission	2) Heat killed probiotics + prebiotics + enteral feeding		Group 2: 30%
	(n=45 NITT)				P=0.023
McNaught <sup>21</sup> (2002)	Major abdominal	Median 9 days	1) Probiotics	Oral	Group 1: 13%
Not DB, Not PC	surgery, n=129	preop., median	2) Standard treatment		Group 2: 15%
		5 days postop.			P=0.74
Jain <sup>22</sup> (2004)	Critically ill,	Median 10 days	1) Synbiotics	Oral or nasogastric	Group 1: 73%
DB, PC	n=90	during ICU admission	2) Powdered sucrose	tube	Group 2: 58%
					P=0.120
Anderson <sup>23</sup> (2004)	Major abdominal	Median 12 days	1) Synbiotics	Oral	Group 1: 31%
DB, PC	surgery, n=137	preop., median	<ol> <li>Placebo capsules + powdered sucrose</li> </ol>		Group 2: 32%
		5 days postop.			P=0.882
Rayes N <sup>14</sup> (2005)	Liver transplantation,	14 days postop.	1) Synbiotics + enteral feeding	Nasojejunal tube	Group 1: 3%
DB, PC	n=66		2) Prebiotics + enteral feeding		Group 2: 48%
					P<0.05
Kanazawa <sup>18</sup> (2005)	Liver and extrahepatic	14 days postop.	1) Synbiotics + enteral feeding	Intraoperative jejunal	Group 1: 19%
Not DB, not PC	bile duct resection for		2) Enteral feeding	feeding catheter	Group 2: 52%
	biliary cancer, n=54				P<0.05
	(n=44 NITT)				

1st author	Patients	Time of intake	study arms	Route administrated	Results: total infections
McNaught <sup>24</sup> (2005)	Critically ill,	Median 9 days	1) Probiotics	Oral or nasogastric tube	Group 1: 40%
DB, PC	n=103	postop.	2) Standard treatment		Group 2: 43%
					P>0.05
Kotzampassi <sup>19</sup> (2006)	Severe multiple	15 days during	<ol> <li>Synbiotics + enteral feeding</li> </ol>	Endoscopic gastrostomy	Group 1: 63%
DB, PC	trauma, n=77	ICU admission	2) Powedered glucose + enteral feeding	tube or nasogastric tube	Group 2: 90%
	(n=65 NIIT)				P=0.01
Sugawara <sup>10</sup> (2006)	Liver and extrahepatic	Group 1:	<ol> <li>Synbiotics + enteral feeding (only postop.)</li> </ol>	Oral (preoperative)	Group 1: 12%
Not DB, Not PC	bile duct resection,	14 days preop.	<ol> <li>Synbiotics + enteral feeding</li> </ol>	and intraoperatively	Group 2: 30%
	n=101	14 days postop.		placed jejunal feeding	P=0.049
	(n=81 NIIT)	Group 2:		catheter (postop.)	
		14 days postop.			
olah <sup>17</sup> (2007)	Severe acute	Minimum of 7 days	<ol> <li>Synbiotics + enteral feeding</li> </ol>	Nasojejunal tube	Group 1: 12%
DB, PC	pancreatitis, n=83	post admission	2) Prebiotics + enteral feeding		Group 2: 28%
	(n=62 NITT)				P>0.05
Spindler-Vesel <sup>20</sup> (2007)	Severe multiple trauma	During ICU admission;	1) Synbiotics + enteral feeding	Nasogastric tube	Group 1: 15%
Not DB, Not PC	n=130	intake period	2) Glutmamine enriched feeding		Group 2: 50%
	(n=113 NITT)	not stated	3) Fiber enriched feeding		Group 3: 59%
		-	<ol> <li>Peptide enriched feeding</li> </ol>		Group 4: 50%
					P=0.021
Rayes <sup>15</sup> (2007)	Pylorus-preserving	1 day preop	1) Synbiotics + enteral feeding	Oral (preop.)	Group 1: 13%
DB, PC	pancreatoduo-	8 days postop.	2) Prebiotics + enteral feeding	Nasojejunal tube	Group 2: 40%
	denectomy,			(postop.)	P=0.005
	n=89				
	(n=80 NITT)				
DB= double blinded					

ACUTE PANCREATITIS: NEW FRONTIERS IN DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT

PC= placebo controlled

NITT= no intention to treat analysis

or **2**. prebiotics only.<sup>15</sup> After exclusion of 9 patients that did not undergo PPPD because the neoplasm was non-resectable, the incidence of postoperative infections was significantly less in the group receiving synbiotics.

Olah et al.<sup>16</sup> studied patients with acute pancreatitis, a disease characterised by a severe clinical course with the potential for secondary pancreatic infection due to bacterial translocation. In their first placebo-controlled RCT they randomised 45 patients with acute pancreatitis to 1. synbiotics or 2. prebiotics and heat-killed probiotics. A significant decrease in pancreatic infections was shown in group 1. This trial was criticized for its methodology: patients with biliary etiology of acute pancreatitis were excluded and patients not tolerating jejunal feeding were excluded from the final analysis. The authors then conducted a second study with a randomised double-blind design on patients with severe acute pancreatitis.<sup>17</sup> Although the methodology was substantially improved, it still lacked an intention-to-treat analysis. Infectious complications tended to be less in the synbiotics group compared to the control group, but were not statistically significant. Conversely, a significant decrease in the combination of systemic immune response syndrome and multi-organ failure, and of the number of patients recovering with complications, was observed in the treatment group.

Kanazawa, Sugawara, and colleagues<sup>10,18</sup> performed two RCTs in patients undergoing hepatobiliary resection for biliary cancer to study the effect of synbiotic treatment on intestinal permeability, immune response, the microbiota and surgical outcome. In the first study, 54 patients were randomised for postoperative treatment with 1. enteral feeding with synbiotics or 2. enteral feeding only.<sup>18</sup> After exclusion of the non-resectable patients (n=10) the incidence of total complications was decreased significantly in the synbiotics group. The second RCT was conducted to assess whether the addition of preoperative synbiotics, as opposed to only postoperative treatment, would further enhance the beneficial effect.<sup>10</sup> Of the 101 randomised patients, 20 were excluded from analysis because they had non-resectable cancer. In the remaining 81 patients, infectious complications were significantly less in the group treated with both a pre- and postoperative regime of synbiotics compared with postoperative treatment only. This trial also showed an enhanced preoperative immune response (greater natural killer cell activity) and decreased postoperative inflammatory response (less IL-6 levels, white blood cell count, and C-reactive protein) in the patients treated both preand postoperatively. In the study by Kotzampassi et al.,<sup>19</sup> 77 consecutive patients with severe multi-system trauma were randomised to receive 1. a synbiotic formula or 2. placebo (glucose only). In the 65 surviving patients, the total infection rate and incidence of sepsis was significantly less in the synbiotics group. In a second RCT in patients with severe multisystem trauma performed recently by Spindler-Vesel et al.,<sup>20</sup> 113 patients were randomised to either 1. glutamine-enriched feeding, 2. fiber-enriched feeding, 3. peptide-enriched diet, or 4. synbiotics with enteral feeding. Patients with synbiotics had the least infection rate. Four RCTs have been performed by the Combined Gastroenterology research unit from Scarborough General Hospital in the UK.<sup>21-24</sup> These RCTs in patients undergoing major abdominal surgery or with critical illness did not show a positive effect of probiotics in terms of decreasing infectious complications. This group used different probiotic strains than the other RCTs, and administration was mostly oral, rather than through an enteral feeding tube. Notably, these RCTs were very well-designed but had primary outcome measures such as bacterial translocation or gastric colonization rather than clinical endpoints.

### FUTURE CHALLENGES

The trials summarized in TABLE 7.1. show conflicting results. It should be noted that methodological quality varied greatly between studies; issues such as the lack of 'intention-to-treat analysis,' post-hoc subgroup analyses, and endpoint definitions probably influenced the results to a considerable extent. Several other factors may explain the observed differences. Different probiotic species exert different effects on the three levels of the host-microbial interaction (FIGURE 7.2), and considerable variation was present in the probiotic species used among RCTs. Moreover, multispecies probiotic preparations seem to be more effective than mono-species preparations. The use of prebiotics might enhance the effect of probiotics and may even be a prerequisite for clinical efficacy of some probiotics strains. Enteral feeding, as administered in some RCTs, can also be considered a prebiotic. The route of administration may also be important, because some probiotic strains may not survive the acidic environment of the stomach. The timing of start of treatment (pre- and/or postoperative) and the duration of treatment varied between trials and may also important. Finally, patient populations were different across the various studies. It is



FIGURE 7.2. A hypothetic model of the disturbances at the 3 levels of the host-microbial interaction. An insult, such as major abdominal surgery, can lead eventually to bacterial translocation with subsequent infectious complications.

reasonable to assume that in a homogeneous group of patients with relatively high risk of post-operative infections, such as patients undergoing PPPD or liver transplantation, a prophylactic treatment with probiotics is more effective than in other, more heterogeneous populations of surgical patients with less risk of post-operative infections. The pathogenesis of infection may also vary between study populations. In patients undergoing elective operations, preoperative treatment with probiotics is possible, thus applying 'true' prophylaxis. Conversely, in patients with more acute conditions, such as pancreatitis and trauma, bacterial translocation may have occurred already when the probiotic therapy is instituted; thereby, the probiotic is no longer acting as prophylactic treatment. In the near future, more basic and clinical research must be performed to study the influence of these different factors and to elucidate the mechanism(s) of action and true effect on clinically relevant outcomes of probiotics. Before probiotics can be implemented in daily practice to prevent infectious complications in general surgical patient populations, evidence for their efficacy must be obtained in these patient categories first. Very large sample sizes would be needed to have adequate power to detect effects of probiotics in decreasing the risk of clinically relevant endpoints such as mortality. In an attempt to collect such evidence, the Dutch Acute Pancreatitis Study Group is conducting a nationwide double-blind RCT currently in patients with acute pancreatitis.25 A total of 298 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (according to accepted predictive criteria) are randomised to receive enteral feeding trough a jejunal tube with 1. a multispecies probiotic preparation or 2. a placebo. Results will be available in 6 months.

### REFERENCES

- 1 Guarner F, Malagelada JR. Gut flora in health and disease. Lancet 2003; 361:512-519.
- Hooper LV, Gordon JL. Commensal hostbacterial relationships in the gut. Science 2001; 292:1115-1118.
- 3 Walker WA, Goulet O, Morelli L, Antoine JM. Progress in the science of probiotics: from cellular microbiology and applied immunology to clinical nutrition. Eur J Nutr 2006; 45 1:1-18.
- 4 Besselink MG, Timmerman HM, Minnen LP van, Akkermans LM, Gooszen HG. Prevention of infectious complications in surgical patients: potential role of probiotics. Dig Surg 2005; 22:234-44.
- 5 Servin AL. Antagonistic activities of lactobacilli and bifidobacteria against microbial pathogens. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2004; 28:405-40.
- 6 van Minnen LP, Timmerman HM, Lutgendorff F, Verheem A, Harmsen W, Konstantinov SR, et al. Modification of intestinal flora with multispecies probiotics reduces bacterial translocation and improves clinical course in a rat model of acute pancreatitis. Surgery 2007; 141:470-80.
- Marco ML, Pavan S, Kleerebezem M.
   Towards understanding molecular modes of probiotic action.
   Curr Opin Biotechnol 2006; 17:204-210.
- 8 Otte JM, Podolsky DK. Functional modulation of enterocytes by gram-positive and gramnegative microorganisms. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2004; 286:613-626.

- 9 Niers LE, Timmerman HM, Rijkers GT et al. Identification of strong interleukin-10 inducing lactic acid bacteria which down-regulate T helper type 2 cytokines. Clin Exp Allergy 2005; 35:1481-9.
- 10 Sugawara G, Nagino M, Nishio H, et al. Perioperative synbiotic treatment to prevent postoperative infectious complications in biliary cancer surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg 2006; 244:706-14.
- 11 Smits HH, Engering A, van der Kleij D, et al. Selective probiotic bacteria induce IL-10producing regulatory T cells in vitro by modulating dendritic cell function through dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005; 115:1260-7.
- 12 Rayes N, Hansen S, Seehofer D, et al. Early enteral supply of fiber and Lactobacilli versus conventional nutrition: a controlled trial in patients with major abdominal surgery. Nutrition 2002; 18:609-15.
- Rayes N, Seehofer D, Hansen S, et al.
   Early enteral supply of lactobacillus and fiber versus selective bowel decontamination:
   a controlled trial in liver transplant recipients.
   Transplantation 2002; 74:123-7.
- 14 Rayes N, Seehofer D, Theruvath T, et al. Supply of pre- and probiotics reduces bacterial infection rates after liver transplantation—a randomized, double-blind trial. Am J Transplant 2005; 5:125-30.

- 15 Rayes N, Seehofer D, Theruvath T, et al. Effect of enteral nutrition and synbiotics on bacterial infection rates after pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy: a randomized, double-blind trial. Ann Surg 2007; 246:36-41.
- 16 Olah A, Belagyi T, Issekutz A, Gamal ME, Bengmark S. Randomized clinical trial of specific lactobacillus and fibre supplement to early enteral nutrition in patients with acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2002; 89:1103-7.
- 17 Olah A, Belagyi T, Poto L, Romics L, Jr., Bengmark S. Synbiotic control of inflammation and infection in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective, randomized, double blind study. Hepatogastroenterology 2007; 54:590-4.
- 18 Kanazawa H, Nagino M, Kamiya S, et al. Synbiotics reduce postoperative infectious complications: a randomized controlled trial in biliary cancer patients undergoing hepatectomy. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2005; 390:104-13.
- Kotzampassi K, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Voudouris A, Kazamias P, Eleftheriadis E.
   Benefits of a synbiotic formula (synbiotic 2000 forte) in critically ill trauma patients: early results of a randomized controlled trial. World J Surg 2006; 30:1848-1855
- 20 Spindler-Vesel A, Bengmark S, Vovk I, Cerovic O, Kompan L. Synbiotics, prebiotics, glutamine, or peptide in early enteral nutrition: a randomized study in trauma patients. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2007; 31:119-26.

- 21 McNaught CE, Woodcock NP, MacFie J, Mitchell CJ. A prospective randomised study of the probiotic Lactobacillus plantarum 299V on indices of gut barrier function in elective surgical patients. Gut 2002; 51:827-31.
- 22 Jain PK, McNaught CE, Anderson ADG, MacFie J, Mitchell CJ. Influence of synbiotic containing Lactobacillus acidophilus La5, Bifidobacterium lactis Bb 12, Streptococcus thermophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus and oligofructose on gut barrier function and sepsis in critically ill patients: A randomised controlled trial. Clinical Nutrition 2004; 23:467-75.
- 23 Anderson AD, McNaught CE, Jain PK, Macfie J. Randomised clinical trial of synbiotic therapy in elective surgical patients. Gut 2004; 53:241-5.
- 24 McNaught CE, Woodcock NP, Anderson ADG, MacFie J. A prospective randomised trial of probiotics in critically ill patients. Clinical Nutrition 2005; 24:211-9.
- 25 Besselink MG, Timmerman HM, Buskens E, Nieuwenhuijs VB, Akkermans LM, Gooszen HG. Probiotic prophylaxis in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (PROPATRIA): design and rationale of a double-blind, placebocontrolled randomised multicenter trial [ISRCTN38327949]. Dutch Acute Pancreatitis Study Group. BMC Surg 2004; 4:12.

Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Erik Buskens,<sup>2,3</sup> Marja A Boermeester,<sup>4</sup> Harry van Goor,<sup>5</sup> Harro M Timmerman,<sup>1</sup> Vincent B Nieuwenhuijs,<sup>6</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>7</sup> Bert van Ramshorst,<sup>8</sup> Ben JM Witteman,<sup>9</sup> Camiel Rosman,<sup>10</sup> Rutger J Ploeg,<sup>6</sup> Menno A Brink,<sup>11</sup> Alexander FM Schaapherder,<sup>12</sup> Cornelis HC Dejong,<sup>13</sup> Peter J Wahab,<sup>14</sup> Cees J van Laarhoven,<sup>15</sup> Erwin van der Harst,<sup>16</sup> Casper HJ van Eijck,<sup>17</sup> Miguel A Cuesta,<sup>18</sup> Louis M Akkermans,<sup>1</sup> Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

## AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Epidemiology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, <sup>4</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, <sup>5</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen, <sup>6</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, Depts. of <sup>7</sup>Radiology and <sup>8</sup>Surgery, St.Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, <sup>9</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Gelderse Vallei Hospital, Ede, <sup>10</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Canisius Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, <sup>11</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Meander Medical Center, Amersfoort, <sup>12</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, <sup>13</sup>Dept. of Surgery and NUTRIM, University Hospital Maastricht, Maastricht, <sup>14</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Rijnstate Hospital, Arnhem, <sup>15</sup>Dept. of Surgery, St.Elisabeth Hospital, Tilburg, <sup>16</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Medical Center Rijnmond Zuid, Rotterdam, <sup>17</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, <sup>18</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Vrije Universiteit Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

# РАРТЕ С Н А Р Т Е В

Probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial

> Published in: Lancet 2008

### ABSTRACT

### BACKGROUND

Infectious complications and associated mortality are a major concern in acute pancreatitis. Enteral administration of probiotics could prevent infectious complications, but convincing evidence is scarce. Our aim was to assess the effects of probiotic prophylaxis in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis.

### METHODS

In this multicentre randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, 298 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation [APACHE II] score  $\geq$ 8, Imrie score  $\geq$ 3, or C-reactive protein >150 mg/L) were randomly assigned within 72 h of onset of symptoms to receive a multispecies probiotic preparation (n=153) or placebo (n=145), administered enterally twice daily for 28 days. The primary endpoint was the composite of infectious complications - i.e. infected pancreatic necrosis, bacteraemia, pneumonia, urosepsis, or infected ascites - during admission and 90-day follow-up. Analyses were by intention to treat. This study is registered, number ISRCTN38327949.

### RESULTS

One person in each group was excluded from analyses because of incorrect diagnoses of pancreatitis; thus, 152 individuals in the probiotics group and 144 in the placebo group were analysed. Groups were much the same at baseline in terms of patients' characteristics and disease severity. Infectious complications occurred in 46 (30%) patients in the probiotics group and 41 (28%) of those in the placebo group (risk ratio, 1.06; 95% CI 0.75-1.51). 24 (16%) patients in the probiotics group died, compared with nine (6%) in the placebo group (risk ratio, 2.53; 95% CI 1.22-5.25). Nine patients in the probiotics group developed bowel ischaemia (eight with fatal outcome), compared with none in the placebo group (P=0.004).

### CONCLUSION

In patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis, probiotic prophylaxis with this combination of probiotic strains did not reduce the risk of infectious complications and was associated with an increased risk of mortality. Probiotic prophylaxis should therefore not be administered in this category of patients.
## INTRODUCTION

The incidence of acute pancreatitis in Europe and the USA is increasing by about 5% per year, mainly owing to an increase in biliary pancreatitis.<sup>1.3</sup> About a fifth of patients will develop necrotising pancreatitis, which is associated with a 10-30% mortality rate, mostly attributed to infectious complications and infection of (peri)pancreatic necrotic tissue in particular.<sup>1</sup> These infections are thought to be the sequelae of a cascade of events starting with small-bowel bacterial overgrowth, mucosal barrier failure, and a pro-inflammatory response leading to bacterial translocation of intestinal bacteria.<sup>46</sup> Systemic antibiotic prophylaxis has long been studied as a measure to prevent secondary infection in acute pancreatitis.<sup>1</sup> However, two double-blind, placebocontrolled trials<sup>7,8</sup> and two meta-analyses<sup>9,10</sup> have failed to show a beneficial effect, and many clinicians have abandoned this strategy. In the two antibiotic trials, the incidence of extrapancreatic infections (e.g., bacteraemia, pneumonia) and pancreatic infection remained high.<sup>7,8</sup> Consequently, there is a clear need for other strategies to prevent infectious complications in patients with acute pancreatitis.

Probiotics, as an adjunct to enteral nutrition, have raised high expectations and are currently gaining worldwide popularity for their presumed health-promoting effects.<sup>11,12</sup> Certain strains of probiotic bacteria might prevent infectious complications by reducing small-bowel bacterial overgrowth, restoring gastrointestinal barrier function, and modulating the immune system.<sup>11,12</sup> A reduction of infectious complications has been reported in several clinical studies with probiotics in patients undergoing elective abdominal operations<sup>13,14</sup> and in patients with acute pancreatitis.<sup>15</sup> However, because of their small size and methodological quality, these studies do not justify global implementation of probiotics as a preventive measure in acute pancreatitis. Accordingly, we embarked on a nationwide multicentre randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial - the PRObiotics in PAncreatitis TRIA1 (PROPATRIA) - to assess the effects of probiotic prophylaxis in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis.

# METHODS

#### PATIENTS

The design and rationale of the study have been described in detail elsewhere.<sup>16</sup> Adult patients admitted with a first episode of acute pancreatitis were enrolled in eight university medical centres and seven major teaching hospitals in the Netherlands. Acute pancreatitis was defined as abdominal pain in combination with serum amylase or lipase concentrations that were raised to at least three times the institutional upper limit of normal. Patients were not enrolled in the study if any of the following criteria were present: pancreatitis after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreaticography; suspected malignancy of the pancreas or biliary tree; nonpancreatic infection or sepsis caused by a second disease; diagnosis of pancreatitis first made at operation; or a medical history of immune deficiency. Patients with acute pancreatitis and an Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APA-CHE II) score of 8 or more,<sup>17</sup> Imrie/modified Glasgow score of 3 or more,<sup>18</sup> or C-reactive protein over 150 mg/L,19 predicting a severe course of disease, were eligible for randomisation. All patients or their legal representatives gave written informed consent. This study was investigator-initiated and investigator-driven and done in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and good clinical practice guidelines. The institutional review board of each participating hospital approved the protocol.

## PROCEDURES

Randomisation was done with a computer-generated permuted-block sequence and balanced by participating centre and by presumed cause (biliary vs. non-biliary) in blocks of four. Patients were randomly assigned to receive either a multispecies probiotic preparation or a placebo twice daily at the first possible occasion, but no later than 72 h after onset of symptoms of pancreatitis.

The study was double-blinded. Both the probiotic and placebo preparations were packaged in identical, numbered sachets that were stored in identical, numbered containers. The study product and placebo were both white powders, identical in weight, smell, and taste. All doctors, nurses, research staff, and patients involved remained unaware of the actual product administered during the entire study period. An independent monitoring committee was informed in cases of serious adverse events that were possibly associated with the study product. At the time of a prespecified interim analysis,<sup>16</sup> the monitoring committee advised about whether to continue the trial.

The rationale for the design of the multispecies probiotic preparation has been described in detail elsewhere.<sup>20</sup> In brief, the study product (*Ecologic 641*, Winclove Bio Industries, Amsterdam, Netherlands) consisted of six different strains of freezedried, viable bacteria: Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus casei, Lactobacillus salivarius, Lactococcus lactis, Bifidobacterium bifidum, and Bifidobacterium lactis (previously classified as *Bifidobacterium infantis*), in a total daily dose of 10<sup>10</sup> bacteria, plus cornstarch and maltodextrins. The individual probiotic cultures are sold by major probiotic producers as ingredients for probiotic supplements or dairy food and carry the European Union qualified presumption of safety (QPS). Individual strains were selected on the basis of their capacity to inhibit growth of pathogens most often cultured from infected necrotising pancreatitis in vitro.<sup>20,21</sup> Probiotic species that were ever reported to have been associated with an infectious complication, irrespective of underlying disease, were excluded.<sup>20</sup> Placebo sachets contained only cornstarch and maltodextrins. Both the probiotic and placebo preparations were checked according to national regulations for any contamination with known pathogens and for the presence of endotoxins. Three different batches of probiotics and placebo were produced, tested, and used during the study.

After randomisation, each patient had a nasojejunal feeding tube inserted. The study product or placebo was administered twice daily and added to the continuously running fibre-enriched tube feeding (Nutrison Multi Fibre, Nutricia, Zoetermeer, Netherlands). The study product or placebo was dissolved in sterilised distilled water and administered for a maximum of 28 days. If placement of the nasojejunal tube was delayed for more than 12 h, the first dose of the study product or placebo was taken orally. Nasojejunal tubes were placed either by upper gastrointestinal endoscopy or under fluoroscopic guidance. When nasojejunal tubes became blocked or were pulled out, a new tube was re-inserted at the first possible opportunity, generally within 24 h. The amount of tube feeding was gradually increased over the first days with an energy target of 125 kJ/kg (up to 90 kg) on day 4 after start of enteral nutrition. When patients started oral intake, the nasojejunal tube was removed and the study product or placebo was dissolved in tap water and ingested orally for

Infected pancreatic necrosis	positive culture of peripancreatic fluid or pancreatic necrosis obtained
	by either fine-needle aspiration, during the first percutaneous drainage,
	or during the first surgical intervention
Bacteraemia	positive blood culture. For non-pathogens (e.g., coagulase-negative
	staphylococci) at least two samples had to be positive
Pneumonia	coughing, dyspnoea, chest film showing infiltrative abnormalities, lowered
	arterial blood gas with positive sputum culture. If in intensive care,
	a positive endotracheal culture is mandatory
Urosepsis <sup>a</sup>	dysuria with bacteraemia on the same day, without a urinary catheter
	in situ
Infected ascites <sup>b</sup>	bacteria detected in aspirate of intraperitoneal fluid or abdominal fluid
	sampled during surgical exploration

#### PANEL Definitions included in the primary endpoint

a= Before any analysis, the adjudication committee restricted the definition of urinary tract infection to urosepsis. b= Before any analysis, the adjudication committee added this group of infections to the infectious complications endpoint.

the remainder of the 28 days. Administration of the study product or placebo was stopped when a patient was diagnosed with infected pancreatic necrosis. Patients discharged before 28 days were only allowed to stop treatment if CT showed the absence of pancreatic necrosis or fluid collection. During the study, patients were not allowed to use any commercially available product containing probiotics. During administration of the study product or placebo, nursing staff recorded the number of sachets administered and registered any potential side-effect (e.g., abdominal complaints).

Antibiotic prophylaxis was not given routinely in patients with necrotising pancreatitis. The use of antibiotics was recorded, irrespective of indication. When endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreaticography was indicated in cases of biliary pancreatitis, antibiotic prophylaxis was allowed. A standard baseline (intravenous) contrast-enhanced CT scan was done 7 days after admission to detect pancreatic necrosis. One experienced radiologist (TLB), unaware of treatment allocation, re-read all CT scans to assess the CT severity index.<sup>22</sup> In cases of a clear clinical diagnosis of infected (peri)pancreatic necrosis (persistent fever and clinical deterioration in the third or fourth week of disease in the presence of documented necrosis or air bubbles in the collections with necrosis on CT, while other sources of infection were absent), fine-needle aspiration of (peri)pancreatic collections was not mandatory to confi rm the clinical suspicion. A positive culture was mandatory for the endpoint of infected necrosis. During surgical intervention or percutaneous drainage for (suspected or documented) infected necrosis, tissue or fluid samples were sent for routine microbiological assessment. Body temperature was measured at least twice daily and, in cases of fever, blood cultures were drawn. Further diagnostic and therapeutic measures were left to the treating clinicians' discretion.

The primary endpoint was the composite of any of the following infectious complications: infected pancreatic necrosis, bacteraemia, pneumonia, urosepsis, or infected ascites, during admission and 90-day follow-up (PANEL). All infections were weighted equally; multiple infections in the same patient were deemed to be one endpoint. Secondary endpoints (during admission and 90-day follow-up) were mortality, sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) scores, (multi)organ failure during admission, onset of (multi)organ failure after randomisation, need for surgical intervention because of (documented or suspected) infected necrosis or intraabdominal catastrophe, hospital stay, intensive-care stay, use of antibiotics, and abdominal complaints (nausea and abdominal fullness with visual analogue scales [VAS; cutoff 3.0 on a ten-point scale], and presence of diarrhoea as assessed by the patient [at days 5, 10, 14, 21, 28, and 35]). Per patient, the percentage intake of the study product or placebo was calculated and categorised as less than 80%, 80-89%, 90-95%, and over 95%. Microbiological data of the initial positive culture for each of the infectious complications of the primary endpoint were collected.

Organ failure was defined as PaO2 below 60 mm Hg despite FIO2 of 30% or the need for mechanical ventilation (pulmonary insufficiency), serum creatinine over 177 mmol/L after rehydration or need for haemofiltration or haemodialysis (renal failure), and systolic blood pressure below 90 mm Hg despite adequate fluid resuscitation or need for vasopressor (mainly noradrenalin and dopamine) support (car-diocirculatory insufficiency), adapted from the Atlanta Classification.<sup>23</sup> Multiple organ failure was defined as failure of at least two organ systems on the same day. Organ failure before randomisation was defined as any organ failure that started before the day of randomisation. Because the administration of the study product or placebo could start at any time during the day of randomisation, start of organ failure

lure on that day was left out of this definition. Onset of organ failure after randomisation was defined as initial (for the first time) onset of organ failure after the day of randomisation.

Data collection was done by local physicians, who completed case record forms. During the study an independent data monitor checked at least 10% of the individual patients' data against the primary source data, on site in the participating centres. After completion of the follow-up of the last patient but before any analysis or unblinding, two authors (MGHB and HCvS) checked all primary and secondary endpoints on site with primary source data. Before any analysis and without knowledge of treatment allocation, the blinded adjudication committee judged all exclusions, endpoints that were not fully specified in the protocol in individual patients, and serious adverse events. Only after agreement was reached on all endpoints were analyses done with blinding of the products administered preserved. After the results of the blinded analyses were presented to the monitoring committee, the randomisation code was broken on Oct 26, 2007.

### STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

We calculated that 200 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis would be required to detect a 20% reduction in the absolute risk of the occurrence of infectious complications (from 50% to 30% of patients during admission and 90-day follow-up) for the study to attain an 80% statistical power, at a two-sided  $\alpha$  of 0.05. This sample size calculation took into account the fact that up to 40% of patients with predicted severe pancreatitis are ultimately diagnosed with mild pancreatitis (i.e., no local or systemic complications) and thus do not progress to severe or necrotising pancreatitis. After the first 100 patients were randomised and had completed follow-up, the number of infectious complications was calculated in the total group of randomised patients without unblinding the data. The rate of infectious complications was lower than expected (28%), so the monitoring committee advised increasing the total sample size from 200 to 296 patients to maintain statistical power. After 184 patients had been randomised and had completed follow-up, a blinded interim analysis was done for the primary endpoint and mortality. Although a nonsignificant difference in mortality was observed (P=0.10), the monitoring committee concluded that this had been caused by skewed randomisation because more

#### PROBIOTIC PROPHYLAXIS IN PREDICTED SEVERE ACUTE PANCREATITIS



\*Not randomised because of clinical symptoms of pancreatitis for more than 72 h at time of diagnosis of predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Patients were either initially missed for randomisation, were transferred from other hospitals more than 72 h after onset of symptoms, or already had complaints for more than 72 h on admission.



patients in the group with higher mortality required admission to intensive care within 72 h after admission (P=0.15), whereas the overall mortality was well within the expected range (11%). According to the predefined stopping rule<sup>16</sup> the monitoring committee recommended that the study should be completed.

All data analyses were done in accordance with a pre-established analysis plan. The incidence of the primary endpoint was compared between the groups and the results are presented as risk ratio with exact 95% CI. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test

was used to assess whether continuous data were normally distributed (P>0.05). For continuous variables, differences between groups were tested with Student's t test for normally distributed data or Mann-Whitney U test for non-normally distributed data. Fisher's exact test was used for proportions in all cases. In cases of significant difference in the incidence of either the primary endpoint or mortality between groups, Kaplan-Meier curves with log-rank tests were generated.

All analyses were done on the basis of the intention-to-treat principle. Prespecified subgroup analyses were done for cause of pancreatitis and for presence of pancreatic parenchymal necrosis. We used logistic regression models to do a formal test for interaction to assess whether treatment effects differed significantly between these subgroups. A two-sided P value of less than 0.05 was deemed to be statistically significant. All statistical analyses were done with SPSS (version 12.0.1).

# ROLE OF THE FUNDING SOURCE

The sponsor of the study had no role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, interpretation of the study results, or writing of the manuscript. The corresponding author had full access to all the data and coordinated the decision to submit for publication.

# RESULTS

732 consecutive patients with a first episode of acute pancreatitis were registered prospectively between March, 2004, and March, 2007 (Figure 8.1). 298 patients were predicted to have a severe disease course (135 patients with APACHE II score  $\geq$ 8, 204 with Imrie score  $\geq$ 3, 252 with C-reactive protein >150 mg/L), and were randomly assigned treatment with probiotics or with placebo (FIGURE 8.1). Two patients one in each group - were excluded from the final analysis because of an incorrect diagnosis of acute pancreatitis; one was ultimately diagnosed with acute cholecystitis and the other with post-pancreatic surgery anastomotic leakage. One patient who did not receive any study product and one who, in retrospect, had predicted mild pancreatitis were included in the final analysis (FIGURE 8.1). Study groups were comparable for all baseline characteristics (TABLE 8.1).

All but five patients started treatment within 72 h of onset of symptoms. Median intake of probiotics or placebo per patient was 100% (25% lower limit 91%). No dif-

	Pro	biotics	Pl	acebo	
	(n:	=152)	(n	=144)	
Age (years)	60.4	(±16.5)	59.0	(±15.5)	
Sex (male)	91	(60%)	83	(58%)	
Body-mass index (kg/m²)	27.1	(±6.1)	27.8	(±5.9)	
Aetiology of pancreatitis					
Biliary	92	(61%)	75	(52%)	
Alcohol	27	(18%)	28	(19%)	
Unknown	21	(14%)	28	(19%)	
Medication	4	(3%)	6	(4%)	
Hypertriglyceridaemia	4	(3%)	3	(2%)	
Other	4	(3%)	4	(3%)	
American Society of Anaesthesiologists class					
I (healthy status)	62	(41%)	62	(43%)	
II (mild systemic disease)	76	(50%)	64	(44%)	
III (severe systemic disease)	14	(9%)	18	(13%)	
Severity of pancreatitis					
APACHE II score <sup>a</sup>	8.6	(±4.4)	8.4	(±4.5)	
Imrie score (first 48h)	3.3	(±1.7)	3.4	(±1.6)	
C-reactive protein level (mg/L) highest first 48h)	268	(±127)	270	(±122)	
SOFA (on admission)	2.1	(±2.0)	1.9	(±1.6)	
MODS (on admission)	1.6	(±1.6)	1.5	(±1.5)	
Organ failure before randomisation <sup>a</sup>	9	(6%)	5	(4%)	
Multiple organ failure before randomisation	5	(3%)	1	(1%)	
Endoscopic sphincterotomy	48	(32%)	35	(24%)	
Time from first symptoms to admission (days)	0	(0-3)	0	(0-3)	
Time from to first dose (days)	2	(0-4)	2	(0-3)	
Time from to enteral nutrition (days)	2	(0-7)	2	(0-7)	
Contrast-enhanced CT					
Necrotising pancreatitis <sup>b</sup>	46	(30%)	34	(24%)	
≤30% pancreatic parenchymal necrosis	16	(11%)	14	(10%)	
>30% pancreatic parenchymal necrosis	30	(20%)	20	(14%)	
No contrast-enhanced CT performed	6	(4%)	12	(8%)	
CT severity index <sup>c</sup>	4	(0-10)	4	(0-10)	

# TABLE 8.1. Baseline characteristics

Data are n (%), mean (SD), or median (range). APACHE II=Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation score, determined on admission. MODS=multiple organ dysfunction score (range 0-24, higher scores indicating more severe disease). SOFA=sequential organ failure assessment (range 0-24, higher scores indicating more severe disease). a= Patients with multiple organ failure are included in the group patients with organ failure. b= Done on day 7-10 after admission. c= CT severity index ranges from 0 to 10, higher scores indicating more extensive pancreatic parenchymal necrosis and peripancreatic fluid collections.

# TABLE 8.2. Endpoints

	Prot (n=	oiotics :152)	Pl (n	acebo =144)	P value
Primary endpoint					
Any infectious complication <sup>a</sup>	46	(30%)	41	(29%)	0.80
Infected necrosis	21	(14%)	14	(10%)	0.29
Bacteraemia	33	(22%)	22	(15%)	0.18
Pneumonia	24	(16%)	16	(11%)	0.31
Urosepsis	1	(1%)	2	(1%)	0.61
Infected ascites	4	(3%)	0	(0%)	0.12
Secondary endpoint					
Use of antibiotics, any indication	75	(49%)	76	(53%)	0.56
Percutaneous drainage	14	(9%)	8	(6%)	0.23
Surgical intervention, any indication	28	(18%)	14	(10%)	0.05
Necrosectomy	24	(16%)	14	(10%)	0.16
Intensive care admission	47	(31%)	34	(24%)	0.19
Intensive care stay (days)	6.6	(±17.1)	3.0	(±9.3)	0.08
Hospital stay (days)	28.9	(±41.5)	23.5	(±25.9)	0.98
Organ failure during admission, any onset <sup>b, c</sup>	41	(27%)	23	(16%)	0.02
Multiple organ failure during admission, any onset <sup>c</sup>	33	(22%)	15	(10%)	0.01
Organ failure, onset after randomisation <sup>b, d</sup>	21	(14%)	16	(11%)	0.60
Multiple organ failure, onset after randomisation <sup>d</sup>	18	(12%)	11	(8%)	0.25
Nausea	20	(13%)	23	(16%)	0.51
Abdominal fullness	36	(24%)	43	(30%)	0.24
Diarrhoea	25	(16%)	28	(19%)	0.55
Bowel ischaemia	9	(6%)	0	(0%)	0.004
Mortality	24	(16%)	9	(6%)	0.01

Data are mean (SD) or n (%). a= Patients with one or more infectious complication. b= Patients with multiple organ failure are included in the organ failure group. c= Patients with organ failure present at any time during admission, irrespective of the date of onset of organ failure, are included. d= Patients in whom organ failure developed (for the first time) after the day of randomisation are included. Patients in whom organ failure (in any organ) started before the day of randomisation or on the day of randomisation are not included.

	Probiotics (n=152)	Placebo (n=144)
Gram-positive bacteria		
Staphylococcus spp.	20	20
Staphylococcus aureus	10	11
Coagulase-negative staphylococci	9	5
Enterococcus spp	10	3
Streptococcus spp	3	3
Other gram-positive microorganisms $^{\mathrm{b}}$	3	3
Gram-negative bacteria		
Enterobacteriaceae	28	20
Escherichia coli	17	7
Klebsiella spp.	8	8
Other gram-negative microorganisms <sup>c</sup>	4	8
Fungi		
Candida spp	5	1
Chrysosporium sp	1	0
Unknown	0	1

TABLE 8.3	. Pathogens	isolated from	87	patients with	an infectious	complication <sup>a</sup>
TUDDD 010	• I athogons	, isolated if olli		patients with	an miccuous	complication

a= Only the first positive culture result of each infection consistent with the primary endpoint was used. If, in one patient, different organisms were cultured from different sites (e.g., from the initial positive blood culture and from pancreatic necrosis) these are all listed. If, in one patient, the same organism was cultured from different sites, this organism was listed only once. b= *Bacillus* spp (2), *Clostridium* sp (1), *Corynebacterium striatum* (1), *Propionibacterium* sp (1), and unknown (1). c= *Aeromonas* spp (1), *Bacteroides* spp (2), *Moraxella catarrhalis* (1), *Neisseria meningitidis* (2), *Pasteurella multocida* (1), *Pseudomonas auruginosa* (1), *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* (3), and *Veillonella* sp (1).

ference in the categorised percentage intake between the groups was found (data not shown; P=0.78). No infections were confirmed to be caused by any of the probiotic strains administered. During the study, two serious adverse events were reported; both patients died. The monitoring committee convened on both occasions: in one patient, a ruptured caecum with ischaemia was found during emergency laparotomy and the second patient had small-bowel ischaemia diagnosed at emergency laparotomy. In both cases, the randomisation code was broken (both patients had received probiotics). This information was revealed only to members of the monito-



FIGURE 8.2. Kaplan-Meier time-to-event analysis for mortality in the first 90 days after randomisation A follow-up of longer than 90 days was obtained in 266 (90%) patients. Three deaths occurred after 90 days: two in the probiotics group (day 112 and 125) and one in the placebo group (day 140).

ring and steering committees. A review of published work did not reveal any evidence of a relation between bowel ischaemia and the use of probiotics. The monitoring committee subsequently advised that the study continue. The institutional review board was informed on both occasions.

There was no significant difference in the occurrence of the composite primary endpoint between the two groups, nor were there any significant differences between the groups in its individual components (TABLE 8.2). The risk ratio for the primary endpoint was 1.06 (95% CI 0.75-1.51) TABLE 8.3 shows the pathogens cultured from the 87 patients with an infectious complication; no significant differences between the groups were observed.

There were significantly more deaths in the probiotics group than there were in the placebo group P=0.01; TABLE 8.2 and FIGURE 8.2); the risk ratio for mortality was

2.53 (95% CI 1.22-5.25). Most of the deaths were caused by multiple organ failure: 20 (83%) of those in the probiotics group and seven (78%) of those in the placebo group. Other causes of death were respiratory failure after aspiration (one) and cerebral infarction/bleeding (three) in the probiotics group, and ruptured aneurysm (one) and cerebral infarction (one) in the placebo group.

Bowel ischaemia was detected during operation or autopsy in nine patients in the probiotics group; eight of these patients died as a result. No cases of bowel ischaemia were seen in the placebo group (P=0.004 for difference between groups; TABLE 8.4). The nine cases of bowel ischaemia were all diagnosed within the first 14 days of admission in seven different hospitals; four university and three teaching hospitals. In all nine patients, contrast-enhanced CT (either the baseline CT or an earlier CT) showed unequivocal evidence of acute pancreatitis. All these patients had early onset of organ failure (median 2 days after admission, range 1-6 days). At the time of diagnosis of bowel ischaemia, six patients had vasopressor support (14 patients in the placebo group and 23 in the probiotics group had vasopressor support in the first 14 days). Patients had received a median of six doses of probiotics (range 4-22 doses) before diagnosis of bowel ischaemia. The small bowel was involved in eight of the nine patients (including the survivor). During autopsy (six patients), five patients with small-bowel ischaemia had no sign of occlusive disease in the mesenteric vessels.

Apart from the patients with bowel ischaemia, 11 patients died in the 2 weeks after admission: eight in the probiotics group and three in the placebo group. These patients died of multiple organ failure without signs of bowel ischaemia.

No significant differences were noted between the groups for the serial SOFA scores (data not shown). Although more patients in the probiotics group than in the placebo group developed organ failure during the study there was no difference between the groups with regard to organ failure that started after the day of randomisation (P=0.6). During the study, 102 (34%) patients developed the most severe form of acute pancreatitis (organ failure or pancreatic parenchymal necrosis); 56 (37%) in the probiotics group and 46 (32%) in the placebo group. 18 patients did not undergo a CT: the treating physician deemed CT unnecessary in 17 patients, or the patient refused because of good clinical condition; one patient in the placebo group died on day 4 before CT could be done. The latest point at which a baseline CT was

TABL	Е 8.4.	Clinical	characteris	tics of nine pati	ents with bowel i	ischaemia in	the probioti	s group
SSN	Sex	Age (years)	Day of diagnosis	Days of treat- ment before diagnosis	Vasopressor support at day of diagnosis	Day of onset of organ failure	Day of death	Findings
10	ш	40	Ŋ	ŝ	0	~	Ŋ	Emergency laparotomy day 5: perforated caecum with adjacent ischaemia. At autopsy: mucosal ischaemia 80 cm of small bowel
93	z	61	12	7	0	~	13	Emergency laparotomy day 12: resection of 50 cm ischaemic proximal jejunum. At autopsy: necrosis and inflammatory changes of the small bowel wall of the bowel wall
121	×	62	4	2	-	2	4	At autopsy: only the proximal jejunum vital, rest of the small bowel ischaemic
124	ш	88	Q	4	-	9	Q	At autopsy: inflammatory changes of the duodenum wall and necrotising oesophagitis
160	ц	62	4	2	<del></del>	<del></del>	4	Emergency laparotomy day 4: ischaemia of most of the small bowel
202	×	60	12	10	-	2	26	Emergency laparotomy day 12: necrosis of 40 cm jejunum. At autopsy: necrotising jejunitis
235	٤	57	6	6	-	2	125	Emergency laparotomy day 9: resection of 90 cm of ischaemic ileum. Patient died 4 months later from cerebral infarction
243	۲	22	4	ŝ	0	2	Survived	Emergency laparotomy day 4: ischaemic proxmial jejunum
297	×	57	ε	ω	-	2	Q	Emergency laparotomy day 3: ischaemia and inflammation of the entire small and large bowel
SSN=sec	quential s	tudy numt	ver, patient nu	umber 1 was the fi	rst patient in the tri	ial.		

done was 10 days after admission. Predefined subgroup analyses were done for the presence of pancreatic parenchymal necrosis (any extent) and cause (biliary vs. nonbiliary) for both the primary endpoint and mortality. The tests for interaction were not significant - i.e. we could not confirm an interaction between probiotic administration and pancreatic necrosis or underlying cause for either the primary endpoint or for mortality. In the subgroup of patients with pancreatic parenchymal necrosis, one or more infectious complication consistent with the primary endpoint occurred in 32 (70%) of 46 patients in the probiotics group vs. 18 (53%) of 34 patients in the placebo group (P=0.16). In patients with pancreatic parenchymal necrosis, 19 (41%) of 46 patients in the probiotics group died, compared with five (15%) of 34 in the placebo group (P=0.01).

# DISCUSSION

This randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis showed no beneficial effect of probiotic prophylaxis on the occurrence of infectious complications. However, mortality in the probiotics group was about twice as high as in the placebo group. Thus, this combination of probiotics should not be administered routinely in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis, and such preparations can no longer be considered to be harmless adjuncts to enteral nutrition.

The rate of infectious complications in our study is in line with a large German multicentre study (31%) on antibiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis.<sup>8</sup> Although antibiotic prophylaxis was strongly discouraged in our study, antibiotics were used in about half the patients, although only a third of all patients had a documented infection. Antibiotics were sometimes started pre-emptively, on the basis of clinical suspicion of infection before bacterial culture results becoming available. Obviously, this clinical indication for antibiotic treatment leads to false-positive diagnoses of infectious complications. The overall rate of antibiotic use in our study was no different from that in the placebo groups of trials of antibiotic prophylaxis in acute pancreatitis.<sup>7,8</sup>

The adverse effects of probiotics noted here were unexpected. Several studies have associated probiotics with a reduction in infectious complications.<sup>13,14</sup> Most of these studies have been done in patients undergoing elective abdominal operations.

However, one randomised study in 90 critically ill patients showed a non-significant increase in septic complications in the probiotics group;<sup>24</sup> another randomised study in 61 children admitted to a paediatric intensive-care unit was discontinued prematurely because of a non-significant increase in infections in the probiotics group.<sup>25,26</sup> To date, the main criticism of most randomised controlled trials of probiotic prophylaxis is methodological shortcomings - e.g., analyses not done by intention to treat and sample sizes too small to provide convincing evidence on relevant clinical endpoints.

Two small placebo-controlled randomised controlled trials of probiotic prophylaxis have been done in patients with acute pancreatitis. The first study randomised 45 patients with both predicted mild and predicted severe pancreatitis of solely non-biliary causes.<sup>15</sup> The infection rate was lower in the probiotics group than in the placebo group; no effect on mortality was noted. However, this study was criticised because patients with biliary pancreatitis were excluded, the sample size was small, and analyses were not by intention to treat.<sup>27,28</sup> In the second trial, done by the same research group in 62 patients with predicted severe pancreatitis, the difference in the rate of infectious complications seen in the first trial could not be reproduced.<sup>29</sup> This second study used a probiotic preparation previously found to be effective in preventing infectious complications in patients undergoing abdominal operations.<sup>13,14</sup>

Because the findings of our trial are in marked contrast with the previous reports, we scrutinised our results and methodology for explanations other than a deleterious effect of probiotics. Randomisation was successful, since there were no significant differences in baseline characteristics between groups. In the probiotics group there was a (non-significantly) higher proportion of patients with organ failure before randomisation as well as a greater proportion of patients with more than 30% pancreatic parenchymal necrosis than in the placebo group. When we assessed this imbalance by use of logistic regression, the (adjusted) mortality remained significantly higher in the probiotics group than in the placebo group (data not shown). There was no indication that treatment effects differed in the subgroup analyses. We also considered whether the composition of the product or the doses used explained the effects noted. The daily dose was similar to doses used in previous studies and, although the combination of probiotic strains administered was different from the

preparations used so far, the individual strains have an unblemished reputation as probiotics, both in (smaller) clinical studies and in daily practice in the food industry. The six probiotic strains used in this study were selected from 69 different probiotic bacteria on the basis of their capacity to inhibit growth of gut-derived pathogens and to modulate immune responses.<sup>20</sup> The combination of strains was shown to result in a better antimicrobial spectrum, induction of interleukin 10, and silencing of pro-inflammatory cytokines than the individual components.<sup>20</sup> The combination of strains was found capable of inhibiting the in-vitro growth of a wide variety of pathogens cultured from pancreatic necrosis.<sup>21</sup> Again, the combination of strains had better growth-inhibiting capacities than did the individual strains.<sup>21</sup> Additionally, when the preparation was administered before induction of severe acute pancreatitis in rats, a significant reduction of both infectious complications and late mortality was noted.<sup>30</sup> The same preparation was also used in three small clinical studies under elective circumstances in healthy volunteers, patients with ileostomy, patients about to undergo pancreaticoduodenectomy, and patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis, and no adverse events were noted (unpublished data, trial registry ISRCTN45167712, ISRCTN71637623, and NCT00161148). However, these patients were less ill than the patients in the present study.

Previous randomised trials with probiotics have been of much smaller sample size and with fewer critically ill patients than in the present study. Consequently, the power of these studies was too small to detect differences in mortality or uncommon adverse events such as bowel ischaemia. In our study, probiotics caused a significant increase in mortality, most likely a result of deleterious effects on the (small) bowel wall. After administration of probiotics, no significant increase in new-onset organ failure was seen. Possibly, probiotics especially exert their adverse effects in patients in whom organ failure has already occurred. Because the exact mechanism causing the bowel ischaemia seen here is, at present, unknown, we cannot exclude or confirm that another product - e.g., a combination of strains or one strain alone - would have resulted in similar results. However, in view of the fatal nature of these complications, the administration of any type of probiotic in this category of patients must strongly be advised against until the mechanism of the complications has been unravelled.

The occurrence of non-occlusive mesenteric ischaemia is well known in critically ill

patients,<sup>31</sup> and several cases of non-occlusive mesenteric ischaemia have been reported in acute pancreatitis.<sup>32</sup> Such complications could explain why only two of the nine cases of mesenteric ischaemia seen in this study were reported as a serious adverse event. Evidence exists to suggest that intestinal bloodflow at the mucosal level is generally reduced in acute pancreatitis. An experimental study in rats found a reduction in bloodflow to the intestinal mucosa of up to 85%.33 A clinical study in patients with severe pancreatitis showed a significant increase in a biological marker for enterocyte death and small-bowel ischaemia.<sup>34</sup> In a severely ill patient going through a phase of severe systemic inflammation or organ failure, an already critically reduced bloodflow and oxygen supply in the small-bowel mucosa might be further compromised by the administration of enteral feeding, known for its increased demand for local oxygen.<sup>35,36</sup> This effect is probably local, since ischaemia usually occurs at the site of administration of enteral feeding.<sup>35,36</sup> However, until now, this occurrence has not been recognised as an argument to refrain from enteral nutrition in critically ill patients because the beneficial effects outweigh the small risk of developing ischaemia.

We can only speculate as to the mechanism of bowel ischaemia in the probiotics group. The administration of 10 billion probiotic bacteria per day on top of enteral nutrition might have even further increased local oxygen demand, with a combined deleterious effect on an already critically reduced bloodflow. A second possible explanation could be that the presence of probiotics caused local inflammation at the mucosal level. Experimental studies have shown that gut epithelial cells under metabolic stress react to commensal bacteria with an inflammatory response.<sup>37</sup> One could postulate that increasing the bacterial load in the small bowel could lead to aggravation of local inflammation, again with a further reduction of capillary bloodflow and ultimately ischaemia. Notably, three of the six autopsy reports of patients with bowel ischaemia mentioned inflammatory changes of the small-bowel wall.

A speculative parallel with immunonutrition can be drawn from a recent meta-analysis showing that although immunonutrition in elective surgical patients reduced the infection rate, it increased mortality in critically ill patients.<sup>38</sup> This effect was seen only in studies of high methodological quality and the reasons for the increased mortality could not be identified. Experimental studies in rats showed that pretreatment with glutamine protects against the effects of bowel ischaemia,<sup>39</sup> whereas mortality increased when glutamine was administered after the induction of a low flow state.<sup>40</sup> Apparently, there is reason for concern about administration of potent immuno nutritional supplements in the presence of a low flow state, or more generally, in the critically ill.

Our findings show that probiotics should not be administered routinely in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis, and that the particular composition used here should be banned for the present indication. Whether other (combinations of) strains might have resulted in different results is debatable, but, until the underlying mechanism is actually revealed, administration of probiotics in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis must be regarded as unsafe. Most importantly, probiotics can no longer be considered to be harmless adjuncts to enteral nutrition, especially in critically ill patients or patients at risk for non-occlusive mesenteric ischaemia.

#### REFERENCES

- 1 UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 2005; 54 Suppl 3:iii1-iii9.
- 2 Frey CF, Zhou H, Harvey DJ, White RH. The incidence and case-fatality rates of acute biliary, alcoholic, and idiopathic pancreatitis in California, 1994-2001. Pancreas2006; 33:336-44.
- 3 Yadav D, Lowenfels AB. Trends in the epidemiology of the first attack of acute pancreatitis: a systematic review. Pancreas 2006; 33:323-30.
- 4 Ammori BJ, Leeder PC, King R, et al. Early increase in intestinal permeability in patients with severe acute pancreatitis: correlation with endotoxemia, organ failure, and mortality. J Gastrointest Surg 1999; 3:252-62.
- 5 Deitch EA. The role of intestinal barrier failure and bacterial translocation in the development of systemic infection and multiple organ failure. Arch Surg 1990; 125:403-4.
- 6 Van Leeuwen PA, Boermeester MA, Houdijk AP, et al. Clinical significance of translocation. Gut 1994; 35:S28-S34.
- 7 Dellinger EP, Tellado JM, Soto NE, et al. Early antibiotic treatment for severe acute necrotizing pancreatitis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Ann Surg 2007; 245:674-83.

- 8 Isenmann R, Runzi M, Kron M, et al. Prophylactic antibiotic treatment in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a placebocontrolled, double-blind trial. Gastroenterology 2004; 126:997-1004.
- 9 De Vries AC, Besselink MG, Buskens E, et al. Randomized controlled trials of antibiotic prophylaxis in severe acute pancreatitis: relationship between methodological quality and outcome. Pancreatology 2007; 7:531-8.
- 10 Mazaki T, Ishii Y, Takayama T. Meta-analysis of prophylactic antibiotic use in acute necrotizing pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2006; 93:674-84.
- Bengmark S. Ecological control of the gastrointestinal tract. The role of probiotic flora. Gut 1998; 42:2-7.
- 12 Guarner F, Malagelada JR. Gut flora in health and disease. Lancet 2003; 361:512-9.
- 13 Rayes N, Seehofer D, Theruvath T, et al. Supply of pre- and probiotics reduces bacterial infection rates after liver transplantation-a randomized, double-blind trial. Am J Transplant 2005; 5:125-30.
- 14 Rayes N, Seehofer D, Theruvath T, et al. Effect of enteral nutrition and synbiotics on bacterial infection rates after pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy: a randomized, double-blind trial. Ann Surg 2007; 246: 36-41.

- 15 Olah A, Belagyi T, Issekutz A, Gamal ME, Bengmark S. Randomized clinical trial of specific lactobacillus and fibre supplement to early enteral nutrition in patients with acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2002; 89:1103-7.
- 16 Besselink MG, Timmerman HM, Buskens E, Nieuwenhuijs VB, Akkermans LM, Gooszen HG. Probiotic prophylaxis in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (PROPATRIA): design and rationale of a double-blind, placebocontrolled randomised multicenter trial [ISRCTN38327949]. BMC Surg 2004; 4:12.
- Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP,
   Zimmerman JE. APACHE II: a severity of disease
   classification system.
   Crit Care Med 1985; 13:818-29.
- 18 Blamey SL, Imrie CW, O'Neill J, Gilmour WH, Carter DC. Prognostic factors in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1984; 25:1340-6.
- 19 Werner J, Hartwig W, Uhl W, Muller C, Buchler MW. Useful markers for predicting severity and monitoring progression of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003; 3:115-127.
- 20 Timmerman HM, Niers LE, Ridwan BU, et al. Design of a multispecies probiotic mixture to prevent infectious complications in critically ill patients. Clin Nutr 2007; 26:450-459.
- Ridwan BU, Koning CJ, Besselink MG, et al. Antimicrobial activity of a multispecies probiotic (Ecologic 641) against pathogens isolated from infected pancreatic necrosis. Lett Appl Microbiol 2008;46 61-67.

- 22 Balthazar EJ, Robinson DL, Megibow AJ, Ranson JH. Acute pancreatitis: value of CT in establishing prognosis. Radiology 1990; 174:331-336.
- 23 Bradley EL, III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.
- 24 Jain PK, McNaught CE, Anderson AD, Macfie J, Mitchell CJ. Influence of synbiotic containing Lactobacillus acidophilus La5, Bifidobacterium lactis Bb 12, Streptococcus thermophilus, Lactobacillus bulgaricus and oligofructose on gut barrier function and sepsis in critically ill patients: a randomised controlled trial. Clin Nutr 2004; 23:467- 475.
- 25 Singhi S. Probiotics in the critically ill: Handle with care! Pediatr Crit Care Med 2007; 8:499-501.
- Honeycutt TC, El KM, Wardrop RM, et al.
   Probiotic administration and the incidence of nosocomial infection in pediatric intensive care:
   A randomized placebocontrolled trial.
   Pediatr Crit Care Med 2007; 8:452-458.
- 27 Weale R, Edwards A. Letter 1: Randomized clinical trial of specific lactobacillus and fibre supplement to early enteral nutrition in patients with acute pancreatitis (Br J Surg 2002; 89: 1103-1107). Br J Surg 2003; 90:122-123.

PART II

- 28 Rahman SH, Catton JA, McMahon MJ. Letter 2: Randomized clinical trial of specific lactobacillus and fibre supplement to early enteral nutrition in patients with acute pancreatitis (Br J Surg 2002; 89: 1103-1107). Br J Surg 2003; 90:123.
- 29 Olah A, Belagyi T, Poto L, Romics L, Jr., Bengmark S. Synbiotic control of inflammation and infection in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective, randomized, double blind study. Hepatogastroenterology 2007; 54:590-594.
- 30 van Minnen LP, Timmerman HM, Lutgendorff F, et al. Modification of intestinal flora with multispecies probiotics reduces bacterial translocation and improves clinical course in a rat model of acute pancreatitis. Surgery 2007; 141:470-480.
- 31 Kolkman JJ, Mensink PB. Non-occlusive mesenteric ischaemia: a common disorder in gastroenterology and intensive care. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2003; 17:457-73.
- 32 Hirota M, Inoue K, Kimura Y, et al. Non-occlusive mesenteric ischemia and its associated intestinal gangrene in acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003; 3:316-322.
- 33 Andersson R, Wang X, Ihse I. The influence of abdominal sepsis on acute pancreatitis in rats: a study on mortality, permeability, arterial pressure, and intestinal blood flow. Pancreas 1995; 11:365-373.
- 34 Rahman SH, Ammori BJ, Holmfield J, Larvin M, McMahon MJ. Intestinal hypoperfusion contributes to gut barrier failure in severe acute pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg 2003; 7:26-35.

- 35 McClave SA, Chang WK. Feeding the hypotensive patient: does enteral feeding precipitate or protect against ischemic bowel? Nutr Clin Pract 2003; 18:279-284.
- 36 Melis M, Fichera A, Ferguson MK. Bowel necrosis associated with early jejunal tube feeding: A complication of postoperative enteral nutrition. Arch Surg 2006; 141:701-704.
- 37 Nazli A, Yang PC, Jury J, et al. Epithelia under metabolic stress perceive commensal bacteria as a threat. Am J Pathol 2004; 164:947-957.
- 38 Heyland DK, Novak F, Drover JW, Jain M, Su X, Suchner U. Should immunonutrition become routine in critically ill patients? A systematic review of the evidence. JAMA 2001; 286:944-953.
- 39 Sukhotnik I, Khateeb K, Mogilner JG, et al. Dietary glutamine supplementation prevents mucosal injury and modulates intestinal epithelial restitution following ischemiareperfusion injury in the rat. Dig Dis Sci 2007; 52:1497-1504.
- 40 Omata J, Fukatsu K, Ueno C, Maeshima Y, Saitoh D, Mochizuki H. Intraluminal glutamine administration during ischemia worsens survival after gut ischemia-reperfusion.

J Surg Res 2007; 132:260-264.

Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Willem Renooij,<sup>1</sup> Martin B de Smet<sup>1</sup>,

Marja A Boermeester,<sup>2</sup> Kathelijn Fischer,<sup>3</sup> Harro M Timmerman,<sup>1</sup> Usama Ahmed Ali,<sup>1</sup> Geert A Cirkel,<sup>1</sup>

Thomas L Bollen,<sup>4</sup> Bert van Ramshorst,<sup>5</sup> Alexander F Schaapherder,<sup>6</sup> Ben J Witteman,<sup>7</sup>

Rutger J Ploeg,<sup>8</sup> Harry van Goor,<sup>9</sup> Kees J van Laarhoven,<sup>10</sup> Adriaan C Tan,<sup>11</sup> Menno A Brink,<sup>12</sup>

Erwin van der Harst,<sup>13</sup> Peter J Wahab,<sup>14</sup> Casper H van Eijck,<sup>15</sup> Cornelis H Dejong,<sup>16</sup>

Karel J van Erpecum,<sup>17</sup> Louis M Akkermans,<sup>1</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup>

for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

#### AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, <sup>3</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Depts. of <sup>4</sup>Radiology and <sup>5</sup>Surgery, St. Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein,
<sup>6</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, <sup>7</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Gelderse Vallei Hospital, Ede, <sup>8</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen,
<sup>9</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen, <sup>10</sup>Dept. of Surgery, St. Elisabeth Hospital, Tilburg (currently: Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen), <sup>11</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Canisius Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, <sup>12</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Meander Medical Center, Amersfoort, <sup>13</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Maasstad hospital Rotterdam, <sup>14</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Rijnstate Hospital, Arnhem, <sup>15</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, <sup>16</sup>Dept. of Surgery and NUTRIM, Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, <sup>17</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht the Netherlands.

# PARTER CHAPTER JJ200

Intestinal barrier dysfunction in a randomised trial of a specific probiotic composition in acute pancreatitis

– a summary –

Published in: Annals of Surgery 2010

# INTRODUCTION

Infections are responsible for most of deaths in acute pancreatitis.<sup>1</sup> Intestinal barrier dysfunction (i.e., enterocyte damage and increased intestinal permeability) and subsequent bacterial translocation from the intestinal tract to the blood stream and/or distant organs are believed to precede these infectious.<sup>2</sup> Yet, no clinical study has confirmed an association between intestinal barrier dysfunction, bacterial translocation, and actual infections in acute pancreatitis.

Intestinal barrier dysfunction can be tested in several ways. Enterocyte damage can be assessed by measuring the urinary concentration of intestinal fatty acid binding protein (IFABP).<sup>3,4</sup> Intestinal permeability can be assessed by recovery of enterally administered polyethylene glycols (PEGs) with varying molecular weights.<sup>5-7</sup> Urinary nitrate excretion (NOx) is a noninvasive marker of intestinal bacterial translocation.<sup>8</sup> In the present study, we assessed intestinal barrier function in a subset of patients included in a randomised, placebo-controlled multicentre trial on probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis (PROPATRIA; probiotics in pancreatitis trial).<sup>9</sup> We investigated whether: **a**. enterocyte damage, increased intestinal permeability, and bacterial translocation are associated with severity of disease and clinical infections in acute pancreatitis, and whether **b**. the administered probiotics play a role in mitigating or deteriorating these associations?

# METHODS

Within 24 to 48 hours after randomization in PROPATRIA, a solution of 100 mL water containing 5 g PEG 400 kDa, 1.5 g PEG 1500 kDa, 5 g PEG 4000 kDa, and 10 g PEG 10,000 kDa was administered enterally, after which 24-hour urine output was collected. This procedure was repeated after 7 days. Recovery of the PEG molecules in the urine was analysed by reverse-phase high performance liquid chromatography.

IFABP concentrations were determined in 100  $\mu$ L urine samples, taken from the 24-hour urine collected for the PEG permeability test, using a human IFABP enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit.

The amount of NOx in the 24-hour urine sample, which was also used for the PEG analysis, was determined by automated flow injection analysis as previously described.<sup>8</sup>



FIGURE 9.1. A IFABP (initial 72 hours), reflecting enterocyte damage, in patients receiving probiotics or placebo. B, IFABP (initial 72 hours) in the subgroup of patients with organ failure.



FIGURE 9.2. A, NOx (initial 72 hours), reflecting bacterial translocation, in patients receiving probiotics or placebo. B, NOx (7 days later; second test), in the subgroup of patients with organ failure.

We investigated whether IFABP, PEG, and NOx were associated with bacteraemia, infected necrosis, organ failure, severe pancreatitis, and mortality. In addition, the effect of probiotic prophylaxis on IFABP, PEG, and NOx was studied. Effects of probiotics were studied in the subgroups of patients with and without organ failure separately.

# RESULTS

Between January 2005 and March 2007, 141 patients (probiotics, n=69 vs. placebo, n=72) were included. PEG recovery was higher in patients who developed bacteraemia (PEG 4000, P=0.001), organ failure (PEG 4000, P<0.0001), or died (PEG 4000, P=0.009). IFABP concentrations in the first 72 hours were higher in patients who developed bacteraemia (P=0.03), infected necrosis (P=0.01), and organ failure (P=0.008). NOx levels were higher in patients who developed bacteraemia (P=0.02), organ failure (P<0.0001), or severe acute pancreatitis (P=0.003), but only at the second test.

Median IFABP levels 24 to 48 hours after start of treatment were higher in the probiotics group (P=0.02, FIGURE 9.1.A). This difference was greatest in the subgroup of patients with organ failure (P=0.01, FIGURE 9.1.B).

Probiotic prophylaxis did not affect intestinal permeability as assessed by PEG recovery.

Median NOx levels, 24 to 48 hours after start of treatment, were lower in patients receiving probiotics (P=0.02, FIGURE 9.2.A). In patients without organ failure, probiotics prophylaxis decreased NOx levels significantly (P=0.02). However, after 7 days, in patients suffering from organ failure, probiotics administration was associated with increased NOx levels (P=0.002, FIGURE 9.2.B).

# DISCUSSION

This is the first clinical study ever demonstrating a relationship between intestinal barrier dysfunction and clinically relevant infections in acute pancreatitis. Our main findings are that: **1**. intestinal barrier dysfunction occurs early in the course of acute pancreatitis and is related to infectious complications (e.g., bacteraemia and infection of necrosis), organ failure, severe acute pancreatitis, and mortality; **2**. the probiotic preparation used in this study (Ecologic 641) did not alter intestinal permeabi-

lity as indicated by PEG permeability; **3**. in patients with acute pancreatitis and concomitant organ failure, probiotic prophylaxis was associated with an increase in enterocyte damage as measured with IFABP and an increase in bacterial translocation as measured with NOx; and **4**. in patients without organ failure, prophylaxis with this specific combination of strains did not influence enterocyte damage but reduced bacterial translocation.

Many of our findings supports the more than 20 years old 'gut as motor of sepsis' hypothesis.<sup>2</sup> Future studies aiming at preventing infectious complications in acute pancreatitis should focus on improving intestinal barrier function early in the course of the disease. We can only speculate at this point as to which mechanism can be held responsible for the harmful effect of probiotics in patients with organ failure due to acute pancreatitis.<sup>9</sup>

#### REFERENCES

- Beger HG, Rau B, Mayer J, et al. Natural course of acute pancreatitis. World J Surg. 1997; 21:130 -135.
- 2 Deitch EA. The role of intestinal barrier failure and bacterial translocation in the development of systemic infection and multiple organ failure. Arch Surg. 1990; 125:403- 404.
- 3 Ockner RK, Manning JA. Fatty acid-binding protein in small intestine. Identification, isolation, and evidence for its role in cellular fatty acid transport. J Clin Invest. 1974; 54:326 -338.
- 4 Kanda T, Fujii H, Tani T, et al. Intestinal fatty acid-binding protein is a useful diagnostic marker for mesenteric infarction in humans. Gastroenterology. 1996; 110:339 -343.
- 5 Ammori BJ, Leeder PC, King RF, et al. Early increase in intestinal permeability in patients with severe acute pancreatitis: correlation with endotoxemia, organ failure, and mortality. J Gastrointest Surg. 1999; 3:252-262.
- 6 Parlesak A, Bode JC, Bode C. Parallel determination of gut permeability in man with M(r) 400, M(r) 1500, M(r) 4000 and M(r) 10,000 polyethylene glycol. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem. 1994; 32:813- 820.
- Rahman SH, Ammori BJ, Holmfield J, et al. Intestinal hypoperfusion contributes to gut barrier failure in severe acute pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003; 7:26 -35.

- 8 Oudenhoven IM, Klaasen HL, Lapre JA, et al. Nitric oxide-derived urinary nitrate as a marker of intestinal bacterial translocation in rats. Gastroenterology. 1994; 107:47-53.
- 9 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Buskens E, et al. Probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo controlled trial. Lancet. 2008; 371:651-659.

# PART III

Early endoscopic intervention for biliary pancreatitis Hjalmar C van Santvoort, <sup>1</sup> Olaf J Bakker, <sup>1</sup> Marc G Besselink, <sup>1</sup> Thomas L Bollen, <sup>2</sup> Kathelijn Fischer, <sup>3</sup> Vincent B Nieuwenhuijs, <sup>4</sup> Hein G Gooszen, <sup>5</sup> and Karel J van Erpecum<sup>6</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

# AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Department of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Department of Radiology, St. Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, <sup>3</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, <sup>4</sup>Department of Surgery, University Medical Center Groningen, <sup>5</sup>Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, <sup>6</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, University Medical Center Utrecht, The Netherlands.

# РА РТЕ В СНАРТЕ В III 10

Prediction of common bile duct stones in the earliest stages of acute biliary pancreatitis

> Accepted for publication in: Endoscopy

# ABSTRACT

# BACKGROUND

Accurate prediction of common bile duct (CBD) stones in acute biliary pancreatitis (ABP) is warranted to select patients for early therapeutic endoscopic retrograde cholangio(pancreatico)graphy (ERCP). We evaluated commonly used biochemical and radiological predictors for CBD stones in a large prospective cohort of patients with ABP undergoing early ERCP.

### METHODS

167 patients with ABP undergoing early ERCP (<72 hours after symptom onset) were prospectively included in 15 Dutch hospitals (2004-2007). Abdominal ultrasound (US) and/or computed tomography (CT) was performed on admission and complete liver biochemistry determined daily. We used univariate logistic regression to assess associations between CBD stones during ERCP (gold standard) and the following parameters: 1. clinical: age, sex, predicted severity, 2. radiological; dilated CBD, impacted stone in CBD, and 3. biochemical; bilirubin, gammaglutamyl-transferase (GGT), alkaline phosphatase (AP), alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST).

## RESULTS

73/167 patients (44%) had predicted severe ABP, 51 (31%) exhibited a dilated CBD and 15 (9%) had CBD stones on US/CT. ERCP was performed at a median of 0 days (interquartile range 0-1) after admission. CBD stones were found during ERCP in 89/167 patients (53%). In univariate analysis, the only parameters significantly associated with CBD stones were GGT (per 10 units increase: odds ratio 1.02, 95%-CI 1.01-1.03, P=0.001) and AP (per 10 units increase: odds ratio 1.03, 95%-CI 1.00-1.05, P=0.028). These and all other tested parameters, however, showed poor positive predictive value (ranging from 0.53 to 0.69) and poor negative predictive value (ranging from 0.46 to 0.67).

# CONCLUSIONS

The results of this study suggest that commonly used biochemical and radiological predictors for the presence of CBD stones during ERCP in the earliest stages of ABP are unreliable.

### INTRODUCTION

Acute biliary pancreatitis is thought to be caused by temporary obstruction of the major duodenal papilla by gallstones and /or sludge.<sup>1,2</sup> These patients often early undergo therapeutic endoscopic retrograde (pancreatico)graphy (ERCP).<sup>1,3-5</sup> International guidelines agree that early ERCP should be performed in all patients with acute biliary pancreatitis (i.e., both predicted mild and predicted severe) and suspicion of cholangitis and/or biochemical or radiological signs of common bile duct stones.<sup>1,3,4</sup> In patients with predicted severe ABP without biochemical or radiological signs of CBD stones, the role of ERCP remains controversial. The rationale for therapeutic ERCP is to relieve the biliary obstruction by removal of common bile duct (CBD) stones or sludge to ultimately reduce disease severity and risk of complications. Nevertheless, in a large proportion of patients, spontaneous passage of gallstones and sludge will occur.<sup>2</sup> In clinical practice, the decision to perform early ERCP is often based on biochemical and radiological criteria such as the presence of cholestatic liver biochemistry and a dilated CBD. These commonly used markers have been shown to accurately predict CBD stones in patients with gallstone disease in the absence of pancreatitis.6

Only few studies have evaluated the accuracy of biochemical and radiological predictors for CBD stones in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis specifically.<sup>7.9</sup> In these studies, CBD stones were assessed relatively late in the disease (i.e. after 4-7 days after admission, usually by intraoperative cholangiography during elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Consequently, the predictive value of biochemical and radiological markers for CBD stones in the earliest stage of acute biliary pancreatitis (i.e. upon admission) is unknown. This is relevant because, if ERCP has to be performed, the procedure should be done as soon as possible to have the highest chance of mitigating the pancreatic inflammatory process. Indeed international guidelines advise ERCP to be performed within 24-72 hours after admission in those patients with an indication for the procedure.<sup>1,4</sup>

The aim of this study was to evaluate the predictive value of common biochemical and radiological parameters for the presence of CBD stones during early ERCP in a large prospective cohort of patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.

#### PATIENTS AND METHODS

#### STUDY DESIGN AND PATIENT SELECTION

We performed a retrospective analysis of a prospective database of 731 patients with acute pancreatitis admitted to the 15 centers of the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group between March 2004 and March 2007. Acute pancreatitis was defined as abdominal pain in combination with serum amylase or lipase concentrations that were raised to at least three times the institutional upper limit of normal. The ethical review board of each participating hospital approved the protocol and all patients or their legal representatives gave written informed consent for inclusion in the prospective database. A subset of patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis from this cohort were reported in a previously published randomized study on probiotics in pancreatitis.<sup>5</sup>

All patients had complete laboratory investigations on the first 3 days of admission and all patients underwent abdominal ultrasound (US) and/ or contrast enhanced computed tomography (CT) on admission. Predicted severity of acute pancreatitis and biliary aetiology were assessed in all patients within 72 hours after onset of symptoms. Criteria for predicted severe pancreatitis were: a) an Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE)-II score ≥8<sup>11</sup>, or b) Modified Glasgow score  $\geq 3^{12}$ , or c) C-reactive protein (CRP) >150 mg/L.<sup>13</sup> Patients were stratified to predicted mild or predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis based on the highest scores measured before ERCP, in order to prevent severity prediction from being influenced by ERCP. Biliary etiology was defined as the presence of at least one of the following criteria: a. gallstones and/or sludge on US or CT b. dilated CBD on ultrasound or CT (diameter >8 mm for age  $\leq$ 75 years and diameter >10 mm for age >75 years) c. two of the following three laboratory abnormalities: 1. serum bilirubin level concentration >2.3 mg/dL; 2. alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activity >100 U/L with an ALT activity greater than the aspartate aminotransferase (AST) activity; 3. alkaline phosphatase (AP) activity >195 U/L with a gammaglutamyltransferase (GGT) activity >45 U/L. Other causes of acute pancreatitis (e.g. alcohol abuse) and signs of chronic pancreatitis (clinical history and CT) had to be absent.

All patients with ABP who underwent ERCP within 72 hours after admission (i.e. early ERCP) were included in the current study. ERCP was performed at discretion
# of the treating physician.

From the entire cohort of 731 patients admitted with acute pancreatitis during the study period, 418 patients (57%) met the criteria for acute biliary pancreatitis: 34/418 patients (8%) underwent previous cholecystectomy and 315/418 patients (75%) had gallbladder stones on US and/ or CT on admission.

A total of 174/418 patients (42%) underwent early ERCP. In seven patients, ERCP was unsuccessful and the CBD could not be depicted. These patients were excluded from further analysis because the presence of CBD stones could not be assessed. The 167 patients undergoing successful ERCP with depiction of the CBD formed the final study population.

#### PREDICTORS AND OUTCOME

The following predictors were investigated: 1. clinical predictors: age, sex, predicted severity of pancreatitis; 2. radiological predictors: the presence of a CBD stone or dilated CBD (diameter >8 mm for age ≤75 years and diameter >10 mm for age >75 years) on US or CT and 3. biochemical predictors: maximum values of bilirubin, AST, ALT, GGT and AP as measured before ERCP. The outcome was the presence of a CBD stone during early ERCP.

# STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All analyses were performed using SPSS version 15.0.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables are shown as median (interquartile range). Associations between the individual predictors and the presence of a CBD stone during ERCP were assessed by univariate logistic regression. Predictors significantly associated with CBD stones (P>0.05) were entered in a multivariate logistic regression model. Results are shown as odds ratio's (OR) and 95%-confidence intervals (CI). For all biochemical parameters except bilirubin, odds ratio's corresponding to a change of 10 units are reported. The fit of the logistic models for continuous variables was assessed using the Hosmer-Lemeshow test. The biochemical predictors were plotted in a receiver operator characteristics (ROC) curve. Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values and negative predictive values were calculated for all predictors. For the biochemical predictors, cut-off points were based on the 25th, 50th and 75th percentiles. A P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Predictor	All p (n=	atients =167)	Patients stone d (n	with CBD uring ERCP =89)	Patient stone	ts without CBD e during ERCP (n=78)
Clinical						
Male sex – no. (%)	74	(44)	47	(53)	46	(59)
Age	61	(28-74)	63	(48-75)	59	(49-71)
Predicted severe biliary pancreatitis – no. (%)	94	(56)	46	(52)	48	(62)
Radiological						
Dilated CBD – no. (%)	51	(31)	30	(34)	21	(27)
Impacted CBD stone – no. (%)	15	(9)	8	(9)	7	(9)
Biochemical						
Bilirubin	2.8	(1.6-4.2) mg/dL	2.9	(1.9-4.3)	2.6	(1.3-4.0)
AST	257	(160-410) U/L	285	(174-417)	221	(137-409)
ALT	318	(150-539) U/L	340	(158-560)	295	(129-456)
GGT	433	(249-700) U/L	487	(317-776)	355	(209-523)
AP	170	(115-294) U/L	209	(220-308)	154	(111-241)

TABLE IO.I	Prevalence and median values of predictors for common bile duct stones in 167
	patients with acute biliary pancreatitis undergoing early ERCP

\* Continuous data are medians (interquartile range)

Upper limits of normal values for biochemical predictors are: bilirubin: 1.2 mg/dL; AST: 45 U/L; ALT: 55 U/L; GGT: 45 U/L; and AP: 125 U/L.

# RESULTS

From the 167 patients undergoing successful ERCP with depiction of the CBD, 15 patients (9%) underwent previous cholecystectomy and 122 patients (73%) had gallbladder stones on US and/ or CT on admission. ERCP was performed at a median of 0 days after admission (interquartile range 0-1). Time from onset of symptoms to ERCP was less than 24 hours in 43 patients (26%), between 24 and 48 hours in 99 patients (59%) and between 48 and 72 hours in 25 patients (15%). CBD stones were found during ERCP in 89/167 patients (53%). CBD stones and/or sludge was detected during ERCP in 109/167 patients (66%). Endoscopic sphincterotomy with or without stone removal was performed in 150/167 patients (90%).

The prevalence of clinical and radiological predictors and median values of bioche-

TABLE	10.2	Univariate logistic regression analysis of clinical, radiological and biochemical
		predictors for CBD stones in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis undergoing
		early ERCP

Predictor	Odds Ratio	95%-Cl	P Value	
Clinical				
Sex	0.78	0.42-1.44	0.42	
Age	1.01	0.99-1.03	0.43	
Predicted severe ABP	0.67	0.36-1.24	0.20	
Radiological				
Dilated CBD	1.38	0.71-2.68	0.34	
Impacted CBD stone	1.00	0.35-2.90	0.99	
Biochemical				
Bilirubin	1.00	0.99-1.01	0.79	
AST*	1.01	0.99-1.00	0.38	
ALT*	1.02	0.99-1.00	0.41	
GGT*	1.02	1.01-1.03	0.001	
AP*	1.03	1.00-1.05	0.028	

\* presented odds ratio is for these biochemical predictors is for every increase of 10 units

mical predictors in the study population is given in TABLE 10.1.

There were no significant differences in prevalence of CBD stones for patients without radiological or biochemical signs of cholestasis (n=51), patients with radiological and biochemical signs of cholestasis (n=87), and patients with radiological and biochemical signs of cholestasis (n=29): 43%, 58% and 59% respectively (P=0.22). There was also no significant association between timing of ERCP (i.e. time from onset of symptoms to ERCP) and the prevalence of CBD stones. The percentage of CBD stones for patients undergoing ERCP on day 0 (n=43), day 1 (n=99) or day 2 (n=25) after onset of symptoms was: 56%, 54% and 48% respectively (P=0.82).

The results of logistic regression are summarized in TABLE 10.2. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test indicated satisfactory fit (P>0.05) for all continuous variables. None of the clinical or radiological parameters were significantly associated with the presence of CBD stones. When both GGT and AP were entered as



FIGURE IO.I. Receiver operator characteristics curve for biochemical predictors of CBD stones in 167 patients undergoing early ERCP

covariates in a multivariate logistic regression model, only GGT remained a significant predictor for CBD stones: OR 1.01 (per 10 units increase); 95% CI 1.00-1.03 P=0.02). There was no significant difference in the predictive values of all biochemical and radiological parameters between patients with predicted mild and predicted severe ABP (data not shown).

We also analyzed the clinical, biochemical and radiological predictors for the presence of ampullary stones: 31/167 patients (19%) had ampullary stones during ERCP. The only predictor significantly associated with ampullary stones during ERCP was age: OR 1.03; 95% CI 1.00-1.05; P=0.036. There was no significant difference in biochemistry values and the percentage of patients with dilated CBD or impacted CBD stones on first imaging between patients with impacted ampullary

# TABLE 10.3 Discrimination and predictive values of radiological and biochemical predictors for CBD stones early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis

Predictor	Sensitivity	Specificity	Positive predictive value	Negative predictive value
Radiological				
Dilated CBD	0.34	0.73	0.59	0.49
Impacted CBD stone	0.11	0.89	0.53	0.46
Biochemical*				
Bilirubin				
cut-off > 1.6 mg/dL	0.83	0.29	0.58	0.60
cut-off > 2.6 mg/dL	0.55	0.49	0.56	0.49
cut-off > 4.2 mg/dL	0.28	0.77	0.59	0.48
AST				
cut-off > 160 U/L	0.82	0.29	0.57	0.60
cut-off > 259 U/L	0.55	0.57	0.59	0.53
cut-off > 411 U/L	0.25	0.76	0.54	0.48
ALT				
cut-off > 153 U/L	0.77	0.27	0.54	0.51
cut-off > 313 U/L	0.54	0.53	0.56	0.51
cut-off > 538 U/L	0.30	0.81	0.64	0.51
GGT				
cut-off > 252 U/L	0.85	0.36	0.60	0.67
cut-off > 433 U/L	0.60	0.59	0.63	0.56
cut-off > 704 U/L	0.32	0.84	0.69	0.52
АР				
cut-off > 114 U/L	0.81	0.27	0.56	0.56
cut-off > 168 U/L	0.61	0.59	0.62	0.57
cut-off > 291 U/L	0.31	0.81	0.64	0.51

\* Cut-off values are based on the 25th, 50th and 75th percentiles

stones and patients with free floating CBD stones during ERCP (data not shown). From the biochemical values, only GGT and AP were significantly associated with CBD stones. The ROC curves for the individual biochemical predictors for CBD stones are shown in FIGURE 10.1. The areas under the curve were as follows: bilirubin, 0.56, GGT, 0.65; AP, 0.60; AST, 0.56; ALT, 0.56. Discrimination and predictive values for all predictors, including different cut-off values for the biochemical predictors, are given in TABLE 10.3. Diagnostic value was poor for all individual predictors, including GGT and AP, despite their significant association with CBD stones in univariate logistic regression. The results were similar when combining sludge and stones in CBD as outcome measure, and when combining the individual biochemical and radiological parameters in a predictive model (data not shown).

# DISCUSSION

This study evaluated the predictive value of commonly used radiological and biochemical markers for CBD stones in patients undergoing ERCP in the earliest stages of acute biliary pancreatitis. We found that none of the investigated criteria, which included cholestatic liver biochemistry and dilated CBD on US or CT, accurately predicted the presence of CBD stones. In roughly half the patients with signs of biochemical or radiological signs of cholestasis, a CBD stone was not detected during ERCP, and vice versa.

Our findings can be explained in several ways. First, although the interval between ERCP and admission (thus the time of laboratory measurements and imaging) was generally very short, CBD stones may have spontaneously passed before ERCP could have been performed in some patients. Second, cholestatic liver biochemistry may have been caused by other factors than CBD stones in these patients with acute biliary pancreatitis, for instance local oedema from the pancreatic head due to pancreatic inflammation. Third, radiographic signs of cholestasis (i.e. a dilated CBD) and impacted CBD stones may have been inaccurately interpreted, as it has been demonstrated that abdominal US is less accurate in patients with acute pancreatitis, as compared to general patient population with gallstone disease.<sup>14,15</sup>

In contrast to our results, several other studies reported high predictive values for biochemical and radiological markers for CBD stones in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.<sup>7-9</sup> However, there are some important differences between these studies

and the current analysis. First of all, previous studies were retrospective. Moreover, our study is the first to evaluate the prediction for CBD stones very early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis in all patients. It is generally agreed upon that, if the decision to perform ERCP is taken, the procedure should be performed as soon as possible.<sup>1,4</sup> We assessed CBD stones with ERCP which was performed on admission in most patients. Conversely, other studies usually evaluated CBD stones with intra-operative cholangiography which was performed at a later stage (i.e., after 4-7 days after admission), by which time CBD stones may have spontaneously passed into the duodenum.<sup>7-9</sup> These studies reported high predictive value for biochemical and radiological markers. However, because the patients in these studies were assessed at a relatively late stage of the disease, the predictive values reported are probably only relevant for persistent CBD stones. As suggested by our findings, the commonly used radiological and biochemical markers do not reliably predict CBD stones early in the course of disease (i.e. the potential window for therapeutic ERCP). There was also no significant association between predicted severity of acute biliary pancreatitis and the presence of CBD stones. It should be noted, that even if commonly used scoring systems to predict disease severity<sup>11-13</sup> would also be accurate in predicting CBD stones, they would still be of limited value since assessment of these scores often needs longer time (i.e., 48 hours) than one wants to wait to perform early ERCP. Moreover, if predictive sores would be assessed after therapeutic ERCP, predicted severity might even be influenced by the procedure.

A theoretical shortcoming of this study is the fact that the decision to perform ERCP was left to the treating physician. This decision was without any doubt influenced by the presence of biochemical and radiological signs of cholestasis. As a result, selection bias may have occurred and therefore the *a priori* risk for CBD stones in our study population is probably greater than the risk in the general population of patients with acute biliary pancreatitis. However, the indication for ERCP varied greatly among the 15 participating centers: some centers performed ERCP in almost every patient, whereas other centers performed ERCP only in patients with concurrent cholangitis. Consequently, a considerable number of patients in our study did not have biochemical or radiological signs of cholestasis, and CBD stones were only found in half of the patients. It is therefore unlikely that patient selection explains the negative findings of this study. Notably, selection of patients with a high

*a priori risk* for CBD stones would theoretically only increase the chance the finding associations, whereas we did not find any.

A limitation of the current study was, that predicted severity was assessed based on the highest laboratory values and the worst physical examination parameters measured before ERCP. The rationale was that the procedure itself could have influenced the severity scores. Also, severity scores have generally been validated without ERCP being performed in the first 48 hours. As in our study ERCP was generally performed on the day of admission and several predictive severity scores have been validated based on the highest score in the first 48 hours of admission,<sup>1-13</sup> some patients in this study may have been incorrectly classified as predicted mild acute pancreatitis, while in fact, they would have met the criteria for predicted severe disease after 48 hours in-hospital observation. In contrast, we can be sure that patients with predicted severe pancreatitis before ERCP were correctly classified. Our findings suggest that, if the decision to perform early therapeutic ERCP in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis is to be based on the likelihood of CBD stones, other diagnostic modalities than the commonly used biochemical and radiological criteria should be considered. Alternatives could be endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) or magnetic resonance cholangiopancreaticography (MRCP). These techniques have shown good discrimination for CBD stones in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.<sup>16-20</sup> However, it is known that with MRCP small CBD stones (i.e. < 5 mm) are easily missed.<sup>21,22</sup> Moreover, as EUS and MRCP require an experienced operator and are time consuming, these techniqees may introduce delay in therapeutic ERCP, and may lead also to false positive results because CBD stones may pass spontanteously before ERCP is performed.<sup>2</sup> Although there is some evidence that EUS has a higher diagnostic accuracy for CBD stones in acute biliary pancreatitis than ERCP,<sup>20,23</sup> EUS is currently not a standard procedure early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis worldwide. In the Netherlands, EUS is currently also not performed to assess the presence of CBD stones early in the course of ABP. These modalities could therefore not be evaluated in the current study.

In conclusion, the results of the current study suggest that commonly used biochemical and radiological predictors for CBD stones are unreliable in the earliest stages of acute biliary pancreatitis.

#### REFERENCES

- Forsmark CE, Baillie J, AGA Institute Clinical Practice and Economics Committee, et al. AGA Institute technical review on acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-2044
- Acosta JM, Ledesma CL. Gallstone migration as a cause of acute pancreatitis.
   N Engl J Med 1974; 290:484-487
- Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400
- 4 UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 2005; 54 Suppl 3:iii1-iii9
- 5 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, De Vries AC, Boermeester MA, Fischer K, Bollen TL et al. Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis: a prospective multicenter study. Ann Surg 2009; 250:68-75
- 6 Abboud PA, Malet PF, Berlin JA, Staroscik R, Cabana MD, Clarke JR et al. Predictors of common bile duct stones prior to cholecystectomy: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 1996; 44:450-455
- 7 Chang L, Lo SK, Stabile BE, Lewis RJ, de Virgilio C. Gallstone pancreatitis: a prospective study on the incidence of cholangitis and clinical predictors of retained common bile duct stones.

Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93:527-531

- 8 Cohen ME, Slezak L, Wells CK, Andersen DK, Tropazian M. Prediction of bile duct stones and complications in gallstone pancreatitis using early laboratory trends. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96:3305-3311
- 9 Chan T, Yaghoubian A, Rosing D, Lee E, Lewis RJ, Stabile BE, De Virgilio C.
   Total bilirubin is a useful predictor of persisting common bile duct stone in gallstone pancreatitis. Am Surg 2008; 74:977-980
- 10 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Buskens E et al. Probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2008; 371:651-659.
- Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP, et al. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 1985; 13: 818-829
- Blamey SL, Imrie CW, O'Neill J, et al. Prognostic factors in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1984; 25:1340-1346
- 13 Werner J, Hartwig W, Uhl W, et al. Useful markers for predicting severity and Monitoring progression of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003; 3:115-127
- 14 Goodman A, Neoptolemos J, Carr-Locke D, et al. Detection of gallstones after acute pancreatitis. Gut 1985; 26:125-132
- 15 Neoptolemos J, Hall A, Finlay D, et al. The urgent diagnosis of gallstones in acute pancreatitis: a prospective study of three methods. Br J Surg 1984; 71:230-233

- Chak A, Hawes R, Cooper GS, et al.
   Prospective assessment of the utility of EUS in the evaluation of gallstone pancreatitis.
   Gastrointest Endosc 1999; 49:599-604
- Prat F, Edery J, Meduri B, et al. Early EUS of the bile duct before endoscopic sphincterotomy for acute biliary pancreatitis.
   Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 54:724-729
- 18 Makary MA, Duncan MD, Harmon JW, et al. The role of magnetic resonance cholangiography in the management of patients with gallstone pancreatitis. Ann Surg 2005; 41:119-124
- 19 Moon JH, Cho YD, Cha SW, et al. The detection of bile duct stones in suspected biliary pancreatitis: comparison of MRCP, ERCP, and intraductal US. Am J Gastroenterol 2005; 100:1051-1057
- 20 Liu CL, Fan ST, Lo CM, et al. Comparison of early endoscopic ultrasonography and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the management of acute biliary pancreatitis: a prospective randomized study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 3:1238-1244
- 21 Jendresen MB, Thorboll JE, Adamsen S, Nielsen H, Gronvall D, Hart-Hansen O.
   Preoperative routine magnetic resonance cholangiopancreaticography before laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective study.
   Eur J Surg 2002; 168:690-694

- 22 Kondo S, Isayama H, Akahane M et al. Detection of common bile duct stones: comparison between endoscopic ultrasonography, magnetic resonance cholangiography, and helical-computedtomographic cholangiopgraphy. Eur J Radiol 2005; 54:271-275
- 23 Liu CL, Lo CM, Chan JK et al. Detection of choledocholithiasis by EUS in acute pancreatitis: a prospective evaluation in 100 consecutive patients. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 54:325-30

Maxim S Petrov,<sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>2</sup> Marc GH Besselink,<sup>2</sup> Geert JM van der Heijden,<sup>3</sup> Karel J van Erpecum,<sup>4</sup> and Hein G Gooszen<sup>2</sup>

# AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Nizhny Novgorod State Medical Academy, Nizhny Novgorod, Russia,
<sup>2</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands, <sup>3</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands, <sup>4</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands.

# РА К С Н А Р Т Е К I I I 11

Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography versus conservative managment in acute biliary pancreatitis without cholangitis: a meta-analysis of randomised trials

> Published in: Annals of Surgery 2008

## ABSTRACT

## BACKGROUND

Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) should be performed in all patients with acute biliary pancreatitis (ABP) and co-existing acute cholangitis. In patients without cholangitis and predicted mild ABP it is generally accepted that early ERCP should not be performed. Nevertheless, there is a controversy regarding the role of early ERCP in the treatment of patients with predicted severe ABP without cholangitis. We reviewed randomised trials on early ERCP versus conservative management in patients with ABP without acute cholangitis.

## METHODS

Relevant publications in 3 electronic databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials) were systematically reviewed and meta-analysed.

# RESULTS

Seven randomised trials on ERCP in acute pancreatitis were found, of which 3 including a total of 450 patients (230 in the ERCP arm and 220 in the control arm) qualified for a meta-analysis according to predefined criteria. In all patients with ABP (predicted mild and severe), early ERCP was associated with a non-significant reduction in overall complications (risk ratio [RR], 0.76; 95% confidence interval (CI), 0.41-1.40; P=0.38) and a non-significant increase in mortality (RR 1.13, 95% CI 0.23-5.63, P=0.88). Subgroup analysis based on predicted severity did not affect these outcomes (overall complications: predicted mild: RR 0.86; 95% CI 0.62-1.19; P=0.36; predicted severe: RR 0.82; 95% CI 0.32-2.10; P=0.68; mortality: predicted mild: RR 1.90; 95% CI 0.25-14.55, P=0.53; predicted severe: RR 1.28; 95% CI 0.20-8.06; P=0.80).

# CONCLUSION

In this meta-analysis, early ERCP in patients with predicted mild and predicted severe ABP without acute cholangitis did not lead to a significant reduction in the risk of overall complications and mortality.

## INTRODUCTION

Acute biliary pancreatitis (ABP) is the most frequent form of acute pancreatitis in Western countries.<sup>1,2</sup> There are 2 mechanisms generally accepted regarding the pathogenesis of ABP: reflux of bile into the pancreatic duct and transient ampullary obstruction caused by sludge or an impacted stone in the ampulla.<sup>3,4</sup> Patients with small gallstones and sludge are particularly at risk for acute pancreatitis.<sup>5</sup> By early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) and endoscopic sphincterotomy (ES) bile-duct stones and sludge can be removed, and obstruction released with potentially improved outcome. Nevertheless, despite technical improvements shown in recent years and an increased experience of endoscopists, there is a documented risk of procedure-related complications.<sup>6-8</sup> In addition, it is well recognized that most small gallstones pass spontaneously without causing further harm.<sup>4,9</sup> Indisputable benefits of endoscopic biliary drainage in patients with acute cholangitis have been stressed in the recent Tokyo Guidelines.<sup>10</sup> It is generally accepted that patients with predicted mild ABP without signs of acute cholangitis do not benefit from early ERCP.<sup>1</sup> Controversy persists, however, whether patients with predicted severe ABP in absence of acute cholangitis should undergo early ERCP.<sup>11-13</sup> The 2005 UK guidelines on acute pancreatitis state that all patients with predicted severe ABP (irrespective of the presence of acute cholangitis) should undergo early ERCP,14 whereas the recent guidelines of the American College of Gastroenterology recommend that early ERCP is performed only in patients with acute cholangitis and severe acute pancreatitis (organ failure).1 The 2007 guidelines of the American Gastroenterology Association state that early ERCP in patients with predicted severe ABP without signs of acute cholangitis is controversial and the available data are not uniform in support of this practice.<sup>15</sup> Indeed, several randomised controlled trials (RCTs) that compared early ERCP, with or without ES, to conservative treatment with selective ERCP, with or without ES, have shown conflicting results.<sup>16-19</sup> The first meta-analysis on this subject did not provide a definite answer.<sup>20</sup> The second meta-analysis aimed to control for a possible modifying effect of acute cholangitis and showed that early ERCP decreased complications in all patients with predicted severe ABP, regardless of the presence of cholangitis.<sup>21</sup> However, this meta-analysis included a RCT in which 35% of patients suffered from acute pancreatitis of a nonbiliary cause.<sup>17</sup> Finally, 1 new RCT has been published since that

time.<sup>19</sup> Therefore, the present meta-analysis aims to compare early ERCP, with or without ES, with conservative management in patients with ABP without signs of cholangitis. A predefined subgroup analysis on patients with predicted severe and predicted mild ABP will be performed.

# METHODS

SEARCH STRATEGY AND SELECTION CRITERIA

A systematic literature search with predefined search terms was carried out in the MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Cochrane databases for articles published until March 1, 2007 (FIGURE II.I). All identified articles and review articles were screened for cross-references of articles that included information on ERCP in acute pancreatitis. Language restrictions were not applied. The title and abstract of all identified articles were screened for the following inclusion criteria:

- 1. Study population: patients with ABP without signs of acute cholangitis. Acute cholangitis should be either an exclusion criterion or separate data on patients without acute cholangitis should be presented.
- 2. Intervention: early ERCP (i.e., within 72 hours after admission) with or without ES.
- 3. Comparison: conservative treatment with selective ERCP with or without ES.
- 4. Study outcomes: mortality and overall complications.

5. Study design: participants were assigned to either ERCP or comparator by random allocation.

# DATA EXTRACTION AND QUALITY ASSESSMENT

Titles and abstracts of all retrieved records and subsequently full-text articles were examined independently by 2 authors (MSP, HCvS) to identify trials that satisfied the inclusion criteria. Discrepancies in selection were resolved by discussion between the authors of this meta- analysis. The Jadad scale was used to grade the methodological quality of the trials included.<sup>22</sup> This scale consists of 3 items regarding: 1. random allocation, 2. masking of patients, 3. dropouts and withdrawals. The quality scale ranges from 0 to 5 points, with 2 or less indicating low quality and 3 or higher indicating high quality. In addition, 3 other criteria were applied regarding: 4. allocation concealment (yes or no), 5. blinding of end point assessment (yes or no,



FIGURE II.I. Flow chart illustrating the details of the search and study selection process

irrespective of blinding of treatment for patient and physician), and **6**. missing data (at least 90% of the data reported). Data with regard to the reported group size, baseline characteristics, and numbers of events for each end point were extracted and documented independently by 2 authors (MSP, HCvS).

# STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The data analysis was performed with the meta-analysis software Comprehensive Meta-Analysis (Borenstein M, Hedges L, Higgins J, Rothstein H. Comprehensive Metaanalysis Version 2, Biostat, Englewood, NJ, 2005). From the pooled data, the risk ratio (RR) and risk difference (RD) with the 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated for the following end points: mortality and overall complications. The Mantel-Haenszel method was used for the pooled analysis of included trials. When no events were observed in both treatment groups of a particular trial, we added an

TABLE II.I. Su	mmary of stu	dy characte	sristics for the inclu	uded trials					
	Number of pa	tients				Predicted S	evere AP		
study	Intervention group	Control group	Time to ERCP	Definition of cholangitis	Criteria Predicted Severe ABP	Intervention group (%)	Control group (%)	Criteria of ABP	
Neoptolemos et al. <sup>24</sup>	53	57 <	-72 h of admission	Not stated	Glasgow ≥3	20 (38)	25 (44)	Gallstones on US or chole abnormalities	static laboratory
Fölsch et al. <sup>23</sup>	26	112 <	×72 h of onset ⋅5 mg/dl	Bilirubin	Glasgow ≥3	26 (23) <sup>b</sup>	20 (18) <sup>b</sup>	Gallstones on US or CT or laboratory abnormalities	cholestatic
		<u> </u>	90 µ mol/L) <sup>a</sup>						
Oria et al. <sup>19</sup>	51	51 <	:48 h of onset	Charcot's triad	APACHE-II ≥6	17 (33)	21 (41)	Gallstones on US or CT	
Total	230	- 220		I		63 (27)	66 (30)		
a= Twelve patients ha b= Patients were assig ERCP indicates endosc	d serum bilirubii jned severity sco opic retrograde (	n concentratic ore post hoc. cholangiopan	ons higher 5 mg/dL (9 creatography; ABP, acu <sup>-</sup>	0 μ mol/L) but weri te biliary pancreatiti	e analysed on an is; US, ultrasound;	intention-to-trea : CT, computed to	at basis. omography.		
TABLE II.2. Qu	ıality assessm	ent of trial:	s included in the m	ieta-analysis					
Study	Primary endpoint	Double blinding	Randomization	Withdrawals <sup>a</sup>	Jadad score	Allocation concealment		Blinded endpoint assessment	Missing data <sup>a</sup>
Neoptolemos et al. <sup>24</sup>	Mortality	No	Not stated	6/4	2	Unclear		No	0/0
Fölsch et al. <sup>23</sup>	Mortality	No	Not stated	0/0	2	Unclear		Yes	16/16 <sup>b</sup>
Oria et al. <sup>19</sup>	Organ failure	No	Sealed envelope	0/1	ſ	Potentially m	anipulable	No	0/0

a= Early ERCP group/conservative treatment group. b= Patients with undefined severity.

.tudy Veoptolemos et al. <sup>24</sup>	Setting UK Germany Argentina i acute cholangitis ed severe groups:	Centres 1	Intervention a		Control group (	(%)	Intervention grou 55 (20-86)/74	up Contrc	
Veoptolemos et al. <sup>24</sup>	UK Germany Argentina i acute cholangitis ed severe groups.	-	n	roup (%)	•		55 (20-86)/ 74		ol group
	Germany Argentina I acute cholangitis ed severe groups.		34 (58) <sup>a</sup>		35 (56) <sup>a</sup>			67.5 (	(30-87)/ 76.5
	Germany Argentina I acute cholangitis ed severe groups.						(38-85) <sup>a,b,c</sup>	(37-96	6) <sup>a,b,c</sup>
ölsch et al. <sup>23</sup>	Argentina acute cholangitis. ed severe groups.	22	66 (52)		76 (68)		63 (24-90) <sup>c</sup>	63 (15	5-93) <sup>c</sup>
ria et al. <sup>19</sup>	acute cholangitis. ed severe groups.	-	35 (69)		38 (75)		49.9 ± 17.4 <sup>d</sup>	44 ± 7	17.7 <sup>d</sup>
<ul> <li>Including patients with</li> <li>Predicted mild/predict</li> <li>Values are median (ran</li> <li>Values are mean ± 50.</li> </ul>	ige).								
		Relative risk (95% confide	nce intervals)	P value	Risk d (95%	lifference Confidence	intervals)	P value	
verall complications									
Predicted mild and sev	ere ABP	0.76 (0.41-1	.40)	0.38	-0.08	(-0.22-0.07		0.29	
Predicted mild ABP		0.86 (0.62-1	.19)	0.36	-0.05	(-0.13-0.04	(1	0.32	
Predicted severe ABP		0.82 (0.32-2	.10)	0.68	-0.09	(-0.49-0.30	(	0.64	
lortality									
Predicted mild and sev	ere ABP	1.13 (0.23-5	5.63)	0.88	0.001	(-0.08-0.0	(	0.97	
Predicted mild ABP		1.90 (0.25-1	4.55)	0.53	0.01	(-0.02-0.07	(	0.40	
Predicted severe ABP		1.28 (0.20-8	3.06)	0.80	0.01	(-0.22-0.24	(1	0.91	

event fraction (0.001) to the ERCP group to allow inclusion of such trials in the pooled data analysis. Funnel plots were created to explore possible biases (i.e., reporting, publication and reviewer bias).

# RESULTS

The literature search yielded 197 publications. The details of the literature search and selection of studies are shown in FIGURE 11.1. Seven potentially eligible RCTs on ERCP in acute pancreatitis were identified and 4 studies were excluded. The first excluded trial<sup>17</sup> studied all patients with acute pancreatitis, irrespective of the cause, instead of only ABP. Moreover, neither patients with acute cholangitis were excluded nor was data for this subgroup presented separately. Patients in the second excluded RCT<sup>23</sup> were randomised to early ERCP, with or without ES, only in the case of persisting ampullary obstruction (based on clinical, biochemical, and imaging criteria) during more than 24 hours. Consequently, ERCP was performed only in 47% of patients in the intervention arm. The third excluded RCT<sup>24</sup> aimed to study exclusively patients with severe nonbiliary pancreatitis. The fourth trial<sup>25</sup> was excluded because patients undergoing duodenoscopy for suspected ABP were subsequently randomised to ES or no ES (i.e., a RCT with different intervention and comparison than the current meta-analysis). Moreover, the last 2 studies<sup>24,25</sup> were only published in abstract form. In the 3 RCTs satisfying the inclusion criteria, patients with acute cholangitis were either excluded specifically,<sup>18,19</sup> or outcome of patients without acute cholangitis was presented separately.<sup>16</sup> With funnel plots publication bias for the different outcomes could not be detected (data not shown). The study characteristics for the 3 trials, including their definition of acute cholangitis, are shown in TABLE 11.1. A total of 450 patients were included: 230 were allocated to early ERCP with or without ES; 220 were allocated to conservative treatment with elective ERCP with or without ES. In the early ERCP groups of the 3 trials altogether, ERCP was successful in 214 of 230 patients (93%). In these 214 patients, ES was performed in 114 patients (53%) and a common bile duct stones were removed in 111 patients (52%). ERCP procedure- related complications occurred in 5 patients (2%). In the conservative treatment groups of the 3 trials altogether, 33 of the 220 patients (15%) underwent ERCP, of which 30 (91%) were successful. In addition, 14 patients underwent ES (47%), common bile duct stones were

removed in 33 patients (43%), and ERCP procedure-related complications did not OCCUR. Two of 3 RCTs had a Jadad quality score<sup>22</sup> grade 2 (TABLE 11.2). The demographic data of patients are summarized in TABLE 11.3. Complications and mortality were reported in all 3 trials. The results of the meta-analysis of the included trials for complications and mortality are presented in TABLE 11.4. Early ERCP reduced the risk for overall complications (pooled RR for all ABP patients: 0.76; 95% CI 0.41-1.40) (FIGURE 11.2) while it increased the risk of mortality (pooled RR for all ABP patients: 1.13; 95% CI 0.23-5.63) (FIGURE 11.3). These results did, however, not reach statistical significance. Because of the low absolute risks for mortality and complications, these RRs translate in a very small reduction in the absolute risk for complications (pooled RD for all ABP patients: -0.08; 95% CI -0.22 to 0.07) and a very small increase in the absolute risk for mortality (pooled RD for all ABP patients 0.001; 95% CI -0.08 to 0.09) (TABLE 11.4). These results did, however, not reach statistical significance. Based on the reported data the meta-analysis was stratified for predicted severe and predicted mild ABP. For this analysis additional unpublished data were provided by Oria et al.<sup>19</sup> It should be noted that Fölsch et al.<sup>18</sup> failed to report the disease severity for 32 patients due to post hoc classification of their data. Consequently, the data on these 32 patients could not be analysed. The stratification for severity did not result in significant differences for the risk of complications (FIGURES 11.4, 11.5) and mortality (FIGURES 11.6, 11.7) between the ERCP group and the conservative treatment group in both patients with predicted mild and predicted severe ABP.

### DISCUSSION

In this meta-analysis of RCTs comparing early ERCP, with or without ES, with conservative treatment in patients with ABP without signs of acute cholangitis, no beneficial effect of early ERCP on mortality and overall complications was observed both in patients with predicted mild and patients with predicted severe ABP. These results suggest that early ERCP in patients with ABP without coexisting cholangitis is an unnecessary invasive procedure. Notably, in the included RCTs, only about half the patients that underwent a successful ERCP were found to have common bile duct stones. This finding is in accordance with the recent study by Acosta et al.,<sup>23</sup> in which 62% of patients with ABP and ampullary obstruction (defi-

Study name	Subgroup	Outcome	Events/To	otal	MH r	isk ratio a	and 95%	CI	
Neoptolemos <sup>-</sup> ölsch Dria	all all all	complications complications complications	Early ERCP 6/53 58/126 11/51	Conservative 19/57 57/112 9/51		-			
					0,01	0,1	1	10	100

Random effects model: Effect of early ERCP on complications (all patients)

FIGURE 11.2. Forest plot for overall complications associated with early ERCP with or without ES compared with conservative management in all patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.

Random effects model: Effect of early ERCP on mortality (all patients)



FIGURE 11.3. Forest plot for mortality associated with early ERCP with or without ES compared with conservative management in all patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.

Random effects model: Effect of early ERCP on complications (predicted mild patients)

Study name	Subgroup	Outcome	Events/T	otal	MH r	isk ratio	and 95%	CI	
Neoptolemos Fölsch Oria	mild mild mild	complications complications complications	Early ERCP 3/33 35/84 3/34	Conservative 4/32 36/76 4/30		-			
					0,01	0,1	1	10	100

FIGURE 11.4. Forest plot for overall complications associated with early ERCP with or without ES compared with conservative management in patients with predicted mild acute biliary pancreatitis.

Study name	Subgroup	Outcome	Events/T	otal	MH r	isk ratio a	and 95%	CI		
Neoptolemos Fölsch Oria	severe severe	complications complications complications	Early ERCP 3/20 17/26 8/17	Conservative 15/25 14/20 5/21	0,01 Favou	0,1	1 CCP Favo	-   10 urs Conse	100 rvative	

#### Random effects model: Effect of early ERCP on complications (predicted severe patients)

FIGURE II.5. Forest plot for overall complications associated with early ERCP with or without ES compared with conservative management in patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis.

Random effects model: Effect of early ERCP on mortality (predicted mild patients)



FIGURE 11.6. Forest plot for mortality associated with early ERCP with or without ES compared with conservative management in patients with predicted mild acute biliary pancreatitis.

Study name	Subgroup	Outcome	Events/T	otal	MH ri	sk ratio a	ind 95%	CI	
Neoptolemos Fölsch Oria	severe severe severe	death death death	Early ERCP 3/20 17/26 8/17	Conservative 15/25 14/20 5/21	<del>(</del>		++++		-
					0,01	0,1	1	10	100

Random effects model: Effect of early ERCP on mortality (predicted severe patients)

FIGURE 11.7. Forest plot for mortality associated with early ERCP with or without ES compared with conservative management in patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis.

ned in this study as severe and continuous epigastric pain, bilefree gastric aspirate, and elevated serum bilirubin level) showed spontaneous relief of obstruction within 48 hours from the onset of symptoms. In the RCTs included in this meta-analysis, ES was performed only when common bile duct stones were visualised during ERCP. In daily clinical practice, however, ES is often also performed in the absence of common bile duct stones because of a potential falsenegative ERCP in case of sludge, microlithiasis or missed common bile duct stones. The design of an optimal strategy in biliary pancreatitis is frustrated by a low sensitivity of pre-ERCP diagnostic tools to confirm the presence of common bile duct stones. To increase on this sensitivity several studies with new imaging modalities have been performed. Magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) and endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) have been proposed as minimal invasive diagnostic techniques to identify common bile duct stones, to further reduce the number of unnecessary ERCPs.<sup>26-30</sup> A recent RCT comparing EUS (with selective ERCP and ES in case of common bile duct stones) with ERCP and selective ES in 140 patients with ABP showed a higher success rate for examination rate of the biliary tree with a comparable morbidity and mortality risk in patients undergoing EUS with selective ERCP.<sup>31</sup> On the other hand, MRCP is known to miss small gallstones (<6 mm),<sup>32</sup> while these are associated with the risk for acute pancreatitis.<sup>5</sup> Moreover, both MRCP and EUS are not yet widely available and because experience is scant, EUS may be technically difficult to perform in the early stage of ABP. In the interpretation of the present meta-analysis the following aspects deserve attention. Firstly, the methodological quality of the included trials was relatively low (i.e., Jadad score<sup>22</sup> below 3 for 2 of the 3 included trials). However, these data are still the best available. Secondly, the included trials used different definitions with respect to acute cholangitis, and included different subgroups of patients with ABP (TABLE 11.1). Neoptolemos et al.<sup>16</sup> included all patients with ABP and presented separate data on patients without acute cholangitis. Oria et al.<sup>19</sup> included only patients with ABP and clinical evidence of biliopancreatic obstruction without acute cholangitis. Fölsch et al.<sup>18</sup> excluded all patients with a bilirubin >5 mg per deciliter (90  $\mu$  mol per liter), thereby expelling a proportion of patients with acute cholangitis, but also likely excluding some patients with biliopancreatic obstruction without acute cholangitis. Furthermore, the incidence of cholestasis varied among the 3 included RCTs as a

consequence of the different eligibility criteria of these trials. Although focus has historically been on acute cholangitis rather than cholestasis (without cholangitis), the presence of cholestasis alone might also be of influence on the clinical impact of early ERCP. Thirdly, the 3 studies used different definitions for 'early' ERCP. Neoptolemos et al.<sup>16</sup> considered early ERCP as within 72 hours after admission, regardless of duration of symptoms at time of admission. The 2 other trials<sup>18,19</sup> defined early as within 48 to 72 hours after onset of symptoms. Fourthly, there was considerable variation among the 3 trials in the definition of 'overall complications' as outcome (e.g., gallbladder empyema, recurrent pancreatitis, respiratory insufficiency, ascites, lumbar osteitis, infected pancreatic necrosis). As a likely result of this variation, the incidence of complications in the patients treated conservatively varied from 19%<sup>19</sup> to 51%.<sup>18</sup> The above mentioned differences in patient populations and definitions on intervention and outcome might explain the different outcomes of various trials.

Fifthly, based on the individual findings of the performed RCTs<sup>16-19</sup> and previous meta-analyses,<sup>20,21</sup> the role of early ERCP is most controversial in the subgroup of patients suffering from a predicted severe attack of ABP without signs of acute cholangitis. Although in the current meta-analysis patients with predicted severe ABP did not benefit from early ERCP, it should be noted that the number of patients with predicted severe APB included was relatively small (n=129). Moreover, the accuracy of current clinical scores for predicting severity is known to be quite poor. Oria et al.<sup>19</sup> used quite a low cutoff level (APACHE II >6) for "predicted severe" ABP. As a result, few patients identified as predicted severe eventually did suffer from clinically severe pancreatitis, as shown by low rates of organ failure and limited pancreatic necrosis (a low computed tomography severity index).<sup>19</sup> Fölsch et al.<sup>18</sup> defined severity post hoc which resulted in a failure to define severity in 13% of randomised patients. Finally, the results of this meta-analysis conflict with those of a previous Cochrane meta-analysis,21 which, unlike this study, included the trial by Fan et al.17 We excluded the trial of Fan et al. because this study included patients with a nonbiliary cause of acute pancreatitis and included patients with acute cholangitis, without presenting separate data for patients without acute cholangitis. However, when we provisionally included trial by Fan et al. in the calculations, the pooled estimates of this meta-analysis did not change (data not shown). In conclusion, the present meta-analysis does not demonstrate a beneficial effect of early ERCP, with or without ES, in both patients with predicted mild and severe ABP without cholangitis. There is, however, a lack of data on the subgroup of patients with predicted severe ABP. Therefore, a new adequately powered RCT in this setting may be justified. In the future study, patients with acute cholangitis should be excluded, timing after onset of the disease should be clearly defined, and stratification for the presence or absence of cholestasis (biochemical and radiological) seems appropriate.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Prof. Acosta and Prof. Berne (University of Southern California, Keck School of Medicine, Los Angeles) as well as Prof. Oria and Dr. Ocampo (Cosme Argerich Hospital, University of Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina) for providing additional data on their trials.

#### REFERENCES

- Banks PA, Freeman ML; the Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 2 Yadav D, Lowenfels AB. Trends in the epidemiology of the first attack of acute pancreatitis. A systematic review. Pancreas. 2006; 33:323-330.
- 3 Frakes JT. Biliary pancreatitis: a review. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1999; 28:97-109.
- Acosta JM, Ledesma CL. Gallstone migration as a cause of acute pancreatitis.
   N Engl J Med. 1974; 290:484-487.
- 5 Venneman NG, Buskens E, Besselink MG, et al. Small gallstones are associated with increased risk of acute pancreatitis: Potential benefits of prophylactic cholecystectomy? Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:2540-2550.
- Freeman ML, Nelson DB, Sherman S, et al.
   Complications of endoscopic biliary sphincterotomy.
   N Engl J Med. 1996;335:909-918.
- 7 Mehta SN, Pavone E, Barkun JS, et al. Predictors of post-ERCP complications in patients with suspected choledocholithiasis. Endoscopy. 1998; 30:457-463.
- 8 Loperfido S, Angelini G, Benedetti G, et al. Major early complications from diagnostic and therapeutic ERCP: a prospective multicenter study. Gastrointest Endosc. 1998; 48:1-10.

- 9 Oria A, Alvarez J, Chiappetta L, et al.
   Choledocholithiasis in acute gallstone pancreatitis: incidence and clinical significance.
   Arch Surg. 1991; 126:566 -568.
- Nagino M, Takada T, Kawarada Y, et al.
   Methods and timing of biliary drainage for acute cholangitis: Tokyo Guidelines.
   J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2007; 14:68-77.
- 11 Steinberg WM, Neoptolemos JP, Fölsch UR, et al. Controversies in clinical pancreatology. The management of severe gallstone pancreatitis. Pancreas. 2001; 22:221-229.
- Nitsche R, Fölsch UR. Role of ERCP and endoscopic sphincterotomy in acute pancreatitis. Baillière's Clin Gastroenterol. 1999; 13:331-334.
- Mergener K, Baillie J. Endoscopic treatment for acute biliary pancreatitis. When and in whom? Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 1999; 28:601-613.
- 14 Working Party of the British Society of Gastroenterology, Association of Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland, Pancreatic Society of Great Britain and Ireland, Association of Upper GI Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland. UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut. 2005; 54(Suppl 3):1-9.
- 15 Forsmark CE, Baillie J; AGA Institute Clinical Practice and Economics Committee; AGA Institute Governing Board. AGA Institute technical review on acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology. 2007; 132:2022-2044.

- 16 Neoptolemos JP, Carr-Locke DL, London NJ, et al. Controlled trial of urgent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy versus conservative treatment for acute pancreatitis due to gallstones. Lancet. 1988; 2:979-983.
- 17 Fan ST, Lai EC, Mok FP, et al. Early treatment of acute biliary ancreatitis by endoscopic papillotomy. N Engl J Med. 1993; 328:228-232.
- 18 Fölsch UR, Nitsche R, Lüdtke R, et al. Early ERCP and papillotomy compared with conservative treatment for acute biliary pancreatitis. N Engl J Med. 1997; 336:37-42.
- 19 Oria A, Cimmino D, Ocampo C, et al. Early endoscopic intervention versus early conservative management in patients with acute gallstone pancreatitis and biliopancreatic obstruction. Ann Surg. 2007; 245:10-17.
- 20 Sharma V, Howden C. Meta analysis of randomised controlled trials of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy for the treatment of acute biliary pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999; 94: 3211-3214.
- 21 Ayub K, Imada R, Slavin J. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in gallstone-associated acute pancreatitis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2004; 3:CD003630.
- 22 Jadad AR, Moore RA, Carroll D, et al. Assessing the quality of reports of randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary? Control Clin Trials. 1996; 17:1-12.

- Acosta JM, Katkhouda N, Debian KA, et al.
   Early ductal decompression versus conservative management for gallstone pancreatitis with ampullary bstruction: a prospective randomized clinical trial. Ann Surg. 2006; 243:33-40.
- 24 Leser HG, Gross V, Heinisch A, Schulmerich J. Frühpapillotomie bei schwerer akuter Pankreatitis ohne Choledocholithiasis: Ergebnisse einer Multicenter-Studie. Zeitschrift für Gastroenterologie. 1993; 31:544.
- 25 Nowak A, Nowakowska-Dulawa E, Marek TA, et al. Final results of the prospective, randomized, controlled study on endoscopic sphincterotomy versus conventional management in acute biliary pancreatitis. Gastroenterology. 1995; 108:A380..
- 26 Sica GT, Braver J, Cooney MJ, et al. Comparison of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography with MR cholangiopancreatography in patients with pancreatitis. Radiology. 1999; 210:605-610.
- 27 Makary MA, Duncan MD, Harmon JW, et al. The role of magnetic resonance cholangiography in the management of patients with gallstone pancreatitis. Ann Surg. 2005; 41:119-124.
- 28 Frossard JL, Sosa-Valencia L, Amouyal G, et al. Usefulness of endoscopic ultrasonography in patients with 'idiopathic' acute pancreatitis. Am J Med. 2000; 109:196-200.
- 29 Chak A, Hawes R, Cooper GS, et al. Prospective assessment of the utility of EUS in the evaluation of gallstone pancreatitis. Gastrointest Endosc. 1999; 49:599-604.

- Kinney TP, Lai R, Freeman ML. Endoscopic approach to acute pancreatitis.
   Rev Gastroenterol Disord. 2006; 6:119-135.
- 31 Liu CL, Fan ST, Lo CM, et al. Comparison of early endoscopic ultrasonography and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in the management of acute biliary pancreatitis: a prospective randomized study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;3:1238-1244.
- 32 Moon JH, Cho YD, Cha SW, et al. The detection of bile duct stones in suspected biliary pancreatitis: comparison of MRCP, ERCP, and intraductal US.

Am J Gastroenterol. 2005; 100:1051-1057.

Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Annemarie C de Vries,<sup>2</sup> Marja A Boermeester,<sup>3</sup> Kathelijn Fischer,<sup>4</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>5</sup> Geert A Cirkel,<sup>1</sup> Alexander F Schaapherder,<sup>6</sup> Vincent B Nieuwenhuijs,<sup>7</sup> Harry van Goor,<sup>8</sup> Cees H Dejong,<sup>9</sup> Casper H van Eijck,<sup>10</sup>

Ben J Witteman,<sup>11</sup> Bas L Weusten,<sup>12</sup> Cees J van Laarhoven,<sup>13</sup> Peter J Wahab,<sup>14</sup> Adriaan C Tan,<sup>15</sup> Matthijs P Schwartz,<sup>16</sup> Erwin van der Harst,<sup>17</sup> Miguel A Cuesta,<sup>18</sup> Peter D Siersema,<sup>19</sup> Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> Karel J van Erpecum,<sup>19</sup>

for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

#### AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Amsterdam Medical Center, <sup>4</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, <sup>5</sup>Dept. of Radiology, St.Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, <sup>6</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Leiden University Medical Center, <sup>7</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Groningen, <sup>8</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, 9Dept. of Surgery and NUTRIM, Maastricht University Medical Center, <sup>10</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, <sup>11</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Gelderse Vallei Hospital, Ede, <sup>12</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, St. Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, <sup>13</sup>Dept. of Surgery, St. Elisabeth Hospital, Tilburg, <sup>14</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Rijnstate Hospital, Arnhem, <sup>15</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Canisius Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, <sup>16</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, Meander Medical Center, Amersfoort, <sup>17</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Medical Center Rijnmond Zuid, Rotterdam, <sup>10</sup>Dept. <sup></sup>

<sup>18</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Vrije Universiteit Medical Center, Amsterdam, <sup>19</sup>Dept. of Gastroenterology, University Medical Center Utrecht, The Netherlands.

# РА РТЕ В С НА РТЕ В III 12

Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis: a prospective multicentre study

> Published in: Annals of Surgery 2009

# ABSTRACT

#### BACKGROUND

The role of early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) in acute biliary pancreatitis (ABP) remains controversial. Previous studies have included only relatively small number of patients with predicted severe ABP. We investigated the clinical effects of early ERCP in these patients.

## METHODS

We performed a prospective, observational multicentre study in 8 university medical centres and 7 major teaching hospitals. 153 patients with predicted severe ABP without cholangitis enrolled in a randomised multicentre trial on probiotic prophylaxis in acute pancreatitis were prospectively followed. Conservative treatment or ERCP within 72 hours after symptom onset (at discretion of the treating physician) were compared for complications and mortality. Patients without and with cholestasis (bilirubin >2.3 mg/dL and/or dilated common bile duct) were analysed separately.

## RESULTS

81/153 patients (53%) underwent ERCP and 72/153 patients (47%) conservative treatment. Groups were highly comparable at baseline. 78 patients (51%) had cholestasis. In patients with cholestasis, ERCP (52/78 patients: 67%), as compared with conservative treatment, was associated with fewer complications (25% vs. 54%, P=0.020, multivariate adjusted odds ratio [OR], 0.35; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.13-0.99; P=0.049). This included fewer patients with >30% pancreatic necrosis (8% vs. 31%, P=0.010). Mortality was nonsignificantly lower after ERCP (6% vs. 15%, P=0.213, multivariate adjusted OR 0.44; 95% CI 0.08-2.28; P=0.330). In patients without cholestasis, ERCP (29/75 patients: 39%) was not associated with reduced complications (45% vs. 41%, P=0.814, multivariate adjusted OR, 1.36; 95% CI 0.49-3.76; P=0.554) or mortality (14% vs. 17%, P=0.754, multivariate adjusted OR 0.78; 95% CI 0.19-3.12; P=0.734).

# CONCLUSIONS

Early ERCP is associated with fewer complications in predicted severe ABP if cholestasis is present.

# INTRODUCTION

Acute biliary pancreatitis (ABP) is the most common form of acute pancreatitis in the western world.<sup>1,2</sup> It is believed that stones and sludge in the bile duct cause (ampullary) obstruction with subsequent inflammation of the pancreas.<sup>3</sup> In approximately 80% of patients, the disease runs a mild clinical course, whereas in 20% of patients a severe clinical course occurs. The latter is associated with various complications such as pancreatic necrosis, multi-organ failure, and high mortality (up to 30%).46 Theoretically, early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) may prevent complications in ABP through decompression of the common bile duct (CBD) by removal of gallstones and/or sludge and subsequent sphincterotomy. Therefore, in the last 20 years, several randomised controlled trials (RCTs) have investigated the clinical effect of early ERCP in ABP.7-10 From these studies it is generally concluded that patients with ABP and concurrent cholangitis should undergo early ERCP, and that patients with predicted mild ABP without cholangitis should not.<sup>1,5</sup> The role of early ERCP in patients with predicted severe ABP, however, remains controversial. While the 2005 UK guidelines on acute pancreatitis recommend emergency ERCP in these patients,11 two more recent American guidelines state that the value of early ERCP in predicted severe ABP without cholangitis is yet undetermined.<sup>1,5</sup> This is explained by the fact that the published RCTs included only small numbers of patients with predicted severe ABP (range 38-58 patients), and were hence statistically underpowered to detect clinical effects in the group of most severely ill patients.7-10 In a recent updated meta-analysis, we could not show a beneficial effect of early ERCP in patients with predicted severe ABP without cholangitis.<sup>12</sup> However, the study population was heterogeneous and the sample size remained fairly small. Moreover, there are presently no solid data to determine whether the effect of early ERCP in predicted severe ABP differs between patients with and without radiographic/ biochemical signs of cholestasis.

In the current prospective, observational, multicentre study we examined whether early ERCP, as compared with conservative treatment, is associated with a reduced risk of complications and mortality in patients with predicted severe ABP without cholangitis. Patients with and without cholestasis were assessed separately and the association of ERCP characteristics with clinical outcome was evaluated.

#### METHODS

#### STUDY POPULATION AND DESIGN

This study evaluated a subset of patients with predicted severe ABP from a larger cohort of patients enrolled in the Dutch RCT on probiotic prophylaxis in acute pancreatitis (ISRCTN38327949): the PRObiotics in PAncreatitis TRIA1 (PROPA-TRIA).<sup>13</sup> The present observational study was prospectively designed and the study questions and all definitions (e.g., inclusion criteria, treatment groups, endpoints) were established prior to inclusion of the first patient.

PROPATRIA included adult patients with a primary episode of predicted severe acute pancreatitis of all causes. Acute pancreatitis was defined as abdominal pain with serum amylase and/or lipase levels elevated to at least three times the institutional upper limit of normal. Criteria for predicted severe acute pancreatitis were: **a**. an Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE)-II score  $\geq 8$ ,<sup>14</sup> or **b**. Imrie score  $\geq 3$ ,<sup>15</sup> or **c**. C-reactive protein (CRP) >150 mg/L<sup>16</sup> within 72 hours after onset of symptoms. Between March 2004 and March 2007, PROPATRIA enrolled 296 consecutive patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis in 8 university medical centres and 7 major teaching hospitals.

The current study included all patients from PROPATRIA diagnosed with ABP within 72 hours after onset of symptoms. ABP was defined as: **a**. gallstones and/or sludge diagnosed on trans-abdominal ultrasound or computed tomography (CT) performed on admission or **b**. dilated CBD on ultrasound or CT (diameter >8 mm for age 75 years and diameter >10 mm for age >75 years) **c**. two of the following three laboratory abnormalities: **1**. serum bilirubin level >2.3 mg/dL [40 µmol/L]; **2**. alanine aminotransferase (ALAT) level >100 U/L with an ALAT level greater than the aspartate aminotransferase (ASAT) level; **3**. alkaline phosphatase (AF) level >195 U/L with a gamma-glutamyltransferase (GGT) level >45 U/L. Other causes of acute pancreatitis (e.g., alcohol abuse) and signs of chronic pancreatitis (history and CT) had to be absent. The published RCTs on this topic have used similar radiographical<sup>7,9,10</sup> and/ or biochemical<sup>7,9</sup> prediction for ABP.

Based on the situation within 72 hours after onset of symptoms and before ERCP, patients were divided into three predefined groups: 1. potential cholangitis (serum bilirubin level >1.2 mg/dL [20  $\mu$ mol/L] and/ or dilated CBD on ultrasound or CT and temperature >38.5°C); 2. cholestasis (serum bilirubin level >2.3 mg/dL [40

µmol/L] and/or dilated CBD, and temperature <38.6°C) and **3**. no cholestasis or potential cholangitis. To prevent confounding by cholangitis (an established indication for emergency ERCP<sup>17</sup>) patients with potential cholangitis were excluded from further analysis. We used a broad definition for cholangitis (including a lower cut off level for bilirubin than in the criteria for cholestasis) to prevent the unintentional inclusion of patients with cholangitis and over-estimating the effects of ERCP. This study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The ethical review board of each participating hospital approved the protocol. All patients or their legal representatives gave written informed consent.

## TREATMENT PROTOCOL

Patients were treated according to a fixed treatment protocol.<sup>13</sup> This consisted of nasojejunal enteral feeding with a probiotic preparation or placebo according to treatment allocation, administered within 72 hours after onset of symptoms for a maximum of 28 days. Antibiotic prophylaxis in necrotising pancreatitis was not allowed. Physical examination and laboratory measurements were performed daily. Contrast-enhanced CT was performed routinely on 7-10 days after admission. Patients with infected necrotising pancreatitis were treated with percutaneous drainage and/or operative intervention according to decision of the treating physician.

# EARLY ERCP AND CONSERVATIVE TREATMENT GROUPS

The decision to perform ERCP with or without sphincterotomy was left to the treating physician. ERCP was readily available in all centres. Patients were assigned to the 'early ERCP' group when ERCP was performed within 72 hours after onset of symptoms. Patients not undergoing ERCP or undergoing ERCP later than 72 hours were included in the 'conservative treatment group'. ERCP was considered successful when the CBD could be cannulated and stones or sludge (if present) were evacuated after sphincterotomy. All ERCP procedures were performed by experienced endoscopists.

# ENDPOINTS

The primary endpoints were mortality and overall complications (see box for definitions) during admission and 90-day follow-up after admission. All complications were weighted equally; multiple complications in the same patient were considered as one endpoint. Organ failure was defined as  $PaO_2 < 60 \text{ mmHg}$  despite  $FiO_2$  of 30%, or the need for mechanical ventilation (pulmonary insufficiency); serum creatinine >177 mmol/L after rehydration or need for haemofiltration or hemodialysis (renal failure), and systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg despite adequate fluid resuscitation or need for vasopressor support (cardiocirculatory insufficiency), adapted from the Atlanta Classification.<sup>4</sup> Multi-organ failure was defined as failure of two or more organ systems on the same day.

Secondary endpoints were the CT severity index (CTSI),<sup>18</sup> the need for percutaneous drainage or operative intervention because of (documented or suspected) infected necrosis, hospital stay, and intensive care stay.

# DATA COLLECTION

Local physicians completed the case-record forms prospectively. An independent data monitor performed an on site cross-check of at least 10% of the individual patient data. One experienced radiologist (TLB) blinded for treatment (early ERCP or conservative) and clinical outcome re-evaluated all CTs for the presence and extent of pancreatic necrosis and CTSI. Before any analysis and blinded for treatment, two investigators (HCvS and MGHB) checked all data on baseline characteristics and primary or secondary endpoints with primary source data. All ERCP procedures were double-checked with primary source data by an experienced endoscopist (KJvE) unaware of clinical outcome. Analyses were performed only after agreement was reached on all endpoints.

#### STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Analyses for the current study were performed according to a pre-established analysis plan using SPSS version 12.01 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). The early ERCP group was compared with the conservative treatment group for primary and secondary endpoints. Patients with and without cholestasis were analysed separately. Continuous data are presented as mean ( $\pm$  SD) and in case of skewed distributions as median (range). Differences were tested by the Student's t test or Mann-Whitney U test, respectively. Proportions were compared by the Fisher's exact test. Being interested in the effect on the primary endpoint of early ERCP only, multivariate


FIGURE 12.1. Patient inclusion flowchart

logistic regression was used to adjust for possible confounders. All baseline variables that differed between the early ERCP group and conservative treatment group (P<0.200) were entered in the model as covariates. The APACHE-II score was always included to adjust for disease severity. Backward stepwise regression was used to exclude variables with P>0.050. Accordingly, we used logistic regression to investigate whether, in patients undergoing ERCP, there was any association between the primary endpoints and the following ERCP characteristics: sphincterotomy, pre-cut sphincterotomy, and cannulation/contrast injection of the pancreatic duct. Results of logistic regression are presented as adjusted odds ratios (OR) with exact 95% confidence intervals (CI). A two-sided P<0.050 was considered statistically significant.

### RESULTS

Patient inclusion is shown in FIGURE 12.1. During the study period, 176 patients with predicted severe ABP were included. On admission, gallbladder stones were detected in 125 patients, gallbladder sludge in 10 patients, dilated CBD in 37 patients and biochemical criteria were met in 140 patients.

Presence of gallstones was proven unequivocally during admission (admission US or CT or ERCP) in 147/176 patients (84%). A total of 23 patients (13%) met the criteria for potential cholangitis and were excluded. Of the remaining 153 patients, 78 (51%) had cholestasis and 75 (49%) did not have cholestasis. Median time from onset of symptoms to admission was 0 days (range 0-3). Median number of patients enrolled per centre was 9 (range 1-26). Median percentage of patients with predicted severe ABP who underwent early ERCP in each centre was 50% (range 0-100%). There were three centres in which more than 80% of patients underwent ERCP. Frequency of ERCP was not associated with patient characteristics: patient demographics, disease severity, and incidence of cholestasis were similar among the 15 centres (data not shown).

From the total of 153 patients, 81 patients (53%) underwent early ERCP and 72 patients (47%) underwent conservative treatment. Median time from onset of symptoms to early ERCP was 1 day (range 0-2). ERCP was performed in the first 24 hours after symptom onset in 17 patients (20%), between 25 and 48 hours after symptom onset in 53 patients (66%) and between 49 and 72 hours after symptom onset in 11 patients (14%).

In the conservative treatment group, elective ERCP was performed in 7 patients at a median of 5 days (range 4-18) after onset of symptoms. None of these patients had cholangitis, but 5 had cholestasis within 72 hours after onset of symptoms. Reasons for ERCP in the conservative treatment group were: persisting cholestasis (n=4), new onset cholestasis (n=1), contraindication for cholecystectomy due to co-morbidity (n=1) and suspicion of an impacted stone in CBD on CT (n=1).

### PATIENTS WITH CHOLESTASIS

In the group with cholestasis (n=78), 52 patients (67%) underwent early ERCP and 26 patients (33%) conservative treatment. The APACHE-II score on admission

TABLE 12.1. Baseline characterist	ics of 153 patients wit	ch predicted severe b	iliary pancrea	titis undergoing early ]	ERCP or conservative	treatment
	PATIENTS WITH CHO	LESTASIS (n = 78)		PATIENTS WITHOUT (	HOLESTASIS (n=75)	
Characteristics	Early ERCP (n=52)	Conservative treatment (n=26)	P value	Early ERCP (n=29)	Conservative treatment (n=46)	P value
Age in years	64.1 (±15.7)	66.3 (±13.3)	0.56	62.9 (±15.6)	65.9 (±15.5)	0.43
Male sex	23 (44%)	15 (58%)	0.34	11 (38%)	23 (50%)	0.35
Probiotics	26 (50%)	15 (58%)	0.63	18 (62%)	27 (59%)	0.81
Body Mass Index	28 (±5.6)	29 (±8.8)	0.89	28 (±6.3)	27 (±6.8)	0.75
ASA class <sup>a</sup>			0.42			0.02
I (healthy status)	28 (54%)	10 (38%)		18 (62%)	14 (31%)	
II (mild systemic disease)	23 (44%)	15 (58%)		10 (35%)	24 (52%)	
III (severe systemic disease)	1 (2%)	1 (4%)		1 (3%)	8 (17%)	
Time from symptoms to admission	1 (0-2)	1 (0-3)	0.69	0 (0-3)	0 (0-1)	0.39
Severity of disease						
APACHE-II (on admission)	8.0 (0.0-17.0)	9.5 (3.0-18.0)	0.06	8.0 (1.0-19.0)	9.0 (1.0-15.0)	0.37
Imrie score (first 48 hrs)	3.0 (0.0-0.7)	4.0 (0.0-6.0)	0.22	3.0 (1.0-7.0)	3.0 (1.0-6.0)	0.73
C-reactive protein (mg/L) <sup>b</sup>	80 (±103)	111 (±136)	0.30	65 (±86)	61 (±77)	0.87
Leucocytes (x 109/L) <sup>b</sup>	15.3 (6.1-33.8)	14.7 (9.2-31.6)	0.93	17.5 (8.4-22.5)	16.8 (8.4-30.7)	0.82
MODS (on admission) <sup>c</sup>	2.0 (0.0-6.0)	1.0 (0.0-8.0)	0.93	1.0 (0.0-3.0)	1.0 (0.0-4.0)	0.47
SOFA (on admission) <sup>d</sup>	2.0 (0.0-7.0)	2.5 (0.0-8.0)	0.45	1.0 (0.0-4.0)	1.0 (0.0-5.0)	0.59
Organ failure <sup>e</sup>	1 (2%)	2 (8%)	0.26	2 (7%)	0 (0%)	0.15
Multi-organ failure <sup>e</sup>	0/00) 0	(%)0) 0	0.99	0 (0%0) 0	0 (0%)	0.99
Body temperature (°C) <sup>b</sup>	37.4 (±0.7)	37.4 (±0.8)	0.89	37.5 (±1.0)	37.9 (±0.7)	0.05
Cholestasis						
Dilated common bile duct	20 (39%)	12 (46%)	0.63	0 (0%0) 0	0/00) 0	0.99
Bilirubin (mg/dL) <sup>f</sup>	4.0 (±2.7)	4.6 (±2.8)	0.35	1.4 (±0.5)	1.3 (±0.5)	0.22
Data are presented as n (%), mean (±51 a= ASA: assessed based on the patient's	D), or median (range). . history just prior to admis	sion; there were no patie	nts with ASA clas	s 4 or 5.; b= In the early ER	CP group: highest value bef	ore ERCP, in the con-

servative treatment group: highest value during the <24 h after onset of symptoms or on admission, c= MODS ranges from 0 to 24, with higher scores indicating more severe disease; d= S0FA ranges from 0 to 24, with higher scores indicating more severe disease; the function of the soup: organ failure before ERCP, in the conservative treatment group: organ failure during the <24 hours after onset of symptoms or on admission; f= In the early ERCP group: highest value before ERCP, in the conservative treatment group: highest value during the <22 hours after onset of symptoms.

	PATIENTS WITH CHO	<pre>IFESTASIS (n=78)</pre>		PATIENTS WITHOUT C	HOLESTASIS ( <b>n</b> =75)	
Characteristics	Early ERCP (n=52)	Conservative treatment (n=26)	P value	Early ERCP (n=29)	Conservative treatment (n=46)	P value
Primary endpoints						
Overall complications	13 (25%)	14 (54%)	0.02	13 (45%)	19 (41%)	0.81
Pancreatic necrosis	8 (17%)	9 (38%)	0.08	10 (36%)	13 (30%)	0.79
<30% pancreatic necrosis	4 (8%)	1 (4%)	0.66	4 (14%)	7 (15%)	0.99
>30% pancreatic necrosis	4 (8%)	8 (31%)	0.01	6 (21%)	6 (13%)	0.52
Infected pancreatic necrosis	4 (8%)	5 (20%)	0.15	5 (17%)	5 (11%)	0.49
Bacteraemia	6 (12%)	6 (23%)	0.20	7 (24%)	6 (13%)	0.23
Infected ascites	0 (0%) 0	1 (4%)	0.33	1 (3%)	1 (2%)	0.99
Pneumonia	4 (8%)	4 (16%)	0.43	3 (10%)	4 (9%)	0.99
New onset organ failure	6 (12%)	4 (16%)	0.72	6 (20%)	7 (15%)	0.55
New onset multi-organ failure	6 (12%)	3 (12%)	0.99	6 (20%)	9 (20%)	0.99
Bowel ischaemia*	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0.99	1 (4%)	1 (2%)	0.99
Mortality	3 (6%)	4 (15%)	0.21	4 (14%)	8 (17%)	0.75
Secondary endpoints						
CTSI†	3.0 (0.0-10.0)	3.5 (0.0-10.0)	0.46	4.0 (0.0-10.0)	4.0 (0.0-10.0)	0.81
Percutaneous drainage	4 (8%)	2 (8%)	0.99	3 (10%)	2 (4%)	0.37
Operative necrosectomy	4 (8%)	4 (15%)	0.43	6 (21%)	4 (9%)	0.17
Intensive care admission	12 (23%)	7 (27%)	0.78	9 (31%)	8 (17%)	0.26
Total intensive care stay in days	0 (0-89)	0 (0-110)	0.76	0 (0-30)	0 (0-40)	0.16
Total hospital stay in days	14 (3-140)	20 (5-112)	0.22	13 (5-155)	16 (3-85)	0.93

Data are presented as n (%) or median (range). \*Bowel ischaemia was probably an adverse event of probiotic treatment, as suggested by the PROPATRIA-study13, and was added to the endpoints post-hoc in the current study. †CTSI, ranges from 0-10, with higher score indicating more extensive pancreatic necrosis and peripancreatic fluid collections.

tended to slightly higher in the conservative treatment group than in the early ERCP group (P=0.064; TABLE 12.1). The early ERCP and conservative treatment groups were comparable for all other baseline variables (TABLE 12.1).

Primary and secondary endpoints are presented in TABLE 12.2. Significantly fewer patients after early ERCP suffered from one or more complications (P=0.020). Especially substantial (>30%) pancreatic necrosis occurred in significantly fewer patients in the early ERCP group (P=0.010). After adjustment for the APACHE-II score in multivariate analysis, early ERCP remained associated with a lower risk of overall complications (adjusted OR 0.35; 95% CI 0.13-0.99; P=0.049). Mortality was non-significantly lower in the early ERCP group (P=0.130, adjusted OR in multivariate analysis, 0.44; 95% CI 0.08-2.28; P=0.330). Additional adjustment for individual institution with multivariate analysis did not affect the results: the statistically significant beneficial effect of ERCP remained.

### PATIENTS WITHOUT CHOLESTASIS

In the group without cholestasis (n=75), 29 patients (39%) underwent early ERCP and 46 patients (61%) received conservative treatment. On admission, patients in the conservative group had a significantly higher American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) class than patients in the early ERCP group (P=0.016; TABLE 12.1). All other baseline variables were similar for both treatment groups. The incidence of overall complications and mortality was similar in the early ERCP group and the conservative treatment group (P=0.814 and P=0.754 respectively; TABLE 12.2). Multivariate analysis (with the APACHE-II score as the only significant covariate after backward stepwise regression) did not show a significant beneficial effect of early ERCP (overall complications: adjusted OR 1.36; 95% CI 0.49-3.76; P=0.554, mortality: adjusted OR 0.78; 95% CI 0.19-3.12; P=0.734). Adjustment for individual institution in multivariate analysis did not change these results.

### DETAILS OF EARLY ERCPS

The characteristics of the 81 early ERCPs are presented in TABLE 12.3. The incidence of CBD stones during ERCP was higher in patients with cholestasis than in patients without cholestasis, although not statistically significant (P=0.254). There were no other differences between patients with and without cholestasis, including

ERCP characteristic	Patien cholestas	ts with is (n=52)	Patient cholesta	ts without asis (n=29)	P value
Cannulation common bile duct	47 (	90%)	24	(82%)	0.48
Stones in common bile duct	29 (	56%)	12	(41%)	0.25
Sludge in common bile duct	17 (	33%)	10	(34%)	0.99
Cannulation of pancreatic duct	25 (	48%)	15	(52%)	0.82
Contrast in pancreatic duct	25 (	48%)	12	(41%)	0.99
Papillotomy performed	45 (	87%)	24	(83%)	0.99
Pre-cut papillotomy performed	9 (	17%)	5	(17%)	0.99
ERCP Successful	46 (	89%)	24	(82%)	0.51
Data are presented as n (%).					

### TABLE 12.3. Characteristics of ERCP procedures performed in 81 patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis

the percentage of sludge found in the CBD during ERCP. In 3 out of the 81 patients undergoing early ERCPs a stent was placed in the CBD. Reasons for biliary stents were: an impacted stone in the CBD that could not be removed during ERCP (n=1), the fact that the endoscopist was not completely sure that the CBD was free of stones at the end of the procedure (n=1) and contra-indication for sphinc-terotomy because of clotting disturbance (n=1). The first two of these patients also underwent sphincterotomy during the procedure. No stents were placed in the pancreatic duct. Sphincterotomy was performed in the large majority of ERCPs. In one patient in the group without cholestasis, diffuse bleeding occurred after sphincterotomy, requiring local injections of epinephrine. Although deterioration of pancreatities as a direct result of ERCP is difficult to assess, all indicators, including daily serum levels of amylase and CRP during the first week of admission, were similar in the ERCP and conservative groups (data not shown).

When evaluating the association of ERCP characteristics with clinical outcome in multivariate analysis, the APACHE-II score remained the only significant covariate after backward stepwise regression. There was no significant relation between timing of ERCP (days between symptom onset and ERCP) and complications (adjusted OR 1.32; 95% CI 0.58-2.99; P=0.505) or mortality (adjusted OR 0.47; 95%

CI 0.11-2.01; P=0.307). Sphincterotomy was associated with a significant reduction in overall complication rate (adjusted OR 0.24; 95% CI 0.06-0.93; P=0.040) albeit without a significant effect on mortality (adjusted OR 1.38; 95% CI 0.13-14.44; P=0.786). The apparent reduction in complications included fewer patients with bacteraemia (11% vs. 45%, P=0.010) and pneumonia (6% vs. 27%, P=0.049). Of the 69 patients who underwent sphincterotomy, clinical outcome was similar for those with stones and/or sludge in the CBD and without stones and/or sludge in the CBD: complications occurred in 10/40 patients (25%) and 8/29 patients (28%) respectively (P=1.000). Pre-cut sphincterotomy was also not significantly associated with the incidence of overall complications (adjusted OR 1.64; 95% CI 0.49-5.44; P=0.423) or mortality (adjusted OR 2.75; 95% CI 0.40-18.75; P=0.303). Furthermore, cannulation/contrast injection of the pancreatic duct showed no significant association with overall complications (adjusted OR 0.79, 95% CI 0.29-2.13, P=0.643) or mortality (adjusted OR 1.15, 95% CI 0.21-6.18, P=0.871). In addition, indicators for pancreatic inflammation such as daily serum levels of amylase and CRP during the first week of admission did not differ between patients who had pancreatic duct cannulation/contrast injection and patients who did not have pancreatic duct cannulation/contrast injection (data not shown).

### DISCUSSION

This study is the largest prospective study conducted so far comparing early ERCP with conservative treatment in patients with predicted severe ABP without cholangitis. Outcome was compared according to the presence of cholestasis. The major findings are: 1. In patients with predicted severe ABP and concurrent cholestasis, early ERCP was associated with significantly fewer complications, including substantial pancreatic necrosis, and a non-significantly lower mortality; 2. In patients with predicted severe ABP without concurrent cholestasis, early ERCP was not associated with a significant reduction of complications or mortality; 3. In patients undergoing early ERCP, sphincterotomy was significantly associated with fewer complications, whereas precut sphincterotomy or pancreatic duct cannulation/contrast injection were not significantly associated with obvious adverse effects.

Four published RCTs have studied the effect of early ERCP in ABP.<sup>7-10</sup> Only the first two studies found beneficial effects of early ERCP.<sup>7,8</sup> When comparing the four

RCTs with the current study, several issues about these trials need to be taken into account. First, different subgroups of pancreatitis were included: 1. all patients with ABP, including those with cholangitis,<sup>7</sup> 2. acute pancreatitis of all causes,<sup>8</sup> 3. only patients with ABP without 'severe' obstructive jaundice (bilirubin <5 mg/dL),<sup>9</sup> and 4. only patients with ABP with 'biliopancreatic obstruction' (bilirubin >1.3 mg/dL) and CBD  $\geq 8$  mm), but without cholangitis.<sup>10</sup> Secondly, definitions varied considerably between studies: e.g., for 'ABP', 'cholangitis', 'early ERCP' (ranging from <48 hours after symptom onset<sup>10</sup> to within 72 hours after admission<sup>7</sup>), and 'overall complications'. Thirdly, complications evaluated were often clinically only marginally relevant and not clearly defined. Finally, the RCTs mostly included patients with predicted mild ABP, who have a low a priori risk of complications. The vast majority of gallstones in predicted mild ABP probably pass spontaneously before ERCP is performed. Several meta-analyses on the current topic have been performed with conflicting results.<sup>12,19,20</sup> Only the most recent meta-analysis included all RCTs that studied patients with predicted severe ABP without cholangitis (3 RCTs, 129 patients).<sup>12</sup> Early ERCP (n=63) did not significantly reduce the risk of overall complications (relative risk, 0.82; CI 0.32-2.10; P=0.68) or mortality (relative risk 1.13; 95% CI 0.23-5.60; P=0.88). While these data suggest that early ERCP is not beneficial, there is a substantial risk of a type II statistical error because patient numbers were relatively small. More importantly, only a handful of patients in the pooled data suffered from predicted severe ABP with concurrent cholestasis. Data on these patients were not separately presented in the individual trials precluding subgroup analysis.

Baseline characteristics of the current study population can not be compared with other studies on early ERCP in ABP, because this is the first study to investigate patients with predicted severe ABP only. Patient demographics and disease severity are, however, in line with recent multicentre studies on other interventions in predicted severe acute pancreatitis.<sup>21,22</sup> In patients without cholestasis, ASA class was somewhat lower in the early ERCP group than in the conservative treatment group. Despite this potential advantage in clinical condition for the ERCP group, ERCP was not associated with a beneficial effect, both in the crude and adjusted multivariate analysis. In the group with cholestasis, patients undergoing early ERCP tended to have a lower APACHE-II score (1.5 points) on admission. Although this

slight difference is probably clinically not meaningful, we adjusted for this in the multivariate analysis: this did not change our results.

Regarding the ERCP characteristics in the present study, ERCP success rate, the rate of ERCP-associated complications and the percentage of CBD stones found during ERCP were similar to previous reports.<sup>7,10</sup> In multivariate analysis, sphincterotomy was associated with a significant reduction in overall complication rate. This suggests that sphincterotomy should always be performed after early ERCP in patients with predicted severe ABP, also in absence of CBD stones. In the latter situation, sphincterotomy can be useful to remove sludge and microlithiasis (only detected during microscopical examination)<sup>23</sup> which are important factors in the pathogenesis of ABP.24 If ERCP is performed for other indications than acute pancreatitis, specific characteristics of the procedure (e.g., precut sphincterotomy, pancreatic duct cannulation or contrast injection) are associated with an increased risk of complications.<sup>25</sup> In the current study, precut sphincterotomy and pancreatic duct cannulation or contrast injection were not associated with clinical outcome. Numbers were, however, too small to draw solid conclusions. Although the incidence of CBD stones during ERCP seemed higher in patients with cholestasis than in patients without cholestasis, the magnitude of the difference was not convincing. Probably, biliary obstruction is caused by other factors than gallstones (e.g., sludge, microlithiasis or an oedematous pancreas) in a considerable number of patients in the cholestasis group. Stones may also have passed to the duodenum shortly before ERCP.

We found definite evidence of gallstone etiology in 84% of our patients. Because the sensitivity of trans-abdominal ultrasound to detect gallbladder stones in patients with acute pancreatitis is decreased to approximately 65%, as compared to 90-95% in patients without pancreatitis,<sup>26-28</sup> and because some patients exhibit only microlithiasis and biliary sludge,<sup>24</sup> one has to rely on additional criteria to establish a likely biliary cause of acute pancreatitis on admission. Indeed, microscopic evaluation of bile detects cholesterol crystals or sludge in 35-70% of patients presumed to have acute 'idiopathic' pancreatitis.<sup>29-31</sup> We relied in the present study, on a combination of radiological and biochemical criteria, similar to earlier RCTs on this topic.<sup>7,9</sup> A recent authorative review<sup>26</sup> advises the criteria of either gallbladder stones on trans-abdominal US and/or serum ALAT >60 IU during the first 48 hours of admission

as diagnostic criteria for ABP. In our study, 166/176 patients (94%) met these diagnostic criteria on admission. Nevertheless, we can not rule out that we have unintentionally included some patients with idiopathic pancreatitis. If this occurred, however, it did not affect the results: when excluding patients without definite gallstone etiology as based on admission radiology and/or ERCP from our analysis, patients in the cholestasis group (n=65) who underwent ERCP still had significantly fewer complications than those treated conservatively (56% vs. 25%, P=0.03).

We aimed to exclude patients with cholangitis because inclusion of these patients would lead to potential bias toward a favourable effect of ERCP. Also, cholangitis is an established indication for early ERCP.<sup>1,5,11</sup> Despite our broad criteria for 'potential cholangitis', we can not rule out the possibility that we unintentionally included some patients with cholangitis, because cholangitis can also occur without elevated bilirubin and with temperatures below 38.5°C (i.e., our criteria for 'potential cholangitis'). Therefore, we want to stress that especially in case of conservative approach, the clinician has to monitor the patient carefully for signs of emerging cholangitis, which can also develop at a later stage in the course of the disease. A theoretical advantage of early sphincterotomy is that it largely prevents risk of subsequent cholangitis. It should be noted, however, that none of the patients in the conservative group (including the 7 patients who had a late ERCP) developed clinical signs of cholangitis. Of the 23 excluded patients with 'potential cholangitis' 12 patients underwent early ERCP (complications 42%, mortality 0%) and 11 conservative management including antibiotics (complications 46%, mortality 18%). Although this subgroup is obviously too small to generate statistically sound conclusions, we agree with international guidelines that ERCP is indicated in patient with cholangitis.<sup>1,5,11</sup> In a post-hoc analysis combining patients with 'cholestasis' and 'potential cholangitis' in the current study (n=101), ERCP was still associated with significantly fewer complications (50% vs. 29%, P=0.03).

A limitation of the current study is that it did not have randomised design. On the other hand, we included a large number of patients (153 patients, as compared with 129 patients in the pooled data of the available RCTs<sup>12</sup>) with a high percentage of concurrent cholestasis (51%) and we performed rigorous prospective data collection. Moreover, baseline characteristics were highly similar between the early ERCP and conservative treatment group. This is explained by the great variation in indi-

cation for ERCP among centres (0-100%) independent of disease severity and the incidence of cholestasis in each centre. Consequently, when pooling the data from all centres, early ERCP and conservative treatment could be compared with a minimal risk of selection bias (thereby increasing internal validity). Therefore, we believe the variation in indication for ERCP among the participating centres is not a shortcoming, but rather an advantage that allowed us to perform the current analysis. Furthermore, as selection bias can never be completely ruled out in a non-randomised design, we adjusted for potential differences at baseline and disease severity with logistic regression. Notably, this did not change our results.

One may argue that future studies on this topic are needed. Based on the data of the current study, a new RCT would need a sample size of 2 x 50 patients with predicted severe ABP and cholestasis to show a statistically significant effect of early ERCP in patients with concurrent cholestasis (reduction of complications from 54% to 25% by ERCP,  $\beta$ =0.20, two sided  $\alpha$ =0.05). Although this represents quite a challenge requiring a collaboration of multiple high volume (international) centres, such a study would be feasible. However, to detect a significant effect of early ERCP in patients without cholestasis (the result of the current study suggest the effect of ERCP, if present at all, would be very small), a very large sample size would be needed: i.e. to show a 10% absolute difference in complications 2 x 365 patients with predicted severe ABP without cholestasis would have to be randomised. It is recognized that a new RCT on early ERCP in (predicted severe) ABP will probably not be performed in the near future.<sup>32</sup> In the situation were it is unfeasible to perform RCTs, well-designed, prospective, observational studies must yield the evidence needed for clinical decision making.

What is the relevance of the current study for clinical practice? Our results illustrate that consensus on this topic is lacking in daily practice, as the decision to perform early ERCP varied greatly between 15 Dutch hospitals (including all university medical centres). In patients without cholestasis, conservative treatment did not lead to poorer outcome or secondary cholangitis, suggesting that early ERCP can be withheld when cholestasis is absent. Nevertheless, these patients should still be carefully monitored for emerging cholangitis at later stage.

In the presence of cholestasis, patients treated conservatively had poorer outcomes than those undergoing early ERCP. We therefore feel ERCP should be especially considered whenever a patient with predicted severe ABP shows signs of cholestasis.

In conclusion, the present study shows that early ERCP is associated with a significantly reduced risk of clinically relevant complications in patients with predicted severe ABP with concurrent cholestasis. In patients without concurrent cholestasis, there were no beneficial effects associated with early ERCP. These findings may be relevant for decision making in patients with predicted severe ABP.

### REFERENCES

- Forsmark CE, Baillie J, AGA Institute Clinical Practice and Economics Committee, et al. AGA Institute technical review on acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-2044.
- 2 Yadav D, Lowenfels AB. Trends in the epidemiology of the first attack of acute pancreatitis. A systematic review. Pancreas 2006; 33:323-330.
- Acosta JM, Ledesma CL. Gallstone migration as a cause of acute pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1974; 290:484-487.
- 4 Bradley EL, III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.
- Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 6 Swaroop VS, Chari ST, Clain JE. Severe acute pancreatitis. JAMA 2004; 291:2865-2868.
- 7 Neoptolemos JP, Carr-Locke DL, London NJ, et al. Controlled trial of urgent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy vs. conservative treatment for acute.pancreatitis due to gallstones. Lancet 1988; 2:979-983.
- Fan ST, Lai EC, Mok FP, et al. Early treatment of acute biliary pancreatitis by endoscopic sphincterotomy.
   N Engl J Med 1993; 328:228-232.

- 9 Folsch UR, Nitsche R, Ludtke R, et al. Early ERCP and sphincterotomy compared with conservative treatment for acute biliary pancreatitis. The German Study Group on Acute Biliary Pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1997; 336:237-242.
- 10 Oria A, Cimmino D, Ocampo C, et al. Early endoscopic intervention vs. early conservative management in patients with acute gallstone pancreatitis and biliopancreatic obstruction. Ann Surg 2007; 245:10-17.
- 11 UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 2005; 54 Suppl 3:iii1-iii9.
- 12 Petrov MS, van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, et al. Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography vs. conservative management in acute biliary pancreatitis without cholangitis:a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Ann Surg 2008; 247:250-257.
- 13 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Buskens E, et al. Probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2008; 371:651-659.
- 14 Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP, et al. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 1985; 13:818-829.
- Blamey SL, Imrie CW, O'Neill J, et al. Prognostic factors in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1984; 25:1340-1346.

PART III

- 16 Werner J, Hartwig W, Uhl W, et al. Useful markers for predicting severity and monitoring progression of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003; 3:115-127.
- 17 Baillie J. Treatment of acute biliary pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1997; 336:286-287.
- 18 Balthazar EJ, Robinson DL, Megibow AJ, et al. Acute pancreatitis: value of CT in establishing rognosis. Radiology 1990; 174:331-336.
- 19 Sharma V, Howden C. Meta analysis of randomised controlled trials of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy for the treatment of acute biliary pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94:3211-3214.
- 20 Ayub K, Imada R, Slavin J. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in gallstone associated acute pancreatitis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2004; 3:CD003630.
- Isenmann R, Runzi M, Kron M, et al.
   Prophylactic antibiotic treatment in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis: A placebocontrolled, double-blind trial.
   Gastroenterology 2004; 126:997-1004.
- 22 Dellinger EP, Tellado JM, Soto N. Prophylactic antibiotic treatment in patients with severe acute necrotizing pancreatitis: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Ann Surg 2007; 245:674-83.

- 23 Best Practice and Research Clinical Gastroenterology. Vol 20. No 6. Gallstone Disease. Eds. K.J. van Erpecum and P. Portincasa. 1139-1152. London, Balliere Tindal, 2006.
- 24 Venneman NG, Renooij W, Rehfeld JF, et al. Small gallstones, preserved gallbladder motility, and fast crystallization are associated with pancreatitis. Hepatology 2005; 41:738-746.
- 25 Freeman ML, Nelson DB, Sherman S, et al.
   Complications of endoscopic biliary sphincterotomy.
   N Engl J Med 1996; 335:909-918.
- 26 Alexis N, Lombard M, Raraty M, et al. When is pancreatitis considered to be of biliary origin and what are the implications for management? Pancreatology 2007; 7:131-141.
- 27 Goodman A, Neoptolemos J, Carr-Locke D, Finlay D, Fossard D. Detection of gallstones after acute pancreatitis. Gut 1985; 26:125-132.
- 28 Neoptolemos J, Hall A. Finlay D, Berry J, Carr-Locke D, Fossard D. The urgent diagnosis of gallstones in acute pancreatitis: a prospective study of three methods. Br J Surg 1984: 71:230-233.
- Lee S, Nicholls J, Park H. Biliary sludge as a cause of acute pancreatitis.
   N Engl J Med 1992; 326:589-3.
- 30 Ros E, Navarro S, Bru C, Garcia-Puges A, Valderrama R. Occult microlithiasis in 'idiopathic' acute pancreatitis: prevention of relapses by cholecystectomy or ursodeoxycholic acid therapy. Gastroenterology 1991; 101:1701-1709.

- 31 Coyle WJ, Pineau BC, Tarnasky PR, et al. Evaluation of unexplained acute and acute recurrent pancreatitis using endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, sphincter of Oddi manometry and endoscopic ultrasound. Endoscopy 2002; 34:617-623
- 32 Baillie J. Does every patient with acute gallstone pancreatitis require ERCP? Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2008; 10:147-149.

# PART



Intervention for necrotising pancreatitis Mark C van Baal,<sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>2</sup> Olaf J Bakker,<sup>1</sup> Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>3</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

### AFFILIATIONS

Dept. of Surgery,<sup>1</sup> University Medical Center Utrecht, the Netherlands. Dept. of Radiology,<sup>2</sup> St Antonius Hospital Nieuwegein, the Netherlands. Dept. of Surgery,<sup>3</sup> University Medical Center St Radboud Nijmegen, the Netherlands.

## РАРТЕ С НАРТЕ 13

Percutaneous catheter drainage as primary treatment for necrotising pancreatitis: a systematic review of the literature

– a summary –

Accepted for publication in: British Journal of Surgery

### INTRODUCTION

For long, the first choice intervention in infected necrotising pancreatitis has been primary open necrosectomy with the aim to remove all infected necrosis.<sup>1.3</sup> This approach is associated with considerable morbidity (34-95%) and mortality (11-39%)<sup>1,3-8</sup> Some patients with sterile necrosis will ultimately also undergo necrosectomy in case of clinical deterioration (i.e., multiple organ failure) despite maximal supportive therapy on the basis of suspected infection.

In 1998, Freeny et al. first described a consecutive series of patients exclusively with infected necrosis who were primarily treated with imaging-guided percutaneous catheter drainage (PCD), as an alternative to primary surgical necrosectomy.<sup>9</sup> The rationale for PCD was to temporize sepsis and thereby postpone the need for surgical necrosectomy. In the last decade, several cohort studies on PCD have been published. We aimed to determine the proportion of patients that can be treated with PCD without the need for additional necrosectomy from the published literature.

### METHODS

A systematic literature search was performed in EMBASE, MEDLINE and the Cochrane libraries from January 1st, 1992 to May 31st, 2010. We screened studies reporting on patients undergoing PCD of peripancreatic collections associated with pancreatitis. Inclusion criteria were: 1. a consecutive cohort of patients with acute necrotising pancreatitis (ANP) undergoing PCD as a primary treatment of peripancreatic collections; 2. indication for PCD: (suspected) infected necrosis or symptomatic sterile pancreatic necrosis (e.g., clinical deterioration or significant mechanical obstruction); 3. essential outcomes reported: percentage of infected peripancreatic collections, need for additional surgical necrosectomy, complications and mortality.

Exclusion criteria were: 1. very small cohorts (<5 patients); 2. cohorts including chronic pancreatitis (and results for acute pancreatitis not reported separately); 3. studies on a selected subgroup of patients with acute pancreatitis, classified as 'pseudocysts' or 'pancreatic abscesses' (as defined by the Atlanta Classification) or sterile pancreatic necrosis exclusively; 4. cohorts of patients undergoing minimally invasive surgical necrosectomy which included previous PCD and cases treated by PCD only were not separately reported. From the included articles we extracted data on disease severity, indication and details of PCD, success of PCD (defined as survival without the need for additional surgical necrosectomy) and clinical outcome.

### RESULTS

After screening of titles and abstracts of 4670 relevance eleven studies were included in the current systematic review.<sup>9-19</sup> Nine studies were retrospective, non-controlled case-series,<sup>9-17</sup> one study was a prospective, non-controlled case-series<sup>18</sup> and one study was a multicentre randomised controlled trial.<sup>19</sup> The pooled data comprised a total of 384 patients undergoing PCD as primary treatment for (suspected) infected necrosis or symptomatic sterile pancreatic necrosis (range of number of patients per study 8-80).

Four studies (116 patients) reported on percentage of patients suffering from organ failure prior to PCD. Out of these 116 patients, 78 (67%) had organ failure (34 single and 44 multiple organ failure) prior to PCD. Out of the total of 384 patients, 271 patients (71%) had infected peripancreatic necrosis.

The success rate of PCD, defined as the percentage of patients surviving without additional surgical necrosectomy, was 214/384 patients (56%). Eight studies reported specific data on patients with infected necrosis (n=166): 87/166 patients (52%) recovered after PCD only. Five series reported on the time between insertion and removal of drains, varying from 16 to 98 days. Additional surgical necrosectomy was performed in 133/384 patients (35%). The time interval between first PCD and surgery was reported in six series and ranged from 18 to 109 days.

The complication rate was described in all series. One or more complications occurred in 76/384 patients (20%). The majority of complications were pancreatico-cutaneous and pancreatico-enteric fistulas (n=53), being 51% of all complications and present in 14% of all patients treated with PCD. In total, nine other procedure-related complications were described.

A total of 67/384 patients died (17%). Nine studies reported the mortality for PCD in patients with infected necrosis: 15% (27/175 patients). In these studies, mortality for PCD in patients with sterile necrosis was 15% as well (10/69 patients).

### DISCUSSION

The results from this systematic review on PCD in (infected) necrotising pancreati-

tis showed that approximately half of the patients recovered after PCD only, without the need for further surgical intervention. In patients who did require surgical intervention, PCD allowed for postponing additional intervention for several weeks.

In the mixed group of patients, overall mortality was 17%, but 15% in patients with infected necrosis. Although not all studies provided data on mortality of patients with infected necrosis, mortality of 15% is similar to numbers reported for open and minimally invasive necrosectomy.<sup>20</sup>

The indication for PCD differed between the 11 included series. Although all 384 patients suffered from necrotising pancreatitis, only 71% indeed had infected peripancreatic collections proven by bacterial culture. Other indications for intervention were symptomatic 'organized necrosis' and 'severe clinical deterioration despite maximum conservative treatment'. These last two indications are not very well-defined and one may question whether these patients could not have been successfully treated conservatively.

In the pooled data of this systematic review, the complication rate was 20%, with only nine reported procedure-related complications. Series on surgical necrosectomy report a considerable higher complication rate, ranging from 34% to 68%.<sup>3,7,8</sup> Furthermore, in the current study, only 14% of patients developed a pancreatic fistula, compared to 22-47% in the studies on surgical necrosectomy.<sup>21-23</sup> However, mostly studies only reported early complications. Late complications do occur and the reported 20% complication rate in this review is therefore probably higher.

It is conceivable, that drain placement into a sterile peripancreatic collection can introduce bacteria resulting in secondary infection. None of the studies included reported on the rate of iatrogenic infection, but underreporting is likely to have occurred. A limitation of the current systematic review is that many of the included studies were small and retrospective. Moreover, in some series essential data were not presented (e.g., total number of interventions, outcome related to infectious status of collections, percentage of patients with organ failure at time of PCD). A formal assessment of methodological quality could not be performed because the papers did not provide enough detailed information for such an assessment.

### REFERENCES

- Büchler MW, Gloor B, Müller CA, et al.
   Acute necrotizing pancreatitis: treatment strategy according to the status of infection.
   Ann Surg 2000; 232:619-626.
- 2 Uhl W, Warshaw A, Imrie C, et al. IAP guidelines for the surgical management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2002; 2:565-573.
- Werner J, Feuerbach S, Uhl W, et al.
   Management of acute pancreatitis: from surgery to interventional intensive care.
   Gut 2005; 54:426-436.
- 4 Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19-year, single-center series. Surgery 2005; 138:28-39.
- 5 Rodriguez JR, Razo AO, Targarona J, et al. Debridement and closed packing for sterile or infected necrotizing pancreatitis: insights into indications and outcomes in 167 patients. Ann Surg 2008; 247:294-299.
- 6 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 137:499-505.
- Howard TJ, Patel JB, Zyromski N, et al.
   Declining morbidity and mortality rates in the surgical management of pancreatic necrosis.
   J Gastrointest Surg 2007; 11:43-49.
- 8 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 137:499-505.

- 9 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, et al.
   Percutaneous CT-guided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results.
   AJR Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-975.
- Gambiez LP, Denimal FA, Porte HL, et al. Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1998; 133:66-72.
- Baril NB, Ralls PW, Wren SM, et al.
   Does an infected peripancreatic fluid collection or abscess mandate operation?
   Ann Surg 2000; 231:361-367.
- 12 Cheung MT, Ho CN, Siu KW, et al. Percutaneous drainage and necrosectomy in the management of pancreatic necrosis. ANZ J Surg 2005; 75:204-207.
- Navalho M, Pires F, Duarte A, et al.
   Percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic fluid collections in critically ill patients: correlation with C-reactive protein values. Clin Imaging 2006; 30:114-119.
- 14 Lee JK, Kwak KK, Park JK, et al. The efficacy of nonsurgical treatment of infected pancreatic necrosis. Pancreas 2007; 34:399-404.
- 15 Bruennler T, Langgartner J, Lang S, et al. Outcome of patients with acute, necrotizing pancreatitis requiring drainage-does drainage size matter? World J Gastroenterol 2008; 14:725-730.

16 Mortelé KJ, Girshman J, Szejnfeld D, et al. CTguided percutaneous catheter drainage of acute necrotizing pancreatitis: clinical experience and observations in patients with sterile and infected necrosis.

AJR Am J Roentgenol 2009; 192:110-116.

- 17 Rocha FG, Benoit E, Zinner MJ, et al. Impact of radiologic intervention on mortality in necrotizing pancreatitis: the role of organ failure. Arch Surg 2009; 144:261-265.
- 18 Fotoohi M, D'Agostino HB, Wollman B, et al. Persistent pancreatocutaneous fistula after percutaneous drainage of pancreatic fluid collections: role of cause and severity of pancreatitis. Radiology 1999; 213:573-578.
- van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ et al, Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group.
  A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis.
  NEJM 2010; 362:1491-1502.
- 20 Raraty MG, Halloran CM, Dodd S, et al. Minimal access retroperitoneal pancreatic necrosectomy: improvement in morbidity and mortality with a less invasive approach. Ann Surg 2010; 251:787-93.
- Tzovaras G, Parks RW, Diamond T, et al. Early and long-term results of surgery for severe necrotising pancreatitis.
   Dig Surg 2004; 21:41-46; discussion 46-47.
- 22 Tsiotos GG, Smith CD, Sarr MG. Incidence and management of pancreatic and enteric fistulas after surgical management of severe necrotizing pancreatitis. Arch Surg 1995; 130:48-52.

 Harris H, Barcia A, Schell M, et al. Necrotizing pancreatitis: a surgical approach independent of documented infection.
 HPB (Oxford). 2004; 6:161-168. Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Karen D Horvath,<sup>2</sup> Mika N Sinanan,<sup>2</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>3</sup> Bert van Ramshortst,<sup>4</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

### AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, The Netherlands, <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Surgery University of Washington Medical Center, USA and Depts. of <sup>3</sup>Radiology and <sup>4</sup>Surgery,

St Antonius Hospital Nieuwegein, The Netherlands.

## РА РТЕ В С НА РТЕ В 14

Video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement in infected necrotising pancreatitis: a technical report

> Published in: HPB 2007

### INTRODUCTION

In 2000 Carter et al. reported on minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy in the treatment of infected necrotising pancreatitis (INP).<sup>1</sup> This technique, consisting of endoscopic necrosectomy over a dilated percutaneous drain tract, was later also described by Connor et al.<sup>2</sup> The first results were exciting but the authors stated that the technique might also be associated with drawbacks.<sup>1,2</sup> The pure endoscopic character of the technique makes it a time-consuming effort that requires multiple repeated procedures to remove sufficient necrotic material. In recent years, our groups have adopted video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement (VARD).<sup>3</sup> This technique can be considered a hybrid between pure endoscopic retroperitoneal necrosectomy and the open (20 cm incision) translumbar approach, described by Fagniez et al. in 1989.<sup>4</sup> In this article, we describe the technical aspects of VARD because we feel that this minimally invasive technique carries advantages over other surgical strategies in INP and is not yet known to a wide audience.

### SURGICAL TECHNIQUE

Once infection of (peri-)pancreatic necrosis is either suspected based on contrastenhanced CT scan and clinical status or even confirmed by fine needle aspiration, a 12-14 French percutaneous drain is placed in the (peri-)pancreatic collection through the left retroperitoneum (FIGURE 14.1). If drainage does not lead to clinical improvement (subsidence of organ failure, reduction of temperature, white blood cell count and C-reactive protein), surgical intervention is deemed necessary and the patient is operated upon. Surgery is preferably postponed until after 4 weeks from the onset of the disease. This is considered essential as it allows for (peri-)pancreatic collections to sufficiently demarcate and the wall to mature, thus optimizing conditions for debridement.

The patient is placed in supine position with the left side 30-40° elevated. A subcostal incision of 5 cm is placed in the left flank at the mid-axillary line, close to the exit point of the percutaneous drain (FIGURE 14.2). With the help of CT images and by using the in situ percutaneous drain as a guide into the (peri-)pancreatic collection, the fascia is dissected and the retroperitoneum is entered. The cavity is cleared of purulent material using a standard suction device. The first necrosis encountered is carefully removed with the use of long grasping forceps (FIGURE 14.3). Following



FIGURE 14.1. A percutaneous catheter drain is positioned in the collection through a left retroperitoneal approach.



FIGURE 14.2. A 5 cm subcostal incision is placed in the patient's left flank.



FIGURE 14.3. The first necrosis is removed with a grasping forceps.



FIGURE 14.4. A videoscope is inserted and residual necrosis is removed with a laparoscopic grasping forceps. A single trocar is used.



FIGURE 14.5. VARD allows for large pieces of necrosis to be removed.

the percutaneous drain deeper into the cavity, loose necrotic material is removed while periodic irrigation and consequent suction are performed to enhance vision. When debridement can no longer be performed under direct vision, a single extralong laparoscopic port is placed into the incision and a 0° videoscope is introduced. At this stage CO2 gas (10 l/min) can be infused through the percutaneous drain, still in position, to inflate the cavity, thereby facilitating inspection. Under videoscopic assistance further debridement of retained necrotic tissue is performed with laparoscopic forceps (FIGURE 14.4). Complete necrosectomy is not the ultimate aim of this procedure. Only loosely adherent pieces of necrosis are removed, thereby keeping the risk of tearing underlying blood vessels to a minimum. In the rare case of extensive bleeding, packing of the retroperitoneal cavity should be performed, either as definite treatment or as a bridge to laparotomy or angiographic coiling in the situation of persistent haemorrhage.

When the bulk of necrosis is removed, the cavity is irrigated with saline until the fluid becomes clear. The percutaneous drain is removed and two large-bore single-lumen drains are positioned in the cavity extending through the edges of the incision. The first drain is placed at the deepest point of the cavity and is positioned more shallow. The fascia and skin are closed and the drains are sutured to the skin. Continuous postoperative lavage is performed with 10 litres of normal saline or dialysis fluid per 24 h until the effluent is clear. One week after the procedure repeat CT is performed to evaluate resolution of the collection and to assess whether necrosis is still present.

### DISCUSSION

A recent systematic review showed that mortality after necrosectomy by laparotomy for INP is 15-27%.<sup>5</sup> In several series mortality rates after the open translumbar approach were not superior to laparotomy and major morbidity such as haemorrhage and fistulae occurred in 25-68% of patients.<sup>4,6,7</sup> This high incidence of complications is attributed to the relative blindness of this technique.<sup>8</sup> The concept of necrosectomy under direct vision by video-endoscopy might offer a partial solution to this problem.

Patients with INP are often severely ill and mortality is mainly due to septic multiple organ failure. Necrosectomy by minimally invasive techniques by inducing less preoperative and postoperative physiological stress as compared with laparotomy might be beneficial in these patients.<sup>1</sup>

In recent years several relatively small series (range 6-46 patients) on necrosectomy by minimally invasive retroperitoneal approach have been reported.<sup>1-3,9-12</sup> However, the described techniques show some variation and different nomenclature is used. We find this to be quite confusing. In 1998 Gambiez et al. described the results of the first patients in which they performed necrosectomy through a small (6 cm) left flank incision under visualisation with a mediastinoscope.<sup>11</sup> Castellanos et al. published a prospective series of 11 consecutive patients treated with a technique that involves a 15 cm translumbar incision which they call 'retroperitoneal endoscopy'.<sup>12</sup>

Although comparable to VARD, it is questionable whether the 15 cm incision should be considered 'minimally invasive'.

The alternative method originally reported by Carter et al., which obviated the need for an incision, is known as 'sinus tract endoscopy' (STE).<sup>1</sup> In this technique a percutaneous catheter drain tract is serially dilated to a 30 French tract using fluoroscopic guidance in the operating room and necrosectomy is performed under continuous irrigation using a nephroscope and a long grasping forceps. Connor et al. applied the same technique as STE but use a different term: 'minimally invasive retroperitoneal pancreatic necrosectomy' (MIRPN).<sup>2</sup>

In 2001, the results of the first six patients who underwent VARD in one of our institutions were published.<sup>3</sup> At that time the technique was still called 'laparoscopic assisted percutaneous drainage'. Two minor complications occurred and all patients survived. Recently, an abstract was published on a second series of 13 VARD patients. Complications occurred in 54% of patients and 1 patient died (8%).<sup>13</sup> The various reports on different minimally invasive techniques by other authors show a mean morbidity of 44% (range 0-93%) and mortality of 23% (range 10-27%).<sup>1,2,9-12</sup> However, the type of complications and classification of severity of disease vary greatly, which makes comparison of these retrospective studies difficult.

VARD is essentially a combination of the open translumbar approach and STE and we feel it contains 'the best of both worlds'. Theoretically, it has the advantages of both an open approach and an endoscopic technique without many of the disadvantages. In the series of Connor et al. a median of 3-4 procedures was necessary to remove all infected material,<sup>2,10</sup> which was reflected by a 2 weeks longer postoperative hospital stay.<sup>10</sup> In VARD, the small incision enables the surgeon to remove larger pieces of necrosis (FIGURE 14.5), with a shorter operating time and less need for repetitive procedures. In our experience, the VARD technique is very simple and cost-effective. STE has the additional disadvantage of requiring a C-arm fluoroscopy in the operating room, which has the additional risks of radiation exposure to the patient and the operating team, as well as possible increased costs. Finally, as opposed to the 15 cm incision for the translumbar approach<sup>12</sup>, the 5 cm incision in VARD can still be considered minimally invasive. The use of a videoscope may reduce the risk of complications reported with the open translumbar approach in the past. In our experience, VARD is a relatively easy technique that is applicable in the majority of patients with INP<sup>14</sup> and provides an excellent alternative to necrosectomy by laparotomy. However, life-threatening complications are still possible, necessitating 24 h availability of experienced gastrointestinal surgeons, endoscopists and radiologists. In the absence of large prospective (randomised) studies, the true value of VARD in the treatment of INP obviously remains unclear. For this reason two multicentre studies have been initiated (one single arm<sup>15</sup> and one randomised<sup>16</sup>).

### REFERENCES

- Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW.
   Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience.
   Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-80.
- 2 Connor S, Ghaneh P, Raraty M, Sutton R, Rosso E, Garvey CJ, et al. Minimally invasive retroperitoneal pancreatic necrosectomy. Dig Surg 2003; 20:270-7.
- 3 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Ali A, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. Laparoscopic assisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:677-82.
- 4 Fagniez PL, Rotman N, Kracht M. Direct retroperitoneal approach to necrosis in severe acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1989; 76:264-7.
- 5 Nieuwenhuijs VB, Besselink MG, van Minnen LP, Gooszen HG. Surgical management of acute necrotizing pancreatitis: a 13-year experience and a systematic review. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 2003; 111-16.
- Nakasaki H, Tajima T, Fujii K, Makuuchi H.
   A surgical treatment of infected pancreatic necrosis: retroperitoneal laparotomy.
   Dig Surg 1999; 16:506-11.
- 7 Villazon A. Retroperitoneal drainage in the management of the septic phase of severe acute pancreatitis. World J Surg 1991; 15:408-9.

- Werner J, Feuerbach S, Uhl W, Buchler MW. Management of acute pancreatitis: from surgery to interventional intensive care. Gut 2005; 54:426-36.
- 9 Castellanos G, Pinero A, Serrano A, Parrilla P. Infected pancreatic necrosis: translumbar approach and management with retroperitoneoscopy. Arch Surg 2002; 137:1060-3.
- 10 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 137:499-505.
- Gambiez LP, Denimal FA, Porte HL, Saudemont A, Chambon J-PM, Quandalle PA.
   Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1998; 133:66-72.
- 12 Castellanos G, Pinero A, Serrano A, et al. Translumbar retroperitoneal endoscopy: an alternative in the follow-up and management of drained infected pancreatic necrosis. Arch Surg 2005; 140:952-5.
- 13 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bollen TL, van Leeuwen MS, van Ramshorst B, Gooszen HG. Videoscopic assisted retroperitoneal debridement in infected necrotising pancreatitis as a pilot study to introduce a randomised controlled trial. HPB 2006; 8(Suppl 2):39.

- 14 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Bollen TL, Van Leeuwen MS, Hofker S, Boermeester MA, et al. Minimally invasive approach in acute necrotising pancreatitis: a strategy for a selected subgroup or a potential benefit for all? Dutch Acute Pancreatitis Study Group. Gastroenterology 2005; 128(Suppl 2):A171-2.
- 15 VARD trial, 2005. http://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct/gui/show/NCT 00061269?order-/5.
- 16 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Nieuwenhuijs VB, et al. Dutch Acute Pancreatitis Study Group. Minimally invasive 'step-up approach' versus maximal necrosectomy in patients with acute necrotising pancreatitis (PANTER trial): design and rationale of a randomised controlled multicenter trial [ISRCTN3832 7949]. BMC Surg 2006; 6:6.

Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Alexander F Schaapherder,<sup>2</sup> Bert van Ramshorst,<sup>3</sup> Harry van Goor,<sup>4</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

### AFFILIATIONS

Depts. of Surgery, <sup>1</sup>University Medical Centre Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Leiden University Medical Centre, Leiden, <sup>3</sup>St Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein and <sup>4</sup>Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, The Netherlands.
# РАРТЕ С НАРТЕ 15

Feasibility of minimally invasive approaches in patients with infected necrotising pancreatitis

– a summary –

Published in: British Journal of Surgery 2007

# INTRODUCTION

Minimally invasive procedures to treat infected necrotising pancreatitis (INP) are gaining popularity.<sup>1-3</sup> These approaches include computed tomography (CT) - guided percutaneous catheter drainage<sup>4</sup> and drain-guided minimally invasive (retroperitoneal) surgery.<sup>1-3,5,6</sup> All the minimally invasive procedures (radiological, endoscopic or surgical) have a common first step, with the placement of a drain in the peripancreatic collection. The collections must therefore be accessible for drain placement if minimally invasive approaches are to be widely implemented. However, the proportion of patients suitable for minimally invasive approaches remains unknown.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the intraabdominal distribution, 'accessibility' and 'drainability' of peripancreatic collections in a large series of consecutive patients who had surgery for INP, to see what proportion of patients might be suitable for a Dutch nationwide trial comparing minimally invasive techniques with laparotomy for INP.

# METHODS

Between October 2000 and October 2003, 106 consecutive patients (older than 18 years) who had surgical intervention for suspected INP were identified by a database search in 11 Dutch hospitals. Patients were included in the current study if a preoperative CT scan was available for review.

Scans were reviewed in consensus by two authors (HvS, MB) to classify peripancreatic collections by intra-abdominal location. The distance between the left lateral border of the collection and the left abdominal wall ('inner' abdominal wall, not the skin) was measured using the original metric scale on the CT scan. The collections were classified as follows: left (left lateral border of the collection 5 cm or less from the left abdominal wall), intermediate (left lateral border of the collection more than 5 cm from the left abdominal wall and 5 cm or less from the midline) or central (left lateral border of the collection less than 5 cm from the midline).

Five experienced radiologists from five Dutch tertiary referral centres independently reviewed all preoperative CT scans. They were given the dates of admission, CT scan and first surgical intervention. Each radiologist individually judged the accessibility of the peripancreatic collections for placement of a percutaneous or endosco-

Radiologist	Not possible	Left retro- peritoneum	Right retro- peritoneum	Anterior transperitoneal	Transgastric endoscopic procedure	Total
1	12 (15)	50 (63)	2 (3)	11 (14)	5 (6)	80 (100)
2	9 (11)	57 (71)	0 (0)	9 (11)	5 (6)	80 (100)
3	16 (20)	43 (54)	0 (0)	16 (20)	5 (6)	80 (100)
4	11 (14)	38 (48)	3 (4)	27 (34)	1 (1)	80 (100)
5	18 (23)	35 (44)	1 (1)	19 (24)	7 (9)	80 (100)
Mean	13 (17)	45 (56)	1 (1)	16 (21)	5 (6)	80 (100)

TABLE 15.1. Preferred route of drain placement	pased on appearance by com	puted tomography
--	----------------------------	------------------

Values in parentheses are percentages.

pic transgastric drain in the collection. They were asked the following question, with the possible answers ranked in order on the basis that a left retroperitoneal drain is preferable for performing minimally invasive drain-guided surgery: 'Which route is most feasible and safe for the placement of a 14-French drain in the collection: **a**. through the left retroperitoneal space, **b**. through the right retroperitoneal space, **c**. through the transperitoneal space, **d**. through an endoscopic transgastric entrance or **e**. no route possible?'. Each radiologist then judged whether the peripancreatic collection was 'drainable'. A collection was defined as 'drainable' if it was expected to contain at least 50 ml of aspirate immediately after first drain placement.

The interobserver agreement was calculated using  $\kappa$ -statistics. The mean (± SD)  $\kappa$  coefficient was calculated for all 10 possible radiologist pairs. A  $\kappa$  level less than 0.00 represented no agreement, 0.00-0.20 slight, 0.21-0.40 fair, 0.41-0.60 moderate, 0.61-0.80 substantial and 0.81-1.00 almost perfect agreement.<sup>7</sup>

# RESULTS

CT scans of 80 patients (75%) were available (59 men; age range 29-80 years). The median interval between hospital admission and preoperative CT scan was 20 days. Of the peripancreatic collections, 55 of 80 (69%) were classified as left, 19 (24%) as intermediate and six (8%) as central. Drain placement was considered feasible in 67 of 80 patients (84% [range 77-89%]). The interobserver agreement for accessibility was therefore moderate (mean  $\kappa 0.4 \pm 0.09$ ). In 45 of these 67 patients (67%), it was deemed feasible to place a retroperitoneal drain from the left flank (TABLE 15.1). All radiologists agreed that it would not be possible to place a drain in only two out of

80 patients (2.5%). In 43 patients (54% [range 49-82%]), collections were judged to contain a drainable fluid component. Interobserver agreement on 'drainability' was poor, mean  $\kappa 0.29$  (± 0.10).

# DISCUSSION

The present pilot study for a trial comparing minimally invasive procedures with laparotomy in INP demonstrated that most (84%) peripancreatic collections in INP are accessible from a minimally invasive approach and that more than two-thirds are within 5 cm of the left abdominal wall.

Success rates of percutaneous catheter drainage in INP (defined as obviating the need for surgery) vary from 30 to 100%.<sup>4,8-10</sup> Several variations of minimally invasive 'drain-guided' surgery have been reported<sup>1-3,5</sup> and it has been suggested that minimally invasive procedures are possible only in a subgroup of patients. The present results contradict this, with drainage deemed feasible in 84% of patients.

Agreement on drainability of the peripancreatic collections among radiologists was poor. This probably reflects the fact that CT cannot always discriminate between fluid and necrotic content in INP<sup>11,12</sup>

The wider implementation of minimally invasive procedures for INP should be based on prospective, controlled studies undertaken by dedicated multidisciplinary teams.<sup>13,14</sup> To that end, the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group has recently started a prospective, randomised, multicentre trial to compare the minimally invasive approach with laparotomy in INP.<sup>15</sup>

#### REFERENCES

- Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW.
   Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience.
   Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-180.
- 2 Connor S, Ghaneh P, Raraty M, et al. Minimally invasive retroperitoneal pancreatic necrosectomy. Dig Surg 2003; 20:270-277.
- 3 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. A technique for laparoscopicassisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis and pancreatic abscess. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:1221-1225.
- 4 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous CTguided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-975.
- Castellanos G, Serrano A, Pinero A, et al. Retroperitoneoscopy in the management of drained infected pancreatic necrosis. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 53:514-515.
- 6 Gambiez LP, Denimal FA, Porte HL, Saudemont A, Chambon J-PM, Quandalle PA. Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1998; 133:66-72.
- Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics. 1977; 33:159-174.

- 8 Echenique AM, Sleeman D, Yrizarry J, et al. Percutaneous catheter-directed debridement of infected pancreatic necrosis: results in 20 patients. J Vasc Interv Radiol 1998; 9:565-571.
- Gouzi JL, Bloom E, Julio C, et al.
   [Percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis: an alternative to surgery.]
   Chirurgie 1999; 124:31-37.
- Mithofer K, Mueller PR, Warshaw AL. Interventional and surgical treatment of pancreatic abscess. World J Surg 1997; 21:162-168.
- 11 Morgan DE, Baron TH, Smith JK, Robbin ML, Kenney PJ. Pancreatic fluid collections prior to intervention: evaluation with MR imaging compared with CT and US. Radiology 1997; 203:773-778.
- 12 Ward J, Chalmers AG, Guthrie AJ, Larvin M, Robinson PJ. T2-weighted and dynamic enhanced MRI in acute pancreatitis: comparison with contrast enhanced CT. Clin Radiol 1997; 52:109-114
- UK Working Party on Acute Pancreatitis.
   UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 2005; 54(Suppl 3):iii1-iii9.
- Werner J, Feuerbach S, Uhl W, Buchler MW.
   Management of acute pancreatitis: from surgery to interventional intensive care.
   Gut 2005; 54: 426-436.

#### PART IV

15 Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Nieuwenhuijs VB, et al. Dutch Acute
Pancreatitis Study Group. Minimally invasive
'step-up approach' versus maximal necrosectomy in patients with acute necrotizing pancreatitis (PANTER trial): design and rationale of a randomised controlled multicenter trial [ISRCTN38327949]. BMC Surg 2006; 6:6. Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Marc G Besselink,<sup>1,2</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>3</sup> Erik Buskens,<sup>4</sup> Bert van Ramshorst,<sup>2</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

# AFFILIATIONS

Depts. of <sup>1</sup>Surgery and <sup>4</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, the Netherlands. Dept. of <sup>2</sup>Surgery and <sup>3</sup>Radiology, St Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, the Netherlands.

# РАРТЕ С НАРТЕ 16

Case-matched comparison of the retroperitoneal approach with laparotomy for necrotising pancreatitis

– a summary –

Published in: World Journal of Surgery 2007

# INTRODUCTION

We started using open necrosectomy followed by the open abdomen strategy with planned relaparotomy for necrotising pancreatitis at our institution in 1988.<sup>1</sup> Because of high morbidity and mortality, we switched to open necrosectomy with continuous postoperative lavage (CPL) in 1995.<sup>1,2</sup> In a comparative study, we found that the results of open necrosectomy and CPL still were not satisfactory.<sup>3</sup> As an alternative, in 2001 necrosectomy by the retroperitoneal approach using a small flank incision was introduced. Minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy is gaining popularity for the treatment of necrotising pancreatitis.<sup>46</sup> There is, however, no substantial evidence from comparative studies in favour of this technique over open necrosectomy. Selection bias may account for the favourable outcomes of minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy. A head-to-head comparison (e.g., a case-matched study or a randomised controlled trial) of both techniques has never been performed. We performed a case-matched comparison of the minimally invasive retroperitoneal approach with open necrosectomy and CPL. This retrospective pilot study was undertaken in preparation for a nationwide randomised controlled trial.7

# METHODS

Between 2001 and 2005, there were 15 out of 841 consecutive patients with acute pancreatitis who underwent minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy in the University Medical Centre Utrecht and the St. Antonius Hospital Nieuwegein in the Netherlands. Each of these patients was matched with one out of 46 patients treated with open necrosectomy and CPL in the same hospitals during 1995-2005. Patients were matched for all of the following criteria: 1. organ failure at any time prior to primary necrosectomy (yes or no); 2. infection of pancreatic or peripancreatic necrosis as determined by fine-needle aspiration and/or intraoperative culture (yes or no); 3. timing of surgery: number of days admitted before primary necrosectomy ( $\pm$ 7 days, at least 15 days after admission); 4. age ( $\pm$ 10 years); and 5. CT-severity index<sup>8</sup> ( $\pm$ 2 points). These criteria were chosen because it was anticipated that they reflect the most important prognostic factors. Matching for the date (year) of operation to exclude possible confounding due to time effects was not possible because after 2000 the minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy was increasingly

used. To minimize bias introduced by using "historical controls", open necrosectomy/CPL patients were consecutively enrolled in reversed order (i.e., if more than one open necrosectomy/CPL patient could be matched with a patient in the minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy group, the patient operated on most recently was selected).

# RESULTS

In addition to all matched preoperative characteristics, there were no significant differences between the treatment groups in sex, preoperative intensive care unit (ICU) admission, preoperative ICU stay, preoperative Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACH)-II scores, and preoperative multiple organ failure (MOF). There were 22 men with a median age of 52 years (34-75 years). During the 24 hours preoperatively, 12 patients (40%) had organ failure and 8 (27%) had MOF. The median APACHE-II score 24 hours preoperatively was 9 (range 5-20). The median CT-severity index score was 8 (range 4-10). The median time between admission and primary necrosectomy was 41 days (range 15-164). The indication for intervention was suspected or confirmed infected necrosis in all patients. Infected necrosis was proven by intraoperative culture in 28 patients (93%).

Postoperative complications requiring reintervention occurred in six patients in each group (P=1.000). Postoperative new-onset MOF occurred in 10 patients (67%) in the open necrosectomy/CPL group vs. 2 patients (13%) in the minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy group (P=0.008). Six patients (20%) died in the open necrosectomy/CPL group vs. 1 patient (3%) in the minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy group (P=0.080).

# DISCUSSION

This study is the first case-matched study comparing minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy with open necrosectomy/CPL for necrotising pancreatitis. The main findings are that **1**. postoperative new-onset MOF occurred less often after the minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy and **2**. there was a trend toward lower mortality in the minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy.

A possible explanation for our results is that minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy induces less perioperative and postoperative stress than open necro-

sectomy because a small (5 cm) incision is used, the peritoneum is left intact, and the peritoneal cavity is not contaminated. Several other authors hypothesized that by minimizing the inflammatory 'hit' of necrosectomy the retroperitoneal approach may lessen the risk of postoperative MOF in the already critically ill patient.<sup>4-6</sup> In a similar retrospective study,<sup>9</sup> Connor et al. compared 47 patients undergoing minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy with 41 patients undergoing open necrosectomy: mortality was 19% vs. 39% (P=0.06). Although no differences in postoperative complication rates were observed, the postoperative APACHE-II score was lower and the postoperative ICU stay shorter in their minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy.

Being left with historical controls for comparative studies is not uncommon when new surgical techniques are enthusiastically implemented in clinical practice.<sup>10</sup> This points out the need for randomised controlled trials performed in a timely fashion (i.e., before an experimental technique has become 'routine care' without evidence from well designed comparative studies being available). Although this study represents the highest level of evidence on the subject thus far, the sample size was too small and the risk of selection bias precludes any firm conclusions. Therefore, comparison in a randomised design is warranted, especially when considering the improvement in outcome after open necrosectomy in the recent literature. To address this issue, we have recently started a randomised controlled multicentre trial comparing open necrosectomy/CPL with a minimally invasive step-up approach.<sup>7</sup>

#### REFERENCES

- Bosscha K, Hulstaert PF, Hennipman A, et al. Fulminant acute pancreatitis and infected necrosis: results of open management of the abdomen and 'planned' reoperations. J Am Coll Surg 1998; 187:255-262.
- 2 Beger HG, Buchler M, Bittner R, et al. Necrosectomy and postoperative local lavage in patients with necrotizing pancreatitis: results of a prospective clinical trial. World J Surg 1988; 12:255-262.
- Nieuwenhuijs VB, Besselink MG, van Minnen LP, et al. Surgical management of acute necrotizing pancreatitis: a 13-year experience and a systematic review.
   Scand J Gastroenterol 2003; 239:111-116.
- 4 Gambiez LP, Denimal FA, Porte HL, et al. Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1988; 133:66-72.
- 5 Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW. Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience. Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-180.
- 6 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Ali A, et al. Laparoscopic assisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:677-682.

- 7 Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Nieuwenhuijs VB, et al. Minimally invasive 'step-up approach' versus maximal necrosectomy in patients with acute necrotizing pancreatitis (PANTER trial): design and rationale of a randomised controlled multicenter trial. BMC Surg 2006; 6:6.
- 8 Balthazar EJ, Robinson DL, Megibow AJ, et al. Acute pancreatitis: value of CT in establishing prognosis. Radiology 1990; 174:331-336.
- 9 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 37:499-505.
- 10 Keus F, de Jong JAF, Gooszen HG, et al. Laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy for patients with symptomatic cholecystolithiasis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2004; Issue 4. Art. No. CD006231. DOI 10.1002/14651858. CD006231.

Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Olaf J Bakker,<sup>1</sup> H Sijbrand Hofker,<sup>2</sup> Marja A Boermeester,<sup>3</sup> Cornelis H Dejong,<sup>4</sup> Harry van Goor,<sup>5</sup> Alexander F Schaapherder,<sup>6</sup> Casper H van Eijck,<sup>7</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>8</sup> Bert van Ramshorst,<sup>9</sup> Vincent B Nieuwenhuijs,<sup>2</sup> Robin Timmer,<sup>10</sup> Johan S Laméris,<sup>11</sup> Flip M Kruyt,<sup>12</sup> Eric R Manusama,<sup>13</sup> Erwin van der Harst,<sup>14</sup> George P van der Schelling,<sup>15</sup> Tom Karsten,<sup>16</sup> Eric J Hesselink,<sup>17</sup> Cees J van Laarhoven,<sup>18</sup> Camiel Rosman,<sup>19</sup> Koop Bosscha,<sup>20</sup> Ralph J de Wit,<sup>21</sup> Alexander P Houdijk,<sup>22</sup> Maarten S van Leeuwen,<sup>23</sup> Erik Buskens,<sup>24</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

#### AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, <sup>4</sup>Dept. of Surgery and NUTRIM, Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, <sup>5</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen, <sup>6</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, <sup>7</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, Depts. of <sup>8</sup>Radiology, <sup>9</sup>Surgery, and <sup>10</sup>Gastroenterology, St. Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, <sup>11</sup>Dept. of Radiology, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, <sup>12</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Gelderse Vallei Hospital, Ede, <sup>13</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Leeuwarden Medical Center, <sup>14</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Maasstad Hospital, Rotterdam, <sup>15</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Amphia Medical Center, Breda, <sup>16</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Reinier de Graaf Hospital, Delft, <sup>17</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Gelre Hospital, Apeldoorn, <sup>18</sup>Dept. of Surgery, St. Elisabeth Hospital, Tilburg (currently: Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen), <sup>19</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Canisius Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, <sup>20</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Jeroen Bosch Hospital, Den Bosch, <sup>21</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Medisch Spectrum Twente, Enschede, <sup>22</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Medical Center Alkmaar, Alkmaar, <sup>23</sup>Dept. of Radiology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>24</sup>Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht (currently: Dept. of Epidemiology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen), the Netherlands.

# РАРТЕ В С НАРТЕ В 17

A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotising pancreatitis

Published in: The New England Journal of Medicine 2010

### ABSTRACT

### BACKGROUND

Necrotising pancreatitis with infected necrotic tissue is associated with a high rate of complications and death. Standard treatment is open necrosectomy. The outcome may be improved by a minimally invasive step-up approach.

# METHODS

In this multicentre study, we randomly assigned 88 patients with necrotising pancreatitis and suspected or confirmed infected necrotic tissue to undergo primary open necrosectomy or a step-up approach to treatment. The step-up approach consisted of percutaneous drainage followed, if necessary, by minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy. The primary end point was a composite of major complications (new-onset multiple organ failure or multiple systemic complications, perforation of a visceral organ or enterocutaneous fistula, or bleeding) or death.

# RESULTS

The primary end point occurred in 31 of 45 patients (69%) assigned to open necrosectomy and in 17 of 43 patients (40%) assigned to the step-up approach (risk ratio with the step-up approach, 0.57, 95% confidence interval, 0.38 to 0.87, P=0.006). Of the patients assigned to the step-up approach, 35% were treated with percutaneous drainage only. New-onset multiple organ failure occurred less often in patients assigned to the step-up approach than in those assigned to open necrosectomy (12% vs. 40%, P=0.002). The rate of death did not differ significantly between groups (19% vs. 16%, P=0.70). Patients assigned to the step-up approach had a lower rate of incisional hernias (7% vs. 24%, P=0.03) and new-onset diabetes (16% vs. 38%, P=0.02).

# CONCLUSIONS

A minimally invasive step-up approach, as compared with open necrosectomy, reduced the rate of the composite end point of major complications or death among patients with necrotising pancreatitis and infected necrotic tissue. (Current Controlled Trials number, IRCTN13975868.)

#### INTRODUCTION

Acute pancreatitis is the third most common gastrointestinal disorder requiring hospitalisation in the United States, with annual costs exceeding \$2 billion.<sup>1,2</sup> Necrotising pancreatitis, which is associated with an 8 to 39% rate of death, develops in approximately 20% of patients.<sup>3</sup> The major cause of death, next to early organ failure, is secondary infection of pancreatic or peripancreatic necrotic tissue, leading to sepsis and multiple organ failure.<sup>4</sup> Secondary infection of necrotic tissue in patients with necrotising pancreatitis is virtually always an indication for intervention.<sup>3,5-7</sup>

The traditional approach to the treatment of necrotising pancreatitis with secondary infection of necrotic tissue is open necrosectomy to completely remove the infected necrotic tissue.<sup>8,9</sup> This invasive approach is associated with high rates of complications (34 to 95%) and death (11 to 39%) and with a risk of long-term pancreatic insufficiency.<sup>10-16</sup> As an alternative to open necrosectomy, less invasive techniques, including percutaneous drainage,<sup>17,18</sup> endoscopic (transgastric) drainage,<sup>19</sup> and minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy, are increasingly being used.<sup>14,20-22</sup> These techniques can be performed in a so-called step-up approach.<sup>23</sup> As compared with open necrosectomy, the step-up approach aims at control of the source of infection, rather than complete removal of the infected necrotic tissue. The first step is percutaneous or endoscopic drainage of the collection of infected fluid to mitigate sepsis; this step may postpone or even obviate surgical necrosectomy.<sup>17-19</sup> If drainage does not lead to clinical improvement, the next step is minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy.<sup>14,20-22</sup> The step-up approach may reduce the rates of complications and death by minimizing surgical trauma (i.e., tissue damage and a systemic proinflammatory response) in already critically ill patients.<sup>14,21</sup>

It remains uncertain which intervention in these patients is optimal in terms of clinical utcomes, health care resource utilisation, and costs. We performed a nationwide randomised trial called Minimally Invasive Step Up Approach versus Maximal Necrosectomy in Patients with Acute Necrotising Pancreatitis (PANTER).

# METHODS

#### STUDY DESIGN

The design and rationale of the PANTER study have been described previously.<sup>24</sup>

Adults with acute pancreatitis and signs of pancreatic necrosis, peripancreatic necrosis, or both, as detected on contrast- enhanced computed tomography (CT), were enrolled in 7 university medical centres and 12 large teaching hospitals of the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. Patients with confirmed or suspected infected pancreatic or peripancreatic necrosis were eligible for randomization once a decision to perform a surgical intervention had been made and percutaneous or endoscopic drainage of the fluid collection was deemed possible.

Infected necrotic tissue was defined as a positive culture of pancreatic or peripancreatic necrotic tissue obtained by means of fine-needle aspiration or from the first drainage procedure or operation, or the presence of gas in the fluid collection on contrast-enhanced CT. Suspected infected necrosis was defined as persistent sepsis or progressive clinical deterioration despite maximal support in the intensive care unit (ICU), without documentation of infected necrosis.

The exclusion criteria were a flare-up of chronic pancreatitis, previous exploratory laparotomy during the current episode of pancreatitis, previous drainage or surgery for confirmed or suspected infected necrosis, pancreatitis caused by abdominal surgery, and an acute intraabdominal event (e.g., perforation of a visceral organ, bleeding, or the abdominal compartment syndrome).

Patients were randomly assigned to either primary open necrosectomy or the minimally invasive step-up approach. Randomization was performed centrally by the study coordinator. Permuted-block randomization was used with a concealed block size of four. Randomization was stratified according to the treatment centre and the access route that could be used for drainage (i.e., a retroperitoneal route or only a transabdominal or endoscopic transgastric route).

### STUDY OVERSIGHT

All patients or their legal representatives provided written informed consent before randomization. This investigator-initiated study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The institutional review board of each participating hospital approved the protocol.

#### QUALITY CONTROL

The indication for intervention and the optimal timing of intervention in necroti-

sing pancreatitis are frequently subject to discussion.<sup>25</sup> Therefore, an expert panel consisting of eight gastrointestinal surgeons, one gastroenterologist, and three radiologists was formed. Whenever infected necrosis was suspected or there was any other indication for intervention in a patient, the expert panel received a case description, including CT images, on a standardized form by e-mail. Within 24 hours, the members of the expert panel individually assessed the indication for intervention and the patient's eligibility for randomization.

Whenever possible, the randomization and intervention were postponed until approximately 4 weeks after the onset of disease.<sup>5,6,26,27</sup> All interventions were performed by gastrointestinal surgeons who were experienced in pancreatic surgery and by experienced interventional radiologists and endoscopists. Whenever necessary, the most experienced study clinicians visited the participating centres to assist with interventions.

#### OPEN NECROSECTOMY

The open necrosectomy, originally described by Beger et al.,<sup>8</sup> consisted of a laparotomy through a bilateral subcostal incision. After blunt removal of all necrotic tissue, two large-bore drains for postoperative lavage were inserted, and the abdomen was closed.

# MINIMALLY INVASIVE STEP-UP APPROACH

The first step was percutaneous or endoscopic transgastric drainage. The preferred route was through the left retroperitoneum, thereby facilitating minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy at a later stage, if necessary. If there was no clinical improvement (according to prespecified criteria<sup>24</sup>) after 72 hours and if the position of the drain (or drains) was inadequate or other fluid collections could be drained, a second drainage procedure was performed. If this was not possible, or if there was no clinical improvement after an additional 72 hours, the second step, videoassisted retroperitoneal débridement (VARD) with postoperative lavage,<sup>21,22</sup> was performed. (Details on the step-up approach and postoperative management in both groups are included in the Supplementary Appendix, available with the full text of this article at NEJM.org.)

#### TABLE 17.1. Definitions of morbidity in primary in primary and secondary endpoints

#### Major morbidity

New onset multi organ failure or systemic complications: new-onset failure (i.e., not present at any time in the 24 hr before first intervention) of 2 or more organs or occurrence of 2 or more systemic complications at the same moment in time

#### Organ failure<sup>a</sup>

- Pulmonary failure: PaO<sub>2</sub> <60 mm Hg despite FIO2 of 30%, or need for mechanical ventilation
- Circulatory failure: circulatory systolic blood pressure <90 mm Hg despite adequate fluid resuscitation,
- or need for inotropic catecholamine support
- Renal failure: creatinine level >177  $\mu$ mol/L after rehydration or new need for hemofiltration or hemodialysis

Systemic complications<sup>a</sup>

- Disseminated intravascular coagulation: platelet count <100 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L
- Severe metabolic disturbance: calcium level <1.87 mmol/L
- Gastrointestinal bleeding: >500 ml of blood /24 hours

**Enterocutaneous fistula**: secretion of fecal material from a percutaneous drain or drainage canal after removal of drains or from a surgical wound, either from small or large bowel, confirmed by imaging or during surgery<sup>b</sup>

Perforation of a visceral organ requiring intervention: perforation requiring either surgical, radiological or endoscopic intervention<sup>b</sup>

Intra-abdominal bleeding requiring intervention: bleeding requiring surgical, radiological or endoscopic intervention

#### Other morbidity

**Pancreatic fistula**: output through a percutaneous drain or drainage canal after removal of drains or from a surgical wound of any measurable volume of fluid with an amylase content >3 times the serum amylase level<sup>c</sup>

New-onset diabetes: insulin or oral antidiabetic drugs required 6 months after discharge; this requirement was not present before onset of pancreatitis

**Use of pancreatic enzymes**: oral pancreatic-enzyme supplementation required to treat clinical symptoms of steatorrhea 6 months after discharge; this requirement was not present before onset of pancreatitis

**Incisional hernia**: full-thickness discontinuity in abdominal wall and bulging of abdominal contents, with or without obstruction, 6 months after discharge<sup>d</sup>

d= The original study protocol<sup>24</sup> stated "incisional hernia requiring intervention". Before any analysis, the adjudication committee decided to report incisional hernias with or without intervention because surgical reconstruction of the abdominal wall is usually not performed within 6 months after recovery of necrotising pancreatitis. FIO<sub>2</sub> denotes fraction of inspired oxygen, and PaO<sub>2</sub> partial pressure of arterial oxygen.

a= Adapted from the 1992 Atlanta Classification for acute pancreatitis.<sup>28</sup>

b= Prior to any analysis, the adjudication committee decided to combine the endpoints enterocutaneous fistula and perforation of a visceral organ, because one is often caused by the other and may coexist in the same patient.

c= Adapted from the International Study Group on Pancreatic Fistula Definition (ISGPF) criteria for postoperative pancreatic fistula.<sup>29</sup>

#### END POINTS AND DATA COLLECTION

The predefined primary end point was a composite of major complications (i.e., new-onset multiple organ failure or systemic complications, enterocutaneous fistula or perforation of a visceral organ requiring intervention, or intraabdominal bleeding requiring intervention) (TABLE 17.1) or death during admission or during the 3 months after discharge. The individual components of the primary end point were analysed as secondary end points. Secondary end points also included other complications (TABLE 17.1), health care resource utilisation, and total direct medical costs and indirect costs from admission until 6 months after discharge (details are available in the Supplementary Appendix).

Follow-up visits took place 3 and 6 months after discharge. Data collection was performed by local physicians using Internet-based case-record forms. An independent auditor who was unaware of the treatment assignments checked all completed caserecord forms against on-site source data. Discrepancies detected by the auditor were resolved on the basis of a consensus by two investigators who were unaware of the study-group assignments and were not involved in patient care. All CT scans were prospectively evaluated by one experienced radiologist who was unaware of the treatment assignments and outcomes.

A blinded outcome assessment was performed by an adjudication committee consisting of eight experienced gastrointestinal surgeons who independently reviewed all data regarding complications. Disagreements were resolved during a plenary consensus meeting with concealment of the treatment assignments.

### STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

We calculated that we would need to enroll 88 patients<sup>24</sup> in order to detect a 64% relative reduction in the rate of the composite primary end point with the step-up approach (from 45% to 16%), with a power of 80% and a two-sided alpha level of 0.05. The large risk reduction with the step-up approach was expected on the basis of results from a Dutch nationwide retrospective multicentre study<sup>30</sup> and other previous studies.<sup>17,31</sup> Moreover, a larger sample was not thought to be feasible because necrotising pancreatitis with secondary infection is uncommon.

All analyses were performed according to the intention-to-treat principle. The occurrences of the primary and secondary end points were compared between the



FIGURE 17.1. Enrollment, randomization, and follow-up of the study patients. VARD denotes video-assisted retroperitoneal débridement.

treatment groups. Results are presented as risk ratios with corresponding 95% confidence intervals. Differences in other outcomes were assessed with the use of the Mann-Whitney U test.

Predefined subgroup analyses were performed for the presence or absence of organ failure at randomization and the timing of intervention ( $\leq 28$  days or >28 days after

the onset of symptoms). A formal test of interaction in a logistic-regression model was used to assess whether treatment effects differed significantly between the subgroups.

No interim analysis was performed. As a precautionary measure, an independent biostatistician who was unaware of the study-group assignments performed sequential monitoring<sup>32</sup> of the major complications and deaths reported during the trial (details are available in the Supplementary Appendix).

All reported P values are two-sided and have not been adjusted for multiple testing.

# RESULTS

#### STUDY PARTICIPANTS

Between November 3, 2005, and October 29, 2008, a total of 378 patients with acute pancreatitis who had signs of pancreatic necrosis, peripancreatic necrosis, or both were enrolled in the study. A total of 88 patients were randomly assigned to a treatment group (FIGURE 17.1). Baseline characteristics of the treatment groups were similar (TABLE 17.2). Of the 45 patients assigned to primary open necrosectomy, 44 underwent a primary laparotomy. In one patient, who had previously undergone esophagectomy, it was decided after randomization that laparotomy would potentially compromise the gastric conduit. Therefore, primary VARD without previous percutaneous drainage was performed.

Patients underwent a median of 1 open necrosectomy (range, 1 to 7). Nineteen patients (42%) required one or more additional laparotomies for additional necrosectomy because of ongoing sepsis (in eight patients), complications (in five patients) or both (in six patients). Fifteen patients (33%) required additional percutaneous drainage after laparotomy.

#### MINIMALLY INVASIVE STEP-UP APPROACH

Forty of 43 patients assigned to the step-up approach (93%) underwent retroperitoneal percutaneous drainage; 1 patient (2%) underwent transabdominal percutaneous drainage and 2 patients (5%) underwent endoscopic transgastric drainage. After the first 72 hours of observation, 19 patients (44%) underwent a second drainage procedure. Details of the drainage procedures are available in the Supplementary Appendix.

TABLE 17.2. Baseline characteristics of the patients			
Characteristic	Minimally invasive step-up approach (n=43)	Primary open necrosectomy (n=45)	P value
Age - yr	57.6 (±2.1)	57.4 (±2.0)	0.94
Male sex - no. (%)	31 (72)	33 (73)	0.89
Cause of pancreatitis - no. (%)			0.98
Gallstones	26 (60)	29 (64)	
Alcohol abuse	3 (7)	5 (11)	
Other	14 (33)	11 (24)	
Coexisting condition - no. (%)			
Cardiovascular disease	19 (44)	21 (47)	0.82
Pulmonary disease	4 (9)	4 (9)	0.95
Chronic renal insufficiency	3 (7)	2 (4)	0.61
Diabetes	5 (12)	4 (9)	0.67
ASA class on admission - no. $(\%)^a$			0.99
I: healthy status	11 (26)	11 (24)	
II: mild systemic disease	19 (44)	20 (44)	
III: severe systemic disease	13 (30)	14 (31)	
Body-mass index on admission - kg/m <sup>2 b</sup>	28 (20-55)	27 (22-39)	0.12
Computed tomography <sup>c</sup>			
CT-severity index <sup>d</sup>	8 (4-10)	8 (4-10)	0.95
Extent of pancreatic necrosis - no. (%)			0.52
<30%	17 (40)	19 (42)	
30% - 50%	14 (33)	10 (22)	
>50%	12 (28)	16 (36)	
Necrosis extending > 5cm down the paracolic gutter - no. (%)	24 (56)	27 (60)	0.69
Retroperitoneal access route to collection possible - no. (%)	40 (93)	40 (89)	0.50
Disease severity <sup>e</sup>			
SIRS - no. (%) <sup>f</sup>	42 (98)	45 (100)	0.49
Admitted on ICU at time of randomization - no. ( $^{96}$ )	23 (54)	21 (47)	0.52
Admitted on ICU at anytime before randomization - no. (%)	28 (65)	29 (64)	0.95

Organ failure - no. (%)	21 (49)	22 (49)	0.99
Multiple organ failure - no. (%)	15 (35)	13 (29)	0.55
Positive blood culture within previous 7 days - no. ( $^{96}$ )	14 (33)	15 (33)	0.94
Positive blood culture at anytime before randomization - no. (%)	22 (51)	25 (56)	0.68
APACHE II score <sup>g</sup>	14.6 (±6.1)	15.0 (±5.3)	0.75
APACHE II score ≥20 - no. (%)	10 (23)	9 (20)	0.71
MODS <sup>h</sup>	2 (0-9)	1 (0-10)	0.71
SOFA score <sup>i</sup>	3 (0-11)	2 (0-12)	0.39
C-reactive protein - mg/L	213.6 (±106)	215.9 (±111)	0.93
White blood cell count - x 10°/liter	17.6 (±10.6)	15.9 (±6.3)	0.38
Time since onset of symptoms - days	30 (11-71)	29 (12-155)	0.86
Antibiotic treatment at anytime before randomization - no. (%)	37 (86)	38 (84)	0.83
Nutritional support at anytime before randomization - no. (%)			0.92
Enteral feeding only	23 (54)	23 (51)	
Parenteral feeding only	3 (7)	4 (9)	
Enteral feeding and parenteral feeding	12 (28)	11 (24)	
Oral diet	5 (12)	7 (16)	
Tertiary referrals - no. (%)	21 (49)	23 (51)	0.83
Confirmed infected necrotic tissue - no. (%) <sup>j</sup>	39 (91)	42 (93)	0.65
Continuous data are means (±5D), or medians (range). a = American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA). b= The body-mass index is the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the heigh c= Data were derived from the CT performed just before randomization. d = Scores on the CT severity index range from 0 to 10, with higher scores indicating m e= Data were based on maximum values during 24 hours before randomization unless f= The systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) was defined according to the American College of Chest Physicians-Society of Critical Care Medicine. g = Scores on the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) II scores rai h= The Multiple organ dysfunction score (MODS) ranges from 0 to 24, with higher score	t in meters. ore extensive pancreatic necrosi stated otherwise. consensus-conference criteria of ge from 0 to 71, with higher scc ss indicating more severe organ	s and peripancreatic fluid collections. the ores indicating more severe disease. dysfunction.	

Scores on the Sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) scale range from 0 to 24, with higher scores indicating more severe organ dysfunction. .<u>..</u>...

Infected necrotic tissue was defined as a positive culture of pancreatic or peripancreatic necrotic tissue obtained by means of fine-needle aspiration or from the first drainage procedure or operation, or the presence of gas in the fluid collection on contrast-enhanced CT. Fifteen patients (35%) survived after percutaneous or endoscopic drainage only, without the need for necrosectomy. The condition of two patients with progressive multiple organ failure was too unstable for surgery, and they subsequently died. The remaining 26 patients (60%) underwent necrosectomy a median of 10 days (range 1 to 52) after percutaneous drainage. A VARD procedure was performed in 24 of the patients, and the other 2 patients underwent primary laparotomy according to the protocol because there was no retroperitoneal access route. A median of 1 VARD procedure (range 0 to 3) was performed in each patient. In one patient, VARD was intraoperatively converted to laparotomy because it was not possible to reach the pancreatic necrosis through the retroperitoneum.

Fourteen patients (33%) required one or more additional operations for further necrosectomy (five patients), complications (seven patients), or both (two patients). Seven of the 26 patients who underwent necrosectomy (27%) required percutaneous drainage afterward.

#### CLINICAL END POINTS

The primary and secondary end points are listed in TABLE 17.3. The composite primary end point of major complications or death occurred in 31 of 45 patients after primary open necrosectomy (69%) and in 17 of 43 patients after the step-up approach (40%) (risk ratio with the step-up approach, 0.57, 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.38 to 0.87, P=0.006). All major complications tended to occur more frequently after primary open necrosectomy than after the step-up approach, although the difference was significant only for the composite end point of new-onset multiple organ failure or multiple systemic complications (P=0.001). This difference was mainly driven by the occurrence of organ failure (TABLE 17.3).

The rate of death between the two study groups did not differ significantly (P=0.70) (TABLE 17.3). A total of 15 patients in the study died (17%): 8 patients in the step-up group (19%) and 7 patients in the open-necrosectomy group (16%). The causes of death were multiple organ failure in seven patients in the step-up group and six patients in the open-necrosectomy group, postoperative bleeding in one patient in the step-up group and no patients in the open-necrosectomy group, and respiratory failure due to pneumonia in no patients in the step-up group and one patient in the open-necrosectomy group.

Outcome	Minimally invasive step-up approach (n=43)	necroséctómy (n=45)	Risk Ratio (95%-CI)	P value
Primary endpoint: major morbidity or death - no. ( $\%$ ) $^{a}$	17 (40)	31 (69)	0.57 (0.38-0.87)	0.006
Secondary endpoints				
Major complication - no. (%)				
New-onset multiple organ failure or systemic complications <sup>b</sup>	5 (12)	19 (42)	0.28 (0.11-0.67)	0.001
Multiple organ failure	5 (12)	18 (40)		
Multiple systemic complications	0 (0)	1 (2)		
Intraabdominal bleeding requiring intervention	7 (16)	10 (22)	0.73 (0.31-1.75)	0.48
Enterocutaneous fistula or perforation of a visceral organ				
requiring intervention	6 (14)	10 (22)	0.63 (0.25-1.58)	0.32
Death - no. (%)	8 (19)	7 (16)	1.20 (0.48-3.01)	0.70
Other outcome - no. (%)				
Pancreatic fistula	12 (28)	17 (38)	0.74 (0.40-1.36)	0.33
Incisional hernia?	3 (7)	11 (24)	0.29 (0.09-0.95)	0.03
New-onset diabetes <sup>c</sup>	7 (16)	17 (38)	0.43 (0.20-0.94)	0.02
Use of pancreatic enzymes <sup>c</sup>	3 (7)	15 (33)	0.21 (0.07-0.67)	0.002
Health care utilisation				
Necrosectomies (laparotomy or VARD) - no. (%)				<0.001
0	17 (40)	(0) 0		
-	19 (44)	31 (69)		
2	6 (14)	8 (18)		
23	1 (2)	6 (13)		
Total no. of operations (range per patient) <sup>d</sup>	53 (0-6)	91 (1-7)		0.004
Total no. of drainage procedures (range per patient) <sup>e</sup>	82 (1-7)	32 (0-6)		<0.001
New ICU admission at anytime after first				
intervention - no. (%) <sup>f</sup>	7 (16)	18 (40)	0.41 (0.19-0.88)	0.01
Days in ICU	9 (0-281)	11 (0-111)		0.26
Days in hospital	50 (1-287)	60 (1-247)		0.53

At the 6-month follow-up, patients who had undergone primary open necrosectomy, as compared with patients who had been treated with the step-up approach, had a higher rate of incisional hernias (24% vs. 7%, P=0.03), new-onset diabetes (38% vs. 16%, P=0.02), and use of pancreatic enzymes (33% vs. 7%, P=0.002).

### HEALTH CARE RESOURCE UTILISATION AND COSTS

Utilisation of health care resources for operations (i.e., necrosectomies and reinterventions for complications) was lower in the group of patients who were treated with the step-up approach than in the group of patients who underwent primary open necrosectomy (P=0.004) (TABLE 17.3). After primary open necrosectomy, 40% of patients required a new ICU admission, as compared with 16% of patients who had been treated with the step-up approach (P=0.01).

The mean total of direct medical costs and indirect costs per patient during admission and at the 6-month follow-up was  $\notin$ 78,775 (\$116,016) for the step-up approach and  $\notin$ 89,614 (\$131,979) for open necrosectomy, for a mean absolute difference of  $\notin$ 10,839 (\$15,963) per patient. Thus, the step-up approach reduced costs by 12% (details of costs are available in the Supplementary Table in the Supplementary Appendix).

# PREDEFINED SUBGROUP ANALYSES

Treatment effects with respect to the primary end point were similar across the subgroups on the basis of organ failure at the time of randomization and the timing of intervention ( $\leq 28$  days or >28 days after the onset of symptoms). None of the tests for interaction were significant (P>0.05).

# DISCUSSION

This study showed that the minimally invasive step-up approach, as compared with primary open necrosectomy, reduced the rate of the composite end point of major complications or death, as well as long-term complications, health care resource utilisation, and total costs, among patients who had necrotising pancreatitis and confirmed or suspected secondary infection. With the step-up approach, more than one third of patients were successfully treated with percutaneous drainage and did not require major abdominal surgery. There are several possible explanations for the favourable outcome of the step-up approach. First, as we postulated when designing the study,<sup>24</sup> infected necrosis may be similar to an abscess because both contain infected fluid (pus) under pressure. Although a true abscess is more easily resolved with percutaneous drainage because it is composed entirely of liquid, simple drainage may also be sufficient to treat infected necrotic tissue. After the infected fluid is drained, the pancreatic necrosis can be left in situ, an approach that is similar to the treatment of necrotising pancreatitis without infection. This hypothesis apparently holds true, since 35% of our patients who were treated with the step-up approach did not require necrosectomy. Second, it has been suggested that minimally invasive techniques provoke less surgical trauma (i.e., tissue injury and a proinflammatory response) in patients who are already severely ill.<sup>14,20,21</sup> This hypothesis is supported by the substantial reduction in the incidence of new-onset multiple organ failure in our step-up group. Third, in the attempt to completely débride necrosis, viable pancreatic parenchyma may be unintentionally removed. This could explain why, at the 6-month follow-up, significantly more patients who underwent primary open necrosectomy had new-onset diabetes or were taking pancreatic enzymes. For pragmatic reasons, we defined pancreatic insufficiency on the basis of the use of pancreatic-enzyme supplements to treat clinical symptoms of pancreatic insufficiency instead of objective analyses of exocrine insufficiency (e.g., the fecal elastase test). It is possible that some of these patients did not have exocrine insufficiency, although the rate of pancreatic-enzyme supplementation in the opennecrosectomy group is consistent with data on exocrine insufficiency after open necrosectomy.15

Our findings are consistent with observations from several retrospective studies. It has been suggested previously that percutaneous drainage can be performed in almost every patient who has necrotising pancreatitis with infection and obviates the need for necrosectomy in approximately half the patients.<sup>17,18,33</sup> Several authors have reported promising results of minimally invasive necrosectomy,<sup>14,20,22</sup> including endoscopic procedures.<sup>19,34,36</sup> Most studies, however, included only a small number of patients and may have unintentionally selected patients who were less ill than the patients treated with open necrosectomy or were better candidates for minimally invasive techniques. In contrast, the current study was randomised and included a relatively large number of patients, with a high incidence of confirmed infected

necrotic tissue and organ failure at the time of intervention.

The benefit of the step-up approach in terms of preventing major abdominal surgery and associated complications, such as multiple organ failure requiring ICU admission, is of obvious importance. The reduction in long-term complications, including new-onset diabetes and incisional hernias, is also clinically relevant. Diabetes due to necrotising pancreatitis is known to worsen over time.<sup>15</sup> Moreover, secondary complications from diabetes have a considerable effect on the quality of life and potentially on life expectancy. Incisional hernias often cause disabling discomfort and pain, carry a risk of small-bowel strangulation, and frequently require surgical intervention.<sup>37</sup> Aside from these clinical implications, the estimated economic benefit from reduced health care resource utilisation and costs may be substantial. Approximately 233,000 patients are admitted with a new diagnosis of acute pancreatitis in the United States each year,<sup>38</sup> and necrotising pancreatitis with secondary infection develops in about 5% of these patients.<sup>3,28</sup> On the basis of these numbers, the step-up approach may reduce annual costs in the United States by \$185 million.

The nationwide multicentre setting of our study and the applicability of the minimally invasive techniques provide support for the generalisability of its results. Percutaneous catheter drainage is a relatively easy and well-established radiological procedure. VARD is considered a fairly straightforward procedure that can be performed by any gastrointestinal surgeon with basic laparoscopic skills and experience in pancreatic necrosectomy.<sup>21,22</sup>

Our study specifically compared two treatment strategies and does not provide a direct comparison of open necrosectomy with minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy. Although there are theoretical advantages of a minimally invasive approach, we have not proved that VARD is superior to open necrosectomy in patients in whom percutaneous drainage has failed.

This study was not designed or powered to demonstrate a difference in the rate of death between the two treatment strategies. A study showing a clinically relevant difference in mortality would require thousands of patients and is not likely to be performed.

Our results indicate that the preferred treatment strategy for patients with necrotising pancreatitis and secondary infection, from both a clinical and an economic point of view, is a minimally invasive step-up approach consisting of percutaneous drainage followed, if necessary, by minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the study research nurses, Anneke Roeterdink and Vera Zeguers, for their tremendous work, all medical and nursing staff in the participating centres for their assistance in enrollment and care of patients in this study, the patients and their families for their contributions to the study, and Ale Algra and Marco Bruno for critically reviewing an earlier version of the manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Hansen RA, Morgan DR, et al. The burden of gastrointestinal and liver diseases, 2006.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2128-38.
- 2 Fagenholz PJ, Fernández-del Castillo C, Harris NS, Pelletier AJ, Camargo CA Jr. Direct medical costs of acute pancreatitis hospitalizations in the United States. Pancreas 2007; 35:302-7.
- Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-400.
- 4 Whitcomb DC. Acute pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 2006; 354:2142-50.
- 5 Uhl W, Warshaw A, Imrie C, et al. IAP guidelines for the surgical management of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2002; 2:565-73.
- Nathens AB, Curtis JR, Beale RJ, et al.
   Management of the critically ill patient with severe acute pancreatitis.
   Crit Care Med 2004; 32:2524-36.
- 7 Forsmark CE, Baillie J, AGA Institute Clinical Practice and Economics Committee, AGA Institute Governing Board. AGA Institute technical review on acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-44.
- 8 Beger HG, Büchler M, Bittner R, Oettinger W, Block S, Nevalainen T. Necrosectomy and postoperative local lavage in patients with necrotizing pancreatitis: results of a prospective clinical trial. World J Surg 1988; 12:255-62.

- 9 Traverso LW, Kozarek RA. Pancreatic necrosectomy: definitions and technique.
   J Gastrointest Surg 2005; 9:436-9.
- 10 Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19-year, single-center series. Surgery 2005; 138:28-39.
- 11 Büchler MW, Gloor B, Müller CA, Friess H, Seiler CA, Uhl W. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis: treatment strategy according to the status of infection. Ann Surg 2000; 232:619-26.
- 12 Rodriguez JR, Razo AO, Targarona J, et al. Debridement and closed packing for sterile or infected necrotizing pancreatitis: insights into indications and outcomes in 167 patients. Ann Surg 2008; 247:294-9.
- Ashley SW, Perez A, Pierce EA, et al.
   Necrotizing pancreatitis: contemporary analysis of 99 consecutive cases.
   Ann Surg 2001; 234:572-9.
- 14 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 137: 499-505.
- 15 Tsiotos GG, Luque-de León E, Sarr MG. Longterm outcome of necrotizing pancreatitis treated by necrosectomy. Br J Surg 1998; 85:1650-3.
- 16 Howard TJ, Patel JB, Zyromski N, et al. Declining morbidity and mortality rates in the surgical management of pancreatic necrosis. J Gastrointest Surg 2007; 11:43-9.

- 17 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous CTguided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-75.
- 18 Baril NB, Ralls PW, Wren SM, et al. Does an infected peripancreatic fluid collection or abscess mandate operation? Ann Surg 2000; 231:361-7.
- 19 Papachristou GI, Takahashi N, Chahal P, Sarr MG, Baron TH. Peroral endoscopic drainage/debridement of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Ann Surg 2007; 245: 943-51.
- 20 Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW. Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience. Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-80.
- 21 van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Horvath KD, et al. Videoscopic assisted retroperitoneal debridement in infected necrotizing pancreatitis. HPB (Oxford) 2007; 9:156-9.
- 22 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Ali A, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. Laparoscopic assisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:677-82.
- 23 Windsor JA. Minimally invasive pancreatic necrosectomy. Br J Surg 2007; 94:132-3.
- 24 Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Nieuwenhuijs VB, et al. Minimally invasive 'step-up approach' versus maximal necrosectomy in patients with acute necrotising pancreatitis (PANTER trial): design and rationale of a randomised controlled multicenter trial [ISRCTN13975868]. BMC Surg 2006; 6:6.

- 25 Connor S, Raraty MG, Neoptolemos JP, et al. Does infected pancreatic necrosis require immediate or emergency debridement? Pancreas 2006; 33:128-34.
- 26 Fernández-del Castillo C, Rattner DW, Makary MA, Mostafavi A, McGrath D, Warshaw AL. Debridement and closed packing for the treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis. Ann Surg 1998; 228:676-84.
- 27 Besselink MG, Verwer TJ, Schoenmaeckers EJ, et al. Timing of surgical intervention in necrotizing pancreatitis. Arch Surg 2007; 142:1194-201.
- 28 Bradley EL III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis: summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, GA, September 11-13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128: 586-90.
- 29 Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, et al. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery 2005; 138:8-13.
- 30 Besselink MG, de Bruijn MT, Rutten HG. Surgical intervention in patients with necrotizing pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2006; 93:593-9.
- 31 van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bollen TL, Buskens E, van Ramshorst B, Gooszen HG. Case-matched comparison of the retroperitoneal approach with laparotomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. World J Surg 2007; 31:1635-42.
- 32 Bolland K, Whitehead J. Formal approaches to safety monitoring of clinical trials in lifethreatening conditions. Stat Med 2000; 19:2899-917.

- Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Schaapherder AF, van Ramshorst B, van Goor H, Gooszen HG. Feasibility of minimally invasive approaches in patients with infected necrotizing pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2007; 94:604-8.
- 34 Charnley RM, Lochan R, Gray H, O'Sullivan CB, Scott J, Oppong KE. Endoscopic necrosectomy as primary therapy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis. Endoscopy 2006; 38:925-8.
- 35 Seifert H, Biermer M, Schmitt W, et al. Transluminal endoscopic necrosectomy after acute pancreatitis: a multicentre study with longterm follow-up (the GEPARD Study). Gut 2009; 58:1260-6.
- 36 Gardner TB, Chahal P, Papachristou GI, et al. A comparison of direct endoscopic necrosectomy with transmural endoscopic drainage for the treatment of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Gastrointest Endosc 2009; 69:1085-94.
- 37 Luijendijk RW, Hop WC, van den Tol MP, et al. A comparison of suture repair with mesh repair for incisional hernia. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:392-8.
- 38 DeFrances CJ, Lucas CA, Buie VC, Golosinskiy A. National Hospital Discharge Survey. Natl Health Stat Report 2008; 5:1-20.

# S U P P L E M E N T A R Y A P P E N D I X T O :

A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotising pancreatitis

#### METHODS

# MINIMALLY INVASIVE STEP-UP APPROACH

# Step 1: percutaneous or endoscopic drainage

A percutaneous drain was placed in the peripancreatic collection under guidance of CT or ultrasound (step 1a). Minimal drain size was 12-French and multiple drains were allowed. The preferred route was through the left retroperitoneum, thereby facilitating minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy at a later stage. Transabdominal drainage was performed if a retroperitoneal access route for drainage was not possible. Details on the percutaneous drainage procedures and irrigation protocol have been described elsewhere.<sup>1</sup> Only if neither retroperitoneal nor transabdominal drainage was possible, was endoscopic transgastric drainage performed. For the endoscopic drainage procedures, the collections were punctured with a 19 Gauge needle (Cook). A standard 0.035 inch guidewire was introduced through the needle into the collection, after which the needle was removed. Over the guidewire the outside sheet of a 7 Fr cystotome (Cook) was introduced into the collection using cutting current. Thereafter the tract was dilated with a 8-mm Maxforce dilation balloon (Boston Scientific). Thereafter, 2 double-pigtail plastic stents (7 French, 4 or 5 cm) and a nasocystic catheter were placed in the infected collection. For irrigation the drains were flushed with a bolus of 250 cc of normal saline four times a day.

The next treatment step depended on whether or not the patient's condition improved. *Clinical improvement* was defined as follows: **1**. on ICU: improved function of at least two organ systems (i.e., circulatory, pulmonary, renal) and **2**. on the ward: at least 10% improvement of two out of three of the following parameters: temperature, white blood cell count and C-reactive protein. In absence of clinical improvement after 72 hours, CT was repeated. If the position of the drain(s) was inadequate or other collections could be drained, a drainage procedure was repeated once (**step 1b**) with reassessment after the next 72 hours, if not; minimally invasive necrosectomy was the next step (**step 2**).

If at any moment after the first and second 72 hours following percutaneous drainage, a patient who initially stabilised failed to show further clinical improvement or even clinically deterioration (according to the predefined criteria), minimally invasive necrosectomy was also performed.
# Step 2: minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy

Videoscopic assisted retroperitoneal debridement (VARD) was performed via a 5 cm incision according to the previously published technique.<sup>2,3</sup> Using the retroperitoneal drain for guidance, only loosely adherent necrosis was removed from the collection with videoscopic assistance after which two large bore drains were inserted. If VARD was technically not possible, (i.e., no retroperitoneal access route), laparotomy was performed according to the technique used in the open necrosectomy group.

# POSTOPERATIVE MANAGEMENT

Continuous postoperative lavage amounting up to at least 10 L per 24 hours on the third postoperative day was performed both after open necrosectomy and VARD. All patients underwent contrast-enhanced CT one week after randomization. Other CT scans were performed on demand. Reinterventions for persisting sepsis or complications were performed on demand and, if possible, in accordance with the strategy the patient was initially assigned to. All patients received intravenous antibiotics (imipenem/ cilastatin, meropenem or piperacillin/tazobactam depending on treatment centre) after randomization, which were switched according to culture results. Nutritional support was also standardized.<sup>1</sup>

# COSTS

Cost-minimization analysis was used to determine economic differences between the minimally invasive step-up approach and primary open necrosectomy. Costs were estimated from a societal perspective.<sup>4</sup> Direct medical costs and indirect costs related to absence from work were estimated during admission and 6 months follow-up. Primary data were used to assess the use of health care resources. In addition, at 3 and 6 months after discharge, patients filled out the validated Health and Labor questionnaire<sup>5</sup> and a diary to capture additional resource use. Costs were assessed according to the Dutch guidelines for (pharmaco-)economic research.<sup>6</sup> Guideline unit costs were used for ICU stay, hospital stay, medication (i.e., antibiotics during admission and antidiabetic medication and pancreatic enzymes during follow-up), visits to primary and outpatient health care clinicians, home care and admission to rehabilitation centres or nursing homes.<sup>6,7</sup> Unit costs for operations, radiological procedures, endoscopic procedures and microbiology diagnostics were calculated at one of the university hospitals in 2008 and included all personnel costs, costs of materials, costs of equipment, and overhead costs. Productivity losses due to absence from paid work were calculated according to the cost friction method.<sup>8</sup> Costs per patient were calculated by multiplying volumes of resource with unit costs.<sup>4</sup> All costs were set at the year 2008 price level using the price index rate of the Dutch health care sector.

# STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The original study protocol<sup>1</sup> stated that, for safety reasons, continuous sequential monitoring would be performed on mortality and major morbidity included in the primary endpoint. An independent biostatistician who was blinded for treatment allocation performed continuous sequential analysis on mortality and major morbidity reported during the trial. The analysis was performed with PEST (PEST 4: user manual. MPS Research Unit (2000), the University of Reading) according to the restricted procedure as described by Whitehead.<sup>9,10</sup> The boundaries for the sequential analysis plot were based on the assumption that the minimally invasive step-up approach would reduce the occurrence of the primary endpoint from 45% to 16%, with 80% power and a two-sided alpha level of 0.05. A conventional sample size analysis yielded a total study population of 88 patients.

If one of the boundaries of the sequential analysis plot was crossed during the analysis of the cumulative data, meaning that the difference in treatment was of at least the predefined expected magnitude (in either direction), the biostatistician would inform the independent monitoring committee which would advise the steering committee on continuation or termination of the study. If the boundaries would not be crossed during the study, the trial would continue until the total of 88 patients was randomised. The prespecified boundaries guarantee the type I error wherever they are crossed.

The prespecified boundaries were not crossed during the period of patient enrollment and consequently the independent monitoring committee and the steering committee were not informed of results of the sequential analysis. The outcome of the sequential analysis was only known to the independent biostatistician.

Early on in the trial it became apparent that the sequential analysis suffered from

	Minimally step-up appr	r invasive oach (n=43)	Primary necrosecton	/ open ny (n=45)	Differer	nce*
	Total costs	Mean cost per patient	Total costs	Mean costs per patient	Mean per patien	n costs nt (95% CI)
During admission						
Hospital stay	965,294	22,449	988,503	21,967	-482 (-8,	135-7,171)
ICU stay	1,247,952	29,022	1,326,387	29,475	453 (-20	0,850-21,756)
Necrosectomies (VARD or laparotomy)	84,258	1,960	173,472	3,855	1,896 (88	1-2910)
Other operations	46,623	1,084	113,628	2,525	1,441 (60-	-2823)
Drainage procedures (endoscopic and percutaneous)	33,348	776	13,592	302	-474 (-69	98-249)
Radiological procedures (except drainage)	72,027	1,675	95,735	2,127	452 (-36	58-1272)
Endoscopic procedures (except drainage)	11,990	279	28,323	629	351 (-15	58-859)
Microbiology	35,503	826	54,521	1,212	386 (-85	5-857)
Medication	96,557	2,245	138,964	3,088	843 (-44	41-2126)
Absence from work	283,679	6,597	297,417	6,609	12 (-44	428-4451)
During 6 months follow- up						
Visits to general practitioner	6,039	140	10,255	228	88 (13-	-162)
Visits to outpatient clinic	21,573	502	35,251	783	282 (55-	-508)
Readmissions to hospital	67,528	1,570	91,710	2,038	468 (-95	93-1,928)
Admission to rehabilitation centre	145,325	3,380	162,808	3,618	238 (-4,	495-4,972)
Admission to nursing home	53,066	1,234	133,215	2,960	1,726 (-1,7	275-4,727)
Operations	28,360	660	34,979	777	118 (-71	16-952)
Endoscopic procedures	6,915	161	10,850	241	80 (-27	71-432)
Diagnostic procedures	9,740	227	13,930	310	83 (-51	1-217)
Microbiology	1,155	27	513	5	-16 (-35	5-4)
Medication	4,368	102	12,602	280	179 (59-	-298)
Home care	7,122	166	6,301	140	-26 (-13	39-87)
Physiotherapy	7,939	185	11,080	246	62 (-10	04-228)
Aids	339	ø	570	13	5 (-12	2-22)
Absence from work	152,302	3,542	283,038	6,290	2,748 (-1,	444-6,940)
Total direct medical and indirect costs	3,387,335	78,775	4,032,648	89,614	10,839 (-23	3,878-45,556)

significant delay because only data on mortality and evident major morbidity reported by local investigators could be sent to the biostatistician, whereas a patient could only be analysed as not having an endpoint once the follow-up period of 3 months after discharge was completed and data collection was complete. Moreover, it was anticipated that, once the data were checked by the independent auditor, morbidity endpoints could be found in patients who were already analysed by the biostatistician as not having an endpoint. Therefore, it was decided that, instead of the sequential monitoring of the provisionally audited primary outcomes, a conventional analysis would be performed after the last patient completed 3 months follow-up and all data were checked by the auditor. Prior to this analysis, an adjudication committee consisting of eight experienced gastrointestinal surgeons assessed all primary (and secondary) endpoints. Every patient was evaluated by each committee member individually with data presented in a standardized format, including all available data collected during follow-up. Disagreements were resolved during a plenary consensus meeting. The adjudication committee was unaware of the outcome of the sequential analysis and was blinded for treatment allocation at all times.

The conventional analysis was performed only after agreement was reached on all endpoints. The occurrence of the primary endpoint was compared between the two treatment groups and results are presented as risk ratios with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI). In line with the protocol, we also performed sequential analysis on the adjudicated primary endpoints. Results were in agreement with those of the conventional analysis.

A P value of 0.05 or less was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were done with SPSS software (version 15.0).

# RESULTS

# DETAILS ON PERCUTANEOUS DRAINAGE PROCEDURES

In the 41 patients undergoing percutaneous drainage in the step-up approach (2 underwent endoscopic drainage), drains were upsized in 4 patients and drains were replaced in 7 patients. The median drain size was 14 French (range 12-24). The median number of drains placed during the first or second drainage procedure was 1 (range 1-3). Multiple drains were placed during the same procedure in 7 patients.

# REFERENCES

- Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Nieuwenhuijs VB, et al. Minimally invasive 'step-up approach' versus maximal necrosectomy in patients with acute necrotising pancreatitis (PANTER trial): design and rationale of a randomised controlled multicenter trial [ISRCTN13975868]. BMC Surg 2006; 6:6.
- 2 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Horvath KD, et al. Videoscopic assisted retroperitoneal debridement in infected necrotizing pancreatitis. HPB; 2007; 9156-9.
- 3 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Ali A, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. Laparoscopic assisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:677-82.
- Gold MR, Siegel JE, Russel LB. Costeffectiveness in Health and Medicine.
   New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 1996.
- 5 Van Roijen L, Essink-Bot ML, Koopmanschap MA, Bonsel G, Rutten FF. Labor and health status in economic evaluation of health care. The Health and Labor Questionnaire. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 1996; 12:405-15.
- Oostenbrink JB, Koopmanschap MA, Rutten FF. Standardisation of costs: the Dutch Manual for Costing in economic evaluations. Pharmacoeconomics 2002; 20:443-54.
- 7 Oostenbrink JB, Buijs-Van der Woude T, van Agthoven M, Koopmanschap MA, Rutten FF.
   Unit costs of inpatient hospital days.
   Pharmacoeconomics 2003; 21:263-71.

- Koopmanschap MA, Rutten FF, van Ineveld BM, van RL. The friction cost method for measuring indirect costs of disease. J Health Econ 1995; 14:171-89.
- 9 Whitehead J: The design and analysis of sequential clinical trials Rev. 2 edition. Chicester: J. Wiley&Sons; 1997.
- 10 Bolland K, Whitehead J. Formal approaches to safety monitoring of clinical trials in lifethreatening conditions. Stat Med 2000; 19:2899-917.

Hjalmar C van Santvoort,<sup>1</sup> Olaf J Bakker,<sup>1</sup> Thomas L Bollen,<sup>2</sup> Marc G Besselink,<sup>1</sup> Usama Ahmed Ali,<sup>1</sup> A Marjolein Schrijver,<sup>1</sup> Marja A Boermeester,<sup>3</sup> Harry van Goor.<sup>4</sup> Cornelis H Dejong,<sup>5</sup> Casper H van Eijck,<sup>6</sup> Bert van Ramshorst,<sup>7</sup> Alexander F Schaapherder,<sup>8</sup> Erwin van der Harst,<sup>9</sup> Sijbrand Hofker,<sup>10</sup> Vincent B Nieuwenhuijs,<sup>10</sup> Menno A Brink,<sup>11</sup> Flip M Kruyt,<sup>12</sup> Eric R Manusama,<sup>13</sup> George P van der Schelling,<sup>14</sup> Tom Karsten,<sup>15</sup> Eric J Hesselink,<sup>16</sup> Cees J van Laarhoven,<sup>17</sup>

Camiel Rosman,<sup>18</sup> Koop Bosscha,<sup>19</sup> Ralph J de Wit,<sup>20</sup> Alexander P Houdijk,<sup>21</sup> Miguel A Cuesta,<sup>22</sup> Peter J Wahab,<sup>23</sup> and Hein G Gooszen,<sup>1</sup> for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

### AFFILIATIONS

 <sup>1</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Radiology St. Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein, <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, <sup>4</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Nijmegen, <sup>5</sup>Dept. of Surgery and NUTRIM, Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, <sup>6</sup>Dept. of Surgery, St. Antonius Hospital, Nieuwegein,
 <sup>7</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, <sup>8</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, <sup>9</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Maasstad Hospital, Rotterdam, <sup>10</sup>Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, <sup>11</sup>Dep of Gastroenterology, Meander Medical Center,
 Amersfoort, <sup>12</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Gelderse Vallei Hospital, Ede, <sup>13</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Leeuwarden Medical Center, <sup>14</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Amphia Medical Center, Breda, <sup>15</sup>Dept. of Surgery, St. Elisabeth Hospital, Delft, <sup>16</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Gelre Hospital, Apeldoorn, <sup>17</sup>Dept. of Surgery, St. Elisabeth Hospital, Tilburg (currently: Dept. of Surgery, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, Nijmegen), <sup>18</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Canisius Wilhelmina Hospital, Nijmegen, <sup>19</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Jeroen Bosch Hospital, Den Bosch, <sup>20</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Medisch Spectrum Twente, Enschede,

<sup>21</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Medical Center Alkmaar, Alkmaar, <sup>22</sup>Dept. of Surgery, Vrije Universiteit Medical Center, Amsterdam, Dept. of Gastroenterology, Rijnstate Hospital, Arnhem, the Netherlands.

# РАРТЕ С НАРТЕ 18

Clinical course and treatment of necrotising pancreatitis: a prospective multicentre study of 639 patients

# ABSTRACT

# BACKGROUND

Most series on necrotising pancreatitis are retrospective, small, from single centres, cover decades and report only operated patients. We present a prospective, multicentre cohort of 639 patients with necrotising pancreatitis included in a 4.5-year period who were treated conservatively or with an intervention.

# METHODS

This was an observational cohort study. During 2004-2008, patients with acute pancreatitis and signs of pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis alone on computed tomography were prospectively included in 21 hospitals. Data on disease severity, interventions (i.e., radiological, endoscopic or surgical) and outcome were recorded.

# RESULTS

Mortality in all 639 patients was 15%. Organ failure occurred in 240 patients (38%), with 35% mortality. Conservative treatment was performed in 397 patients (62%), with 7% mortality. An intervention was performed in 242 patients (38%), with 27% mortality. The longer the time between admission and intervention, the lower the risk of mortality: 0-14 days; 56%, 14-29 days; 26% and >29 days; 15%, P<0.001. An emergency laparotomy (i.e., for other reasons than infected necrosis) was performed in 32 patients (5%), at a median of 5 days (interquartile range [IQR] 2-14) after admission, with 78% mortality. An intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis was performed in 208 patients (33%), with 19% mortality. The longer the time between admission and first intervention, the fewer the complications: 0-14 days: 72%, 14-29 days: 57%, and >29 days: 39%, P=0.007. Primary percutaneous drainage was performed in 130/208 patients (63%) undergoing a first intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis. After a median of one drainage procedure (IQR 1-2), 35% was successfully treated without the need for further necrosectomy. In total, 169 patients underwent necrosectomy (laparotomy: n=104, videoassisted retroperitoneal debridement [VARD]: n=54, endoscopic transgastric necrosectomy [ETN]: n=11), with mortality of 24%. Post- procedural complications occurred more often following laparotomy than after VARD and ETN: 71%, 56% and 9% respectively, P<0.0001. Of all 93 patients who died, 41 (44%) had primary infected

necrosis, 11 (12%) had secondary infected necrosis and 41 (44%) died without documented infected necrosis. The vast majority of 52 patients who died without primary infected necrosis had organ failure (91%), which mostly occurred in the first week of admission (85%).

# CONCLUSIONS

Mortality in necrotising pancreatitis remains high. Outcome of infected necrosis seems to improve with postponement of intervention and the use of minimally invasive techniques. Patients with sterile necrosis still suffer from considerable mortality in case of multiple organ failure and emergency laparotomy early in the course of disease.

# INTRODUCTION

Acute pancreatitis is complicated by necrosis of the pancreatic parenchyma and/or the peripancreatic fat tissue in around 20% of patients.<sup>1,2</sup> The clinical course of necrotising pancreatitis can be divided into two phases. In the first phase (i.e., 1-2 weeks after onset of symptoms), a systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) occurs, which is often followed by multiple organ failure.<sup>3-5</sup> Interventions in the early phase of necrotising pancreatitis are relatively contra-indicated, although some patients require an emergency laparotomy for acute complications such as the abdominal compartment syndrome or bowel ischemia.<sup>3</sup> Data on this subgroup of patients are scarce. It has been suggested that around half the deaths from necrotising pancreatitis are caused by multiple organ failure in the early phase.<sup>6.7</sup> In the late phase of the disease (i.e., after 1-2 weeks), systemic inflammation often regresses and secondary infection of necrosis occurs in about 30% of patients with necrotising pancreatitis.<sup>8,9</sup> In the absence of radiological, endoscopic or surgical intervention, infected necrosis ultimately leads to death in nearly every patient.

Over the last 20 years, several major changes have occurred in the management of necrotising pancreatitis. First, the indication for intervention has shifted. Whereas historically most patients with sterile necrosis underwent necrosectomy, it is now accepted that sterile necrosis should largely be managed conservatively and that the main indication for intervention is infected necrosis.<sup>3,10-12</sup> Second, the timing of intervention has changed. Where necrosectomy was once performed at a very early stage<sup>13</sup>, it is now thought that intervention should be delayed to around 3-4 weeks after onset of disease.<sup>14-16</sup> This timeframe allows for encapsulation of peripancreatic collections, which may improve conditions for intervention and thereby decrease the risk of complications such as bleeding and perforation. Third, new methods for intervention have been introduced. Historically, the standard intervention was primary open necrosectomy.<sup>17</sup> As an alternative, minimally invasive, radiological, endoscopic and surgical techniques are increasingly being used.<sup>18-23</sup> We recently reported the results of the randomised multicentre PANTER trial which showed that a step-up approach of percutaneous drainage, if necessary, followed by minimally invasive retroperitoneal debridement, as compared to primary open necrosectomy, is the preferred strategy from a clinical and economic point of view.<sup>24</sup>

The outcome of patients with necrotising pancreatitis after the implementation of

these changes over the last 20 years is unknown. A recent literature review (1993-2005) reported a median 17% mortality (range 14 to 62%) for necrotising pancreatitis (i.e., both sterile and infected) and 30% mortality (range 8 to 39%) for infected necrotising pancreatitis.9 Most of the reviewed studies were performed in time periods where the abovementioned changes regarding intervention had not yet fully occurred. Moreover, most studies published in the last 20 years were retrospective in design and included only small numbers of patients. There are a few large studies, with sample sizes ranging from 281 to 392 patients, but these cover long time periods, ranging from 12 to 19 years.<sup>25-27</sup> Most studies only report on the subgroup of patients that underwent necrosectomy.<sup>22,26,28,29</sup> Consequently, data on the outcome of conservatively treated patients with necrotising pancreatitis in terms of (persistent) organ failure and mortality are scarce. In many of the most recent series on necrosectomy, the proportion of patients with infected necrosis is still relatively low (range 63 to 74%).<sup>22,28,29</sup> Moreover, the percentage of patients undergoing percutaneous drainage prior to necrosectomy is also low (range 5 to 30%) or not reported.<sup>12,25,28-30</sup> Finally, the vast majority of data comes from highly experienced single centres.<sup>12,25,26,28-30</sup> It is questionable whether these results can be extrapolated to daily practice in non-expert centres. Given all the above, we need new data from large prospective multicentre studies to serve as a standard reference for the current outcome of necrotising pancreatitis.

The aim of this study was to report on the outcome after intervention or conservative treatment of necrotising pancreatitis in a prospective, nationwide cohort of 639 patients. The main focus was on mortality in the several subgroups of necrotising pancreatitis based on pancreatic necrosis, peripancreatic necrosis alone, organ failure, sterile or infected necrosis, early emergency laparotomy, radiological, endoscopic and surgical interventions and conservative treatment.

# METHODS

# PATIENTS AND STUDY DESIGN

We performed a prospective, observational, multicentre cohort study between March 2004 and November 2008. All 8 Dutch university medical centres and 13 large teaching hospitals of the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group (DPSG) participated. Four of these hospitals joined the study group in November 2005. During the study period, all patients admitted with acute pancreatitis were screened for eligibility for the Dutch PROPATRIA and PANTER trials.<sup>24,31</sup> Regardless of eligibility for the randomised trials, patients were asked for informed consent for registration in the database on admission. In the current study, all patients from the entire cohort of patients with acute pancreatitis who showed signs of pancreatic necrosis and/or peripancreatic necrosis on contrast enhanced computed tomography (CECT) were prospectively included. This is the first time this complete cohort is reported.

CECT was performed per protocol in the patients randomised in the PROPA-TRIA study on 7-10 days after admission and on demand therefore and thereafter.<sup>31</sup> In all other patients, CECT was performed by discretion of the treating physician, but generally only in case there was no clinical improvement after the initial 7-10 days of admission. Local radiologists judged the CECT for pancreatic necrosis and/or peripancreatic necrosis, and based on their evaluation, the patients were prospectively included in the current study. However, after the study was completed, all digitalised CECTs were reviewed by a single experienced abdominal radiologist (TLB) who was unaware of the patient's clinical background and possible interventions and made the final decision on inclusion or exclusion based on the highest CT-severity index<sup>32</sup> measured on all CECTs performed during the index admission. Median time between onset of symptoms and the final CECT before discharge was 14 days (interquartile range [IQR] 7-47). Pancreatic necrosis was defined as a CT-severity index of greater than 4, which means that there is focal nonenhancement of the pancreatic gland. Peripancreatic necrosis alone (i.e., without pancreatic parenchymal necrosis) was defined as a CT-severity index of 3 or 4, which means peripancreatic morphological changes exceeding fat stranding. In the most recent draft of the revised Atlanta Classification, the definition of necrotising pancreatitis includes both pancreatic parenchymal necrosis with or without peripancreatic necrosis, and peripancreatic necrosis alone (see: http://www.pancreasclub.com/resources/AtlantaClassification.pdf).

The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki, and was investigator initiated and investigator driven. The ethics review board of each participating hospital approved the study. All patients or their legal representatives gave written informed consent. We adhered to the STROBE statement guidelines for reporting on observational cohort studies.<sup>33</sup>

# TREATMENT ON ADMISSION

Patients were treated according to a fixed treatment protocol. Following admission, patients received rigorous fluid resuscitation and full laboratory investigations were performed on the first three days of admission and in the 24 hours prior to any intervention. Nasojejunal enteral feeding was initiated if an oral diet was not tolerated. Parenteral nutrition was only initiated when enteral nutrition was persistently not tolerated or not sufficient. A subset of patients randomised in the PROPATRIA trial received probiotic prophylaxis (n=105).<sup>31</sup> Antibiotics were not administered prophylactically but only in the presence of suspected or documented infection. Patients with (pending) organ failure were treated in the intensive care unit (ICU).

# INTERVENTION

In line with international guidelines, intervention was generally only performed in case of suspected or confirmed infection of pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis alone.<sup>3,10,11</sup> Whenever possible, intervention was postponed until approximately 4 weeks after the onset of disease.<sup>14-16</sup> Intervention could be primary necrosectomy, primary percutaneous drainage with 12 to 14 French drains<sup>18</sup> or endoscopic drainage<sup>21</sup>, with or without subsequent necrosectomy. Necrosectomy consisted of open necrosectomy by laparotomy and continuous postoperative lavage,<sup>17</sup> or minimally invasive necrosectomy: video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement (VARD)<sup>20</sup> or endoscopic transgastric necrosectomy (ETN).<sup>21</sup> A subgroup of patients included in the previously reported PANTER trial<sup>24</sup> was randomly assigned to either primary open necrosectomy (n=45), or a protocolised minimally invasive step-up approach which included primary drainage, followed, if necessary, by VARD (n=43).

In some patients an emergency laparotomy was performed. The indication for emergency laparotomy was severe clinical deterioration suspected to be caused by abdominal compartment syndrome, bowel ischemia, perforation of a visceral organ or acute bleeding, but not suspected or confirmed infection of pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis.

Early 2006, the DPSG installed a multidisciplinary expert panel consisting of eight gastrointestinal surgeons, one gastroenterologist, and three radiologists to guide decision making on intervention. Whenever infected necrosis was suspected or whe-

Outcome	Definition
Infected necrosis	A positive culture of pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis
	obtained by means of fine-needle aspiration or from the first drainage
	procedure or necrosectomy, or the presence of gas in the peripancrea-
	tic collection on contrast-enhanced CT
Organ failure	
Pulmonary failure	Pa02 <60 mm Hg, despite FI02 of 0.30, or need for mechanical
	ventilation
Circulatory failure	Circulatory systolic blood pressure <90 mm Hg, despite adequate fluid
	resuscitation, or need for inotropic catecholamine support
Renal failure	Creatinine level >177 $\mumol/liter$ after rehydration or new need for
	hemofiltration or hemodialysis
Multiple organ failure	Failure of at least two organ systems on the same day
Persistent organ failure	Presence of organ failure on at least 3 consecutive days (lasting more
	than 48 hours)
New-onset multiple organ failure	New-onset failure (i.e., not present at any time in the 24 hr before first
	intervention) of two or more organs
Enterocutaneous fistula	Secretion of fecal material from a percutaneous drain or drainage canal
	after removal of drains or from a surgical wound, either from small or
	large bowel; confirmed by imaging or during surgery
Perforation of visceral organ	Perforation requiring surgical, radiological, or endoscopic intervention
Intraabdominal bleeding	Bleeding requiring surgical, radiological, or endoscopic intervention

TABLE 18.1. Definitions of study outcomes regarding morbidity

never there was any other indication for intervention in a patient, the expert panel was text-messaged and received a case description, including CT images, on a standardized form by e-mail. Within 24 hours, the members of the expert panel individually advised on the indication for intervention and optimal methods of interventions. The final decision was made by the treating physicians.

# DATA COLLECTION

Data from patients randomised in the PROPATRIA and PANTER trial were collected as described previously.<sup>24,31</sup> In addition, data from registered patients were entered prospectively into the database. This included data regarding patient demographics, laboratory investigations on the first three days of admission and 24 hours prior to intervention, clinical course (e.g., organ failure, complications after intervention), microbiology cultures, health care resource utilisation (e.g., number of operations). In cases where patients had been referred from other centres, all CECTs, clinical data, and laboratory investigations were retrieved from the referring centres.

# OUTCOMES

The primary study outcome was mortality during index admission. Readmission within 10 days after discharge from index admission was considered a prolonged index admission. Secondary outcomes were organ failure, infected necrosis, the number of percutaneous and endoscopic drainage procedures, endoscopic and surgical necrosectomies, other operations, complications after intervention (i.e., new-onset multiple organ failure, intra-abdominal bleeding, enterocutaneous fistula or perforation of a visceral organ). See TABLE 18.1 for definitions of the study outcomes regarding morbidity.

# STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Analyses were performed with SPSS version 15.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL). Continuous data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) and in case of non-normal distributions as median with interquartile range (IQR). In case of missing data, patients were not included in the analyses for the specific parameter and this is reported. Differences were tested by the Student's *t* test or Mann-Whitney *U* test, respectively. Proportions were compared by the  $\chi^2$  test or the Fisher exact test, as appropriate. A two-sided P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

# PATIENT INCLUSION

During the 4.5 years study period, 1150 patients with acute pancreatitis were prospectively registered on admission. From this cohort, 639 patients with signs of pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis alone on CECT were included in the current study. No data were missing with regard to the primary and secondary study outcomes. Patient characteristics on admission and details from the CECTs prior to any intervention are given in TABLE 18.2, for patients treated conservatively (n=397) and with an intervention (n=242) separately. Patients who underwent intervention had higher Imrie scores and American Society of Anaesthesiologists (ASA) class on admission, and had more extensive pancreatic necrosis.

			Cons	ervative			
Characteristic	All patie	ents (n=639)	treatme	ent (n=397)	Interver	ntion <sup>a</sup> (n=242)	P value
Age - yr	58	(45-70)	57	(43-71)	59	(48-69)	0.41
Male sex	398	(62%)	237	(60%)	161	(67%)	0.08
Etiology							0.41
Gallstones	304	(48%)	192	(48%)	112	(46%)	
Alcohol abuse	150	(24%)	95	(24%)	55	(23%)	
Other	63	(10%)	42	(11%)	21	(9%)	
Unknown	122	(19%)	68	(17%)	54	(22%)	
ASA class on admission							0.04
I (healthy status)	202	(32%)	136	(34%)	66	(27%)	
II (mild systemic disease)	347	(54%)	214	(54%)	133	(55%)	
III (severe systemic disease)	90	(14%)	47	(12%)	43	(18%)	
Predicted severity of pancreatitis							
APACHE-II score at admission	8	(5-11)	7	(5-10)	8	(5-11)	0.25
Imrie/modified Glasgow score	3	(2-5)	3	(2-4)	4	(3-5)	<0.001
Highest CRP level in first 48 h	291	(±130)	287	(±133)	294	(±129)	0.51
Data missing <sup>b</sup>	44	(7%)					
CT-severity index	4	(4-8)	4	(4-6)	8	(6-10)	< 0.001
Peripancreatic necrosis alone	315	(49%)	257	(65%)	57	(24%)	< 0.001
Pancreatic necrosis	324	(51%)	139	(35%)	185	(76%)	< 0.001
Extent of pancreatic necrosis							< 0.001
<30%	447	(70%)	329	(83%)	118	(49%)	
30% to 50%	83	(13%)	25	(6%)	58	(24%)	
>50%	109	(17%)	43	(11%)	66	(27%)	
Transferred from other hospital	156	(24%)	39	(10%)	117	(48%)	<0.001
peripancreatic necrosis alone				•		•	

# TABLE 18.2. Characteristics of 639 patients with acute pancreatitis and pancreatic necrosis or peripancreatic necrosis alone

a= Any form of radiological, endoscopic or surgical intervention

Continuous variables are mean (±SD) or median (interquartile range)

b= CRP stands for C-reactive protein. It was not possible to measure CRP in 1 hospital. APACHE stands for Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation

ASA stands for American Society of Anaesthesiologists

# ORGAN FAILURE

At any time during admission, organ failure occurred in 240/639 patients (38%) and persistent organ failure in 214 patients (34%). Multiple organ failure occurred in 194 patients (30%), and persistent multiple organ failure in 161 patients (25%). More than half of the cases (58%) of organ failure occurred within the first week of admis-

sion. Organ failure occurred more often in patients with pancreatic necrosis as compared to patients with peripancreatic necrosis alone: 163/324 patients (50%) vs. 77/315 patients (24%) (P<0.001).

An emergency laparotomy was performed in 32/639 patients (5%), at a median of 5 days (IQR 2-14) after admission. These laparotomies were not performed for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis, but because an abdominal catastrophe for another reason was suspected. There were signs of an abdominal compartment syndrome in 15 patients. Bowel ischemia was observed during laparotomy in 11 patients. Of the 32 patients undergoing emergency laparotomy, 25 patients (78%) died.

# INFECTION OF NECROSIS

Primary infection of necrosis was diagnosed in 202/639 patients (32%), at a median of 26 days (IQR 18-38) after admission. The incidence of infected necrosis was higher in patients with pancreatic necrosis as compared to patients with peripancreatic necrosis alone: 151/324 patients (47%) vs. 51/315 patients (16%), P<0.0001. Eleven out of 202 patients (5%) with infected necrosis were successfully treated without any form of radiological or surgical intervention. These patients were treated with intravenous antibiotics only because, in the absence of sepsis and organ failure, their clinical condition was exceptionally good.

# INTERVENTIONS FOR SUSPECTED OR CONFIRMED INFECTED NECROSIS

A radiological, endoscopic or surgical intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis was performed in 208/639 patients (33%). Details on disease severity at the time of intervention are given in TABLE 18.3. Median time between onset of symptoms and intervention was 28 days (IQR 22-41). The cultures of the first intervention were positive in 185/208 patients, leading to a rate of documented infected necrosis of 89%.

In these 208 patients, the primary intervention consisted of either necrosectomy or drainage. Primary necrosectomy was performed in 78/208 patients (38%) (laparotomy: n=68, VARD: n=6, and ETN: n=4) and primary drainage in 130/208 patients (63%; percutaneous drainage: n=113, endoscopic transgastric drainage: n=17).

In the 130 patients undergoing drainage as first treatment, a median of 1 drainage

Characteristic	Patients undergoing primary intervention				
	(unamage of inc	(9-17)			
CRP level*	200	(±109)			
Data missing	46	(22%)			
Admitted to ICU					
At the time of intervention	75	(36%)			
Anytime before intervention	140	(67%)			
Organ failure					
At the time of intervention	76	(37%)			
Anytime before intervention	113	(54%)			
Multiple organ failure					
At the time of intervention	46	(22%)			
Anytime before intervention	84	(40%)			
Infected necrosis confirmed by culture	185	(89%)			

 TABLE 18.3. Characteristics of patients before primary intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis

Continuous variables are mean (±SD) or median (interquartile range)

\* Based on the maximal values 24 hours before intervention

APACHE stands for Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation

procedure (IQR 1-2) was performed per patient: 58% of patients underwent 1 drainage procedure, 32% underwent 2 drainage procedures and 10% had more than 2 drainage procedures. Forty-five out of the 130 patients (34%) who underwent primary drainage were treated without the need for further necrosectomy. There were 76/130 patients (58%) who underwent additional necrosectomy (laparotomy: n=24, VARD: n=23, ETN: n=9) after primary drainage. Median time between the first drainage and necrosectomy was 10 days (IQR 5-22). Nine of 130 patients (7%) treated with primary drainage died without undergoing any other intervention. Necrosectomy was not performed in these patients because at the time of percutaneous drainage and thereafter, they were not considered candidates for surgery due to their clinical condition and co-morbidity.

In total, 169 patients underwent one or more necrosectomies (laparotomy: n=104, VARD: n=54, endoscopic transgastric necrosectomy [ETN]: n=11) with or without prior percutaneous or endoscopic drainage. Median time from admission to necrosectomy was 35 days (IQR 25-52). 105/169 patients (62%) underwent 1 necrosecto-

my, 38/169 patients (23%) had 2 necrosectomies and 26 patients (15%) underwent 3 or more necrosectomies.

# COMPLICATIONS AFTER INTERVENTION FOR SUSPECTED

# OR CONFIRMED INFECTED NECROSIS

Of the 208 patients undergoing a first intervention (i.e., drainage or necrosectomy) for suspected or documented infected necrosis, 104 patients (50%) suffered from one or more complications. New-onset organ failure occurred in 40% of patients, intra-abdominal bleeding in 16%, and enterocutaneous fistula or perforation of a visceral organ in 17%.

The longer the time between admission and first intervention, the lower the risk of complications: 0-14 days; 72%, 14-29 days; 57%, and >29 days; 39%, P=0.007. There was no association between the presence of organ failure at the time of first intervention and complications (P=0.99).

Fewer complications occurred in patients who underwent drainage as the first intervention than in patients who underwent primary necrosectomy: 42% vs. 64% respectively, P=0.003.

Of the 169 patients who underwent necrosectomy (with or without previous drainage), 105/169 patients (62%) developed one or more complications. New-onset multiple organ failure occurred in 27% of patients, intraabdominal bleeding in 22%, and enterocutaneous fistula or perforation of a visceral organ in 21%.

Considering the different techniques for the first necrosectomy, the number of patients that developed complications was greater after laparotomy than after VARD and ETN: 71%, 56% and 9% respectively, P<0.0001.

# MORTALITY

TABLE 18.4 presents the mortality in several possible subgroups of necrotising pancreatitis. In the entire group mortality was 15%. Mortality was greater in patients with pancreatic necrosis than in patients with peripancreatic necrosis alone: 20% vs. 9%, P<0.0001.

In the 242 patients that needed any form of intervention, mortality was 27%. The longer the time between admission and need for intervention, the lower the risk of mortality: 0-14 days; 56%, 14-29 days; 26% and >29 days; 15%, P<0.001.

In the group of 208 patients undergoing a first intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis, there was no significant difference in mortality between those patients who underwent drainage as primary intervention and those who underwent primary necrosectomy: 18% vs. 20%, P=0.86. Mortality did not differ significantly between the three techniques of necrosectomy: laparotomy: 27%, VARD: 22% and ETN: 9%, P=0.38.

Of the 93 patients who died, 41 (44%) had primary infected necrosis and 85 (91%) suffered from organ failure. Of the remaining 52 patients who died (56% of mortality in entire patient cohort), 11 (12%) had secondary infected necrosis after previous emergency laparotomy (n=9) and drainage (n=2), and 41 died (44%) without documented infected necrosis. The vast majority of these 52 patients (91%) died of organ failure, which mostly occurred in the first week of admission (85%). Mortality was higher in patients with organ failure in the first week of admission as compared to patients with organ failure after the first week of admission: 41% vs. 28%, P=0.04.

# DISCUSSION

This is the largest study on patients with necrotising pancreatitis who underwent either conservative treatment or an intervention. Compared to most of the earlier studies, this study was prospective, included a large number of patients in a relatively short study period, was conducted in a nationwide multicentre setting and covered the entire clinical spectrum of necrotising pancreatitis.

Our study shows that overall mortality in necrotising pancreatitis remains as high as 15%. We confirmed that around half of the patients with necrotising pancreatitis who die have sterile necrosis with multiple organ failure, which mostly occurs in the first week of admission.<sup>6,7</sup> There is currently no effective treatment to improve outcome in these patients. Invasive intervention is generally contra-indicated early in the course of disease.<sup>3</sup> However, in 32 patients (5%) in the current study an early emergency laparotomy was performed because it was felt that the patient would die if intervention was withheld. Mortality after emergency laparotomy was exceptionally high (78%). Fifteen of these patients were suspected of having an abdominal compartment syndrome. There are only a few other studies reporting on emergency laparotomy for abdominal compartment syndrome early in the course of acute pancreatitis.<sup>34-36</sup> These studies were retrospective series with 3 to 8 patients, in whom

Subgroups	Morta	ality
All patients with necrotising pancreatitis	93/639	(15%)
Peripancreatic necrosis alone	28/315	(9%)
Pancreatic necrosis	64/324	(20%)
Organ failure		
At any time during admission	85/240	(35%)
At any time during admission, persistent	78/214	(36%)
In the first week of admission	57/141	(40%)
Multiple organ failure		
At any time during admission	79/194	(41%)
At any time during admission, persistent	66/161	(41%)
In the first week of admission	44/94	(47%)
Infected or sterile necrosis		
Primary infected necrosis	41/202	(20%)
Sterile necrosis	52/437	(12%)
Conservative treatment or intervention		
Conservative treatment	28/397	(7%)
Any intervention (i.e., emergency laparotomy, drainage, necrosectomy)	65/242	(27%)
Emergency laparotomy	25/32	(78%)
Drainage or necrosectomy as first intervention for suspected or confirmed		
infected necrosis	40/208	(19%)
Drainage as first intervention	26/130	(20%)
Necrosectomy as first intervention	14/78	(18%)
Necrosectomy (with or without previous drainage or emergency laparotomy)	41/169	(24%)
Any operation (i.e., necrosectomy or emergency laparotomy)	56/187	(30%)

TABLE 18.4. Mortality in the different subgroups of the 639 patients with necrotising pancreatitis

mortality varied from 30 to 75%. It is therefore questionable if an early emergency laparotomy for suspected abdominal compartment syndrome in acute pancreatitis should be performed. Notably, a 2007 international consensus conference recommended percutaneous decompression of intra-abdominal fluid as the initial step to decrease intra-abdominal pressure in patients with abdominal compartment syndrome in general.<sup>37</sup> This strategy in acute pancreatitis is currently being evaluated in a randomised trial (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT00793715).

Organ failure occurred in 38% of patients and was associated with 35% mortality. This is in line with a recent meta-analysis of 14 cohort studies of patients with both interstitial and necrotising pancreatitis, showing overall mortality after organ failu-

re of 30%.<sup>38</sup> Several studies have suggested that early persisting organ failure rather than transient organ failure drives mortality in acute pancreatitis.<sup>5,6,39</sup> Interestingly, in the current study, the vast majority of patients with organ failure (89%) or multiple organ failure (83%) had persistent organ failure (i.e., lasting for more than 48 hours). As expected, mortality in patients with organ failure in the first week was significantly higher than for patients with organ failure occurring after the first week (41% vs. 28%). This supports the theory that organ failure early in the course of acute pancreatitis, which is associated with systemic release of cytokines and SIRS, is a different clinical entity than organ failure as a result of sepsis from infected necrosis at a later stage in the disease. We suggest that future studies on the role of organ failure in acute pancreatitis make a clear distinction between these different forms of organ failure.

Over a third of patients with necrotising pancreatitis in our study underwent an intervention (i.e., radiological, endoscopic or surgical), which was associated with 27% mortality. Several guidelines<sup>3,9,15</sup> now advise to withhold intervention to around 2-3 weeks after onset of symptoms, although there is only limited evidence from previous studies in support of this advice. A randomised study from 1997 suggested that delaying surgical intervention beyond the first 12 days, as compared to intervention as early as in the first 72 hours of admission, reduces mortality.<sup>13</sup> Two retrospective studies<sup>14,16</sup> previously suggested that postponing surgery to around 4 weeks further improves outcome. The current study yields further important evidence in favour of delaying intervention, as we found that both mortality and complications decreased considerably if intervention was performed later in the course of disease.

Infection of necrosis occurred in around 30% of patients with necrotising pancreatitis. This suggests that the incidence of infected necrosis has remained fairly constant over the last 20 years.<sup>9</sup> This is not surprising, as there are currently no effective strategies to prevent infected necrosis. Mortality in patients with primary infected necrosis in our study was 20%. This seems to be lower than the mortality of around 30% for infected necrosis reported in reviews of the literature of the last two decades.<sup>9,38</sup> However, our results are difficult to compare with the literature because most published reports present only selected subgroups of patients with infected necrosis (e.g., only those who underwent necrosectomy, excluding emergency laparotomy). Moreover, large, prospective, unselected cohort-studies on infected necrosis are rare.<sup>40</sup>

Of the entire cohort of 639 patients, 33% underwent an intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis. Around a third of patients with infected necrosis were successfully managed with simple drainage only. A median of 1 drainage procedure with normal sized (i.e., 12-14 French) drains was sufficient. In these patients, decompression of the infected collection with fluid and necrosis seems to be enough for full recovery, meaning that major abdominal surgery (i.e., necrosectomy) is not necessary. Patients that were treated with drainage as first intervention also had fewer complications than patients treated with primary necrosectomy. These results are in line with our recent multicentre PANTER trial.<sup>24</sup> We advise that, whenever possible, all patients with suspected or confirmed infected necrosis are treated with percutaneous drainage first.

In the patients undergoing necrosectomy, minimally invasive surgical and endoscopic techniques were associated with fewer complications than open necrosectomy. This seems to confirm the hypothesis that minimally invasive necrosectomy may reduce morbidity by inducing less surgical stress (i.e., a pro-inflammatory immune response) in these already critically ill patients. There are only few other studies that directly compared patients undergoing minimally invasive necrosectomy with open necrosectomy.<sup>22,41</sup> In a retrospective case-matched study in 30 patients, minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy was associated with a marked reduction in postoperative multiple organ failure.<sup>41</sup> In a recent important study from Liverpool, Raraty, et al. retrospectively compared 137 patients who underwent minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy with 52 patients who underwent open necrosectomy.22 Complications (including postoperative multiple organ failure) and mortality were significantly lower after minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy than after open necrosectomy: 55% vs. 81% and 19% vs. 38%, respectively. However, these studies, in contrast to the current study, both compared patient groups from different time periods which may have introduced hidden confounding factors.

Mortality in the subgroup of patients undergoing an intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis in our study was 19%. Mortality in patients undergoing necrosectomy was 24%. It has been suggested that recent mortality rates of necrosectomy in North-American hospitals is lower than mortality in European centres.<sup>42,43</sup> Variation in case-mix probably explains these differences in mortality. Most importantly, the rate of documented infected necrosis in patients that underwent

intervention in our study was 89%, which is somewhat higher compared to the two recent North-American series on necrosectomy with infected necrosis rates of 72% to 74%.<sup>28,29</sup> We suggest that future studies should report the outcome of patients that underwent intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis, rather than on the group of patients that underwent necrosectomy or any other form of intervention for various indications.

In our study, 5% of patients with documented infected necrosis were successfully managed without any form of intervention. This has been previously reported in some case reports and small case series.<sup>44-47</sup> Although our data confirm that a very small subset of patients with infected necrosis can be treated with antibiotics alone, infected necrosis should still be considered an indication for intervention in the overwhelming majority of patients. We recommend close monitoring of patients who have an extraordinarily good clinical condition that might justify conservative treatment.

Patients with pancreatic parenchymal necrosis had significantly higher mortality than patients with peripancreatic necrosis alone: 20% vs. 9%. There is only one other study that previously compared these two subgroups of acute pancreatitis, and it showed similar mortality rates.<sup>48</sup> Although the outcome of patients with parenchymal necrosis was substantially worse, patients with peripancreatic necrosis alone still had a considerable risk of organ failure (24%), infected necrosis (16%), and need for intervention (23%). The subgroup of patients with acute pancreatitis in whom CT shows normally enhancing pancreatic parenchyma but signs of peripancreatic necrosis should therefore also be monitored carefully in clinical practice.

This study has several potential shortcomings. First, during the study period, CT was performed in patients admitted with acute pancreatitis by discretion of the treating physician (with the exception for the 296 patients randomised in the PROPA-TRIA study who underwent CT per protocol). Hence, there may be a very small group of patients in whom CT was not performed because either their clinical condition was exceptionally good or they were too ill to undergo CT. These patients may have been missed for inclusion. Second, selection bias may have occurred for the comparative analyses regarding the different type of interventions and timing of intervention, as this study had an observational character rather than a randomised design. Third, we classified patients as having 'peripancreatic necrosis alone' if the highest CT severity index<sup>32</sup> measured during admission was 3 or 4. One can argue that this definition is not 100% accurate, especially as it is has been suggested that peripancreatic necrosis can not reliably be diagnosed by CT.<sup>49,50</sup> However, several studies demonstrated a good correlation between peripancreatic findings on CECT and the presence of fat necrosis at operation or autopsy.<sup>51-53</sup> Moreover, the median time between onset of symptoms and the last CT in our study was 14 days. If a patient demonstrates a heterogeneous peripancreatic collection on CT (i.e., which corresponds to a CT severity index of 3-4) two weeks into the disease, this should be considered as fat necrosis until proven otherwise.<sup>50</sup> Notably, in all patients with signs of peripancreatic necrosis alone on CT in whom necrosectomy was performed, peripancreatic fat necrosis was found during operation.

In conclusion, this large and prospective multicentre study demonstrated that mortality in necrotising pancreatitis remains high. Although the outcome of infected necrosis seems to improve with postponement of intervention and the use of minimally invasive techniques, patients with sterile necrosis still suffer from considerable mortality in case of multiple organ failure and the need for emergency laparotomy early in the course of disease.

## REFERENCES

- Beger HG, Rau B, Mayer J, et al. Natural course of acute pancreatitis. World J Surg 1997; 21:130-135.
- 2 Bradley EL, III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.
- 3 Nathens AB, Curtis JR, Beale RJ, et al. Management of the critically ill patient with severe acute pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 2004; 32:2524-2536.
- Werner J, Feuerbach S, Uhl W, et al.
   Management of acute pancreatitis: from surgery to interventional intensive care.
   Gut 2005; 54:426-436.
- 5 Mofidi R, Duff MD, Wigmore SJ, et al. Association between early systemic inflammatory response, severity of multiorgan dysfunction and death in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2006; 93:738-744.
- 6 Johnson CD, Abu-Hilal M. Persistent organ failure during the first week as a marker of fatal outcome in acute pancreatitis. Gut 2004; 53:1340-1344.
- 7 Blum T, Maisonneuve P, Lowenfels AB, et al.
   Fatal outcome in acute pancreatitis: its occurrence and early prediction.
   Pancreatology 2001; 1:237-241.

- 8 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Boermeester MA, et al. Timing and impact of infections in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2009; 96:267-273.
- Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 10 UK guidelines for the management of acute pancreatitis. Gut 2005; 54 Suppl 3:iii1-iii9.
- Forsmark CE, Baillie J. AGA Institute Technical Review on Acute Pancreatitis.
   Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-2044.
- 12 Buchler MW, Gloor B, Muller CA, et al. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis: treatment strategy according to the status of infection. Ann Surg 2000; 232:619-626.
- 13 Mier J, Luque-de León E, Castillo A, et al. Early versus late necrosectomy in severe necrotizing pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1997; 173:71-75.
- 14 Fernandez-del Castillo C, Rattner DW, Makary MA, et al. Debridement and closed packing for the treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis. Ann Surg 1998; 228:676-684.
- 15 Uhl W, Warshaw A, Imrie C, et al. IAP Guidelines for the Surgical Management of Acute Pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2002; 2:565-573.
- 16 Besselink MG, Verwer TJ, Schoenmaeckers EJ, et al. Timing of surgical intervention in necrotizing pancreatitis. Arch Surg 2007; 142:1194-1201.

- 17 Beger HG, Buchler M, Bittner R, et al. Necrosectomy and postoperative local lavage in patients with necrotizing pancreatitis: results of a prospective clinical trial. World J Surg 1988; 12:255-262.
- 18 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, et al. Percutaneous CT-guided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-975.
- 19 Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW. Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience. Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-180.
- 20 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Horvath KD, et al. Videoscopic assisted retroperitoneal debridement in infected necrotizing pancreatitis. HPB 2007; 9:156-159.
- Papachristou GI, Takahashi N, Chahal P, et al.
   Peroral endoscopic drainage/debridement of walled-off pancreatic necrosis.
   Ann Surg 2007; 245:943-951.
- 22 Raraty MG, Halloran CM, Dodd S, et al. Minimal access retroperitoneal pancreatic necrosectomy: improvement in morbidity and mortality with a less invasive approach. Ann Surg 2010; 251:787-793.
- 23 Zyromski NJ. Necrotizing pancreatitis 2010: an unfinished odyssey.
   Ann Surg 2010; 251:794-795.

- 24 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ, et al. A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 2010; 362:1491-1502.
- 25 Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19-year, single-center series. Surgery 2005; 138:28-39.
- 26 Farkas G, Marton J, Mandi Y, et al. Surgical management and complex treatment of infected pancreatic necrosis: 18-year experience at a single center.
   J Gastrointest Surg 2006; 10:278-285.
- 27 Gotzinger P, Sautner T, Kriwanek S, et al. Surgical treatment for severe acute pancreatitis: extent and surgical control of necrosis determine outcome. World J Surg 2002; 26:474-478.
- 28 Rodriguez JR, Razo AO, Targarona J, et al. Debridement and closed packing for sterile or infected necrotizing pancreatitis: insights into indications and outcomes in 167 patients. Ann Surg 2008; 247:294-299.
- 29 Howard TJ, Patel JB, Zyromski N, et al. Declining morbidity and mortality rates in the surgical management of pancreatic necrosis. J Gastrointest Surg 2007; 11:43-49.
- 30 Ashley SW, Perez A, Pierce EA, et al. Necrotizing pancreatitis: contemporary analysis of 99 consecutive cases. Ann Surg 2001; 234:572-579.

- 31 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Buskens E, et al. Probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2008; 371:651-659.
- 32 Balthazar EJ, Robinson DL, Megibow AJ, et al. Acute pancreatitis: value of CT in establishing prognosis. Radiology 1990; 174:331-336.
- 33 von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Lancet 2007; 370:1453-1457.
- Gecelter G, Fahoum B, Gardezi S, et al.
   Abdominal compartment syndrome in severe acute pancreatitis: an indication for a decompressing laparotomy?
   Dig Surg 2002; 19:402-404.
- 35 De Waele JJ, Hoste E, Blot SI, et al. Intra-abdominal hypertension in patients with severe acute pancreatitis. Crit Care 2005; 9:R452-R457.
- 36 Chen H, Li F, Sun JB, et al. Abdominal compartment syndrome in patients with severe acute pancreatitis in early stage. World J Gastroenterol 2008; 14:3541-3548.
- 37 Cheatham ML, Malbrain ML, Kirkpatrick A, et al. Results from the International Conference of Experts on Intra-abdominal Hypertension and Abdominal Compartment Syndrome. II. Recommendations. Intensive Care Med 2007; 33:951-962.

- 38 Petrov MS, Shanbhag S, Chakraborty M, et al. Organ Failure and infection of pancreatic necrosis as determinants of mortality in patients with acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2010.
- 39 Buter A, Imrie CW, Carter CR, et al. Dynamic nature of early organ dysfunction determines outcome in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2002; 89:298-302.
- Beger HG, Bittner R, Block S, et al. Bacterial contamination of pancreatic necrosis. A prospective clinical study.
   Gastroenterology 1986; 91:433-438.
- 41 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bollen TL, et al. Case-matched comparison of the retroperitoneal approach with laparotomy for necrotizing pancreatitis.
   World J Surg 2007; 31:1635-1642.
- Warshaw AL. Improving the treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis- a step up.
   N Engl J Med 2010; 362:1535-1537.
- 43 Parikh PY, Pitt HA, Kilbane M, et al.
   Pancreatic necrosectomy: North American mortality is much lower than expected.
   J Am Coll Surg 2009; 209:712-719.
- 44 Dubner H, Steinberg W, Hill M, et al. Infected pancreatic necrosis and peripancreatic fluid collections: serendipitous response to antibiotics and medical therapy in three patients. Pancreas 1996; 12:298-302.
- 45 Baril NB, Ralls PW, Wren SM, et al. Does an infected peripancreatic fluid collection or abscess mandate operation? Ann Surg 2000; 231:361-367.

- 46 Adler DG, Chari ST, Dahl TJ, et al.
   Conservative management of infected necrosis complicating severe acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2003; 98:98-103.
- 47 Runzi M, Niebel W, Goebell H, et al. Severe acute pancreatitis: nonsurgical treatment of infected necroses. Pancreas 2005; 30:195-199.
- 48 Sakorafas GH, Tsiotos GG, Sarr MG. Extrapancreatic necrotizing pancreatitis with viable pancreas: a previously under-appreciated entity. J Am Coll Surg 1999; 188:643-648.
- 49 Merkle EM, Gorich J. Imaging of acute pancreatitis. Eur Radiol 2002; 12:1979-1992.
- 50 Balthazar EJ. Acute pancreatitis: assessment of severity with clinical and CT evaluation. Radiology 2002; 223:603-613.
- 51 Larvin M, Chalmers AG, McMahon MJ. Dynamic contrast enhanced computed tomography: a precise technique for identifying and localising pancreatic necrosis. BMJ 1990; 300:1425-1428.
- 52 Bradley EL, III. A fifteen year experience with open drainage for infected pancreatic necrosis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1993; 177:215-222.
- 53 Gambiez LP, Denimal FA, Porte HL, et al. Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1998; 133:66-72.

# PART

Obtaining medical ethical approval for a Dutch multicentre study Hjalmar C van Santvoort, Marc G Besselink, and Hein G Gooszen, for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group

# AFFILIATION

Dept. of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, The Netherlands.

# РАРТЕ С Н А Р Т Е 19

Obtaining medical ethical approval for a multicentre, randomised study: a prospective evaluation of a ponderous process

Dutch version published in: Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde 2008

# ABSTRACT

# BACKGROUND

The aim of this prospective study was to evaluate the procedure to obtain medical ethical approval for a multicentre study in the Netherlands.

# METHODS

The application procedure for medical ethical approval of a nationwide randomised multicentre trial (the 'Pancreatitis: surgical necrosectomy versus step-up approach' [PANTER]-trial) from the medical ethics committees (MEC) of 19 Dutch hospitals during 2004-2007, was prospectively evaluated. Several predefined variables regarding the duration of the ethical review process, the time invested and material and the type of queries raised by the MECs in all centres were collected.

# RESULTS

Primary approval by the central MEC of the coordinating hospital was obtained after 192 days. The duration of the review process for each of the 18 local participating centres was 105 days (range 35-361). The maximum review term of 30 days, as defined in the national guideline, was reached by only one centre. It took two years to obtain approval for all participating centres. A median of 14 different documents (range 5-23) were submitted to the MEC of each participating centre. A total of 8314 A4 size papers (about 42 kg) were sent by post, 172 telephone calls were made and 136 e-mail messages were sent by the research fellow coordinating the application procedure. Of the local MECs in the participating centres, 95% requested additional revision of the patient information sheet and 78% requested changes in the informed consent form.

# CONCLUSION

Obtaining medical ethical approval for this multicentre trial in the Netherlands was a long and inefficient process, requiring a considerable investment of time and resources. Streamlining the application procedure may lead to a substantial reduction in the current unnecessary delay of starting a multicentre study.

# INTRODUCTION

The Netherlands is a small and densely populated country with a growing willingness for academic and non-academic hospitals to cooperate and an excellent reputation for randomised multicentre trials.1 Before a multicentre study can be initiated, approval has to be obtained from an accredited medical ethics committee (MEC), as specified in the Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act (Wet Medisch-wetenschappelijk Onderzoek met Mensen [WMO]; available at www.ccmoonline.nl). Previously, it was customary that the MEC of every participating hospital had to review and approve the study protocol. According to the 2004 'External Review Directive' (Richtlijn Externe Toetsing) of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO), nowadays, only a single MEC is responsible for making a decision on the protocol of a multicentre study.<sup>2</sup> This so called 'central MEC' then requests a 'local feasibility declaration' for the study from the management or board of directors of each of the participating hospitals. The local MEC may advise the board of directors of the local hospital in their decision. The declaration should be 'issued within a reasonable length of time' (the explanation of the directive states 30 days) and local feasibility should be judged only on the basis of expertise, competence and experience of the local researchers and the suitability of the local facilities. Based on the local feasibility declaration, the central MEC then approves participation of the centre in the study.

During the time when the CCMO External Review Directive appeared in 2004, we submitted the study protocol of the 'Probiotics prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis' (PROPATRIA) trial<sup>3</sup> to the MECs of 15 participating hospitals of the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. We experienced the application procedure to be a long process characterised by bureaucracy, inefficiency and miscommunication.

In 2005, six months after the appearance of the CCMO directive, the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group began preparations for a second multicentre study: the 'Pancreatitis: maximal necrosectomy versus a minimally invasive step-up approach' (PANTER) trial<sup>4</sup> on the optimal intervention strategy in infected necrotising pancreatitis.

The aim of the current study was to systematically evaluate the application procedure for medical ethical approval of the nationwide PANTER trial in the Netherlands. The emphasis was on the following questions: What is the duration of the assessment period? How much time and funds are invested in the review process? Do the local MECs restrict themselves to the criteria for local feasibility?

# METHODS

We performed a prospective evaluation of the submission of the protocol of the PANTER trial<sup>5</sup> to the MECs of 19 Dutch hospitals, including all University Medical Centres.

# STEPS IN THE SUBMISSION PROCESS

FIGURE 19.1 shows the different steps in the submission process. The following parties were involved in the process:

- *Central MEC*: the MEC of the coordinating centre that reviews the protocol and gives the final decision on approval;
- *Local MEC*: the MEC of the participating centre who advises the local board of directors on the local feasibility declaration;
- *Local principal investigator*: the specialist ultimately responsible for the study in each participating centre;
- *Coordinating investigator*: the research fellow who, in cooperation with the local principal investigator, submits the study to the central and local MECs.

# DURATION OF ASSESSMENT PERIODS

We first evaluated the application procedure of the central MEC. Subsequently, the procedure for adding each participating centre to the study group was evaluated. A distinction was made in three separate assessment periods:

- Assessment period for advice on local feasibility: this is the time in days between submitting the protocol to the local METC, and positive advice on local feasibility of the local board of directors;
- Assessment period for the protocol amendment of adding a local centre to the study group: this is the time in days between the local feasibility declaration of the local board of directors and approval by the central MEC of the protocol amendment to add the participating centre to the study group;
- Overall assessment period: this is the sum of the two abovementioned assessment periods.
| Type of document  | Explanation  |
|---|--|
| Study protocol  | Outlines the study background and the methods including  |
|   | in- and exclusion criteria, primary and secondary outcome  |
|   | measures and statistical analysis  |
| Summary study protocol on 1 A4                            | A short summary of the study protocol  |
| Patient information letter                                | A letter that is handed to the patient with information  |
|   | on the background of the study, the advantages and disad-  |
|   | vantages of participation, how patient complaints are han-<br>dled and with details on the patient insurance policy etc. |
| Patient informed consent form                             | The form signed by patient (or legal representative) to  |
|   | declare that he/she formally provides consent to participate   |
|   | and is sufficiently informed about the study (informed con-  |
|   | sent).   |
| Patient insurance policy                                  | A certificate of the patient insurance policy  |
| General Assessment and Registration form                  | The 23-page standardized form of the CCMO for medical-   |
| (ABR formulier)   | ethical review and registration that should be completed on www.ccmo-online.nl   |
| List of participating centres                             | A list of all participating centres with the names and contact   |
|   | details of all local principal investigators   |
| Local addendum  | A different form for each centre covering agreements rela-   |
|   | ting to the local administrative and financial responsibility  |
|   | of all departments involved in the study   |
| Curriculum Vitae (CV)                                     | Full CV's with recent publication lists of 1) the principal  |
|   | investigator 2) the local principal investigator(s) and 3) the   |
|   | independent physician(s)   |
| Approval of the central MEC <sup>b</sup>                  | The letter of approval of the coordinating MEC   |
| Request for local feasibility declaration $^{\mathrm{b}}$ | The letter from the central MEC in which the local board of  |
|   | directors/ MEC is requested to give a local feasibility decla-   |
|   | ration   |
| Approved study amendments <sup>b</sup>                    | Any amendments to the study protocol (e.g., minor changes  |
|   | in the designs, sub studies)   |

TABLE 19.1. An overview of the different types of documents that have to be submitted in multiple copies to medical ethics committee for approval of a multicentre study<sup>a</sup>

a= There are two types of review: central review of the study protocol by the central MEC, and review for an advice on local feasibility by the local MEC of a participating centre

b= Only when submitting a request for a local feasibility declaration to a local MEC

CCMO stands for Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects

				4		
MEC	No. of rounds of submitting documents	No. of different documents submitted	No. of copies of documents submitted	Total no. of A4 papers sent	Assessment period for advice on local feasibility (days)	Overall assessment period <sup>b</sup> (days)
1 <sup>a</sup>	ъ	14	4	468	Not relevant	192
2	2	23	4	324	44	64
m	2	22	2	163	49	66
4	2	18	14	713	88	133
5	2	13	15	679	88	115
6	4	17	4	408	215	237
7	2	14	6	304	71	95
8	4	10	15	683	106	142
6	2	15	12	536	81	116
10	2	S	<del>,</del>	13	59	89
11	2	15	6	633	83	93
12	2	10	7	364	56	63
13	S	13	10	670	233	241
14	S	19	2	198	133	361
15	2	6	3	331	71	88
16	2	10	5	265	29	35
17	2	21	15	853	78	112
18	2	11	11	520	34	76
19	S	11	4	189	258	294

a= central MEC b= Assessment period for an advice on local feasibility plus the subsequent assessment by the central METC for the amendment of adding the local centre to study group

# DATA COLLECTION

For each centre the following data were assessed: **a**. the number of rounds of submitting documents to the MEC, **b**. the number of meetings of the MEC, **c**. the number of different types of documents requested, **d**. the number of copies in which the documents were submitted in the first round, **e**. the number of A4 papers sent, **f**. the number of telephone calls, **g**. the number of e-mails, and **h**. time (in hours) that the coordinating research fellow spent on the whole submission process. Furthermore, the requested changes and comments from each local MEC after the first round of submission were evaluated.

# RESULTS

In TABLE 19.1, the documents that were needed for the application procedure to each local MEC are presented. TABLE 19.2 summarizes the results of the submission procedure for the central MEC and the 18 local MECs.

#### THE REVIEW BY THE CENTRAL MEC

The study protocol was submitted to the central MEC on November 30, 2004 and approved on June 9, 2005. There were 5 rounds of submitting documents, carrying out adjustments and resubmitting the documents (these 5 rounds correspond to the second box of FIGURE 19.1). The review process took 192 days. From these 192 days, 51 were used by the researchers, among others, to answer queries raised by the MEC and to make adjustments.

#### ADDING PARTICIPATING CENTRES TO THE STUDY GROUP:

# ADVICE ON LOCAL FEASIBILITY

The assessment period for advice on local feasibility in the 18 local MECs was median 80 days (range 29-258). To add a participating centre to study group, the central MEC judged the local feasibility declaration of each local board of directors. This assessment period for the protocol amendment of adding the local centre to the study group for each centre was median 29 days (range 6-228). The overall assessment period for each centre was median 105 days (range 35-361). It took a total of 2 years before medical ethical approval was obtained for all local participating centres.



FIGURE 19.1. 10 steps to obtain medical ethical approval for a multicentre study in the Netherlands. The flowchart is an estimation of the most common situation. The various rounds that the central MEC needs for first approval of the study protocol is not shown here. Local MECs in some cases need more than 2 meetings to provide an advice to the board of directors on local feasibility (step 4, 5, 6 and 7). For approval of adding a local centre to the study group, the central MEC may also need more than one meeting (step 8 and 9).

For each MEC documents were submitted median 2 times (range 1-4). The local MECs needed median two meetings (range 1-3) to come to a positive advice on local feasibility. Of the 18 local MECs, 3 had meetings 4 times per month, 7 met twice a month and 3 did so only once a month.

Requested revisions and queries regarding	No. of local MECs
Patient information letter*	17
Informed consent form*	14
Local addendum	2
Curriculum vitae local investigator	2
Study protocol	1

 TABLE 19.3. Requested revisions and queries raised by local MECs after the patient information sheets and consent forms had already been approved by central METC

\* After adjustments to local conditions (e.g., local principal investigator's name) were already made

#### INVESTED RESOURCES AND TIME

Per centre median 14 different types of documents (range 5-23) were submitted in median 6-fold (range 1-15). This amounted to a median of 408 A4 pages (range 12-853) per centre. To all 19 centres, a total of 8314 A4 pages (approximately 42 kg) were sent by the coordinating research fellow. For each centre, the coordinating research fellow made a median of 9 telephone calls (range 3-18) and sent median 5 e-mails (range 1-22). A total of 172 telephone calls were made and 136 e-mails were sent. The time involved in preparing and submitting the documents, answering queries and comments from the MECs and discussing the protocol with the MEC in each centre was median 255 minutes per centre (range 55-1345). In total, 5994 minutes (nearly 100 hours) were invested to obtain approval in 19 centres.

# REQUESTED CHANGES AND COMMENTS FROM LOCAL MECS

The requested changes and comments from local MEC are summarized in TABLE 19.3. The vast majority of MECs requested adjustments to the patient information and consent forms, after they were already adapted to local conditions (e.g., local principal investigator name, telephone numbers). These adjustments were often not related to the local situation, for example the addition of background information about acute pancreatitis, changing the word 'research' to 'study' and the word 'random' to 'lottery'. There were many adjustments required and questions raised with regard to the patient insurance policy. For example, there was a difference of opinion between the central MEC and local MEC about who was responsible for arranging the patient insurance policy and the costs for the policy (approximately 125)

euro's). Other comments and requested changes were were related to the curriculum vitae of the local principal investigator (e.g., this was not detailed enough according to the local MEC) and, contrary to the CCMO directive, once with regard to the study protocol (i.e., the MEC requested that an extra passage be added on safeguarding patient privacy).

# DISCUSSION

This prospective evaluation showed that the application procedure for ethical approval of a multicentre study in the Netherlands demands a large investment of time and resources. The maximum review term of 30 days, as defined by the CCMO, was reached by only one out of 18 local centres, and was often greatly exceeded. Moreover, local MECs often did not confine themselves to criteria for local feasibility. In our experience, the introduction of the CCMO External Review Directive did not lead to a more efficient and effective review process for multicentre studies.

We emphasize that our analysis was only carried out to evaluate a complex procedure and, if necessary, to identify areas that need improvement. We did not intend to criticize individual members of the MECs of the participating centres. It is commonly known that medical specialists and other health care workers, in addition to their busy daily activities, invest a lot of time in ethical review of study protocols.

# POSSIBLE EXPLANATIONS

There are several possible explanations for our findings. First, the application procedure is complicated and time consuming because of the large number of different people involved in the process (see FIGURE 19.1). Delay frequently occurred, because people who had to sign certain documents were temporarily absent from work or replaced by other people not yet aware of the procedure.

The complexity of the procedure may cause serious administrative and communication errors. For instance, local MECs sometimes did not send important correspondence to the person responsible for the application procedure, but to another person involved in the investigation (e.g., the local principal investigator). Because the local principal investigator, often a medical specialist, does not have time in daily practice to delve into the complex application procedure and to handle the administrative load, the coordinating investigator usually takes on this task. This investigator, usually a research fellow, is available full time, well motivated and knows the details of the procedure. On the other hand, he or she does not have the network of specialists, heads of departments, managers, MECs, and so on, to independently circulate all the internal documents quickly and effectively.

Completely contrary to the External Review Directive, almost every MEC requested revisions of the patient information letter and informed consent forms, which had no relation with the local situation. Because each MEC has its own local guideline, 19 different versions of the patient information letter and consent form for the PANTER-trial are currently circulating in the Netherlands. The vast majority of MECs reviewed the submitted documents only if the patient information letter was printed on the hospital's official letter paper. Therefore, the coordinating investigator had to first collect large quantities of official letter paper from each participating centre.

The fact that the central MEC has additional meetings to discuss adding a local centre after a local feasibility declaration is issued also led to delays. On several occasions, the central MEC did not accept the local feasibility declaration because the letter of approval from the local MEC was addressed to the board of directors of the coordinating hospital (this is correct), instead of the central MEC, or because the revised patient information letters were not forwarded by the local MEC. This illustrates that the local MEC and the central MEC often follow different procedures, although the correct procedure is clearly explained in the CCMO directive.

# SIMILAR RESEARCH IN THE NETHERLANDS AND OTHER COUNTRIES

In 2006 Ooms et al reported on their experience with the procedure of submitting the protocol of a multicentre trial to 12 centres.<sup>6</sup> In a similar analysis they showed that only 2 of the 11 local participating centres reached the maximal assessment term which at that time was 6 weeks. In each centre, an average delay in the start of the study of 13 weeks occurred. Studies from Britain, Spain and Germany showed a similar inefficiency in the review process of multicentre studies leading to delay and high costs.<sup>7-9</sup>

#### IMPLICATIONS

The lengthy application process has a demoralising effect on the researchers involved. Even worse is the delay in the start of the study. In the situation where a severe disease with low incidence is studied, a delay of several months has a significant impact on the progress of inclusion. The PANTER-trial included patients with infected necrotising pancreatitis. In an average Dutch hospital only 2 or 3 of these patients are treated each year. From the moment the central MEC approved the study, it took another two years before approval was obtained for participation of all other centres. This means that a relatively large number of 'rare' patients were missed for inclusion during the review process. In a time when funding agencies pose strict regulations on the inclusion progress, study delay can lead to early termination of the study by the grant provider.

# CONCLUSION

Obtaining medical-ethical approval for a multicentre trial in the Netherlands is a long and difficult process that leads to considerable delay. To increase the efficiency of the process and to reduce the risk of administrative and communication errors, we have the following recommendations:

- National guidelines are needed for the patient information letter and the informed consent form to replace the current local guidelines used by MECs;
- The procedure and the forms for administrative and financial arrangements between local departments about the study protocol (i.e., the local addendum) should be standardised;
- It should be decided on a national level if either the coordinating centre or each local participating centre is responsible for arranging the patient insurance policies;
- If the board of directors of a local participating centre issues a local feasibility declaration, the central METC should approve participation of the centre without further review;
- The board of directors of every hospital should ensure that their MEC follows the CCMO External Review Directive, and that no requests beyond local feasibility are made.

#### REFERENCES

- Van Gijn J. The Netherlands. Randomised trials. Lancet 1996; 347:1234-35.
- 2 Richtlijn Externe toetsing. Den Haag: Centrale Commissie Mensgebonden Onderzoek; 2004.
- 3 Besselink MG, Van Santvoort HC, Buskens E, et al. Probiotic prophylaxis in predicted severe acute pancreatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2008; 371:651-659.
- Toetsing onderzoek verloopt niet altijd vlekkeloos.
   Med Contact 2004; nr. 26: nieuwsreflex.
- 5 Van Santvoort HC, Besselink MG, Bakker OJ, et al. A step-up approach or open necrosectomy for necrotizing pancreatitis.
   N Engl J Med 2010; 362:1491-1502.
- Ooms EA, Ansink AC, Burger CW.
   Mensgebonden onderzoek traag op gang.
   Med Contact 2006; 19:802-805.
- Tully J, Ninis N, Booy R, Viner R. The new system of review by multicentre research ethics committees: prospective study. BMJ 2000; 320:1179-1182.
- 8 Dal-Ré R, Ortega R, Morejón E. Multicentre trials review process by research ethics committees in Spain: where do they stand before implementing the new European regulation? J Med Ethics 2005; 31:344-350.

9 Seiler CM, Kellmeyer P, Kienle P, Büchler MW, Knaebel HP. Assessment of the ethical review process for non-pharmacological multicenter studies in Germany on the basis of a randomised surgical trial. INSECT Study Group. J Med Ethics 2007; 33:113-118.

# РАРТЕ R СНАРТЕ R 20

Summary and general discussion

# SUMMARY

Acute pancreatitis is an acute inflammation of the pancreas mostly caused by gallstones and alcohol abuse.<sup>1</sup> Around 15 to 20% of patients show a severe clinical course, which is characterised by multiple organ failure and necrosis of the pancreatic parenchyma and/ or peripancreatic fat tissue.<sup>24</sup> In around 30% of patients with necrotising pancreatitis, secondary infection of necrosis occurs,<sup>3,5</sup> probably due to bacterial translocation from the patient's own gut.<sup>6,7</sup> Infected necrosis is an indication for intervention and is associated with 30% mortality.<sup>3,8</sup>

There are relatively few prospective studies on acute pancreatitis. This is probably explained by the fact that acute pancreatitis is a complicated disease with a relatively low incidence in the severe form. Even international high volume expert centres do not treat enough patients with necrotising pancreatitis to, individually, perform adequately powered prospective studies. Therefore, inter-institutional collaboration is the key. In 2002, we formed the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group, with the aim to improve outcome of patients with acute (necrotising) pancreatitis through centralisation, consultation and multicentre research. The Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group now comprises over 20 hospitals, including all Dutch University Medical Centres, in which many surgeons, gastroenterologists, radiologists and other specialists actively participate.

This thesis presents much of the clinical research performed by the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group in the period of 2004-2010. We conducted studies on four main topics in acute pancreatitis that will be summarized in the coming sections.

# PART I: DEFINING ACUTE PANCREATITIS AND ITS COMPLICATIONS

There is a need for correct terminology and standardized definitions to ensure adequate communication on acute pancreatitis and its complications, both in daily practice, and in clinical research. The widely used 1992 Atlanta Classification<sup>4</sup> (TABLE 1.2, page 16) suffers from several shortcomings. In CHAPTER 2, we summarized the first interobserver agreement study on the Atlanta Classification. Five Dutch radiologists categorized peripancreatic collections on computed tomography (CT) from 70 patients operated for acute necrotising pancreatitis using the Atlanta definitions for 'acute fluid collection', 'pseudocyst', 'pancreatic abscess', or 'pancreatic necrosis'. The interobserver agreement was poor (K 0.144; standard deviation, 0.095). In only 3 cases (4%), all radiologists chose the same definition.

In CHAPTER 3, we describe a systematic literature review to assess whether the Atlanta definitions are accepted in the literature, and to evaluate the extent of variation in interpretation of these definitions. We assessed 447 articles on acute pancreatitis, including 12 guidelines and 82 reviews. Alternative definitions of predicted severity of acute pancreatitis, actual severity and organ failure were used in more than half of the studies. There was a large variation in the interpretation of the Atlanta definitions of local complications, especially relating to the content of peripancreatic collections. We concluded that the Atlanta Classification definitions are often used inappropriately, and alternative definitions are frequently applied.

CHAPTER 4 presents a new set of descriptive, morphological terms to categorize peripancreatic collections on CT that we designed in collaboration with the departments of Surgery and Radiology of the University of Washington Medical Center. The criteria, referred to as PANCODE, were subsequently tested for interobserver agreement among 7 gastrointestinal surgeons, 2 gastroenterologists and 8 radiologists in 3 US and 5 European tertiary referral hospitals. Agreement was good to excellent for the terms 'collection', 'relation with pancreas', 'content', 'shape', 'mass effect', 'loculated gas bubbles', and 'air-fluid level'. Agreement was moderate for 'extent of pancreatic nonenhancement' and 'encapsulation'. Overall, interobserver agreement for the new set of morphological terms to describe peripancreatic collections in acute pancreatitis was good to excellent.

# PART II: PREVENTING INFECTIONS IN ACUTE PANCREATITIS

It is thought that the vast majority of patients who die from acute pancreatitis suffer from infectious complications.<sup>5,9</sup> Infected necrosis alone is responsible for at least half the deaths in acute pancreatitis. Strategies to prevent infections in acute pancreatitis are therefore highly needed. In CHAPTER **5**, we summarized an observational cohort study that assessed the timing and impact of infections in acute pancreatitis. We retrospectively analysed a prospective cohort of 731 patients with acute pancreatitis who were admitted to 15 hospitals of the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group in 2004-2007. The initial infection (i.e., bacteraemia, pneumonia, or infected necrosis) in 173 patients (24%) was diagnosed at a median of 8 days after admission. Of the 61 patients who died, 80% had an infection. In 98 patients with infected necrosis, bacteraemia was associated with higher mortality (40% vs. 16%, P=0.014). This study showed that infections occur early in acute pancreatitis, and have a significant impact on mortality, especially bacteraemia.

A strategy to prevent infections in acute pancreatitis might be the administration of enteral nutrition.<sup>10,11</sup> CHAPTER **6** is a summary of a systematic review and meta-analysis of 5 randomised controlled trials comparing enteral nutrition with parenteral nutrition in terms of infections and death in 202 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Enteral nutrition (n=107) significantly reduced the risk of infectious complications (risk ratio [RR], 0.47; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.28-0.77), pancreatic infections (RR 0.48; 95% CI 0.26-0.91), and mortality (RR 0.32; 95% CI 0.11-0.98).

Another strategy to prevent infections in acute pancreatitis may be prophylactic administration of probiotics.<sup>12,13</sup> In CHAPTER **7**, we present an overview of the proposed mechanisms of action of probiotics in preventing infections in surgical patients and the current clinical evidence. Probiotics are thought to exert beneficial effects at the 3 pathophysiological levels that drive bacterial translocation: **1**. at the level of the intestinal lumen, probiotics may prevent bacterial overgrowth of potential pathogens by direct antimicrobial effects and competitive growth<sup>14,15</sup>; **2**. at the level of the intestinal epithelium, probiotics may preserve or reinforce the mucosal gastrointestinal barrier function<sup>16,17</sup>; **3**. at the level of the immune system, probiotics may induce production of the anti-inflammatory cytokines and decrease the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines.<sup>18,19</sup> From 14 randomised controlled trials that studied the effects of prophylactic probiotics in a variety of surgical patient populations, 9 studies showed a significant reduction in total infectious complications in patients receiving probiotics. However, methodological quality of these studies was often poor.

CHAPTER 8 describes the **PRO**biotics in **PA**ncreatitis **TRIA**1 (PROPATRIA). In this randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial, we randomly assigned 296 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis to receive a multispecies probiotic preparation (n=152) or placebo (n=144) within 72 hours after onset of symptoms. The primary endpoint of infectious complications occurred in 46 patients (30%) in the probiotics group and in 41 patients (28%) in the placebo group (RR 1.06; 95% CI 0.75-1.51). Surprisingly, 24 patients (16%) in the probiotics group

died, compared with only nine patients (6%) in the placebo group (RR 2.53; 95% CI 1.22-5.25). Nine patients in the probiotics group developed bowel ischemia (eight with fatal outcome), compared with none in the placebo group (P=0.004). Our study showed that prophylactic probiotics do not reduce infections in acute pancreatitis. More importantly, for the first time ever, probiotics were shown to have adverse effects in critically ill patients. In CHAPTER 9 we summarized a study in which we assessed intestinal barrier function in 141 out of 296 patients from the PROPA-TRIA study. We measured excretion of intestinal fatty acid binding protein (IFABP, a parameter for enterocyte damage), recovery of polyethylene glycols (PEGs, a parameter for intestinal permeability), and excretion of nitric oxide (NOx, a parameter for bacterial translocation) in urine. IFABP concentrations in the first 72 hours were higher in patients who developed bacteraemia (P=0.03), infected necrosis (P=0.01), and organ failure (P=0.008). PEG 4000 recovery was higher in patients who developed bacteraemia (P=0.001), organ failure (P<0.001), or died (P=0.009). Probiotic prophylaxis was associated with an increase in IFABP (median 362 vs. 199 pg/mL; P=0.02), most evidently in patients with organ failure (P=0.01), and did not influence intestinal permeability. Overall, probiotics decreased NOx (P=0.02), but, in patients with organ failure, probiotics increased NOx (P=0.002). We concluded that bacteraemia, infected necrosis, organ failure, and mortality are all associated with intestinal barrier dysfunction early in the course of acute pancreatitis. Overall, probiotic prophylaxis seems to reduce bacterial translocation, but is associated with increased bacterial translocation and enterocyte damage in patients with organ failure.

# PART III: EARLY ENDOSCOPIC INTERVENTION FOR BILIARY PANCREATITIS

Early endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) with sphincterotomy has been suggested to reduce complications and death in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.<sup>20,21</sup> This procedure is preferably only performed in patients with a high risk of stones in the common bile duct (CBD). In CHAPTER **10**, we evaluated whether commonly used radiological and biochemical predictors (i.e., increased liver functions) for CBD stones in a general patient population<sup>22</sup> are also reliable early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis. In 167 patients with acute biliary pancreatitis undergoing early ERCP (<72 hours after onset of symptoms), CBD stones were found in 53%. All studied parameters showed poor positive predictive value (ranging from 0.53 to 0.69) and poor negative predictive value (ranging from 0.46 to 0.67) for CBD stones. We concluded that commonly used biochemical and radiological predictors for CBD stones during the earliest stages of acute biliary pancreatitis are probably unreliable.

It is unclear if early ERCP with sphincterotomy reduces complications and death in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis.<sup>2,3,20,21</sup> In CHAPTER 11, we performed a meta-analysis of 3 randomised studies that compared early ERCP with conservative treatment in 450 patients with acute biliary pancreatitis without cholangitis. There was no significant effect of ERCP (n=230) on complications (RR 0.76; 95% CI 0.41-1.04) or mortality (RR 1.13; 95% CI 0.23-5.63). Results were similar in the subgroup of patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis (n=129). This meta-analysis does not provide a definitive answer on the role of ERCP in acute biliary pancreatitis for several reasons. First, the pooled data comprised of relatively few patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis, which is the group of patients most at risk for complications. Second, the trials included different subgroups of patients with varying incidence of cholestasis. Third, sphincterotomy was only performed in 53% of patients and there was considerable variation in the timing of ERCP. A new study evaluating the clinical effect of ERCP in patients solely with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis was needed. CHAPTER 12 is a prospective, observational, multicentre study that compared early ERCP (within 72 hours after onset of symptoms) with conservative treatment in 153 patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis without cholangitis. Patients without and with cholestasis, defined as bilirubin >2.3 mg/dL and/or dilated CBD on imaging, were analysed separately. Due to great variation in the indication for ERCP in the 15 participating hospitals, the patients undergoing early ERCP (n=81) and patients undergoing conservative treatment (n=72) were highly comparable at baseline. Cholestasis was present in 78 patients (51%). In patients with cholestasis, ERCP (n=52), as compared to conservative treatment (n=26), was associated with fewer complications (25% vs. 54%, P=0.02). This included fewer patients with >30% pancreatic necrosis (8% vs. 31%, P=0.01). In patients without cholestasis, ERCP (n=29) was not associated with reduced complications (45% vs. 41%, P=0.814). These results suggest that early ERCP is associated with fewer complications in predicted

severe acute biliary pancreatitis if cholestasis is present.

# PART IV: INTERVENTION FOR NECROTISING PANCREATITIS

The main indication for intervention in necrotising pancreatitis is infected necrosis.<sup>2</sup> The traditional method of intervention is primary open necrosectomy by laparotomy, which is associated with an extraordinary high risk of complications (34 to 95%) and death (11 to 39%).<sup>23-28</sup> As an alternative, minimally invasive techniques are increasingly performed. These techniques include percutaneous drainage,<sup>29</sup> endoscopic transgastric drainage and necrosectomy,<sup>30</sup> and minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy.<sup>27,31,32</sup>

CHAPTER 13 is a summary of a systematic review on the role of percutaneous drainage for infected necrosis or symptomatic sterile pancreatic necrosis. A total of 11 studies with a pooled population of 384 patients were included. Infected necrosis was proven in 71% of patients. In 56% of patients, no additional surgical necrosectomy was required after percutaneous drainage. Overall mortality was 17%. These results suggest that a considerable number of patients can be treated with percutaneous drainage, without the need for surgical necrosectomy.

CHAPTER 14 is a technical report of video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement (VARD). VARD is a form of minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy that can be considered a hybrid between sinus tract endoscopy<sup>31</sup> and classic open retroperitoneal necrosectomy.<sup>33</sup> As demonstrated in FIGURE 20.1, a 5 cm subcostal incision is placed in the left flank, close to the exit point of the preoperatively placed percutaneous drain. With the CT images and using the drain as a guide, the retroperitoneum is entered. After the first necrosis is removed under direct vision, the remaining loosely adherent necrosis is carefully removed with videoscopic assistance. Continuous postoperative lavage is performed through two large bore drains.

In CHAPTER 15, we summarize a study on the feasibility of minimally invasive techniques in necrotising pancreatitis. Peripancreatic collections on preoperative CT scans of 80 consecutive patients operated for necrotising pancreatitis were classified according to their distance from the left abdominal wall. Five experienced radiologists individually evaluated accessibility for drain placement. In 55 patients (69%), the lateral border of the collection was less than 5 cm from the left abdominal wall. Placement of a drain was deemed feasible in 67 patients (84%). The interobserver



FIGURE 20.1 Video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement.

The preoperatively placed retroperitoneal percutanaous drain is used as a guide to open the peripancreatic collection through a 5 cm subcostal incision. **a**. After the first necrosis is removed with a forceps under direct vision, the collection is inspected with a videoscope through a trocar placed in the edge of the incision **b**. Additional necrosectomy is performed with a laparoscopic forceps (**c**) and a suction device (**d**)

agreement for accessibility was moderate (mean  $\kappa 0.43 \pm 0.09$ ). In 45 of these 67 patients (67%), it was thought a drain could be placed through the left retroperitoneum. These results demonstrate that most peripancreatic collections in necrotising pancreatitis are accessible to a minimally invasive approach.

CHAPTER 16 is a summary of the first study to perform a head-to-head comparison of minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy with open necrosectomy. We matched 15 patients undergoing VARD with 15 patients undergoing open necrosectomy, in 2 hospitals between 2001 and 2005, for the presence of preoperative organ failure, status of infection, timing of surgery, age, and CT severity index. In addition to all matched preoperative characteristics, there were no significant differences in sex, preoperative intensive care admission, APACHE-II scores, and preoperative multiple organ failure. We found that postoperative new-onset multiple organ failure occurred in 10 patients in the open necrosectomy group vs. 2 patients in the VARD group (P=0.008). Six patients died in the open necrosectomy group vs. 1 patient in the VARD group (P=0.08). These findings point to a benefit of the minimally invasive retroperitoneal necrosectomy over open necrosectomy.

On the basis of the aforementioned preparative studies, we designed the study presented in CHAPTER 17: the PAncreatitis, maximal Necrosectomy versus minimally invasive sTEp up appRoach (PANTER)-trial. This was a randomised, controlled multicentre trial to establish the preferred surgical strategy in infected necrotising pancreatitis in terms of clinical outcomes, health care resource utilisation, and costs. A total of 88 patients with suspected or confirmed infected necrosis were randomly assigned to undergo primary open necrosectomy or a step-up approach of minimally invasive techniques. The step-up approach consisted of percutaneous drainage followed, if necessary, by VARD. The primary end point was a composite of major complications (new-onset multiple organ failure or multiple systemic complications, perforation of a visceral organ or enterocutaneous fistula, or bleeding) or death. The primary end point occurred in 31 of 45 patients (69%) assigned to open necrosectomy and in 17 of 43 patients (40%) assigned to the step-up approach (RR with the step-up approach, 0.57, 95% CI 0.38-0.87). Of the patients assigned to the step-up approach, 35% were treated with percutaneous drainage only. New-onset multiple organ failure occurred less often in patients assigned to the step-up approach than in those assigned to open necrosectomy (12% vs. 40%, P=0.002). Patients assigned to the step-up approach had a lower rate of incisional hernias (7% vs. 24%, P=0.03), new-onset diabetes (16% vs. 38%, P=0.02) and need for pancreatic enzyme suppletion (7% vs. 33%, P=0.002). Mean total costs per patient during admission and 6 months follow-up were  $\in 10,839$  lower (12%) with the step-up approach.

The literature on necrotising pancreatitis of the past 25 years consists mainly of small, retrospective series, from single expert centres, covering long time periods and mostly reporting on patients that underwent intervention. New data from large prospective multicentre studies are therefore needed, to serve as a standard reference for recent outcome of necrotising pancreatitis. CHAPTER **18** is a prospective observational cohort study that analysed the outcome of conservative treatment and intervention in 639 patients with necrotising pancreatitis who were screened for eli-

gibility for the PROPATRIA and PANTER studies during 2004-2008. Mortality in all 639 patients was 15%. Organ failure occurred in 240 patients (38%), with 35% mortality. Conservative treatment was performed in 397 patients (62%), with 7% mortality. An intervention was performed in 242 patients (38%), with 27% mortality. The longer the time between admission and intervention, the lower the risk of mortality (P<0.001). An emergency laparotomy very early in the course of disease was performed in 32 patients (5%), with 78% mortality. An intervention for suspected or confirmed infected necrosis was performed in 204 patients (32%), with 19% mortality. The longer the time between admission and first intervention for infected necrosis, the fewer the complications (P=0.007). Primary percutaneous drainage was performed in 63% of 204 patients undergoing an intervention: 35% of these patients were successfully treated without the need of further necrosectomy. In total, 106 patients underwent necrosectomy, with mortality of 24%. Complications occurred more often after laparotomy (n=104) than after VARD (n=54) and ETN (n=11): 71%, 56% and 9% respectively, P<0.0001. We concluded that mortality in necrotising pancreatitis remains high. Outcome of infected necrosis seems to improve with postponement of intervention and the use of minimally invasive techniques. Patients with sterile necrosis still suffer from considerable mortality in case of multiple organ failure and emergency laparotomy early in the course of disease.

# PART V: OBTAINING MEDICAL ETHICAL APPROVAL FOR

#### A DUTCH MULTICENTRE STUDY

In the final part of this thesis, we studied a topic other than acute pancreatitis: the application procedure for medical ethical approval for a multicentre study in the Netherlands. According to the 2004 'External Review Directive'<sup>34</sup> of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO) - the committee that oversees al Dutch medical ethics committees (MECs) -, the protocol of a multicentre study should only be approved by the MEC of the coordinating centre. For the other participating centres the local boards of directors are requested to sign a 'local feasibility declaration'.<sup>34</sup> This declaration is only based on expertise, competence and experience of the local researchers and the suitability of the local facilities. The Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group felt that the CCMO directive was often not followed by the MECs, which resulted in a bureaucratic and inefficient process.

Therefore, we performed the study in CHAPTER 19: a prospective evaluation of the application procedure for medical ethical approval for the PANTER trial in 19 hospitals. Several predefined variables regarding the duration of the ethical review process, the time invested and material and the type of queries raised by the MECs were collected. Primary approval by the central MEC of the coordinating hospital was obtained after 192 days. The duration of the review process for each of the 18 local participating centres was median 105 days (range 35-361). The maximum review term of 30 days, as defined in CCMO directive, was reached by only one centre. It took two years to obtain approval for all participating centres. A median of 14 different documents (range 5-23) were submitted to the MEC of each participating centre. A total of 8314 A4 size papers (about 42 kg) were sent by post, 172 telephone calls were made and 136 e-mail messages were sent by the research fellow coordinating the application procedure. Of the local MECs in the participating centres, 95% requested additional revision of the patient information sheet and 78% requested changes in the informed consent form. The application procedure for medical ethical approval for a multicentre trial in the Netherlands seems to be a long and inefficient process, requiring a considerable investment of time and resources.

### CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

This thesis provides answers to several important clinical questions on diagnosis and treatment of acute pancreatitis (TABLE 20.1). In the following paragraphs, we present the conclusions and implications for clinical practice and further research in each of the main topics that were studied.

# PART I: DEFINING ACUTE PANCREATITIS AND ITS COMPLICATIONS

We showed that the 1992 Atlanta definitions<sup>4</sup> for acute pancreatitis are often used inappropriately in the literature, and alternative definitions are frequently applied. The interobserver agreement for the Atlanta Classification to describe CT findings is very poor. This illustrates that these definitions should no longer be used in radiological reports. The proposed alternative of objective, descriptive terms for CT findings showed good to excellent interobserver agreement. Therefore, these descriptive, morphological terms will be incorporated in a revised version of the Atlanta Classification. An international working group, which includes two members of the

TABLE	20.1. The main study questions and answers of this thesis
Chapter	Study questions and answers
2	What is the interobserver agreement among radiologists for the Atlanta Classification to describe computed tomography findings in acute pancreatitis?
	The interobserver agreement among radiologists for the Atlanta Classification to describe computed tomography findings in acute pancreatitis is poor.
3	Are the definitions of the Atlanta Classification consistently used and interpreted in the literature? The definitions of the Atlanta Classification are often used and interpreted inappropriately in the literature, and alternative definitions are frequently applied.
4	What is the interobserver agreement among radiologists and clinicians from different parts of the world for a newly designed set of morphological criteria to describe computed tomography findings in acute pancreatitis?
	Objective, morphologic terms to describe computed tomography findings in acute pancreatitis show good to excellent interobserver agreement.
5	What is the time of onset and clinical impact of infections in acute pancreatitis?
	Infections occur very early in acute pancreatitis and have considerable impact on mortality.
6	Does enteral nutrition, as compared to parenteral nutrition, reduce the risk of infections and death
	in predicted severe acute pancreatitis?
	acute pancreatitis
7	What are the proposed mechanisms of action of probiotics and current evidence from randomised studies,
	with focus on prevention of infections in surgical and critically ill patients?
	Problotics are thought to exert beneficial effects at timee patholysiological levels that drive bacterial transforation, the intestinal lumen, the intestinal enithelium and the immune system. Problotic prophylaxis
	seems to reduce infections in patients undergoing elective surgery.
8	What is the role of probiotic prophylaxis in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis?
	Probiotic prophylaxis with a specific preparation ( <i>Ecologic 641</i> ) does not reduce infections in patients with
	predicted severe acute pancreatitis, but is associated with increased mortality.
9	What is the association between the clinical course of acute pancreatitis and increased intestinal permeability, enterocyte damage, and bacterial translocation, and how are these processes influenced by probiotics?
	Infected necrosis, organ failure and mortality are associated with increased intestinal permeability early in the
	course of acute pancreatitis. Generally, probiotics seem to reduce bacterial translocation but are associated with increased bacterial translocation and enterocyte damage in patients with organ failure.
10	What is the value of radiological and biochemical predictors for choledocholithiasis early in the course of
-	acute biliary pancreatitis?
	Widely used parameters for choledocholithiasis, such as a dilated common bile duct on ultrasonography and increased liver function tests, are probably unreliable early in the course of acute biliary pancreatitis.

ACUTE PANCREATITIS: NEW FRONTIERS IN DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT

Chapter	Study questions and answers
11-12	Does early ERCP, as compared to conservative treatment, improve clinical outcome in acute biliary
	pancreatitis?
	Early ERCP is associated with fewer complications in patients with acute biliary pancreatitis, but only in
	predicted severe disease with signs of cholestasis.
13	What is the role of percutaneous drainage in necrotising pancreatitis?
	Over a third of patients with an indication for intervention in necrotising pancreatitis can be treated with
	percutaneous drainage only, and do not need surgical necrosectomy.
14	How do you perform VARD in perrotising pancreatitis?
	VARD is a minimally invasive form of necrosectomy that involves a 5 cm subcostal incision through which the
	percutaneous drain is followed into the retroperitoneum and the collection is carefully debrided with the
	assistance of a laparoscope.
15	What is the feasibility of minimally investor techniques in persetting progratitic?
15	The vast majority of maintaing invasive techniques in necrotising pancreatitis are accossible for minimally invasive.
	radiological endoscopic and surgical techniques
16	Is VARD, as compared to open necrosectomy, associated with a better clinical outcome in necrotising
	pancreatitis?
	VARD is associated with a lower risk of post-operative multiple organ failure in necrotising pancreatitis.
17	Does a minimally invasive step-up approach, as compared to primary open necrosectomy, reduce the
	combination of major complications and death, as well as long term complications, health care utilisation, and total costs in patients with necrotising pancreatitis?
	A minimally invasive step-up approach, as compared to primary open necrosectomy, reduces the combination
	of major complications and death, as well as long term complications, health care utilization and total costs
	in patients with necrotising pancreatitis.
19	What is the recent outcome of patients from the optice clinical sportrum of percepticing paperceptitic who
18	undergo either conservative treatment or intervention?
	Mortality in necrotising pancreatitis remains high. Outcome for patients with infected necrosis seems
	to improve with postponement of intervention and the use of minimally invasive techniques. Patients
	with sterile necrosis still suffer from considerable mortality in case of multiple organ failure and emergency
	laparotomy early in the course of disease.
19	How is the application procedure for medical ethical approval for a nationwide multicentre study in the
13	Netherlands functioning, in terms of adherence to the national guideline, duration of the review process, and time and materials invested?
	The national guideline for medical ethical approval of a multicentre study in the Netherlands is not followed
	well. Consequently, the application procedure is a long and inefficient process that requires a considerable
	investment of time and resources.
ERCP stan	ds for endoscopic cholangiopancreaticography

VARD stands for video-assisted retroperitoneal debridement

Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group, is currently coordinating a global internet-based consensus statement. Several drafts of the new classification have been reviewed by members of all major international pancreatic and gastroenterological societies, and a definitive update is expected soon. New (interobserver) studies have to evaluate the revised Atlanta Classification.

# PART II: PREVENTING INFECTIONS IN ACUTE PANCREATITIS

Infectious complications occur early in the course of acute pancreatitis and have a major impact on mortality. Preventive strategies should therefore focus on early intervention. Enteral nutrition, as compared to parenteral nutrition, seems to be an effective strategy to reduce infections in acute pancreatitis. The optimal time to initiate enteral nutrition remains unknown. Therefore, since late 2008, the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group is enrolling patients in the Pancreatitis, very earlY compared wiTH selective delayed start Of eNteral feeding (PYTHON) study: a randomised controlled trial that compares enteral nutrition within 24 hours after admission to a selective, delayed start of enteral nutrition (>72 hours after admission) in 208 patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis [ISRCTN18170985].

Probiotics may be effective in preventing infections when they are administered to patients prior to elective surgery. However, in patients with severe acute pancreatitis, especially with organ failure, the specific probiotics we tested (*Ecologic 641*) do not reduce infections but are associated with an increase in enterocyte damage, bacterial translocation, bowel ischemia and mortality. Future studies should find an explanation for these adverse effects. Until then, probiotics should not be given to critically ill patients.

# PART III: EARLY ENDOSCOPIC INTERVENTION FOR ACUTE PANCREATITIS

Commonly used radiological and biochemical parameters for CBD stones are probably unreliable in the earliest stages of acute biliary pancreatitis. If the decision to perform early ERCP is to be based on the likelihood of CBD stones, alternative diagnostic modalities such as endoscopic ultrasound or magnetic resonance cholangiopancreaticography might be considered. We demonstrated, however, that regardless of the presence of CBD stones, early ERCP may reduce complications in patients with predicted severe acute biliary pancreatitis and signs of cholestasis. In order to finally answer the question if early ERCP is truly beneficial in these patients, a new randomised controlled trial is currently being designed by the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group.

# PART IV: INTERVENTION FOR NECROTISING PANCREATITIS

We demonstrated that the preferred treatment strategy for patients with infected necrosis, from both a clinical and an economic point of view, is a minimally invasive step-up approach consisting of percutaneous drainage followed, if necessary, by VARD. More than one third of patients is successfully treated with percutaneous drainage and does not require major abdominal surgery. Percutaneous drainage and VARD are feasible in the overwhelming majority of patients.

It remains unknown which exact method for necrosectomy is optimal in patients who do not improve after percutaneous drainage. Endoscopic transgastric necrosectomy may further reduce morbidity. The Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group recently finished the Pancreatitis, ENdoscopic transGastric versUs prImary Necrosectomy in patients with infected necrosis (PENGUIN) study: a randomised controlled pilot study in 20 patients focusing primarily on the post-procedural pro-inflammatory immune response (ISRCTN07091918). The results are eagerly awaited. Preparations are underway for a nationwide randomised controlled trial with a clinical primary endpoint: the Transluminal Endoscopic step-up approach versus miNimally invasive SurgIcal step-up apprOach in patients with infected pancreatic Necrosis (TENSION) trial.

The outcome of infected necrosis seems to improve with postponement of intervention and the introduction of minimally invasive techniques. However, patients with sterile necrosis and early multiple organ failure still have a very high risk of mortality. Future studies should investigate means to mitigate early organ failure and improve treatment of abdominal compartment syndrome in acute pancreatitis.

# PART V: OBTAINING MEDICAL ETHICAL APPROVAL

FOR A DUTCH MULTICENTRE STUDY

We showed that the 2004 CCMO 'External Review Directive' is not followed well. Consequently, the application procedure for medical ethical approval for a multicentre study in the Netherlands is a long and inefficient process that requires great investment of time and resources. Following the publication of our study, the CCMO sent a letter to the MEC and board of directors of every Dutch hospital to once more explain the correct procedure and responsibilities of the hospital management and other parties involved. The CCMO also published an example 'local feasibility declaration'<sup>35</sup> to improve the efficiency of the approval process. Future studies need to evaluate whether these actions have had an effect.

This thesis has presented 6 years of Dutch clinical research on acute pancreatitis. New frontiers were boldly explored and important discoveries were made. However, the horizon of pancreatology is constantly shifting and there are always new territories to chart. Much work remains to be done. The Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group is preparing several new randomised controlled trials and various international collaborative projects are underway.

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Gullo L, Migliori M, Olah A, et al. Acute pancreatitis in five European countries: etiology and mortality. Pancreas 2002; 24:223-227.
- Forsmark CE, Baillie J. AGA Institute Technical Review on Acute Pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-2044.
- Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 4 Bradley EL, III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.
- Beger HG, Bittner R, Block S, Buchler M.
   Bacterial contamination of pancreatic necrosis. A prospective clinical study.
   Gastroenterology 1986; 91:433-438.
- 6 Deitch EA. The role of intestinal barrier failure and bacterial translocation in the development of systemic infection and multiple organ failure. Arch Surg 1990; 125:403-404.
- 7 Guarner F, Malagelada JR. Gut flora in health and disease. Lancet 2003; 361:512-519.
- 8 Petrov MS, Shanbhag S, Chakraborty M, Phillips AR, Windsor JA. Organ Failure and Infection of Pancreatic Necrosis as Determinants of Mortality in Patients With Acute Pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2010 [Epub ahead of print].

- Beger HG, Rau B, Mayer J, Pralle U. Natural course of acute pancreatitis.
   World J Surg 1997; 21:130-135.
- 10 Kotani J, Usami M, Nomura H, et al. Enteral nutrition prevents bacterial translocation but does not improve survival during acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg 1999; 134:287-292.
- 11 McClave SA, Ritchie CS. Artificial nutrition in pancreatic disease: what lessons have we learned from the literature? Clin Nutr 2000; 19:1-6.
- 12 Olah A, Belagyi T, Issekutz A, Gamal ME, Bengmark S. Randomized clinical trial of specific lactobacillus and fibre supplement to early enteral nutrition in patients with acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2002; 89:1103-1107.
- 13 Olah A, Belagyi T, Poto L, Romics L, Jr., Bengmark S. Synbiotic control of inflammation and infection in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective, randomized, double blind study. Hepatogastroenterology 2007; 54:590-594.
- 14 Servin AL. Antagonistic activities of lactobacilli and bifidobacteria against microbial pathogens. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2004; 28:405-440.
- 15 van Minnen LP, Timmerman HM, Lutgendorff F, et al. Modification of intestinal flora with multispecies probiotics reduces bacterial translocation and improves clinical course in a rat model of acute pancreatitis. Surgery 2007; 141:470-480.

- Marco ML, Pavan S, Kleerebezem M.
   Towards understanding molecular modes of probiotic action.
   Curr Opin Biotechnol 2006; 17:204-210.
- 17 Otte JM, Podolsky DK. Functional modulation of enterocytes by gram-positive and gram-negative microorganisms. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2004; 286:G613-G626.
- 18 Niers LE, Timmerman HM, Rijkers GT, et al. Identification of strong interleukin-10 inducing lactic acid bacteria which down-regulate T helper type 2 cytokines. Clin Exp Allergy 2005; 35:1481-9.
- 19 Sugawara G, Nagino M, Nishio H, et al. Perioperative synbiotic treatment to prevent postoperative infectious complications in biliary cancer surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg 2006; 244:706-714.
- 20 Neoptolemos JP, Carr-Locke DL, London NJ, Bailey IA, James D, Fossard DP. Controlled trial of urgent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy versus conservative treatment for acute pancreatitis due to gallstones. Lancet 1988; 2:979-983.
- 21 Folsch UR, Nitsche R, Ludtke R, Hilgers RA, Creutzfeldt W. Early ERCP and papillotomy compared with conservative treatment for acute biliary pancreatitis. The German Study Group on Acute Biliary Pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1997; 336:237-242.
- 22 Abboud PA, Malet PF, Berlin JA, et al. Predictors of common bile duct stones prior to cholecystectomy: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 1996; 44:450-455.

- 23 Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19-year, single-center series. Surgery 2005; 138:28-39.
- 24 Buchler MW, Gloor B, Muller CA, Friess H, Seiler CA, Uhl W. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis: treatment strategy according to the status of infection. Ann Surg 2000; 232:619-626.
- 25 Rodriguez JR, Razo AO, Targarona J, et al. Debridement and closed packing for sterile or infected necrotizing pancreatitis: insights into indications and outcomes in 167 patients. Ann Surg 2008; 247:294-299.
- Ashley SW, Perez A, Pierce EA, et al.
   Necrotizing pancreatitis: contemporary analysis of 99 consecutive cases.
   Ann Surg 2001; 234:572-579.
- 27 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 137:499-505.
- 28 Howard TJ, Patel JB, Zyromski N, et al. Declining morbidity and mortality rates in the surgical management of pancreatic necrosis. J Gastrointest Surg 2007; 11:43-49.
- 29 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous CTguided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-975.

- 30 Papachristou GI, Takahashi N, Chahal P, Sarr MG, Baron TH. Peroral endoscopic drainage/ debridement of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Ann Surg 2007; 245:943-951.
- 31 Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW. Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience. Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-180.
- 32 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. A technique for laparoscopicassisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis and pancreatic abscess. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:1221-1225.
- 33 Gambiez LP, Denimal FA, Porte HL, Saudemont A, Chambon J-PM, Quandalle PA. Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1998; 133:66-72.
- 34 Website of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO): http://www.ccmo-online.nl /hipe/uploads/downloads/RET-eng.pdf.
- 35 Website of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO): http://www.ccmo-online.nl /hipe/uploads/downloads\_catm/Modelverklarin g%20lokale%20uitvoerbaarheid%201-12-2009.doc.

# DUTCH SUMMARY

Nederlandse samenvatting en conclusies

#### SAMENVATTING

De alvleesklier, in het Latijn 'pancreas' (uit het Grieks  $\pi \alpha v =$  'alles' en  $\kappa \rho \epsilon \alpha \zeta =$  'vlees'), ligt diep in de buik, gedeeltelijk achter de maag en de twaalf-vingerige darm. Het pancreas is een orgaan met belangrijke functies in de spijsvertering en de stofwisseling. Het produceert sappen met enzymen die in het darmkanaal voedsel afbreken, en enzymen die de bloedsuikerspiegel reguleren (bv. insuline).

Acute pancreatitis is een acute onsteking van het pancreas die meestal wordt veroorzaakt door galstenen of overmatig alcoholgebruik.<sup>1</sup> Bij ongeveer 15 tot 20% van de patiënten heeft de ziekte een ernstig beloop, dat gepaard kan gaan met orgaanfalen en met necrose ('afsterven') van pancreasweefsel en het omliggende vetweefsel. We spreken dan van necrotiserende pancreatitis.<sup>2-4</sup> Bij ongeveer 30% van de patiënten met necrotiserende pancreatitis treedt een secundaire infectie van de necrose op,<sup>3,5</sup> waarschijnlijk veroorzaakt door bacteriën vanuit de darm van de patiënt zelf.<sup>6,7</sup> Geïnfecteerde necrose is een indicatie voor interventie en gaat gepaard met een kans op overlijden van rond de 30%.<sup>3,8</sup>

Er zijn relatief weinig prospectieve studies naar acute pancreatitis gepubliceerd. Dit wordt waarschijnlijk verklaard door het feit dat acute pancreatitis een complexe ziekte is met een relatief lage incidentie in de ernstige vorm. Zelfs internationale gespecialiseerde hoog-volume centra behandelen niet genoeg patiënten met necrotiserende pancreatitis om, individueel, prospectieve studies met voldoende patiënten uit te voeren. De oplossing is samenwerking tussen verschillende ziekenhuizen. In 2002 werd de Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland opgericht. Het doel van deze werkgroep is de behandeling van acute (necrotiserende) pancreatitis te verbeteren door een combinatie van centralisatie, consultatie en multicentrisch onderzoek. De Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland bestaat nu uit meer dan 20 ziekenhuizen, waaronder alle Universitair Medische Centra, waarin chirurgen, gastroenterologen, radiologen en andere specialisten actief participeren.

In dit proefschrift wordt het klinisch onderzoek beschreven dat de Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland heeft uitgevoerd in de periode 2004-2010. Wij hebben studies verricht naar vier onderwerpen binnen acute pancreatitis, die in deze samenvatting achtereenvolgens aan bod zullen komen.

# DEEL I: HET DEFINIËREN VAN ACUTE PANCREATITIS EN DE COMPLICATIES

Er is grote behoefte aan correcte terminologie en gestandaardiseerde definities om adequate communicatie over pancreatitis te waarborgen, zowel in de klinische praktijk als in klinisch onderzoek. De wereldwijd toegepaste Atlanta Classificatie uit 1992 (zie TABEL 1.2 op pagina 16) kent enkele grote tekortkomingen. In HOOFDSTUK **2** vatten wij een studie samen die voor het eerst de 'interobserver-overeenstemming' van de Atlanta Classificatie heeft bestudeerd. Vijf Nederlandse radiologen classificeerden peri-pancreatische collecties op CT scans van 60 patiënten die werden geopereerd voor acute necrotiserende pancreatitis, met de definities van de Atlanta Classificatie: 'acute vochtcollectie', 'pseudocyste', 'pancreasabces' of 'pancreas necrose'. De interobserver-overeenstemming was slecht (K 0.144; standaard deviatie, 0.095). Bij slechts 3 patiënten (4%), kozen alle radiologen dezelfde definitie.

In HOOFDSTUK **3** beschrijven we een systematisch literatuuronderzoek om te beoordelen of definities van de Atlanta Classificatie geaccepteerd zijn in de literatuur, en om de variatie in interpretatie van deze definities te evalueren. Wij beoordeelden 447 artikelen over acute pancreatitis, waaronder 12 richtlijnen, en 82 overzichtsartikelen. Alternatieve definities met betrekking tot voorspelde ernst van acute pancreatitis, daadwerkelijke ernst en orgaanfalen werden in meer dan de helft van de studies gebruikt. Er was grote variatie in de interpretatie van de definities voor lokale complicaties, met name met betrekking tot de inhoud van peri-pancreatische collecties. Wij concludeerden dat de definities van de Atlanta Classificatie vaak incorrect worden gehanteerd en dat alternatieve definities veel worden toegepast.

HOOFDSTUK 4 beschrijft een nieuwe set van descriptieve, morfologische termen om peri-pancreatische collecties te classificeren op CT die wij ontwikkelden in samenwerking met de afdeling Chirurgie en Radiologie van the University of Washington Medical Center in Seattle. De criteria, met de naam PANCODE, werden vervolgens getest op hun interobserver-overeenstemming onder 7 gastroïntestinaal chirurgen, 2 gastroenterologen en 8 radiologen uit 3 Amerikaanse en 5 Europese gespecialiseerde ziekenhuizen. De overeenstemming was goed tot excellent voor de termen 'collectie', 'relatie met pancreas', 'inhoud', 'vorm', 'massawerking', 'geloculeerde gasbellen' en 'lucht-vloeistof spiegel'. De overeenstemming was matig voor 'uitgebreidheid van niet aankleurend pancreas' en 'afkapseling'. In het algemeen was de interobserver-overeenstemming voor de nieuwe set van morfologische termen voor het beschrijven van peri-pancreatische vochtcollecties bij acute pancreatitis goed tot excellent.

# DEEL II: HET VOORKOMEN VAN INFECTIES BIJ ACUTE PANCREATITIS

In het algemeen wordt aangenomen dat de grote meerderheid van patiënten die overlijden aan acute pancreatitis lijden aan infectieuze complicaties.<sup>5,9</sup> Geïnfecteerde necrose alleen is al verantwoordelijk voor tenminste de helft van de sterfgevallen bij acute pancreatitis. Er is dus een grote behoefte aan strategieën om infecties bij acute pancreatitis te voorkomen. In HOOFDSTUK **5** vatten wij een observationele cohort studie samen waarin het moment van optreden en de invloed van infectieuze complicaties bij acute pancreatitis werd bestudeerd. Wij analyseerden retrospectief een prospectief cohort van 731 patiënten met acute pancreatitis die werden opgenomen in 15 ziekenhuizen van de Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland tussen 2004 en 2007. De eerste infectie (bacteriëmie, pneumonie of geïnfecteerde necrose) werd bij 173 patiënten (24%), op mediaan 8 dagen na opname, gediagnosticeerd. Van de 61 patiënten die overleden had 80% een infectie. Bij de 98 patiënten met geïnfecteerde necrose, was bacteriëmie geassocieerd met hogere sterfte (40% vs. 16%, P=0.014). Deze studie toonde aan dat infecties vroeg optreden bij acute pancreatitis, en een significante invloed hebben op mortaliteit, met name bacteriëmie.

Een potentiële strategie om infecties bij acute pancreatitis te voorkomen is het gebruik van enterale voeding.<sup>10,11</sup> HOOFDSTUK **6** is een samenvatting van een systematisch literatuuronderzoek en een meta-analyse van 5 gerandomiseerde gecontroleerde studies die het effect van enterale voeding vergeleken met parenterale voeding op het optreden van infecties en sterfte bij 202 patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute pancreatitis. Enterale voeding (n=107) reduceerde significant het risico op infectieuze complicaties (relatief risico [RR], 0.47; 95% betrouwbaarheidsinterval [BI], 0.28-0.77), pancreas infecties (RR 0.48; 95% BI 0.26-0.91), en sterfte (RR 0.32; 95% BI 0.11-0.98).

Een andere strategie om infectieuze complicaties bij acute pancreatitis te voorkomen is profylactische toediening van probiotica.<sup>12,13</sup> In HOOFDSTUK 7 geven we een overzicht van de veronderstelde werkingsmechanismen van probiotica ten aanzien van het voorkomen van infecties bij chirurgische patiënten en het huidige bewijs hiervoor op basis van klinisch onderzoek. Probiotica worden verondersteld gunstige effecten te hebben op de 3 pathosfysiologische niveaus die verantwoordelijk zijn voor bacteriële translocatie: 1. op het niveau van het darmlumen zouden probiotica bacteriële overgroei van potentiële pathogenen voorkomen door directe antimicrobiële effecten en competitieve groei.<sup>14,15</sup>; **2**.) op het niveau van het darmepitheel zouden probiotica de mucosale gastroïntestinale barrière behouden of versterken<sup>16,17</sup>; 3) op het niveau van het immuunsysteem, zouden probiotica de productie van anti-inflammatoire cytokines stimuleren en de productie van pro-inflammatoire cytokines inhiberen.<sup>18,19</sup> Van de 14 gerandomiseerde gecontroleerde studies die het effect van profylactische probiotica in een verscheidenheid van chirurgische patiëntenpopulaties onderzochten toonden 9 studies een significante reductie in het totaal aantal infectieuze complicaties door probiotica. Echter, de methodologische kwaliteit van deze studies was vaak matig.

HOOFDSTUK 8 beschrijft de PRObiotics in PAncreatitis TRIAI (PROPATRIA). In deze gerandomiseerde, dubbel-blinde, placebo-gecontroleerde, multicentrische studie randomiseerden wij 296 patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute pancreatitis tussen prophylaxe met een multispeciës probiotica preparaat (n=152) of placebo (n=144), binnen 72 uur na aanvang van symptomen. Het primaire eindpunt, bestaande uit infectieuze complicaties, trad op bij 46 patiënten (30%) in de probiotica groep en bij 41 patiënten (28%) in de placebo groep (RR 1.06; 95% BI 0.75-1.51). Geheel verrassend overleden er 24 patiënten (16%) in de probiotica groep, ten opzichte van slechts negen patiënten (6%) in de placebo groep (RR 2.53; 95% BI 1.22-5.25). Negen patiënten in de probiotica groep ontwikkelden darmischemie (waarvan acht met dodelijke afloop), in vergelijking met géén patiënten in de placebo groep (P=0.004). Onze studie toonde aan dat probiotica profylaxe infecties bij acute pancreatitis niet voorkomen. Belangrijker is dat er voor het eerst werd aangetoond dat probiotica schadelijke effecten bij kritiek zieke patiënten kunnen hebben. In HOOFDSTUK 9 vatten we een studie samen waarin wij intestinale barrière functie bij 141 van de 296 patiënten uit de PROPATRIA studie bestudeerden. We hebben in de urine de excretie gemeten van 'intestinal fatty acid binding protein' (IFABP, een parameter voor enterocytenschade), de terugvondst van 'polyethylene glycols' (PEGs, een parameter voor intestinale permeabiliteit), en de excretie van

stikstof oxide (NOx, een parameter voor bacteriële translocatie). IFABP concentraties in de eerste 72 uur waren hoger bij patiënten met bacteriëmie (P=0.03), geïnfecteerde necrose (P=0.01), en orgaanfalen (P=0.008). PEG 4000 terugvondst was hoger bij patiënten met bacteriëmie (P=0.001), orgaanfalen (P<0.001), of die overleden (P=0.009). Probiotica profylaxe was geassocieerd met een toename van IFABP (mediaan 362 vs. 199 pg/mL; P=0.02). Dit was het meest duidelijk bij patiënten met orgaanfalen (P=0.01) en had geen invloed op de intestinale permeabiliteit. In het algemeen waren probiotica geassocieerd met een vermindering van NOx (P=0.02), maar, bij patiënten met orgaanfalen waren probiotica geassocieerd met een toename van NOx (P=0.002). Wij concludeerden dat bacteriëmie, geïnfecteerde necrose, orgaanfalen en sterfte allemaal geassocieerd zijn met falen van de intestinale barrière vroeg in het beloop van acute pancreatitis. In het algemeen lijkt probiotica profylaxe de bacteriële translocatie te verminderen, maar het is geassocieerd met een toename van bacteriële translocatie en enterocytenschade bij patiënten met orgaanfalen.

DEEL III: VROEGE ENDOSCOPISCHE INTERVENTIE VOOR BILIAIRE PANCREATITIS Het is gesuggereerd dat vroege endoscopische retrograde cholangiopancreaticografie (ERCP) met papillotomie leidt tot een reductie van complicaties en sterfte bij patiënten met acute biliaire pancreatitis.<sup>20,21</sup> Deze procedure wordt bij voorkeur alleen uitgevoerd bij patiënten met een hoog risico op stenen in de ductus choledochus. In HOOFDSTUK 10 evalueerden wij of veelgebruikte radiologische en biochemische predictoren (verhoogde leverfunctie testen) voor choledocholithiasis in een algemene patiëntenpopulatie<sup>22</sup> ook betrouwbaar zijn vroeg in het beloop van acute biliaire pancreatitis. Van 167 patiënten met acute biliaire pancreatitis die een vroege ERCP (<72 uur na aanvang van de buikpijn) ondergingen, werd in 53% van de gevallen een choledochus steen gevonden. Alle bestudeerde parameters hadden een slechte positief voorspellende waarde (uitersten: 0.53 tot 0.69) en slechte negatief voorspellende waarde (uitersten: 0.46 tot 0.67) voor choledocholithiasis. Wij concludeerden dat veelgebruikte biochemische en radiologische predictoren voor choledocholithiasis tijdens de vroege fase van of ABP waarschijnlijk niet betrouwbaar zijn. Het is onduidelijk of vroege ERCP met papillotomie complicaties en sterfte bij patiënten met biliaire pancreatitis vermindert.<sup>2,3,20,21</sup> In HOOFDSTUK 11, beschrij-
ven we een meta-analyse van 3 gerandomiseerde studies waarin vroege ERCP werd vergeleken met conservatieve behandeling bij 450 patiënten met acute biliaire pancreatitis zonder cholangitis. Er was geen significant effect van ERCP (n=230) op complicaties (RR 0.76; 95% BI 0.41-1.04) of sterfte (RR 1.13; 95% BI 0.23-5.63). De resultaten waren vergelijkbaar in de subgroep patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute biliaire pancreatitis (n=129). Deze meta-analyse geeft geen definitief antwoord op de vraag ERCP een gunstig effect heeft bij acute biliaire pancreatitis, om verschillende redenen. Ten eerste werden er relatief weinig patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute biliaire pancreatitis geïncludeerd, terwijl dit juist de subgroep is die het meeste risico loopt op complicaties. Ten tweede includeerden de studies verschillende subgroepen van patiënten met acute bilaire pancreatitis met een variërende incidentie van cholestasis per groep. Ten derde werd een papillotomie slechts bij 53% van de patiënten uitgevoerd en was er variatie in het tijdstip vanaf aanvang van de symptomen waarop de ERCP werd uitgevoerd. Er was een nieuwe studie nodig om het klinische effect van ERCP te bestuderen bij patiënten met alleen voorspeld ernstige acute biliaire pancreatitis. HOOFDSTUK 12 is een prospectieve, observationele, multicentrische studie die vroege ERCP (binnen 72 uur na aanvang van de buikpijn) vergelijkt met conservatieve behandeling bij 153 patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute biliaire pancreatitis zonder cholangitis. Patiënten met en zonder cholestase, gedefinieerd als een bilirubine >2.3 mg/dL en/ of uitgezette ductus choledochus op beeldvorming, werden apart geanalyseerd. Door de grote variatie in de indicatie voor ERCP tussen de 15 participerende ziekenhuizen waren de groep patiënten die vroege ERCP (n=81) ondergingen bij baseline sterk vergelijkbaar met de groep patiënten die conservatief behandeld werden (n=72). Cholestase was aanwezig bij 78 patiënten (51%). Bij patiënten met cholestase was ERCP (n=52), in vergelijking met een conservatief beleid (n=26), geassocieerd met minder complicaties (25% vs. 54%, P=0.02). Hieronder vielen ook minder patiënten met > 30% pancreasnecrose (8% vs. 31%, P=0.01). Bij patiënten zonder cholestase, was ERCP (n=29) niet geassocieerd met minder complicaties (45% vs. 41%, P=0.814). Deze resultaten suggereren dat vroege ERCP geassocieerd is met minder complicaties bij voorspeld ernstige acute biliaire pancreatitis, als er ook sprake is van cholestase.

### DEEL IV: INTERVENTIE VOOR NECROTISERENDE PANCREATITIS

De belangrijkste indicatie voor interventie bij necrotiserende pancreatitis is geïnfecteerde necrose.<sup>2</sup> De klassieke methode is een primaire open necrosectomie door een laparotomie (het verwijderen van de necrose door een grote buikoperatie). Dit is geassocieerd met een uitzonderlijk hoog risico op complicaties (34 tot 95%) en sterfte (11 tot 39%).<sup>23-28</sup> Als een alternatief voor primaire open necrosectomie worden steeds vaker zogenaamde 'minimaal invasieve technieken' gebruikt. Onder deze technieken vallen CT- of echo-geleide percutane drainage<sup>29</sup>, endoscopisch transgastrische drainage en necrosectomie,<sup>30</sup> en minimaal invasieve retroperitoneale necrosectomie.<sup>27,31,32</sup>

HOOFDSTUK 13 is een samenvatting van een systematisch literatuuronderzoek naar de rol van percutane drainage bij geïnfecteerde necrose of symptomatische steriele pancreasnecrose. In totaal werden 11 studies met een gezamenlijke studiepopulatie van 384 patiënten geïncludeerd. Geïnfecteerde necrose werd bewezen bij 71% van de patiënten. Bij 56% van de patiënten was na percutane drainage geen aanvullende operatieve necrosectomie nodig. De mortaliteit was 17%. Deze resultaten suggereren dat een aanzienlijk deel van de patiënten behandeld kan worden met alleen percutane drainage, zonder de noodzaak tot chirurgische necrosectomie.

HOOFDSTUK 14 is een technische beschrijving van 'videoscopisch-geassisteerde retroperitoneale débridement (VARD)'. VARD is een vorm van minimaal invasieve retroperitoneale necrosectomie die kan worden gezien als een hybride tussen 'sinus tract endoscopy'<sup>31</sup> en een klassieke lumbotomie.<sup>33</sup> Zoals te zien in FIGUUR 20.1 (blz. 308), wordt er een 5 cm subcostale incisie geplaatst in de linker flank, nabij waar de preoperatief geplaatste percutane drain uitsteekt. Met de CT beelden en de drain als geleide wordt het retroperitoneum binnengegaan. Nadat de eerste necrose á vue is verwijderd wordt de resterende loszittende necrose voorzichtig verwijderd onder videoscopische assistentie. Er wordt continue postoperatieve lavage verricht door twee grote drains.

In HOOFDSTUK 15, vatten we een studie samen naar de haalbaarheid van minimaal invasieve technieken bij necrotiserende pancreatitis. Peri-pancreatische collecties op preoperatieve CT scans van 80 opeenvolgende patiënten die waren geopereerd voor necrotiserende pancreatitis werden geclassificeerd op basis van de afstand vanaf de linker laterale buikwand. Vijf ervaren radiologen beoordeelden individueel de toegangsmogelijkheid voor een drain. Bij 55 patiënten (69%), lag de laterale grens van de collectie minder dan 5 cm van de linker buikwand. Het werd haalbaar geacht een drain te plaatsen bij 67 patiënten (84%). De interobserver-overeenstemming voor een toegangsroute voor drainage was matig (gemiddelde  $\kappa$  0.43 ±0.09). Bij 45 van de 67 patiënten (67%), werd het als haalbaar beoordeeld een drain te plaatsen door het linker retroperitoneum. Deze resultaten suggereren dat de meeste peri-pancreatische collecties bij necrotiserende pancreatitis toegankelijk zijn voor een minimaal invasieve benadering.

HOOFDSTUK **16** is een samenvatting van de eerste studie waarin een 'head-to-head' vergelijking wordt gemaakt tussen minimaal invasieve retroperitoneale necrosectomie en open necrosectomie. We koppelden 15 patiënten die een VARD ondergingen met 15 patiënten die open necrosectomie ondergingen, in 2 ziekenhuizen gedurende 2001 en 2005, voor aanwezigheid van preoperatief orgaanfalen, status van infectie, het tijdstip van operatie, leeftijd, en de CT severity index. Naast alle gekoppelde preoperatieve kenmerken waren er geen significante verschillen tussen de beide groepen met betrekking tot geslacht, preoperatieve intensive care opname, APACHE-II scores, en preoperatief multi-orgaanfalen. We vonden dat de postoperatief nieuw multi-orgaanfalen optrad bij 10 patiënten in de open necrosectomie groep vs. 2 patiënten in de VARD groep (P=0.008). Zes patiënten overleden in de open necrosectomie groep vs. 1 patiënt in de VARD groep (P=0.08). Deze resultaten wijzen richting een voordeel van minimaal invasieve retroperitoneale necrosectomie boven open necrosectomie.

Op basis van de bovengenoemde voorbereidende studies ontwierpen wij de studie die wordt beschreven in HOOFDSTUK 17: de PAncreatitis, maximal Necrosectomy versus minimal invasive sTEp up appRoach (PANTER)-trial. Dit was een gerandomiseerd, gecontroleerd, multicentrisch onderzoek om vast te stellen welke chirurgische behandelstrategie de voorkeur heeft bij geïnfecteerde necrotiserende pancreatitis als het gaat om klinische uitkomstmaten, gebruik van gezondheidszorgmiddelen, en kosten. Er werden in totaal 88 patiënten met de verdenking op of bewezen geïnfecteerde necrose gerandomiseerd tussen primaire open necrosectomie of de zogenaamde 'step-up benadering' van minimaal invasieve technieken. De stepup benadering bestond uit percutane drainage gevolgd, mits nodig, door VARD. Het primaire eindpunt was een combinatie van grote complicaties (het nieuw ontstaan van multi-orgaanfalen of multi-systemische complicaties, een perforatie van een hol orgaan of een enterocutane fistel, of een bloeding) of sterfte. Het primaire eindpunt trad op bij 31 van de 45 patiënten (69%) in de open necrosectomie groep en bij 17 van de 43 patiënten (40%) in de step-up benadering groep (RR 0.57, 95% BI 0.38-0.87). Van de patiënten die werden toegewezen aan de step-up benadering, was alleen percutane drainage een succesvolle behandeling in 35% van de gevallen. Nieuw ontstaan multi-orgaanfalen trad minder vaak op bij patiënten in de step-up benadering groep (12% vs. 40%, P=0.002). Patiënten in de step-up benadering groep hadden minder vaak een littekenbreuk (7% vs. 24%, P=0.03), nieuw ontstane diabetes (16% vs. 38%, P=0.02) en de noodzaak tot gebruik van pancreas enzymsuppletie (7% vs. 33%, P=0.002). De gemiddelde totale kosten per patiënt gedurende opname en 6 maanden follow-up waren €10,839 lager (12%) in de step-up groep.

De literatuur over necrotiserende pancreatitis van de afgelopen 25 jaar bestaat voornamelijk uit kleine, retrospectieve series, uit enkele gespecialiseerde ziekenhuizen, die lange tijdsperioden beschrijven en meestal alleen resultaten rapporteren van patiënten die een interventie ondergingen. Nieuwe data van grote prospectieve multicentrische studies zijn dus nodig om als standaardreferentie te dienen voor de recente uitkomsten van necrotiserende pancreatitis. HOOFDSTUK 18 is een prospectieve, observationele cohort studie die de uitkomst beschrijft van conservatieve behandeling en interventie bij 639 patiënten met necrotiserende pancreatitis die werden gescreend voor eventuele inclusie in de PROPATRIA en PANTER studies, gedurende 2004-2008. De sterfte in de totale groep van 639 patiënten was 15%. Orgaanfalen trad op bij 240 patiënten (38%), met 35% sterfte. Een conservatief beleid werd gevoerd bij 397 patiënten (62%), met 7% sterfte. Een interventie werd uitgevoerd bij 242 patiënten (38%), met 27% sterfte. Hoe langer de tijd tussen opname en interventie, hoe lager het risico op sterfte (P<0.001). Een spoedlaparotomie zeer vroeg in het ziektebeloop werd uitgevoerd bij 32 patiënten (5%), met 78% sterfte. 204 patiënten (32%) ondergingen een interventie voor verdenking op of bewezen geïnfecteerde necrose, met 9% sterfte. Hoe langer de tijd tussen opname en de eerste interventie voor geïnfecteerde necrose, hoe lager de complicaties (P=0.007). Primaire percutane drainage werd verricht bij 62% van de 204 patiënten die een interventie ondergingen: 35% van deze patiënten werden succesvol behandeld zonder de noodzaak tot een necrosectomie. In totaal ondergingen 106 patiënten een necrosectomie, met een sterfte van 24%. Complicaties traden vaker op bij patiënten na laparotomie (n=104) dan na VARD (n=54) en ETN (n=11): respectievelijk 71%, 56% en 9%, P<0.0001. Wij concludeerden dat de sterfte bij necrotiserende pancreatitis hoog blijft. De uitkomst van geïnfecteerde necrose lijkt te verbeteren met het uitstellen van interventie en het gebruik van minimaal invasieve technieken. De sterfte onder patiënten met steriele necrose is nog steeds hoog in het geval van multi-orgaanfalen en een spoedlaparotomie vroeg in het ziektebeloop.

### DEEL V: HET VERKRIJGEN VAN MEDISCH ETHISCHE GOEDKEURING

## VOOR EEN NEDERLANDSE MULTICENTRISCHE STUDIE

In het laatste deel van dit proefschrift bestudeerden wij een ander onderwerp dan acute pancreatitis: de procedure voor het verkrijgen van medische ethische goedkeuring voor een multicentrische studie in Nederland. Volgens de 'Richtlijn Externe Toetsing'<sup>34</sup> uit 2004 van de Centrale Commissie voor Mensgebonden Onderzoek (CCMO) – de commissie die toezicht houdt over alle Nederlandse Medisch Ethische Toetsingscommissies (METC's) –, hoeft het protocol van een multicentrische studie alleen goedgekeurd te worden door de METC van het coördinerende centrum. In alle andere deelnemende centra wordt de lokale Raad van Bestuur verzocht een zogenaamde 'Lokale uitvoerbaarheidverklaring' te tekenen.<sup>34</sup> Deze verklaring heeft slechts betrekking op deskundigheid en de bekwaamheid van de lokale hoofdonderzoekers en de infrastructuur van het eigen ziekenhuis. De Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland had het gevoel dat de CCMO richtlijn vaak niet werd gevolgd door de METC's, wat resulteerde in een bureaucratisch en inefficiënt proces.

Om die reden hebben wij de studie verricht die wordt beschreven in HOOFDSTUK 19: een prospectieve evaluatie van de procedure tot het verkrijgen van medisch-ethische goedkeuring van de PANTER trial in 19 ziekenhuizen. Vooraf gedefinieerde variabelen van de beoordelingstermijn, de geïnvesteerde tijd en het benodigde materiaal werden bestudeerd, evenals de gevraagde aanpassingen en opmerkingen van METC's tijdens de toetsingsprocedure. De inhoudelijke toetsing van het studieprocotol door de centraal oordelende METC bedroeg 192 dagen. De beoordelingstermijn voor het toevoegen van 18 deelnemende centra aan de studiegroep bedroeg per centrum nog mediaan 105 dagen (uitersten: 35-361 dagen). De volgens

TABEL De belangrijkste onderzoeksvragen en antwoorden van dit proefschrift
--

Hoofdstuk	Onderzoeksvragen en antwoorden
2	Wat is de interobserver-overeenstemming onder radiologen voor de Atlanta Classificatie om CT bevindingen bij acute pancreatitis te beschrijven?
	De interobserver-overeenstemming onder radiologen voor de Atlanta Classificatie om CT bevindingen bij acute pancreatitis te beschrijven is slecht.
3	Worden de definities van de Atlanta Classificatie consistent gebruikt en geïnterpreteerd in de literatuur? De definities van de Atlanta Classificatie worden vaak onjuist gebruikt en geïnterpreteerd in de literatuur, en alternatieve definities worden vaak toegepast.
4	Wat is de interobserver-overeenstemming onder radiologen en clinici uit verschillende delen van de wereld voor een nieuw ontworpen set van morfologische criteria om CT bevindingen bij acute pancreatitis te beschrijven?
	Objectieve, morfologische termen om CI bevindingen bij acute pancreatitis te beschrijven hebben een goede tot excellente interobserver-overeenstemming.
5	Wat is het tijdstip van ontstaan en de klinische invloed van infecties bij acute pancreatitis? Infecties treden erg vroeg in het beloop van acute pancreatitis op en hebben een aanzienlijke invloed op de mortaliteit.
6	Leidt enterale voeding, in vergelijking met parenterale voeding tot een reductie van infecties en sterfte bij voorspeld ernstige acute pancreatitis? Enterale voeding is geassocieerd met een reductie van infecties en sterfte bij voorspeld ernstige acute pancreatitis.
7	Wat zijn de veronderstelde werkingsmechanismen van probiotica en het huidige bewijs op basis van gerandomiseerde studies, als het gaat om het voorkomen van infecties bij chirurgische en kritiek zieke patiënten? Probiotica worden verondersteld gunstige effecten uit te oefenen op de drie pathosfysiologische niveaus die verantwoordelijk zijn voor bacteriële translocatie: het intestinale lumen, het intestinale epitheel en het immuunsysteem. Profylactische probiotica lijken infecties te reduceren bij patiënten die electieve operaties ondergaan.
8	Wat is de rol van probiotica profylaxe bij patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute pancreatitis? Probiotica profylaxe met een specifiek preparaat (Ecologic 641) reduceert niet het aantal infecties bij patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute pancreatitis, maar is geassocieerd met verhoogde mortaliteit.
9	Wat is de associatie tussen het klinisch beloop van acute pancreatitis en verhoogde darmpermeabiliteit, enterocytenschade, en bacteriële translocatie, en hoe worden deze processen beïnvloed door probiotica? Geïnfecteerde necrose, orgaanfalen en sterfte zijn geassocieerd met verhoogde darmpermeabiliteit vroeg in het beloop van acute pancreatitis. In het algemeen lijken probiotica bacteriële translocatie te reduceren, maar zij zijn geassocieerd met verhoogde bacteriële translocatie en enterocytenschade bij patiënten met orgaanfalen.
10	Wat is de waarde van radiologische en biochemische predictoren voor choledocholithiasis vroeg in het beloop van acute biliaire pancreatitis? Veelgebruikte parameters voor choledocholithiasis, zoals een verwijde d. choledochus bij beeldvorming en verhoogde leverfunctietesten zijn waarschijnlijk niet betrouwbaar vroeg in het beloop van acute biliaire pancreatitis.

11, 12	Leidt vroege ERCP, in vergelijking met een conservatief beleid, tot een verbetering in klinische uitkomsten bij acute biliaire pancreatitis? Vroege ERCP is geassocieerd met minder complicaties bij patiënten met acute biliaire pancreatitis, maar alleen bij patiënten met voorspeld ernstige ziekte met tekenen van cholestase.
10	
13	Wat is de roi van percutane drainage bij necrotiserende pancreatitis? Meer dan één derde van de patiënten met een indicatie voor interventie bij necrotiserende pancreatitis kunnen succesvol worden behandeld met alleen percutane drainage, en hoeven dus geen operatieve necrosectomie te ondergaan.
14	Hoe verricht men een VARD bij necrotiserende pancreatitis? VARD is een minimaal invasieve vorm van necrosectomie die bestaat uit een 5 cm kleine subcostale incisie waardoor de percutane drain wordt gevolgd tot in het retroperitoneum en de collectie voorzichtig wordt gedébrideert met de assistentie van een laparoscoop.
15	Wat is de haalbaarheid van minimaal invasieve technieken bij necrotiserende pancreatitis? De overgrote meerderheid van peri-pancreatische collecties bij necrotiserende pancreatitis zijn benaderbaar voor minimaal invasieve radiologische, endoscopische en chirurgische technieken.
16	Is VARD, in vergelijking met open necrosectomie, geassocieerd met betere klinische uitkomsten bij
	Necrotiserende pancreatitis? VARD is geassocieerd met een lager risico op postoperatief multi-orgaanfalen bij necrotiserende pancreatitis.
17	Reduceert een minimaal invasieve step-up benadering, in vergelijking met primaire open necrosectomie, de combinatie van grote complicaties en sterfte, alsook de lange termijn complicaties, het gebruik van gezondheidszorgmiddelen en de totale kosten, bij patiënten met necrotiserende pancreatitis? Een minimaal invasieve step-up benadering, in vergelijking met primaire open necrosectomie, reduceert de combinatie van grote complicaties en sterfte, alsook de lange termijn complicaties, het gebruik van gezondheidszorgmiddelen en de totale kosten, bij patiënten met necrotiserende pancreatitis.
18	Wat is de recente uitkomst van natiënten uit het gehele klinische spectrum van necrotiserende
	parcreatitis die conservatief of met een interventie worden behandeld? De sterfte als gevolg van necrotiserende pancreatitis blijft hoog. De uitkomsten voor patiënten met geïnfecteerde necrose lijken te verbeteren met het uitstellen van interventie en minimaal invasieve technieken. Patiënten met steriele necrose hebben nog steeds een aanzienlijke kans te overlijden in geval van multi-orgaanfalen en een spoedlaparotomie vroeg in het ziektebeloop.
10	Hoe functioneert de procedure tot het verkrijgen van medisch-ethische goedkeuring voor een landelijke
1.7	multicentrische studie in Nederland, met betrekking tot het volgen van de richtlijnen, de duur van het beoordelingsproces en de tijd en middelen die worden geïnvesteerd? De landelijke richtlijnen voor het medisch-ethische toetsing van een multicentrische studie in Nederland wordt niet goed gevolgd. Als gevolg hiervan is er sprake van een lang en inefficiënt proces dat vraagt om een aanzienlijke investering van tijd en middelen.

CT staat voor computed tomography

ERCP staat voor endoscopische retrograde cholangiopancreaticografie

VARD staat voor videoscopisch-geassisteerd retroperitoneale débridement

de CCMO richtlijn maximale lokale beoordelingstermijn van 30 dagen werd maar 1 maal gehaald. Het duurde 2 jaar voordat er in alle centra toestemming was. Er werden mediaan 14 verschillende soorten documenten (uitersten: 5-23) bij iedere METC ingediend. In totaal werden 8314 A4'tjes (circa 42 kg) verstuurd, 172 telefoongesprekken gevoerd en 136 e-mailberichten verstuurd door de arts-onderzoeker die de indieningsprocedure coördineerde. Van de METC's van de deelnemende centra vroeg 95% een wijziging in de patiënteninformatiebrief en 78% een wijziging in het toestemmingsformulier. Het verkrijgen van medisch-ethische goedkeuring voor dit multicentrisch onderzoek in Nederland was tot voor kort een inefficiënt en langdurig proces dat gepaard ging met een grote investering van tijd en middelen.

## CONCLUSIES EN TOEKOMSTPERSPECTIEVEN

Dit proefschrift geeft antwoorden op enkele belangrijke klinische vragen met betrekking tot de diagnose en behandeling van acute pancreatitis (zie TABEL). In de volgende paragrafen presenteren wij de conclusies en implicaties voor de klinische praktijk en toekomstig onderzoek voor ieder van de onderwerpen die werden bestudeerd.

## DEEL I: HET DEFINIËREN VAN ACUTE PANCREATITIS EN DE COMPLICATIES

Wij toonden aan dat de definities van de Atlanta Classificatie uit 1992<sup>4</sup> voor acute pancreatitis vaak verkeerd worden gebruikt in de literatuur, en alternatieve definities veelvuldig worden toegepast. De interobserver-overeenstemming voor de Atlanta Classificatie om CT bevindingen te beschrijven is erg slecht. Dit illustreert dat deze definities niet langer moeten worden gebruikt in radiologische verslagen. Het voorgestelde alternatief van objectieve, beschrijvende termen voor CT bevindingen had een goede tot excellente interobserver-overeenstemming. Deze descriptieve, morfologische termen zullen worden opgenomen in de gereviseerde versie van de Atlanta Classificatie. Een internationale werkgroep, waaronder twee leden van de Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland, coördineert op dit moment een mondiale internet-consensus richtlijn. Meerdere versies van de nieuwe classificatie zijn inmiddels voorgelegd aan de leden van alle grote internationale pancreatologische en gastroenterologische verenigingen. Een definitieve revisie van de Atlanta Classificatie wordt binnenkort verwacht. Nieuwe (interobserver) studies zullen deze gereviseerde classificatie moeten evalueren.

### DEEL II: HET VOORKOMEN VAN INFECTIES BIJ ACUTE PANCREATITIS

Infectieuze complicaties treden vroeg op in het beloop van acute pancreatitis en hebben een grote negatieve invloed op sterfte. Profylactische strategieën moet zich daarom richten op vroege interventie. Enterale voeding, in vergelijking met parenterale voeding, lijkt een effectieve strategie om infecties bij acute pancreatitis te voorkomen. Het optimale tijdstip om enterale voeding te starten is echter nog niet duidelijk. Om die reden is de Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland eind 2008 gestart met de Pancreatitis, very earlY compared wiTH selective delayed start Of eNteral feeding (PYTHON) studie: een landelijk, gerandomiseerd, gecontroleerd onderzoek waarin enterale voeding binnen 24 uur na opname wordt vergeleken met een selectieve, latere start van enterale voeding (>72 uur na opname) bij 208 patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute pancreatitis [ISRCTN18170985].

Probiotica lijken effectief te zijn in het voorkomen van infecties als zij worden toegediend aan patiënten voordat deze een electieve operaties ondergaan. Echter, bij patiënten met ernstige acute pancreatitis, met name in geval van orgaanfalen, bleek het specifieke probiotica preparaat dat wij onderzochten (*Ecologic 641*) niet effectief in het verminderen van infecties. Het was echter geassocieerd met een toename in enterocytenschade, bacteriële translocatie, darmischemie en sterfte. Toekomstige studies moeten een verklaring vinden voor deze schadelijke effecten. Tot die tijd dienen probiotica niet te worden toegediend bij ernstig zieke patiënten.

DEEL III: VROEGE ENDOSCOPISCHE INTERVENTIE VOOR BILIAIRE PANCREATITIS Veelgebruikte radiologische en biochemische parameters voor choledocholithiasis zijn waarschijnlijk niet betrouwbaar in de vroege fase van acute biliaire pancreatitis. Als men de beslissing om een ERCP te verrichten wil baseren op waarschijnlijkheid van choledocholithiasis, dan zouden alternatieve diagnostische modaliteiten zoals endoscopische echografie of magnetische resonantie cholangiopancreaticografie (MRCP) overwogen kunnen worden. Wij lieten echter wel zien dat, onafhankelijk van de aanwezigheid van choledocholithiasis, vroege ERCP complicaties zou kunnen reduceren bij patiënten met voorspeld ernstige acute biliaire pancreatitis en tekenen van cholestase. Om een definitief antwoord te krijgen op de vraag of vroege ERCP werkelijk voordelig is bij deze patiënten wordt er op dit moment een nieuwe landelijke gerandomiseerde studie ontworpen door de Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland.

# DEEL IV: INTERVENTIE VOOR NECROTISERENDE PANCREATITIS

Wij toonden aan dat het de voorkeur heeft om patiënten met geïnfecteerde necrose, zowel vanuit klinisch als economisch oogpunt, te behandelen met een minimaal invasieve step-up benadering, bestaande uit percutane drainage gevolgd, mits nodig, door VARD. Meer dan één derde van de patiënten kan succesvol worden behandeld met alleen percutane drainage, en hoeft dus geen grote buikoperatie te ondergaan. Percutane drainage en VARD zijn technisch mogelijk bij de overgrote meerderheid van de patiënten.

Het blijft onduidelijk welke methode voor necrosectomie de voorkeur heeft bij patiënten die na percutane drainage geen klinische verbetering tonen. Endoscopisch transgastrische necrosectomie zou de morbiditeit verder kunnen reduceren. De Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland heeft recent de Pancreatitis, ENdoscopic transGastric versUs prImary Necrosectomy in patients with infected necrosis (PENGUIN) studie afgerond. PENGUIN is een gerandomiseerde, gecontroleerde pilot-studie onder 20 patiënten die zich toespitst op de post-procedurele, pro-inflammatoire immuunresponse (ISRCTN07091918). De resultaten worden binnenkort verwacht. Op dit moment worden ook de voorbereidingen getroffen voor een landelijk gerandomiseerd, gecontroleerd onderzoek met een klinisch primair eindpunt: the Transluminal Endoscopic step-up approach versus miNimally invasive SurgIcal step-up apprOach in patients with infected pancreatis Necrosis (TENSION) trial.

De uitkomst van geïnfecteerde necrose lijkt te verbeteren met het uitstellen van interventie en de introductie van minimaal invasieve technieken. Patiënten met steriele necrose en vroeg multi-orgaanfalen hebben echter nog steeds een zeer hoog risico te overlijden. Toekomstige studies moeten de mogelijkheden onderzoeken om vroeg orgaanfalen te verminderen en de behandeling van het abdominaal compartiment syndroom bij acute pancreatitis te verbeteren.

### DEEL V: HET VERKRIJGEN VAN MEDISCH ETHISCHE GOEDKEURING

### VOOR EEN NEDERLANDSE MULTICENTRISCHE STUDIE

Wij hebben aangetoond dat de CCMO 'Richtlijn Externe Toetsing'<sup>34</sup> uit 2004 niet goed gevolgd werd. Het gevolg is dat de indieningsprocedure voor medisch ethische goedkeuring van een multicentrische studie in Nederland een lang en inefficiënt proces is, dat een grote investering van tijd en middelen vraagt. Naar aanleiding van de publicatie van deze resultaten heeft de CCMO een brief verstuurd naar alle METC's en Raden van Bestuur van iedere Nederlands ziekenhuis, om nogmaals de correcte procedure en verantwoordelijkheden van het ziekenhuismanagement en andere betrokken partijen onder de aandacht te brengen.<sup>35</sup> De CCMO heeft tevens een model 'Lokale uitvoerbaarheidverklaring'<sup>36</sup> gepubliceerd om de efficiëntie van het indieningsproces te verbeteren. Toekomstige studies zullen moeten uitwijzen of deze stappen effect hebben gehad.

In dit proefschrift beschreven wij 6 jaar Nederlands klinisch onderzoek naar acute pancreatitis. Er werden grenzen verlegd en belangrijke ontdekkingen gedaan. In de pancreatologie verandert de horizon echter voortdurend, en zijn er altijd nieuwe gebieden te verkennen. Er is nog veel werk te verzetten. De Pancreatitis Werkgroep Nederland is verschillende nieuwe gerandomiseerde onderzoeken aan het voorbereiden en is betrokken bij meerdere internationale samenwerkingsprojecten.

#### REFERENCES

- Gullo L, Migliori M, Olah A, et al. Acute pancreatitis in five European countries: etiology and mortality. Pancreas 2002; 24:223-227.
- Forsmark CE, Baillie J. AGA Institute Technical Review on Acute Pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132:2022-2044.
- Banks PA, Freeman ML. Practice guidelines in acute pancreatitis.
   Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:2379-2400.
- 4 Bradley EL, III. A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993; 128:586-590.
- 5 Beger HG, Bittner R, Block S, Buchler M. Bacterial contamination of pancreatic necrosis. A prospective clinical study. Gastroenterology 1986; 91:433-438.
- 6 Deitch EA. The role of intestinal barrier failure and bacterial translocation in the development of systemic infection and multiple organ failure. Arch Surg 1990; 125:403-404.
- 7 Guarner F, Malagelada JR. Gut flora in health and disease. Lancet 2003; 361:512-519.
- 8 Petrov MS, Shanbhag S, Chakraborty M, Phillips AR, Windsor JA. Organ Failure and Infection of Pancreatic Necrosis as Determinants of Mortality in Patients With Acute Pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2010 [Epub ahead of print].

- Beger HG, Rau B, Mayer J, Pralle U. Natural course of acute pancreatitis.
   World J Surg 1997; 21:130-135.
- 10 Kotani J, Usami M, Nomura H, et al. Enteral nutrition prevents bacterial translocation but does not improve survival during acute pancreatitis. Arch Surg 1999; 134:287-292.
- 11 McClave SA, Ritchie CS. Artificial nutrition in pancreatic disease: what lessons have we learned from the literature? Clin Nutr 2000; 19:1-6.
- 12 Olah A, Belagyi T, Issekutz A, Gamal ME, Bengmark S. Randomized clinical trial of specific lactobacillus and fibre supplement to early enteral nutrition in patients with acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2002; 89:1103-1107.
- 13 Olah A, Belagyi T, Poto L, Romics L, Jr., Bengmark S. Synbiotic control of inflammation and infection in severe acute pancreatitis: a prospective, randomized, double blind study. Hepatogastroenterology 2007; 54:590-594.
- 14 Servin AL. Antagonistic activities of lactobacilli and bifidobacteria against microbial pathogens. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2004; 28:405-440.
- 15 van Minnen LP, Timmerman HM, Lutgendorff F, et al. Modification of intestinal flora with multispecies probiotics reduces bacterial translocation and improves clinical course in a rat model of acute pancreatitis. Surgery 2007; 141:470-480.

- Marco ML, Pavan S, Kleerebezem M.
  Towards understanding molecular modes of probiotic action.
   Curr Opin Biotechnol 2006; 17:204-210.
- 17 Otte JM, Podolsky DK. Functional modulation of enterocytes by gram-positive and gram-negative microorganisms. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2004; 286:G613-G626.
- 18 Niers LE, Timmerman HM, Rijkers GT, et al. Identification of strong interleukin-10 inducing lactic acid bacteria which down-regulate T helper type 2 cytokines. Clin Exp Allergy 2005; 35:1481-9.
- 19 Sugawara G, Nagino M, Nishio H, et al. Perioperative synbiotic treatment to prevent postoperative infectious complications in biliary cancer surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg 2006; 244:706-714.
- 20 Neoptolemos JP, Carr-Locke DL, London NJ, Bailey IA, James D, Fossard DP. Controlled trial of urgent endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and endoscopic sphincterotomy versus conservative treatment for acute pancreatitis due to gallstones. Lancet 1988; 2:979-983.
- 21 Folsch UR, Nitsche R, Ludtke R, Hilgers RA, Creutzfeldt W. Early ERCP and papillotomy compared with conservative treatment for acute biliary pancreatitis. The German Study Group on Acute Biliary Pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 1997; 336:237-242.
- 22 Abboud PA, Malet PF, Berlin JA, et al. Predictors of common bile duct stones prior to cholecystectomy: a meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 1996; 44:450-455.

- 23 Rau B, Bothe A, Beger HG. Surgical treatment of necrotizing pancreatitis by necrosectomy and closed lavage: changing patient characteristics and outcome in a 19-year, single-center series. Surgery 2005; 138:28-39.
- 24 Buchler MW, Gloor B, Muller CA, Friess H, Seiler CA, Uhl W. Acute necrotizing pancreatitis: treatment strategy according to the status of infection. Ann Surg 2000; 232:619-626.
- 25 Rodriguez JR, Razo AO, Targarona J, et al. Debridement and closed packing for sterile or infected necrotizing pancreatitis: insights into indications and outcomes in 167 patients. Ann Surg 2008; 247:294-299.
- Ashley SW, Perez A, Pierce EA, et al.
  Necrotizing pancreatitis: contemporary analysis of 99 consecutive cases.
   Ann Surg 2001; 234:572-579.
- 27 Connor S, Alexakis N, Raraty MG, et al. Early and late complications after pancreatic necrosectomy. Surgery 2005; 137:499-505.
- 28 Howard TJ, Patel JB, Zyromski N, et al. Declining morbidity and mortality rates in the surgical management of pancreatic necrosis. J Gastrointest Surg 2007; 11:43-49.
- 29 Freeny PC, Hauptmann E, Althaus SJ, Traverso LW, Sinanan M. Percutaneous CTguided catheter drainage of infected acute necrotizing pancreatitis: techniques and results. Am J Roentgenol 1998; 170:969-975.

- 30 Papachristou GI, Takahashi N, Chahal P, Sarr MG, Baron TH. Peroral endoscopic drainage/ debridement of walled-off pancreatic necrosis. Ann Surg 2007; 245:943-951.
- 31 Carter CR, McKay CJ, Imrie CW. Percutaneous necrosectomy and sinus tract endoscopy in the management of infected pancreatic necrosis: an initial experience. Ann Surg 2000; 232:175-180.
- 32 Horvath KD, Kao LS, Wherry KL, Pellegrini CA, Sinanan MN. A technique for laparoscopicassisted percutaneous drainage of infected pancreatic necrosis and pancreatic abscess. Surg Endosc 2001; 15:1221-1225.
- 33 Gambiez LP, Denimal FA, Porte HL, Saudemont A, Chambon J-PM, Quandalle PA. Retroperitoneal approach and endoscopic management of peripancreatic necrosis collections. Arch Surg 1998; 133:66-72.
- 34 Website of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO): http://www.ccmo-online.nl /hipe/uploads/downloads/RET-eng.pdf.
- 35 http://www.ccmo-online.nl/hipe/uploads/downloads\_catm/Brief%20Taken%20en%20verantwoordelijkheden%20bij%20medischwetenschappelijk%20onderzoek%20in%20multic enterverband%20plus%20bijlagen.pdf
- Website of the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO): http://www.ccmo-online.nl /hipe/uploads/downloads\_catm/Modelverklarin g%20lokale%20uitvoerbaarheid%201-12-2009.doc.

Review Committee Acknowledgements Curriculum Vitae

# REVIEW COMMITTEE

## Prof.dr. H. Obertop

Em. Professor of Surgery Academic Medical Center Amsterdam and Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam The Netherlands

# Prof.dr. K.D. Horvath

Professor of Surgery and Residency Program Director Department of Surgery, University of Washington Medical Center Seattle, United States

# Prof.dr. A. Algra

Professor of Clinical Epidemiology Department of Neurology and Julius Center, University Medical Center Utrecht The Netherlands

## Prof.dr. R. van Hillegersberg

Professor of Surgery Department of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht The Netherlands

# Prof.dr. W.P.Th.M. Mali

Professor of Radiology Department of Radiology, University Medical Center Utrecht The Netherlands

#### CURRICULUM VITAE

HJALMAR VAN SANTVOORT was born on the 12th of October in 1979. He spent most of his childhood in Amersfoort where he graduated from the Stedelijk Gymnasium Johan van Oldenbarnevelt in 1998. In the following two years he was not selected for Medical School due to the numerus fixus. He therefore worked and travelled in Australia, New Zealand and Indonesia for seven months (1998-1999) and earned his propaedeuse degree in Biology at the Utrecht University (1999-2000).

In 2000 he started Medical School at the University Medical Center Utrecht. As a student in 2004, he joined the research group of Prof.dr. H.G. Gooszen and Prof.dr. L.M.A. Akkermans at the department of Surgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, to do clinical research on acute pancreatitis. He coordinated the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group and the nationwide PROPATRIA and PANTER studies from July 2005 to January 2008. During this period, he was involved in organizing an international research collaboration with institutions including the University of Washington Medical Center (Seattle), Mayo Clinic (Rochester), Harvard Medical School (Boston) and the University of Heidelberg, and also graduated from Medical School (November 2006). In January 2008, he started his training in General Surgery at the St. Antonius Hospital in Nieuwegein (Dr. P.M.N.Y.H. Go), which he will continue at the University Medical Center Utrecht in July 2011 (Prof.dr. I.H.M. Borel Rinkes).

Hjalmar van Santvoort is (co-)author of over 40 peer-reviewed articles and book-chapters and has won several awards, including 'the National Pancreas Foundation Award of the American Pancreatic Association' (2008), 'the Research prize for best abstract in acute pancreatitis of the European Pancreatic Club' (2010), and 'the award for best presentation of the Dutch Surgical Association meeting' (2008 and 2010).